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Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
Key Figures (IFRS) 

€ million (as of Dec. 31) 2024 2023
     

Total assets 140,588 72,077

Loans and receivables attributable to 

Retail financing 29,021 28,285

Dealer financing 16,598 15,268

Leasing business 26,290 3,390

Customer deposits 72,500 38,178

Equity 21,347 11,043

Operating result 1,118 740

Profit before tax 1,130 788

Income tax expense –532 –147

Profit after tax 598 640
    

 

Percent (as of Dec. 31) 2024 2023
     

Equity ratio 15.2 15.3

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio1 16.1 17.5

Tier 1 capital ratio1 16.1 17.5

Total capital ratio1 16.1 17.6
    

 

Number (as of Dec. 31) 2024 2023
     

Employees 4,640 1,534
    

 

RATING (AS OF DEC. 31) S T A N D A R D  &  P OO R ’ S M O O D Y ’ S  I N V E ST OR S  S ER V I C E F I T C H  R A T I N G S L I MI T E D 

 Short-term Long-term Outlook Short-term Long-term Outlook Short-term Long-term Outlook
                   

Volkswagen Bank GmbH A–2 BBB+ stable P–1 A1 negative F1 A- stable

1 Regulatory ratio in accordance with Article 92(1) of the CRR. 
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Fundamental Information about 
the Group 

The companies of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group provide a  
large number of different automotive-related financial services for retail and business 

customers. 

BUSI N ESS MODEL 
The companies of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are responsible for operating activities required to 
perform vehicle-related financial services. The business operations are closely interlinked with those of 
the manufacturers and the dealer organizations of the Volkswagen Group.  
 
The key tasks are: 
 
 Promoting the vehicle sales of Group products in the interests of the Volkswagen Group brands and 

those of its sales partners 
 Strengthening customer loyalty to Volkswagen Bank GmbH and the Group brands along the value 

chain in the automotive sector, including through the targeted use of digital products and mobility 
solutions 

 Creating synergies for the Group by bringing together the requirements of the Group and brand divi-
sions in terms of financial and mobility services 

 Generating a sustainably high return on equity for the Group. 
 
The individual activities include those described below: 

Financing 
Vehicle-related financing for retail and business customers, e.g., in the form of deferred payment credit 
and three-way financing, which is marketed primarily through the Volkswagen Group dealers. It also 
provides services for the authorized dealers themselves, for which it offers financing for inventory vehi-
cles, working capital and investment loans in particular. 

Leasing 
This business area includes the finance leasing business and operating lease business for retail and busi-
ness customers as well as various subscription services for mobility requirements ranging from a few 
minutes to several years, in addition to fleet management.  

Direct banking 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH focuses on offering retail and business customers investment products such as 
instant-access accounts, fixed-term deposits and saving certificates. It also markets current accounts and 
various payment solutions. The Group conducts direct banking business in Germany and, to a lesser ex-
tent, from the Bank's branch in Poland. 
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Insurance and services 
This business area includes, for example, comprehensive and vehicle liability insurance. It also covers 
residual debt insurance to protect against financial difficulties, for instance in the event of unemploy-
ment. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group exclusively conducts insurance broking. Another area is ser-
vice contracts, e.g., for tire replacement, maintenance and servicing, as well as extended warranties. 
 
MOBILITY2030 STRATEGY 
The core mission of the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group companies is to develop and make 
available a broad range of mobility services together with the Volkswagen Group brands. This gives cus-
tomers rapid, digital and flexible access to mobility – from financing and leasing options, through car 
sharing, down to the Auto Abo car subscription product. 

As a provider of mobility solutions, Volkswagen Financial Services AG has formulated a clear growth plan 
in its MOBILITY2030 strategy and intends to extend its relationship with customer and vehicle through-
out the automotive value chain.  

Five strategic dimensions for the practical implementation of this growth plan are defined in the MO-
BILITY2030 strategy: 

 
 Customer loyalty: “We maximize the loyalty of our customers to our Group brands.” 
 Vehicle: “We tap business potential throughout the vehicle cycle together with the Group brands.” 
 Performance: “We are entrepreneurial in our approach and strive to maximize our performance.” 
 Data and technology: “We leverage data and technology as central pillars of our success.” 
 Sustainability: “We drive the transformation to zero-emissions mobility in accordance with the 

Volkswagen Group’s ESG principles.” 
 
The products and services offered by the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group companies will con-
tribute to implementing the MOBILITY2030 strategy. 
 
RESTRUCTURING OF THE VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES OVERSEAS AG AND VOLKSWAGEN BANK GMBH SUB-
GROUPS 
Since 2023, the Board of Management of Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG (formerly 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG) and the Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH implemented 
a comprehensive restructuring program for the previous subgroups Volkswagen Financial Services Over-
seas AG, which operated as Volkswagen Financial Services AG until June 30, 2024, and Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH, and completed it as of July 1, 2024.  

The restructuring program aims to lay the foundation for the successful implementation of the 
Group’s strategy in the mobility sector, taking into account the regulatory framework.  

Volkswagen Financial Services AG’s former operating business was conducted under the name car-
mobility GmbH, Braunschweig. On March 13, 2023, carmobility GmbH was renamed to Volkswagen Mo-
bility GmbH, and on June 5, 2023, it was renamed to Volkswagen Financial Services Europe GmbH. The 
legal form was changed to that of an Aktiengesellschaft (German stock corporation), Volkswagen Finan-
cial Services Europe AG, on June 22, 2023. Prior to this, the company was a micro share capital company 
pursuant to section 267a of the HGB.  

As a consequence of the restructuring, Volkswagen Financial Services AG, as a financial holding com-
pany, together with the German and European companies, including their respective subsidiaries, is su-
pervised by the European Central Bank (ECB). This is intended to create a clearer focus on geographic 
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regions. In addition, since the reporting period Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Volkswagen Leasing GmbH 
have for the first time also been subsidiaries of Volkswagen Financial Services AG. 

These restructuring measures were implemented by notarization of the various spin-off agreements 
and their entry in the commercial register as of July 1, 2024, and the following transactions under com-
pany law were completed effective July 1, 2024: 

 
 Spin-off of the shares in the subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH to Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
 Spin-off of the European operation of the former Volkswagen Financial Services AG, including shares 

of European subsidiaries and equity investments plus other assets and liabilities, to the new financial 
holding company, Volkswagen Financial Services AG (formerly Volkswagen Financial Services Europe 
AG).  

 Contribution of Volkswagen Bank GmbH to Volkswagen Financial Services AG by Volkswagen AG 
through a noncash contribution by way of a premium (“Sachagio”) in the course of a capital increase. 

 
In addition, VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES AG was renamed Volkswagen Financial Services Over-
seas AG through an entry in the commercial register, and the company previously called Volkswagen 
Financial Services Europe AG as of July 1, 2024 was renamed Volkswagen Financial Services AG. 

In connection with the spin-off of the European operations, the employment relationships with em-
ployees and all employee-related obligations, liabilities and provisions from employment relationships 
and former employment relationships of Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG were transferred 
to Volkswagen Financial Services AG. Some of these employment relationships that were transferred to 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG were transferred to Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Volkswagen Leasing 
GmbH, Volkswagen Versicherung AG, Volkswagen Insurance Brokers GmbH or Vehicle Trading Interna-
tional (VTI) GmbH immediately after the spin-off took effect on the basis of transfer agreements or 
through business unit transfers in accordance with section 613a of the Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch (German 
Civil Code – BGB). 

Furthermore, in the course of the restructuring, organizational units of Volkswagen Bank GmbH were 
relocated across the company to Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and Volkswagen Financial Services AG. The 
transfer of the organizational units resulted in transfers of part of a business pursuant to section 613a of 
the BGB.  

By pooling its activities in a European financial services provider and through the spin-off of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH to Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Volkswagen Bank GmbH can optimally use its 
funding strength to expand the leasing business in Germany and Europe. The new Group structure takes 
account of both the expected business growth and the growing customer trend away from vehicle fi-
nancing and towards leasing. The reorganization means that Volkswagen Bank GmbH no longer has lim-
ited scope for providing funds to Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. In addition to placing bonds and engaging 
in ABS transactions, Volkswagen Bank GmbH can now also use the significant increase in customer de-
posits to fund the planned business growth. 

Volkswagen Financial Services AG assumed the bonds of Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG 
that are traded on regulated markets and belong to the European operation. This means that since July 
1, 2024, Volkswagen Financial Services AG has been active in the capital markets pursuant to section 
264d of the HGB for the first time. The bonds are used to fund its subsidiaries. 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Volkswagen Leasing GmbH dominate the business focus of the sub-
group due to their size. They are regulated companies and must therefore comply with the relevant su-
pervisory requirements. As the parent company, Volkswagen Financial Services AG and its subsidiaries 
form a financial holding group in accordance with section 10a of the Kreditwesengesetz (KWG – German 
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Banking Act). Volkswagen Financial Services AG is regulated according to its role as a financial holding 
company.  

As a holding company, Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG controls the non-European sub-
sidiaries. A wholly owned subsidiary of Volkswagen AG, it will remain an integral part of the Volkswagen 
Group.  

ORGAN IZATION OF VOLKSWAGEN BAN K GMBH 
Generally speaking, the aim of all structural measures implemented by Volkswagen Bank GmbH is to 
improve the quality offered to both customers and dealerships, make processes more efficient and lev-
erage synergies.  

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has three Management Board divisions. The Corporate Management & Op-
erations division is home to Central Business Processes, Bank Corporate Management, Purchasing Fi-
nancing, Portfolio Financing, Direct Bank Customer Service, Bank Internal Audit, Corporate Customer 
Sales. This division is led by Dr. Volker Stadler, Chair of the Management Board of Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH. 

The Finance division comprises the areas of Direct Bank Sales, Reporting, and Group Treasury & In-
vestor Relations. Mr. Oliver Roes is responsible for this division.  

The Risk Management division, headed by Christian Löbke, encompasses Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment, Operational Risk Management, Applications & Risk Reporting, Bank Back Office, Bank Special Cus-
tomer Care and Treasury Back Office. 

The implementation of the Koralle program resulted in structural changes within the three Manage-
ment Board divisions as of July 1, 2024. Operational, treasury, regulatory and risk management matters 
remain located within Volkswagen Bank GmbH. All customer services have been pooled in the Corporate 
Management & Operations division. Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s international business has been relocated 
to the reestablished Europe region within Volkswagen Financial Services AG. Company officers and spe-
cialist outsourcing officers have remained within the Bank. Accounting & Controlling, Human Resources 
& Organization and Legal, Integrity & Compliance were removed from Volkswagen Bank GmbH and in-
tegrated into Volkswagen Financial Services AG as of July 1, 2024.  

REPORT ON TH E SUBSI DIARI ES AN D B RANCH ES  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has a presence in numerous countries within the European market. 
Each of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s international branches in France, Greece, Italy, the Netherlands, 
Poland, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom operate their own local business. 

Please refer to the section on changes in equity investments in this report for further information in 
this regard. 

The brand-related branches of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group (Audi Bank, SEAT Bank, ŠKODA 
Bank, AutoEuropa Bank and ADAC Finance Service) are intended to provide specific support for the fi-
nancing of the corresponding vehicles. The Ducati Bank branch supports the financing of motorcycles. 

In Braunschweig, Emden, Hanover, Ingolstadt, Kassel, Neckarsulm, Salzgitter and Wolfsburg, the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group maintains branches offering customers counter services, advisory sup-
port and, in some cases, ATMs. 

I NTERNAL MANAGEMENT 
The key performance indicators used by the Group are determined on the basis of the IFRSs and pre-
sented as part of the internal reporting system. The most important nonfinancial performance indica-
tors are penetration, current contracts and new contracts. The financial key performance indicators are 
the volume of business, deposit volume and the operating result. Return on equity (RoE) and, since 2024 
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– in line with parent Volkswagen Financial Services AG – the overhead ratio (OHR) are adopted as further 
key performance indicators. From this year, the cost/income ratio (CIR) is no longer used as a key perfor-
mance indicator. The conclusion of the restructuring program did not result in any further changes to 
the key performance indicators. 
             
  

 Definition 
   

 

Nonfinancial performance indicators 

Penetration 

Amount of new contracts for new Group vehicles under retail financing and leasing 
business as a proportion of deliveries of Group vehicles, based on the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s relevant markets 

Current contracts Contracts recognized as of the reporting date 

New contracts Contracts recognized for the first time in the reporting period 

Financial performance indicators  

Volume of business 
Loans to and receivables from customers arising from retail financing, dealership 
financing (incl. factoring), leasing business and direct banking 

Volume of deposits 
Loans to and receivables from customers arising from retail financing, dealership 
financing (incl. factoring), leasing business and direct banking 

Operating result 

Interest income from lending transactions and marketable securities, net income from 
leasing transactions, interest expense, net income from service contracts, net income 
from insurance business, provision for credit risks, net fee and commission income, net 
gain or loss on hedges, net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value 
and on derecognition of financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, general and administrative expenses and net other operating 
income/expenses 

Return on equity Return on equity before tax is calculated by dividing profit before tax by average equity 

Overhead Ratio 
Personnel expenses, material overheads and accounting depreciation and amortization 
minus income from services rendered / average balance sheet total 

 

CHANGES I N EQUITY I NVESTMENTS  
Effective July 1, 2024, Volkswagen Bank GmbH acquired 100% of shares in Volkswagen Leasing GmbH by 
way of a spin-off from the current Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG (formerly Volkswagen Fi-
nancial Services AG) as part of the restructuring program described above. Volkswagen Leasing GmbH is 
now a direct subsidiary of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. In addition, Volkswagen Bank GmbH was transferred 
to Volkswagen Financial Services AG (formerly Volkswagen Financial Services Europe AG) as a contribu-
tion in kind in the context of a capital increase. Although this move will have no significant direct impact 
on Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the transfer of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH will affect areas such as the cap-
ital structure, net assets, financial performance and risk management at consolidated level.   

In addition, Volkswagen Bank GmbH divested its joint venture investments in Germany (51% in 
Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solutions GmbH) and the Netherlands (60% in DFM N.V.), as well 
as the associated company in Austria (32.5% in Credi2 GmbH), on July 1, 2024. The above-mentioned 
joint venture shares and the associated company have been transferred to Volkswagen Financial Services 
Europe AG or Group companies.  

In addition to this, no material changes in equity investments occurred. 
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH has plans to sell the shares of VOLKSWAGEN Finančné služby Slovensko s.r.o., 
Bratislava within the Volkswagen Group in the first quarter of 2025 in a further project for the strategic 
realignment of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DECLARATION 
Increase in the proportion of women 
As of December 31, 2024, women accounted for 59.5% of the workforce of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in 
Germany, but this is not yet reflected in the percentage of women at all management levels. Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH is working toward achieving the targets for women at all levels. The Bank has set itself the 
objective of achieving a sustained increase in the proportion of women in management positions. In 
succession planning, female candidates are systematically considered with the aim of meeting the rele-
vant targets. 

P R O P O R T I O N  O F  W O M E N  –  T A R G E T  A N D  A C T U A L  V A L U E S  F O R  G E R M A N Y  

 Target 2026 Actual 2024
     

Second management 
level 27.3 15.2

First management 
level 19.7 16.7

Management Board 20.0 0.0

Supervisory Board 25.0 50.0
 
    

Following completion of the Group restructuring as of July 1, 2024, the companies of the Volkswagen 
Financial Services AG Group set uniform targets for the proportion of women working at the first and 
second levels of management throughout the Group. The achievement of the targets for the proportion 
of women is assessed from a Group perspective, taking into account the fact that the professional devel-
opment of relevant employees typically takes place across the Group with employees moving between 
individual Group companies in the course of their career development. Where necessary, Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH will take (counter)measures to achieve the relevant targets. 

NON-FI NANCIAL GROUP STATEMENT 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH makes use of the option provided pursuant to section 315b(2) of the HGB to be 
exempted from the presentation of a nonfinancial group statement of the Volkswagen Group and 
Volkswagen AG for fiscal year 2024, which forms part of the consolidated financial statements in the 
2024 Annual Report of the Volkswagen Group. It will be available on the website 
https://www.volkswagen-group.com/r/geschaeftsbericht-2024 in German and at 
https://www.volkswagen-group.com/r/financial-report-2024 in English from March 11, 2025.  

In this context, Volkswagen AG is also responsible for managing environmental, social and corporate 
governance (ESG) issues throughout the Group. 
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Report on Economic Position 
The global economy recorded positive growth in 2024.  

Global demand for vehicles increased slightly as compared with the previous year.  
In a challenging market environment the Volkswagen Group delivered 9.0 million 

vehicles to customers. 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT OF  BUSI N ESS PERF ORMANCE 
The Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH considers the course of business in the year 2024 to 
have been positive. Profit before tax amounted to €1,130.0 million and was higher than in the prior-year 
period (€787.7 million). 

The company-law restructuring is of primary importance for the assessment of the year 2024. The 
growth targets set out in MOBILITY2030 require an efficient use of the funding strength of Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH. By including Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the re-
strictions on the passing-on of funds no longer apply. This means that the deposits from the direct bank-
ing business can be used in full to fund the leasing business. Against this backdrop, deposit growth last 
year was stepped up and even accelerated compared with the same period of the prior year. Overall, the 
liabilities from direct banking business rose by €18.5 billion to €56.0 billion. 

The development of the lending business was marked by the absorption of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. 
Therefore 2024 saw a significant increase in the development of loans and receivables volumes subject 
to credit risk. This increase comes after the continuing economic recovery trends in the prior year fol-
lowing the supply problems experienced by the Volkswagen Group brands which had continued to have 
a strong impact on the volume of loans and receivables, especially in dealer financing. The quality of the 
lending portfolio remained at a stable level. 

Direct residual value risk also assumes greater importance following the integration of Volkswagen 
Leasing GmbH. The residual value portfolio continued to grow in 2024 despite the tense situation on the 
markets. The development of residual value risks continues to be closely monitored, with measures tai-
lored to requirements being derived. 

DEVELOPMENTS I N TH E G LOBAL ECONOMY  
The global economy remained on a growth path in 2024 with somewhat slower momentum than in the 
previous year. This trend was seen in both the advanced economies and the emerging markets. Declining 
but in some cases still relatively high inflation rates in many countries, combined with restrictive mon-
etary policies introduced by some central banks, continued to put a damper on economic growth in 
many places. Since around the middle of the reporting year, a number of these central banks have started 
to gradually bring down key rates from their comparatively high level. 

Europe/Other Markets 
In the reporting year, the economy in Western Europe exhibited positive growth overall, somewhat 
higher than the prior-year level. Development in the individual countries in Northern and Southern Eu-
rope was mixed. In response to declining inflation rates, the European Central Bank lowered its key in-
terest rates in four steps, starting in June 2024. The economies in Central and Eastern Europe recorded 
overall growth in 2024 that was somewhat higher than in the prior-year period. 
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Germany  
German gross domestic product decreased somewhat in 2024, showing a similar trend to the previous 
year. Compared with2023, the seasonally adjusted unemployment figures rose slightly on average over 
the year. After reaching historically high levels in late 2022, monthly inflation rates have since fallen 
broadly in step with the Eurozone average. 

TREN DS I N TH E MARKETS FOR FI NANCIAL SERVICES  
There were high levels of demand for automotive financial services in 2024. 

In the year under review, the European passenger car market remained at the same level as in the prior 
year. However, sales of financial services products increased, as a result of which their share in vehicle 
deliveries exceeded the equivalent figure for 2023 as a percentage. The positive trend in the financing of 
used vehicles continued once again in 2024. The sale of after sales products such as servicing, mainte-
nance and spare parts agreements likewise continued to expand.  

In Germany, the deliveries of new vehicles in the 2024 fiscal year were on a par with the figure for the 
previous year. However, the number of new contracts in the financial services business increased notice-
ably, particularly leasing contracts with individual customers. This meant that the penetration level for 
new vehicles was above expectations and significantly above the prior-year figure. The used car segment 
remained stable, with a marginally higher number of new contracts than in 2023. The number of new 
contracts signed for services and insurance also increased, which was a result of the sale of maintenance 
and servicing products, as well as passenger car and warranty insurance. 

TREN DS I N TH E MARKETS FOR PASSENGER CARS AN D LIGHT COMMERCIAL VEH ICLES  
In 2024, the volume of the passenger car market worldwide was slightly up on the prior-year figure, with 
most regions developing favorably. Western Europe was on a level with the previous year, while the Mid-
dle East region came in slightly lower. The supply situation continued to return to normal levels and the 
affordability of vehicles improved in some regions of the world. 

The global volume of new registrations of light commercial vehicles in fiscal year 2024 was similar to 
the previous year. 

Sector-specific environment 
Along with fiscal policy measures, the sector-specific environment was affected by the economic situa-
tion, which contributed to the mixed trends in unit sales in the markets in the fiscal year now ended. The 
fiscal policy measures included tax cuts or increases, the introduction, expiry and adjustment of incen-
tive programs and sales incentives, as well as import duties. In addition, non-tariff trade barriers to pro-
tect the respective domestic automotive industries made the movement of vehicles, parts and compo-
nents more difficult. 

 In the reporting period, the sector-specific environment in the European financial market was domi-
nated by the interest rate turnaround resolved by the European Central Bank. Whereas the focus in the 
previous year was still on measures to combat inflation, the four cuts in key interest rates in the current 
year reflected the declining inflation and the weak economic development. Nevertheless, repayments by 
banks under the ECB’s targeted longer-term refinancing operations (TLTRO III) and the reduction in hold-
ings under its asset purchase program (APP) and pandemic emergency purchase program (PEPP) are con-
tributing to a tighter monetary policy.  

Europe/Other Markets 
In Western Europe, the number of new passenger car registrations in 2024 was on a level with the previ-
ous year. The performance of the large individual passenger car markets in this region was mixed. The 
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United Kingdom registered slight growth and Spain noticeable growth, while Germany and Italy were at 
the prior-year level and the market volume in France decreased slightly. 

In the reporting year, the volume of new registrations for light commercial vehicles in Western Europe 
was noticeably up year-on-year. 

In the Central and Eastern Europe region, there was a significant increase in the volume of the passen-
ger car market in the reporting year. Positive movement was recorded in the number of vehicles sold in 
the major markets of both Central and Eastern Europe.  

In fiscal year 2024, the market volume of light commercial vehicles in Central and Eastern Europe was 
significantly higher than in the previous year.  

Germany 
The number of new passenger car registrations in Germany from January to December 2024 was on a 
level with the previous year. The change in electric vehicle subsidies at the end of 2023 weighed on new 
registrations of all-electric vehicles, and demand for vehicles with conventional and hybrid drivetrains 
was unable to offset this effect overall. Production in Germany stagnated at 4.1 million vehicles (–0.0%) 
in 2024, while passenger car exports rose to 3.2 million units (+2.0%). 

The number of light commercial vehicles sold in Germany in the reporting year was noticeably higher 
than the 2023 figure. 

CHANGES I N KEY PERFORMANCE I N DICATORS F OR F ISCAL YEAR 2024  
COMPARED WITH PRIOR-YEAR FORECASTS 
The availability of vehicles from the Group brands remained constant year-on-year as shortages became 
increasingly less acute and the disruption in global supply chains continued to fade, resulting in constant 
growth in the markets of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. This led to a stable market for new vehicle 
financing and leasing. Used vehicles also continued to be available on the market. Demand for financing 
and leasing products was stable despite persistently high funding costs, the subsequent decisions made 
regarding customer business terms and the gloomy economic situation on the markets of Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH. The integration of the leasing business into the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group as of July 1, 
2024, in particular, led to a strong expansion of the obtainable market. 

As a result, penetration, current contracts and new contracts are in line with the forecast, and the high 
expectation of total business volume for 2024 was achieved. 

Customer deposits were increased by means of specific business policy measures to a significantly 
higher level than in 2023, as planned, first of all enabling the full repayment of funds obtained through 
the ECB’s TLTRO-III tender, which had become more expensive, and secondly to help cover the very strong 
increase in business volume associated with the integration of the leasing business in Germany and Italy 
into the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.  

The operating result for fiscal year 2024 had been expected to be significantly higher than the 2023 
level. This forecast was exceeded, in particular, thanks to the exceptionally strong result in the deposit 
business as volume expectations were exceeded and net interest income increased as a result. Return on 
equity did not follow this trend due to the high capital requirements of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, which 
has now been integrated into the Bank, and was in line with forecasts. By contrast, the cost/income ratio 
outperformed the forecast. 

All forecasts take into account the new structure of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. The overhead 
ratio has only been used as a financial key performance indicator since 2024 and was therefore not pro-
jected for 2024 in the 2023 Report on Expected Developments. 
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 Actual 2023 Forecast 2024 Actual 2024
       

Nonfinancial performance indicators 

Penetration1 (percent) 16.1
very strongly above the 

level achieved in 2023 31.0

Current contracts (thousands) 3,146
very strongly above the 

level achieved in 2023 8,156

New contracts (thousands)1 1,106
very strongly above the 

level achieved in 2023 2,052

 

Financial performance indicators 

Volume of business (€ million) 50,750
very strongly above the 

level achieved in 2023 108,947

Volume of deposits (€ million)2 38,178
very strongly above the 

level achieved in 2023 56,044

Operating result2 (€ million)3 740
significantly above the 
level achieved in 2023 1,118

Return on equity2 (percent) 7.2
strongly below the level 

achieved in 2023 5.3

Cost/income ratio2 (percent) 46.3
slightly above the level 

achieved in 2023 42.7

Overhead ratio2 (percent) –
new, therefore not fore-

cast 0.66

1 For Volkswagen Leasing GmbH (Germany and Italy), contract additions are only taken into account from 01.07.2024 
2 For Volkswagen Leasing GmbH (Germany and Italy), results are only taken into account from 01.07.2024 
 

 

FI NANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
The net assets, financial position and results of operations described in the following sections were 
largely shaped by the restructuring under company law. The inclusion of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in 
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, in particular, resulted in significant changes to items on the balance 
sheet and income statement. 

The earnings performance of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group improved year-on-year in fiscal year 
2024. 

At €1,118.3 million, the operating result was roughly on a level with the previous year (€739.5 million). 
Profit before tax increased by €342.3 million year-on-year to €1,130.0 million.  

Interest income from lending and securities transactions was up at €3,510 million due to the increase 
in the volume of loans and receivables (previous year: €2,411.7 million). Interest expenses more than 
doubled, from €1,243.4 million to €2,997.2 million, fueled by the growth in deposits. As a result, the in-
terest margin decreased by €655 million to €513.3 million. 

Net income from leasing business increased by €1,427.3 to €1,845.2 million (previous year: €417.8 
million). 

Net income from service contracts, which is generated exclusively at companies and branches that 
also offer leasing products, improved by €52.5 million to €46.4 million. 

Net additions to provisions for credit risks as total of the corresponding income and expenses rose to 
€309.7 million particularly due to the increase in the volume of loans and receivables (previous year: 
€143.8 million).  

Net fee and commission income declined by €22.9 million year-on-year to €41.5 million. 
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The net gain or loss on hedges amounted to a net loss of €38.6 million (previous year: net loss of €13.3 
million) generated predominantly by Volkswagen Bank Germany. There was a net loss on financial in-
struments measured at fair value of €66.0 million (previous year: net loss of €10.2 million).  

General and administrative expenses recorded a year-on-year increase of €255.8 million to €1,045.3 
million, in particular due to the impact of the personnel transfer.  

Other operating income amounted to €467.5 million (previous year: €112.5 million). This also in-
cluded income from vehicle marketing of €281.7 million (previous year: €5.8 million). Other operating 
expenses rose to €335.9 million (previous year: €60.6 million), essentially as a result of costs for direct 
residual value risks.  

Including the other components of financial gains or losses, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group gen-
erated profit after tax of €598.5 million (previous year: €640.3 million). 

The profit of Volkswagen Bank GmbH determined in accordance with the HGB (after deduction of 
taxes) amounting to €581.7 million (previous year: €620.8 million) will be transferred to Volkswagen AG 
under the existing profit-and-loss transfer agreement. 

N ET ASSETS  AN D FI NANCIAL POSITION 
The Management Board of Volkswagen Bank deems the net assets and financial position to be positive.  
 
Lending business 
The lending business of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is marked by the leasing business; finance 
leases are reported within loans and receivables from customers while operating leases are reported in 
lease assets. It is further characterized by vehicle-related loans granted to retail customers, business cus-
tomers and dealers. The volume of these loans and receivables is €117.7 billion (previous year: €53.5 
billion) and represents around 83.7% of the Group's total assets. This also includes the increase in lending 
to other Group companies. 
 
Retail financing 
In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the total number of current customer financing contracts fell to 
2.0 million (previous year: 2.2 million). A total of 674 thousand new contracts were concluded in fiscal 
year 2024 (previous year: 697 thousand). As of December 31, 2024, the volume of loans and receivables 
in retail financing amounted to €29.0 billion (previous year: €28.3 billion). Of this total, €12.6 billion 
(previous year: €11.1 billion) was attributable to European countries other than Germany. 
 
Dealer financing 
The lending volume in dealer financing – which comprises loans to and receivables from dealers in con-
nection with financing for inventory vehicles, as well as working capital and investment loans – rose by 
8.7% or €1.3 billion to €16.6 billion.  

The volume of loans and receivables related to the international branches and international subsidi-
aries came to €9.1 billion (previous year: €8.2 billion) as of the balance sheet date. 

Lending to other Group companies 
In addition to funding the subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Volkswagen Bank GmbH is also of 
great importance when it comes to loans to other companies of the Volkswagen Financial Services AG 
Group. Overall, this portfolio amounts to €9.2 billion (previous year: €3.1 billion). 
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Leasing business 
Receivables from leasing transactions (finance leases) were €26.3 billion (previous year: €3.4 billion). This 
balance sheet item is primarily characterized by the German business of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, 
which accounts for around 77.2%. 
 
Marketable securities 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s portfolio mainly consists of fixed-income securities from public-
sector and private issuers amounting to €3.7 billion (previous year: €4.3 billion).  
 
Lease assets 
This item mostly consists of assets from operating leases, which are predominantly recognized in Ger-
many with a volume of €28.7 billion (previous year: €0 billion) or 78.4%. 



Combined Management Report Report on Economic Position

17 

C U R R E N T  C O N T R A C T S  A N D  N E W  C O N T R A C T S  

in thousands1 
Volkswagen Bank

Group
of which:
Germany

of which:
Italy

of which:
France

of which:
Spain

of which: other
branches/

subsidiaries
             

Current contracts2 8,156 5,230 1,216 1,167 328 216

Automotive retail financing 1,884 927 378 130 317 132

Consumer retail financing 123 111 – – 8 4

Leasing business 2,413 1,860 124 405 3 20

Service/insurance 3,736 2,332 714 631 – 59

New contracts2 2,052 1,039 273 527 98 115

Automotive retail financing 665 271 149 63 94 88

Consumer retail financing 9 6 – – 1 2

Leasing business 569 369 27 161 3 9

Service/insurance 809 393 98 302 - 16

 

€ million 

Loans to and receivables from customers 
attributable to 

Retail financing 29,021 16,451 6,077 848 4,474 1,171

Direct banking 407 375 – 0 1 31

Dealer financing 16,598 7,465 1,613 2,399 950 4,171

Leasing business 26,290 22,297 61 3,699 1 233

Assets leased out 36,547 28,668 3,092 4,787 – –

 

Percent 

Penetration rates4 31.0 35.4 47.3 59.2 30.6 9.2

1 All figures shown are rounded; so minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts. 
2 Current contracts and new contracts in each case in relation to the markets shown for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
3 Corresponds to the additions to the non-current leased assets of VW Leasing GmbH 
4 Ratio of new contracts for new Group vehicles to deliveries of Group vehicles in each case in relation to the markets shown for the 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
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N E W  A N D  E X I S T I N G  C O N T R A C T S  A S  O F  D E C .  3 1  
In thousands 

     
             
    

 

D I R E C T  B A N K  C U S T O M E R S  A S  O F  D E C .  3 1  
Lending and deposit business and borrowings (in thousands) 

 

 

C U S T O M E R  D E P O S I T S  A S  O F  D E C .  3 1  
€ million 

 

Since January 1, 2019, the volume of deposits has been calculated without cash depos-
its from Group companies. 

 

Deposit business and borrowings 
Liabilities to customers 
The main item on the equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet is liabilities to customers with a 
volume of €83.4 billion (previous year: €46.2 billion), 67.2% of which derives from the operation of the 
direct bank’s deposit business. In addition to the security provided by statutory deposit guarantees, 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH is also covered by its ongoing membership in the Deposit Protection Fund of 
the Association of German Banks (Bundesverband deutscher Banken e.V.). 
 

189
105

779

229
106

711

226
103

704

274
135

697

809
569

674

629
269

2,803

578
282

2,570

575
299

2,339

615
343

2,187

3,736
2,413
2,007

Current contracts as of December 31

Of which new contracts in the reporting period

2024

2023

2022

2021

2020

Retail financing
<                                  Leasing

Service/Insurance

Retail financing

Retail financing

Retail financing

Retail financing

<                                  Leasing

<                                  Leasing

<                                  Leasing

<                                  Leasing

Service/Insurance

Service/Insurance

Service/Insurance

Service/Insurance

1,037

1,006

975

1,148

1,313

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

28,694

26,489

26,226

38,178

56,044

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024
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Notes, commercial paper issued 
Notes and commercial paper issued in the amount of €30.3 billion (previous year: €5.2 billion) mostly 
originate from Volkswagen Leasing GmbH’s capital market activities. 
 
Equity 
Equity in accordance with the HGB was €21.3 billion (previous year: €10.9 billion). It comprises sub-
scribed capital in the unchanged amount of €318.3 million, capital reserves of €12.4 billion (previous 
year: €8.9 billion), retained earnings of €8.8 billion (previous year: €1.8 billion) and other reserves 
amounting to €108 million (previous year: €104 million). 

CAPITAL ADEQUACY ACCORDI NG TO REGULATORY REQUI REMENTS  
Under regulatory requirements, Volkswagen Bank GmbH must comply with the provisions of Regulation 
(EU) No. 575/2013 (Capital Requirements Regulation, CRR) and satisfy the minimum capital require-
ments. In this context, Volkswagen Bank GmbH must comply with the minimum capital ratios as speci-
fied in Article 92(1) of the CRR at partly consolidated level (IFRS).  
Since the reorganization under company law as of July 1, 2024, there have been two notable changes to 
capital adequacy according to regulatory requirements. Volkswagen Leasing GmbH became part of the 
partly consolidated own funds reporting of Volkswagen Bank GmbH on July 1, 2024. The year-on-year 
figures in this chapter are therefore not very meaningful. Moreover, since July 1, 2024, Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH no longer needs to comply with the minimum capital ratios as specified in Article 92(1) of the CRR 
at the individual level (HGB). It is exempt from the capital requirements and from the reporting obliga-
tion on an individual basis under a capital waiver pursuant to Art. 10 of the CRR. 

The minimum ratio under the CRR for Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital is 4.5%, for Tier 1 capital 
6% and for total capital 8%. 

In addition, Volkswagen Bank GmbH must satisfy the combined capital buffer requirement specified 
in section 10i of the Kreditwesengesetz (KWG – German Banking Act), i.e., the requirements for the capital 
conservation buffer and the institution-specific countercyclical capital buffer. 

In its capacity as the competent supervisory authority for Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the European Cen-
tral Bank (ECB) can decide in the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) to impose a capital 
add-on that must be satisfied in addition to the statutory minimum ratios and the capital buffer require-
ments. The legal basis for this capital add-on, or Pillar 2 requirement (P2R), is Article 16 of Council Regu-
lation (EU) No. 1024/2013 conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies 
relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions. The decision of the ECB requires Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH to satisfy, at partly consolidated level, a total SREP capital requirement (TSCR) of at least 
10.25% and a Pillar 2 requirement of 2.25%. The ECB decision specifies that the Pillar 2 requirement must 
be satisfied with a minimum of 56.25% in the form of CET1 capital. The remainder of the Pillar 2 require-
ment can be met with Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital and Tier 2 (T2) capital. 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH complied with all minimum requirements at all times in the reporting pe-
riod at partly consolidated level. 

The total capital ratio (ratio of own funds to total risk exposure) was 16.1% at the end of the reporting 
period (previous year restated: 17.6%), significantly above the statutory minimum ratio. The prior-year 
total capital ratio is not comparable on account of the reorganization under company law as of July 1, 
2024. 

The Tier 1 capital ratio and Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio were each 16.1% (previous year: 17.5%) 
at the end of the reporting period, and therefore also significantly above the respective minimum ratios 
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specified in the CRR. The prior-year Tier 1 capital ratio and Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio are not 
comparable on account of the reorganization under company law as of July 1, 2024. 

Total risk exposure is calculated on the basis of credit risks, market risks, operational risks and risks 
arising from credit valuation adjustment (CVA charge). Volkswagen Bank GmbH uses the Standardized 
Approach for Credit Risk (CRSA) to quantify credit risk and to determine risk-weighted exposures. 

The Standardized Approach as specified in Article 317 of the CRR is used to calculate the own funds 
requirements for operational risk. The own funds requirements for the CVA charge are determined using 
the standardized method specified in Article 384 of the CRR. The own funds requirements for market risk 
are calculated as specified in Article 351 of the CRR in accordance with the Standardized Approach for 
foreign exchange risk. 
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The following overview shows a breakdown of total risk exposure and own funds: 
 

 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023³ 
         

Total risk exposure1 (€ million) – 114,216 – 54,707 

of which risk-weighted exposure amounts for credit risk 107,439 – 50,545 – 

of which own funds requirements for market risk * 12,5 352 – 560 – 

of which own funds requirements for operational risk * 12.5 5,258 – 3,554 – 

of which own funds requirements for credit valuation adjustments * 12.5 1,167 – 48 – 

Own funds (€ million) – 18,350 – 9,601 

of which Common Equity Tier 1 capital 18,350 – 9,600 – 

of which Additional Tier 1 capital - – - – 

of which Tier 2 capital – – 1 – 

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio2 (percent) – 16.1 – 17.5 

Tier 1 capital ratio2 (percent) – 16.1 – 17.5 

Total capital ratio2 (percent) – 16.1 – 17.6 

1 According to Article 92(3) of the CRR 
2 According to Article 92(1) of the CRR 
3 Minor correction notification in calendar year 2024 in the amount of around EUR 15 million total risk amount. The key figures as at the reporting date of December 31, 2023 are 

not comparable due to the reorganization under company law as of July 1, 2024. 

 R E G U L A T O R Y  R A T I O S  O F  T H E  V O L K S W A G E N  B A N K  G M B H  G R O U P  A S  O F  D E C .  3 1  

 
1 The amounts of Tier 1 capital and Common Equity Tier 1 capital are the same because Volkswagen Bank GmbH has not issued any Additional Tier 1 capital instruments.  
 
 

The year-on-year change in the regulatory capital ratios (CET1 capital ratio, Tier 1 capital ratio and total 
capital ratio) is largely attributable to the increase in total risk exposure having more than offset the 
increase in own funds.  
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The increase in the total risk exposure of €59.5 billion is principally a result of the integration of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the wake of the reorganization under company law as of July 1, 2024 and 
an increase in business volume in the corporate and retail areas. 

The increase in the own funds of €8.7 billion is principally also a result of the integration of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the wake of the reorganization under company law as of July 1, 2024. 
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T I E R  1  C A P I T A L  R A T I O / C O M M O N  E Q U I T Y  T I E R  1  C A P I T A L  R A T I O  
In % 

 

O V E R A L L  R A T I O / T O T A L  C A P I T A L  R A T I O  ( C R R / S O L V V )  
 In %

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has a capital planning process, the aim of which is to ensure that the regulatory 
minimum capital ratios are satisfied, even when the volume of business grows. In addition to making 
additions to capital reserves and using Tier 2 capital proportionately in the form of subordinated liabili-
ties, the Bank can also make use of ABS transactions to optimize its capital management. Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH therefore has the benefit of a sound foundation for further expansion of the financial ser-
vices business. 
 
In a letter dated June 19, the ECB informed Volkswagen Bank GmbH that from July 1, following the crea-
tion of the financial holding group Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH will need 
to comply with the provisions of Parts 2 to 8 of the CRR and Title VII of the CRM at the level of the entities 
included in the regulatory basis of consolidation of Volkswagen Bank Group. The provisions of Title VII 
of the CRD have been implemented and are enshrined in the KWG and put into specific terms by MaRisk 
and the applicable EBA guidelines. Moreover, as of July 1, 2024, Volkswagen Bank GmbH received a CRR 
waiver approval pursuant to section 2a(1) of the KWG in conjunction with Art. 7(1) and 6(1) of the CRR 
and a Pillar 2 waiver approval pursuant to section 2a(2) of the KWG. What this means is that Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH is exempt, in particular, from the capital and large exposure provisions pursuant to the CRR 
and from calculating the risk-bearing capacity at the level of the single entity Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 
To this end, Volkswagen Financial Services AG issued a hard letter of comfort to the creditors of 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The relevant provisions must instead be fulfilled at the level of the Volkswagen 
Bank Group. Volkswagen Bank GmbH furthermore received approval according to section 2(3) of the 
Groß- und Millionenkreditverordnung (GroMiKV – Regulation governing large exposures or loans of €1.5 
million or more) to exempt 90% of its loans to parent companies, subsidiaries and affiliates within the 
regulatory basis of consolidation of the financial holding group Volkswagen Financial Services AG from 
the calculation of the utilization of the large exposure limit of Volkswagen Bank Group.   

CHANGES I N OFF-BALANCE-SH EET LIABI L ITI ES  
The off-balance-sheet liabilities relate mainly to irrevocable credit commitments. At the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group, they amounted to €10,280 million as of December 31, 2024 (previous year restated: 
€10,039 million). 
 
Following the spin-off and absorption of the shares in Volkswagen Leasing GmbH by Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH, because of the special liability provision of section 133 of the Umwandlungsgesetz (UmwG – Ger-
man Transformation Act) the Volkswagen Bank Group has become jointly and severally liable for the 
legacy liabilities of former Volkswagen Financial Services AG, now Volkswagen Financial Services Over-
seas AG, although this liability is limited to the allocated net assets of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. Since 
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the lion’s share of the liabilities of former Volkswagen Financial Services AG, now Volkswagen Financial 
Services AG Overseas AG, has been transferred to the present-day financial holding company 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG by way of a spin-off, the joint and several liability essentially extends 
to the legacy liabilities that were transferred to the financial holding company Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG. To comply with the large exposure provisions of the Volkswagen Bank Group, Volkswagen Fi-
nancial Services AG has placed a cash deposit with Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

LIQUIDITY ANALYSIS 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is funded largely through direct banking deposits and through cap-
ital market and asset-backed security programs. If required, the sources of funding are supplemented by 
utilizing liquidity made available by the ECB in open market operations. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group holds liquidity reserves in the form of credit balances on its account with the ECB and securities 
deposited in its operational safe custody account with Deutsche Bundesbank. In addition to bonds from 
various countries, German federal states (Länder bonds), supranational institutions and multilateral de-
velopment banks plus Pfandbriefe (mortgage bonds), all totaling €3.2 billion, the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group holds senior ABS bonds issued by special purpose entities of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in 
an amount of €9.8 billion, which can be deposited as collateral in the operational safe custody account.  

In conjunction with various ILAAP metrics, the normative and economic perspectives of liquidity ad-
equacy are assessed over short-, medium- and long-term time horizons. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group ensures that it has appropriate liquidity adequacy at all times by measuring and limiting the 
ILAAP metrics. A significant ILAAP metric used by Treasury to manage short-term liquidity at 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and in the entities within the regulatory basis of consolidation of the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR). From January to June in the year 
under review, this ratio varied between 316% and 430% for the relevant Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
at the time, and from June to December in the year under review, following the restructuring of the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, it ranged between 209% and 457%. The LCR was therefore significantly 
above the lower regulatory limit of 100% at all times. The changes in the liquidity ratio are continuously 
monitored and proactively managed by a lower limit for internal management purposes. Highly liquid 
assets for the purposes of the LCR include central bank balances and government bonds plus other secu-
rities such as Länder bonds, supranational bonds and Pfandbriefe. 

The requirement under the Mindestanforderungen an das Risikomanagement (MaRisk – German Min-
imum Requirements for Risk Management) for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group to provide a highly 
liquid cash buffer and appropriate liquidity reserves to cover any liquidity requirements over 7-day and 
30-day time horizons was also satisfied at all times, even under various stress scenarios. Compliance with 
this requirement is determined and continuously monitored by the liquidity risk management depart-
ment. In this process, the cash flows for the coming 12 months are projected and compared against the 
potential funding available in each maturity band. Adequate potential funding to cover the liquidity re-
quirements was available at all times in the normal scenario. The survival period recovery indicator re-
mained within the stipulated limits through the 2024 reporting year. 

FUN DI NG 
Strategic principles 
In terms of funding, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group pursues a strategy of diversification. This in-
cludes optimization of the available instruments, currencies, maturities and interest rate matches while 
taking into account cost and risk aspects.  

By pooling its activities in the European financial holding company Volkswagen Financial Services 
AG and by spinning off Volkswagen Leasing GmbH to Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the funding strength of 
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH can be used for the growth of the leasing business in Germany and Europe. The 
new Group structure takes account of both the expected business growth and the growing customer 
trend away from vehicle financing and towards leasing. The reorganization means that Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH no longer has limited scope for providing funds to Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. In addition to the 
placement of bonds and ABS transactions, for example, the substantially increased customer deposits at 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH can now be used to finance the planned business growth.   

Unsecured capital market transactions can be issued from the newly established €50 billion debt is-
suance program of Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Volkswagen Finan-
cial Services N.V. published on September 25, 2024. Effective July 1, 2024, Volkswagen Financial Services 
AG issued a hard letter of comfort in favor of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.  

Implementation 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH issued no unsecured bonds in 2024. Nor were any public securitization trans-
actions carried out in the reporting period. ECB funding instruments constituted additional sources of 
funding. The significant increase in customer deposits can now also be used without restrictions to fund 
the increase in business volume of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH.  

Ratings 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and, as such, 
its credit ratings with Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s), Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Fitch Ratings 
Limited (Fitch) are closely associated with those of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and the Volkswagen 
Group.  

Rating agency S&P confirmed its short-term and long-term ratings of A-2 and BBB+ for Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH on July 1, 2024. The outlook remains “stable”. Rating agency Moody’s confirmed its P-1 
(short term) and A1 (long term) ratings for Volkswagen Bank GmbH on July 1, 2024. On October 10, 2024, 
the outlook was lowered from “stable” to “negative”, first for Volkswagen AG and then for Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH. On July 1, 2024, Fitch confirmed the short-term and long-term ratings of F1 and A- for 
Volkswagen AG and issued new short-term and long-term ratings for Volkswagen Bank GmbH at F1 and 
A. The outlook for Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH is “stable”.  

This confirmation of the ratings reflects the overall stability of the Group during the current transi-
tion phase to 
 
electromobility even though the negative outlook at Moody’s is an expression of the current challenges 
facing the entire automotive industry. 
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
(Condensed, in accordance with the HGB) 

As the parent company, Volkswagen Bank GmbH accounts for a significant share of the business perfor-
mance of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group even after the restructuring under company law. Please 
refer to the previous section for a presentation of the business performance of the Group in accordance 
with the IFRSs. In the section below, information is provided on the changes in the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in accordance with the HGB. 

BUSI N ESS PERFORMANCE 2024 
The result from ordinary activities increased to €1,053,3 million (previous year: €886.6 million). The net 
interest income earned by Volkswagen Bank GmbH, including interest anomalies from negative interest 
and net income from leasing transactions, came to €2,810.7 million compared with €2,390.3 million in 
the prior year due to the increase in the volume of loans and receivables. 

Interest income from lending and money market transactions including finance leases, which origi-
nated predominantly from financing business with end customers and from vehicle and capital invest-
ment financing with dealerships in the Volkswagen Group, increased by €1,426.3 million year-on-year to 
€3,983.1 million due to the general course of interest rates. Of this amount, €1,113.2 million (previous 
year: €787.0 million) was attributable to retail financing and €938.3 million (previous year: €756.5 mil-
lion) to dealer financing. It also includes interest income from the return of central bank liquidity totaling 
€807.5 million (previous year: €355.8 million). 

Net income from leasing business amounted to €1,024.4 million (previous year: €1,001.0 million). 
Within this figure, income from leasing transactions, which rose by €273.8 million or 16.2%, is set against 
expenses from leasing transactions, which increased by €250.5 million or 36.1%.  

Fee and commission income amounted to €271.8 million, which equated to a decrease of  
€18.3 million compared with the prior-year level. Fee and commission expenses came to €659.3 million 
(previous year: €444.9 million). Net fee and commission income was in negative territory in the year un-
der review, with a net expense of €387.5 million (previous year: net expense of €154.8 million).  

Other operating income rose by €6.6 million to €397.8 million.  
General and administrative expenses increased by €29.1 million to €826.6 million (previous year: 

€797.5 million). Personnel expenses increased by €58.6 million to €246.5 million.  
Expenses arising from cost transfers from affiliated companies decreased by €141.9 million to €192.1 

million. Both effects are a consequence of the restructuring under company law and the associated 
changes in personnel. 

Fees for services provided by third parties increased by €29.3 million to €61.8 million.  
Depreciation and write-downs on lease assets amounted to €972.0 million (previous year: €853.9 mil-

lion). Other operating expenses fell by €0.6 million to €83.7 million. 
The provision for credit risks came to a net addition of €165.5 million (previous year: net addition of 

€7 million), due to the increase in the volume of loans and receivables to Group companies and dealers.  
The profit after tax of €581.7 million (previous year: €620.8 million) will be transferred to Volkswagen 

AG pursuant to the existing control and profit-and-loss transfer agreement. 
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Total assets rose by €20.8 billion to €103.1 billion (previous year: €82.3 billion), due to increased loans 
to Volkswagen Group companies and the rise in loans and receivables in dealer finance. As a result, the 
customer loans and receivables reported in the balance sheet increased by €17.5 billion and amounted 
to €68.0 billion as of the reporting date (previous year: €50.5 billion). This included loans to and receiva-
bles from customers attributable to sales finance, which remained almost unchanged with growth of 
€0.8 million to €29.1 billion. Loans and receivables from dealers in connection with purchase financing 
rose by €1.3 billion to €16.5 billion. Receivables from loans to Group companies grew by €14.5 billion to 
€17.4 billion. Other receivables resulted from leasing transactions, direct banking activities and other 
matters, and had a volume totaling €5.0 billion as of December 31, 2024 (previous year: €4.1 billion). The 
cash reserve remained unchanged at €0.9billion (previous year: €0.9 billion). 

Most of Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s portfolio comprises securities from ABS transactions, of which 
€10.1 billion (previous year: €11.6 billion) is attributable to securities from own-account transactions. 
For investment purposes, the portfolio also included ABSs with a total value of €0.5 billion (previous year: 
€0.5 billion) issued by special purpose entities of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd., Milton Keynes. 

On the equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet, there were significant changes in liabilities to 
banks, which declined by €7.2 billion to €0.3 billion as a result of the return of central bank liquidity. Due 
to maturities, notes and commercial paper issued also decreased, by €1.7 billion to €3.4 billion. In return, 
liabilities to customers (incl. direct banking business) rose by €26.7 billion to €73.1 billion (previous year: 
€46.4 billion). The restructuring under company law, which is described in the relevant section, moreover 
led to a €3.4 billion increase of equity to €12.6 billion since the spin-off of the shares of Volkswagen Leas-
ing GmbH to Volkswagen Bank GmbH is recognized as an addition to capital reserves.

I N C O M E  S T A T E M E N T  O F  V O L K S W A G E N  B A N K  G M B H ,  B R A U N S C H W E I G  

€ million 2024 2023
     

Net interest income 1,786 1,389

Net leasing income 1,024 1,001

Net fee and commission income –388 –155

Income from profit pooling, profit transfer/partial profit transfer agreement 140 –

Administrative expenses 827 798

Other comprehensive income –518 –544

Provision for credit risks 165 7

Result from ordinary business activities 1,053 887

Tax expense 471 266

Profits transferred under a profit transfer agreement 582 621

Net income for the year 0 0

Retained profits brought forward 0 0

Net retained profits 0 0
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B A L A N C E  S H E E T  S T R U C T U R E  O F  V O L K S W A G E N  B A N K  G M B H ,  B R A U N S C H W E I G  

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Assets 

Cash reserve 918 850

Loans to and receivables from banks 12,106 11,426

Loans to and receivables from customers 67,986 50,513

Marketable securities 13,699 15,666

Equity investments and shares in affiliated companies 3,417 182

Lease assets 4,456 3,226

Other assets 553 465

Total assets 103,135 82,328

Equity and liabilities 

Liabilities to banks 288 7,521

Liabilities to customers 73,051 46,399

Notes, commercial paper issued 3,431 5,088

Provisions 622 452

Subordinated liabilities – 10

Funds for general banking risks 26 26

Equity 12,616 9,224

Other liabilities 13,101 13,609

Total equity and liabilities 103,134 82,328

Balance sheet disclosures 

Contingent liabilities 9,086 176

Other obligations 10,280 10,039
   

OPPORTUN ITI ES AN D RISKS FACI NG VOLKSWAGEN BAN K GMBH 
The business performance of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is largely subject to the same opportunities and 
risks as those faced by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. These opportunities and risks are described 
in the report on opportunities and risks in the following sections of this management report.  
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Report on Opportunities and 
Risks 

In challenging times, the  
balanced, active management of opportunities and  

and risks characterizes the sustained operating success of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.  

OPPORTUN ITI ES AN D RISKS 
In this section, the opportunities and risks that arise in connection with the Bank’s business activities 
are presented. They are grouped into various categories. Unless explicitly mentioned, there were no ma-
terial year-on-year changes to the individual risks and opportunities. 

Analyses of the competitive and operating environment are used, together with market observations, 
to identify not only risks but also opportunities, which then have a positive impact on the design of 
products, their success in the marketplace and on cost structure. Risks and opportunities that are ex-
pected to materialize have already been taken into account in the Bank’s medium-term planning and 
forecast. The following sections therefore describe fundamental opportunities that could lead to a posi-
tive variance from the forecast, as well as including a detailed description of the risks. 

MACROECONOMIC OPPORTUN ITI ES AN D RISKS  
The Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH expects deliveries to Volkswagen Group customers 
in 2025 to be on the same level as in the previous year in the face of challenging market conditions. The 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group promotes the sale of vehicles through financial services. 

The economic growth in Europe depends substantially on the trend of inflation. While overall infla-
tion is declining compared with prior years, core inflation remains at a level above the central bank’s 
target corridor. Key interest rates are expected to have peaked. If core inflation remains high, however, 
this may lead to a further tightening of monetary policy, thereby weakening economic growth.  

Geopolitical tensions may have an additional adverse impact on economic growth by resulting in 
shortages and delays in the global supply chains, for example, or by contributing to a renewed rise in 
inflation. This may have an additional negative effect on consumer confidence and the investment cli-
mate. 

The macroeconomic environment could also give rise to opportunities for the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group if, for example, actual inflation turns out to be more positive than forecast or geopolitical 
tensions ease, with a positive impact on the economic development. 

The expansion of the digital sales channels promotes direct sales to supplement the dealership busi-
ness. It addresses the changing needs of customers and strengthens the competitive position of the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. 

STRATEGIC OPPORTUN ITI ES 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is continuing to pursue a strategy that focuses on the digitalization 
and optimization of all processes, systems and products. The aim is to also offer all key products online.  

Moreover, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group wants to leverage the opportunities for growth more 
and more in the areas of vehicle financing and leasing. It sees further opportunities in the development 
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of innovative products that are geared to the changed mobility requirements of customers. Growth areas 
such as mobility products and service offerings are being systematically developed and expanded within 
the integrated Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. 

By pooling its activities in a European financial services provider and through the spin-off of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH to Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Volkswagen Bank GmbH can use its funding 
strength to expand the leasing business in Germany and Europe.  

With customers increasingly preferring to lease vehicles rather than seek finance for their purchase, 
and with business expected to grow, the new Group structure will extend not only to the placement of 
bonds and ABS transactions, but also in particular to the use of funding opportunities of Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH, such as the planned significant increase in customer deposits to fund the planned business 
growth at Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and for the companies of the European financial holding company, 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG.  

The restrictions in the form of large exposure limits no longer apply following the reorganization; con-
sequently the funds from funding options of Volkswagen Bank GmbH can be used in full to fund 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH as well. 

OPPORTUN ITI ES FROM CREDIT RISK 
Opportunities may arise in connection with credit risks if the losses actually incurred on lending and 
leasing transactions turn out to be lower than the prior calculations of expected loss and the associated 
provisions recognized on the basis thereof. Particularly in those countries in which increased risk provi-
sioning was identified due to an uncertain economic situation, the realized losses may be lower than the 
expected losses if the economy stabilizes and borrowers’ credit ratings improve as a result. 

OPPORTUN ITI ES FROM RESI DUAL VALUE RISK 
When vehicles are remarketed, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group may be presented with the oppor-
tunity to obtain a price that is higher than the contractual residual value if actually realized marketing 
prices show a better development than expected. 

KEY FEATURES OF TH E I NTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AN D TH E I NTERNAL RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
AS REGARDS TH E FI NANCIAL REPORTI NG PROCESS  
The internal control system (ICS) for the consolidated and annual financial statements as well as the 
management report of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, as far as it is related to the accounting system, is defined 
as the sum of all principles, procedures and activities aimed at ensuring the effectiveness and propriety 
of the financial reporting and ensuring compliance with the relevant legal requirements. The internal 
risk management system (IRMS) as regards the accounting process refers to the risk of misstatement in 
the bookkeeping at the company and Group level as well as in external financial reporting. The sections 
below describe the key elements of the ICS/IRMS as they relate to the financial reporting process of 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 
 
 The Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is the governing body with responsibility for the 

executive management of the business. In this role, the Management Board has set up accounting, 
treasury, risk management, controlling, and compliance and integrity units, each with clearly distinct 
functions and clearly defined areas of responsibility and authority, to ensure that the accounting and 
financial reporting processes are legally compliant and in line with the relevant standards. All ac-
counting tasks (single-entity and consolidated financial statements) are performed by Volkswagen 
Financial Services AG in the context of an outsourcing agreement. Volkswagen Leasing GmbH fulfills 
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some of the controlling tasks as part of an outsourcing agreement. The compliance function has also 
been outsourced to Volkswagen Financial Services AG and is supplemented by the compliance officer 
function at Volkswagen Bank GmbH.  

 Group-wide rules and regulations have been put in place as the basis for a standardized, proper and 
continuous financial reporting process. 

 The accounting policies applied by the domestic and foreign entities included in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements are, among others, governed by the Volkswagen Group’s accounting policies, in-
cluding the accounting requirements specified in the IFRS Accounting Standards (IFRSs). Reporting 
requirements including the accounting policies according to the German Commercial Code (HGB) in 
conjunction with the Verordnung über die Rechnungslegung der Kreditinstitute (RechKredV – German 
Regulation on Accounting for Banks, Financial Services Institutions and Investment Firms) set out 
the accounting and valuation principles for the single-entity financial statements of Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH. 

 The accounting standards also set out the specific formal requirements for the consolidated financial 
statements. The standards determine the basis of consolidation and also describe in detail the com-
ponents of the reporting packages to be prepared by the Group companies. The accounting standards 
also define specific details relating to the recognition and processing of intragroup transactions and 
the associated reconciliation of balances. 

 At Group level, specific control activities aimed at ensuring that the consolidated financial reporting 
provides a true and fair view include the analysis and any necessary adjustment of IFRS reporting 
packages prepared by the consolidated entities, taking into account the reports submitted by the au-
ditor and the related discussions concerning the financial statements. 

 These activities are supplemented by the clear delineation of areas of responsibility and by various 
monitoring and review mechanisms.  

 These monitoring and review mechanisms are designed with both integrated and independent pro-
cess components. Automated IT processing controls account for a significant proportion of the inte-
grated process activities alongside manual process controls, such as double-checking by a second per-
son. 

 Internal auditing is a key component of the monitoring and control system. It carries out regular au-
dits of accounting-related processes in Germany and abroad as part of its risk-oriented auditing ac-
tivities and reports on these audits directly to the Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 
Parts of Internal Audit’s activities are outsourced to Volkswagen Financial Services AG.  
 

To summarize, the aim of the ICS and IRMS of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is to ensure that the financial 
position of the single entity and the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is based on information that is reli-
able and has been properly recognized as of the December 31, 2024 reporting date. In addition, the accu-
rate recording, processing and evaluation of all transactions and recording them in the accounting sys-
tem as a whole must be ensured.  

No material changes were made to the internal monitoring and control system of Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH after the reporting date. 

ORGAN IZATIONAL STRUCTURE OF RISK MANAGEMENT 
At Volkswagen Bank GmbH, risk is defined as the danger of loss or damage that could occur if an antici-
pated future development turns out to be less favorable than planned. In the realm of its primary oper-
ating activities, Volkswagen Bank GmbH is exposed to a large number of risks typical for the financial 
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services sector. The Group takes on these risks within the limits of the approved risk strategy so that it 
can target and exploit any resulting market opportunities. 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH , working in close cooperation with Volkswagen Financial Services AG, has put a risk management 
system in place to identify, assess, manage, monitor and communicate risks. The risk management sys-
tem comprises an integrated framework of risk principles, organizational structures and processes for 
assessing and monitoring risks. The individual elements are aligned with the activities of the individual 
divisions. This structure is intended to ensure early detection of any trends that could represent a risk to 
the business as a going concern so that appropriate countermeasures can then be initiated early on. 

The entire Management Board is responsible for risk management at Volkswagen Bank GmbH, alt-
hough responsibility for operational implementation lies with the Chief Risk Officer (CRO). In this func-
tion, the CRO submits regular reports on the overall risk position of Volkswagen Bank GmbH to the other 
members of the Management Board and to the Supervisory Board. 

 

 
The management body is supported by a number of risk management units that were set up to fulfill the 
operational risk controlling functions. This means that Volkswagen Financial Services AG and 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH manage the risks using an integrated approach. In terms of the practical imple-
mentation, operational implementation for the liquidity risks (ILAAP), operational risks and activities in 
stress testing is the responsibility of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Moreover, it uses the competence of 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG’s Risk Management for residual value risk processes, defined activities 
of model validation and for recovery and resolution planning. The risk-bearing capacity of Volkswagen 
Financial Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH are determined, their capital adequacy assessed 
(ICAAP – Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process) and the counterparty default risks managed in 
close cooperation between the two companies. 
 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH has implemented suitable procedures to make sure that the risk management 
system is fit for purpose. The Internal Audit department monitors the individual elements in the system 
regularly on a risk-oriented basis. 

In 2024, no changes were made to the existing Pillar 2 requirement for Volkswagen Bank GmbH of 
2.25%. The Pillar 2 requirement, which is specified and reviewed by the ECB banking supervisor every 
year, must be satisfied in addition to the minimum capital requirements under Pillar 1 and covers risks 
that are underestimated in or not covered by the minimum capital requirements.  
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An important feature of the integrated risk management system is the clear, unequivocal separation of 
tasks and areas of responsibility, both organizationally and in terms of personnel. This ensures that the 
system is fully functioning at all times and regardless of the personnel involved. 

The risk management departments are responsible for providing guidelines for the organization of 
risk management. This function includes drawing up risk policy guidelines, developing and maintaining 
methodologies and processes relevant to risk management, and issuing and monitoring international 
framework standards for the procedures to be used across Europe. 

In particular, these activities involve providing models for carrying out credit assessments, quantify-
ing the different categories of risk, determining risk-bearing capacity, evaluating collateral and standard 
procedures for the identification, analysis and assessment of direct and indirect residual value risks. Risk 
Management is therefore responsible for identifying possible risks, analyzing, quantifying and evaluat-
ing risks, and for determining the resulting measures to respond to the risks. 

Local risk management units ensure that the requirements specified by Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s 
Risk Management are implemented and complied with in their respective market.  

To summarize, continuous monitoring of risks, open and direct communication with the Manage-
ment Board and the integration of all findings into the operational risk management system together 
form the basis, in the view of the Management Board, for the best possible leveraging of market potential 
based on conscious, effective management of the overall risk faced by Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

RISK STRATEGY AN D RISK MANAGEMENT 
Fundamental decisions relating to strategy and the instruments of risk management are the responsi-
bility of the Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

As part of this overall responsibility, the Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH has intro-
duced a MaRisk-compliant strategy process and implemented a business and risk strategy.  

The MOBILITY2030 Group-wide business strategy sets out the fundamental views of the Management 
Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH on key matters relating to business policy. It includes the objectives 
for each major business activity and the strategic areas for action to achieve the relevant objectives. The 
business strategy also serves as the starting point for creating an associated risk strategy. 

The risk strategy is reviewed each year and whenever required on the basis of a risk inventory, risk-
bearing capacity and legal requirements. It is adjusted where appropriate, approved by the Management 
Board and discussed with the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The risk strategy describes 
the main risk management goals and action plans for each category of risk, taking into account the busi-
ness policy focus, risk tolerance and risk appetite. A review is carried out annually to establish whether 
the goals in the risk strategy have been attained. The causes of any variances are analyzed and then dis-
cussed with the Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

The risk strategy includes all material quantifiable and non-quantifiable risks. More detailed infor-
mation and specific examples of the individual risk categories are modeled in the form of subrisk strat-
egies and operationalized in the business and risk planning process.  

The Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is responsible for specifying and subsequently 
implementing the overall risk strategy in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. 
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RISK STRATEGY PRO CESS  

 

RISK I NVENTORY 
The objective of the risk inventory, which has to be carried out at least once a year, is to identify the main 
categories of risk. To this end, all known categories of risk are examined to establish whether they arise 
and are relevant in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. In the risk inventory, the relevant categories of 
risk are examined in greater detail, quantified or, if they cannot be quantified, assessed by experts, and 
then evaluated to determine whether they are material for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. In ac-
cordance with the requirements set out in the ECB Guide to the internal capital adequacy assessment 
process (ICAAP) and the ECB Guide to the internal liquidity adequacy assessment process (ILAAP), the 
risk inventory is carried out using both the economic and normative perspectives and, in addition, a 
gross approach (i.e. an analysis of the risks that does not take into account specific techniques designed 
to mitigate the underlying risks). The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group also has an ILAAP-specific frame-
work for risk identification in place as required by the ILAAP guide. 

The risk inventory for 2024 carried out as per December 31, 2024 came to the conclusion that the 
following quantifiable categories of risk should be classified as material: counterparty default risk, direct 
residual value risk, interest rate risk, credit spread risk (CSRBB), other market risk, funding risk and oper-
ational risk. The following categories of risk should be classified as non-material: business risk consisting 
of earnings risk, reputational risk and strategic risk including ESG markup, and business model risk. The 
indirect residual value risk and the pension risk are still considered immaterial due to their low share of 
the overall risk. Other existing subcategories of risk are taken into account within the categories specified 
above.  

Moreover, based on the new structure of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group a risk inventory was 
performed during the year in order to assess the risks as of July 1, 2024. In the process, the above-men-
tioned risks (see RISK STRATEGY AND RISK MANAGEMENT) were identified. The materiality of the risks 
as stated above was reaffirmed. 
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RISK-BEARI NG CAPACITY,  RISK LIMITS  AN D STRESS TESTI NG  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has set up a system for calculating risk-bearing capacity in accord-
ance with the requirements specified in the ECB Guide to the internal capital adequacy assessment pro-
cess (ICAAP). In the opinion of the Management Board, the system should ensure that the Group main-
tains risk-bearing capacity from both economic and normative perspectives.  

In the economic risk-bearing capacity analysis, the overall economic risk is compared against the risk-
taking potential. An institution has the capacity to bear its risk if, as a minimum, all material risks to 
which the institution is exposed are covered at all times by the institution’s risk-taking potential. 

The main risks are quantified as part of the economic risk-bearing capacity analysis with a confidence 
level of 99.9% and a time horizon of one year.  

The objective of the normative perspective is to ensure that the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group meets 
all relevant regulatory capital ratio requirements (in particular, the requirements for the total capital 
ratio and CET1 capital ratio) in the planning period. To this end, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group an-
alyzes a baseline scenario and a multidimensional adverse scenario over a forward-looking time horizon 
of three years beyond the current year and constantly monitors its compliance with the regulatory cap-
ital requirements and its internally specified early warning thresholds. 

In addition, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses a system of limits derived from the economic 
risk-bearing capacity analysis to specifically manage risk-cover capital in accordance with the level of risk 
tolerance determined by the Management Board. 

Building on Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s risk appetite framework, the risk limit system that has been 
put in place limits the risk at different levels, thereby aiming to safeguard the economic risk-bearing 
capacity of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.  

Risk-taking potential is determined from the available equity and earnings components subject to 
deductions (such as undisclosed liabilities). In accordance with a moderate, overarching risk appetite, 
only a portion (a maximum of 90%) of this risk-taking potential is specified as a risk ceiling or overall 
risk limit. The overall risk limit is apportioned according to the relevant specific risk appetite to counter-
party default risk, direct residual value risk, interest rate risk in the banking book, credit spread risk in 
the banking book, other market risk, funding risk, and operational risk for the purposes of operational 
monitoring and control. In this process, the limit allocated to counterparty default risk, itself an over-
arching category of risk, is subdivided into individual limits for credit risk, shareholder risk, issuer risk 
and counterparty risk. From a qualitative perspective, the specific risk appetite for each category of risk 
is set at moderate to low based on the business model and risk strategy of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.  

In a second step, the limits for the risk categories of credit and residual value risk are broken down 
and allocated at the level of the branches and subsidiaries. For the interest rate risk in the banking book, 
an operating limit is set in addition to the strategic limit. The business risk, consisting of earnings risk, 
reputational risk and strategic risk including ESG markup and business model risk, is not limited but 
treated as a deduction from the risk-taking potential. 

The limit system provides management with a tool that enables it to meet its strategic and opera-
tional corporate management responsibilities in accordance with statutory requirements. 

The overall economic risk of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group as of December 31, 2024 amounted 
to €12.2 billion (previous year: €3.5 billion). The apportionment of this total risk by individual risk cate-
gory was as follows: 
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D I S T R I B U T I O N  O F  R I S K S  B Y  R I S K  C A T E G O R Y  
As of December 31, 2024 

 

     

C H A N G E S  I N  R I S K  C A T E G O R Y  A P P O R T I O N M E N T 1  

 

€  MI LL I O N S H A R E  I N P ER C E NT  

Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
         

Risk category  

Credit risk 6,633 2,169 54 62

Shareholder, issuer and counterparty risk 508 348 4 10

Residual value risk 3,133 42 26 1

Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB) 1,487 716 12 20

Credit spread risks in the banking book (CSRBB) 102 – 1 –

Other market risk (currency and fund price 
risk) 56 23 1 1

Liquidity risk (funding risk) 3 2 0 0

Operational risk 284 201 2 6

Business risk 0 0 0 0

Total 12,206 3,501 100 100

1 The confidence level is 99.9% as standard. 

 

Due to the changes to the company, the direct residual value risks constitute the key driver for the year-
on-year increase in economic risks. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, risk-taking potential amounted to €17.4 billion and comprised CET1 capital  
(€18.3 billion) plus accumulated earnings after dividend deduction (€0.5 billion) less hidden charges and 
loss allowance shortfalls (€1.5 billion in total). As of December 31, 2024, 70% of risk-taking potential was 
utilized by the risks outlined above. In the period January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024, the maximum 
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utilization of the risk-taking potential in the economic perspective was 70%. In addition to determining 
the risk-bearing capacity in a normal scenario, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group also conducts Group-
wide stress tests and reports the results to the Management Board. Stress tests are used to examine the 
potential impact from exceptional but plausible events on the risk-bearing capacity and earnings perfor-
mance of Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. The purpose of these scenarios is to facilitate early identifica-
tion of those risks that would be particularly affected by the trends simulated in the scenarios so that 
any necessary corrective action can be initiated in good time. The stress tests include both a historical 
scenario (a repeat of the financial crisis in the years 2008 to 2010) and a hypothetical scenario (a sharp 
drop in sales in the Volkswagen Group). These scenarios, which cover all categories of risk, are supple-
mented by sensitivity analyses specific to risk categories. Appended to these analyses are regular stress 
test analyses with a multi-year time horizon for the normative perspective. In addition, annual reverse 
stress tests are used to identify what events could represent a threat to the ability of the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group to continue as a going concern. Stress tests using a multi-year time horizon (for ex-
ample an economic downturn, ESG scenarios) are also prepared annually. 

In 2024, the calculations of risk-bearing capacity confirmed that all material risks that could adversely 
impact the financial position or financial performance were adequately covered by the available risk-
taking potential at all times. The stress tests did not indicate any need for action. 

RISK CONCENTRATIONS  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is a captive finance company in the automotive sector. The business 
model, which focuses on promoting vehicle sales for the different Volkswagen Group brands, results in 
concentrations of risk, which can take various forms. 

Concentrations of risk can arise from an uneven distribution of activity in which 
 

 Just a few borrowers/contracts account for a large proportion of the loans (counterparty concentra-
tions) 

 A small number of sectors account for a large proportion of the loans (sector concentrations) 
 Many of the loans are to businesses within a defined geographical area (regional concentrations) 
 Loans/receivables are secured by just one type of collateral or by a limited range of collateral types 

(collateral concentrations) 
 Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s income is generated from just a few sources (income concentrations) 
 
The potential concentrations are counteracted by diversification, for example in the dimensions of 
brands, models and countries. 

Counterparty concentrations from customer business are only of minor significance in the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group because of the large proportion of business accounted for by retail lend-
ing. From a regional perspective, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has a concentration of business in 
the German market, but looks to achieve broad nationwide diversification within the country. 

In contrast, sector concentrations in the dealership business are a natural part of the business for a 
captive and these concentrations are therefore individually analyzed. Overall, no noticeable impact has 
been identified, even in periods of economic downturn such as that caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Likewise, a captive cannot avoid collateral concentrations because the vehicle is the predominant col-
lateral asset by virtue of the business model. Risks can arise from concentrations of collateral if down-
ward pricing trends in used vehicle markets or segments lead to lower proceeds from the recovery of 
assets and, as a consequence, there is a fall in the value of the collateral. Nevertheless, in terms of the 
vehicles used as collateral, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group enjoys a broad diversification across all 
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vehicle segments (see following diagram) based on a large range of vehicles from the different brands in 
the Volkswagen Group. 

C O L L A T E R A L  S T R U C T U R E  A S  O F  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  
In % 

 

Income concentration arises from the very nature of the business model. The special constellation in 
which the Company serves to promote Volkswagen Group sales results in certain dependencies that di-
rectly affect income growth. 

MODEL RISK 
Model risk arises from inaccuracies in the modeling of risk values and must be taken into account, par-
ticularly in complex models. 

Depending on model complexity, model risk can occur in a number of areas of model development 
and application.  

Potential model risks relating to the risk models used for the risk-bearing capacity analysis are quali-
tatively assessed both in the original model development process and as part of regular independent 
model validation. The objective is to examine the need for additional cover in relation to such risks in 
the form of own funds. 

ESG RISKS  
The increasing emphasis placed on sustainability and the need to manage ESG (environmental, social, 
governance) risks is changing the financial system. The Bank intends to be proactively involved in these 
changes and make the most of the opportunities that arise. 

In this context, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, in its role as a provider of financial products 
across Europe serving the automotive and individual mobility markets, sees sustainability as a business 
responsibility and critical strategic success factor.  

Based on the goals of the “Sustainability” dimension as part of the corporate strategy MOBILITY2030 
that has been derived for Volkswagen Financial Services AG and for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, 
the risk strategy sets out the fundamental understanding for handling ESG risks and describes the risk 
strategy guidelines for the operational framework to address this issue. These strategies are comple-
mented by the separate sustainability strategy adopted at the beginning of 2024.  
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The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group attaches high importance to the treatment of sustainability risks 
that could have negative consequences for the financial position, financial performance and reputation 
of the Bank if such risks were to materialize. Demand for environmentally friendly and climate-neutral 
products is growing too, and customers have ever higher expectations of companies, including financial 
sector companies, in terms of sustainable operations and behavior.  

In order to take into account stakeholders’ changing requirements with regard to sustainability at the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, in recent years the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has gradually inte-
grated ESG risks into the risk management framework as an integral part in the context of a comprehen-
sive sustainability project. Here, ESG risks do not constitute a risk category of their own; rather, they are 
risk drivers of existing types of risk. Although climate- and environment-specific risk drivers, in particu-
lar, are of great importance for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, social and governance risks are also 
taken into account when identifying, evaluating and managing ESG risks.  

In order to ensure that the ESG risks are adequately identified, quantified, managed and monitored, 
a qualitative and quantitative assessment of the materiality of the ESG risk drivers within the existing 
risk categories is carried out as part of an annual materiality assessment. Starting from the results of the 
materiality assessment, appropriate scenarios are devised, which are quantified as part of an annual cli-
mate stress test. The definition of ESG key risk indicators ensures that they are integrated into the risk 
strategy so that they can be managed. To guarantee appropriate monitoring, ESG risks are integrated into 
the quarterly risk management report. In addition, ESG aspects are regularly published in the Disclosure 
Report.  

In order to address the identified material ESG risks, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has estab-
lished tools to take ESG aspects into account in its credit and residual value processes. As part of the credit 
approval process, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group assesses ESG risks on the basis of the comprehen-
sive expertise of the front and back office. As a captive, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is geared to 
the financing and leasing of passenger cars for retail and corporate customers. This means that the trans-
formation of the automotive industry and the impact on vehicle dealers and the residual values of vehi-
cles constitute a material risk for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.  

By contrast, from a funding perspective the electric mobility transformation is supported by the issue 
of green bonds, assisted by Volkswagen Financial Services AG's positive ESG rating. The Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group established a green finance framework on the basis of ICMA GBP 2021 and 
LMA/LSTA/APLMA GLP 2023 standards for the issuance of the green bonds.  

In this case, the objective is to base funding to a greater extent on sustainability criteria overall. 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is making various efforts to ensure that its own business opera-

tions are net climate-neutral and prevent the danger of serious environmental damage. Accordingly, 
high priority is being accorded to cutting carbon emissions.  

Potential hazards to employees, buildings or technology (particularly from environmental factors) 
and the means used to protect against them are also analyzed continuously and included in the impact 
analyses so that remedial actions can be defined and implemented if necessary.  

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group also has a tradition of supporting specific social and environ-
mental protection projects through donations and sponsorship such as wetland restoration projects run 
by NABU (Nature And Biodiversity Conservation Union in Germany). 

RISK REPORTI NG  
A detailed risk management report is submitted to the Management Board and to the Supervisory Board 
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH on a quarterly basis. The risk management report contains information in-
cluding the following: 



Combined Management Report Report on Opportunities and Risks

40 

 
 Presentation of the risk situation for the main risk categories including ESG risks 
 Results of the risk-bearing capacity analysis using the economic and normative perspectives 
 Overview of outsourcing activities and business continuity management 
 Overview of ad hoc cases 
 
The following information is also presented to the Management Board in the quarterly ICAAP report: 
 
 Presentation and evaluation of stress test results in various scenarios (historical and hypothetical) 
 Sensitivity analyses (by risk category) 
 Normative/economic reconciliation of capital requirement (for each risk category) 
 Commentary on the changes in risk-bearing capacity in the individual perspectives and scenarios 
 
Ad hoc reports and specific risk category reports are generated as needed to supplement the system of 
regular reporting. 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH strives to maintain the high quality of the information contained in the risk 
reports about structures and trends in the portfolios by means of a process of constant refinement and 
ongoing adjustment in line with current circumstances. 

RECOVERY AN D RESOLUTION PLAN N I NG  
Since July 1, 2024, Volkswagen Bank GmbH has been part of the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group. 
This means that it is included in the group recovery plan of Volkswagen Financial Services AG. The plan 
is scheduled to come into force and subsequently be submitted to the competent supervisory authority, 
the European Central Bank, in the first quarter of fiscal year 2025. 

The recovery plan covers matters including a system to ensure that adverse developments are iden-
tified promptly, and the possible measures that could be used by the Group in different stress scenarios 
to safeguard or restore a robust financial footing.  

As part of the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group, Volkswagen Bank GmbH has additionally as-
sisted the competent resolution authorities with the preparation of a group resolution plan during the 
current fiscal year. The objective of the resolution plan is to safeguard the resolution capability of the 
Group. During the course of fiscal year 2025, delivery of the group resolution plan is expected, which 
includes determining the relevant resolution unit. 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH complied with the applicable bank-specific minimum requirement for own 
funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) at all times in 2024. 

CURRENT REGUL ATORY FACTORS  
Following years of tightening of the regulatory framework for institution and financial holding groups 
as a result of the financial crisis, the banking crisis in the USA and the problems affecting Swiss bank 
Credit Suisse, the narrative of the upcoming EU legislative period will shift to the topic of competitive-
ness as the European Union’s ability to compete against China and the USA is declining. At the moment, 
however, this is not likely to have a positive impact on the regulatory framework requirements, except 
for selective improvements. No major regulatory projects are planned in the foreseeable future in terms 
of Level I legislation, i.e. new EU regulations and directives. However, the existing comprehensive man-
dates of numerous European directives and regulations for the EU Commission, in particular the banking 
package, i.e. CRR III (Capital Requirements Regulation) and CRD VI (Capital Requirements Directive) and 
DORA on the adoption of delegated acts and on MIFIR etc., suggest a further large number of new, tighter 
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regulatory requirements at Level II, which are essentially drafted by the European Banking Authority 
(EBA) and also ESMA, and supplemented by guidance at Level III. Based on past experience, the draft rules 
and regulations may include a considerable tightening of regulation that cannot be foreseen at present; 
they need to be identified in the course of the expected consultation processes and highlighted by the 
associations. As part of the financial holding group Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH will scrutinize these new stipulations, comply with them and take them into account. This may 
also have implications for the business and risk strategy. 

Following over two years of deliberations, the Council and EU Parliament accepted compromise drafts 
for CRR III and CRD VI that were agreed by the trilogue parties in November 2023 and came into effect 
on July 9, 2024. The CRR III is concerned primarily with the implementation of Basel IV (also referred to 
by the Basel Committee as the completion of Basel III). Furthermore, the EBA has published a number of 
draft Commission-delegated regulations on CRR III, which will be accepted by the Council and the EU 
Parliament by way of the consent procedure following their acceptance by the EU Commission. In addi-
tion to the reporting requirements, they include specific requirements for the individual types of risk 
that must be backed by capital. The majority of CRR III provisions took effect on January 1, 2025 while 
the CRR III reporting requirements only have to be implemented as of June 30, 2025. The first-time ap-
plication of the market risk requirements has been postponed by one year. Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
launched a CRR III implementation project designed to fulfill the requirements of CRR III and the associ-
ated delegated regulation.     

CRD VI, which also came into force on July 9, 2024, focuses on the topic of sustainability risks. Its 
intention is that institutions should in future be required to create transition plans for their transition 
to sustainable operation. As soon as the draft CRD VI implementation bill becomes available in 2025, 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Volkswagen Financial Services AG will analyze and assess it and then de-
termine and implement the actions required.  

Even after the creation of the financial holding group Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH is considered a significant institution and, as part of this group, it remains subject to the 
direct supervision of the ECB. This means that it must comply with the EBA guidelines, the requirements 
of the ECB and the requirements of the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin), includ-
ing the Mindestanforderungen an das Risikomanagement (MaRisk – German Minimum Requirements for 
Risk Management) insofar as BaFin has not limited the scope of its requirements to less significant insti-
tutions. Volkswagen Bank GmbH is also subject to the ECB’s Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process 
(SREP) for the supervised Volkswagen Bank Group. The EBA has published guidelines concerning SREP 
implementation and assessment and updates them from time to time. The EBA published its most recent 
set of revised guidelines on SREP and supervisory stress testing, which have been in effect since January 1, 
2023, on March 18, 2022. The revised SREP guidelines serve largely to implement requirements of CRD 
V, incorporate the stipulations of various new and revised EBA guidelines and are intended to help refine 
supervisory practice. The changes being introduced include a requirement that ESG risks be incorporated 
into business model analysis. ESG risks and their consequences are to be assessed in this context with 
regard to the viability and sustainability of the business model and the long-term resilience of the 
Volkswagen Bank Group. In future, this assessment will probably have an increased effect on the level of 
the overall SREP score determined by the ECB.  

Once the SREP has been completed, Volkswagen Bank GmbH, like other significant institutions, will 
be notified of the additional equity requirements and expectations in relation to Pillar 2 along with rec-
ommendations for implementation. Volkswagen Bank GmbH is bound to respect that notification for 
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.  
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Given that Volkswagen Bank GmbH originates securitizations on a large scale, the provisions of the Se-
curitization Regulation and compliance with the requirements for STS securitizations are also of great 
relevance. 

The provisions of the Prudential Backstop Regulation for nonperforming loans as described in Article 
47a of the CRR, which entered into force on April 26, 2019, also have a regulatory effect on the capital 
requirement for credit risk. Regulatory minimum capital requirements for risk exposures that have been 
nonperforming for more than two years have been in force since 2021. Failure to comply in full with the 
regulatory minimum capital requirement necessitates a deduction from the Common Equity Tier 1 cap-
ital. The regulator does not currently allow CRSA institutions like Volkswagen Bank GmbH to recognize 
collateral in the form of vehicles, which means that deductions are made from equity. This deduction 
from equity also affects Pillar II.   

The expectations of the ECB set out in its addendum to the guidance on nonperforming loans (pru-
dential provisioning backstop for nonperforming exposures), most recently updated by the expecta-
tions regarding adequate prudential minimum provisioning published on August 22, 2019, also have a 
regulatory impact. Volkswagen Bank GmbH must also ensure that its management of nonperforming 
loans complies with the EBA Guidelines on the management of nonperforming and forborne exposures, 
the ECB’s Guidance to banks on nonperforming loans and the revised MaRisk published in August 2021. 
More significant implications for the credit risk strategy can arise should the proportion of nonperform-
ing risk exposures reach or exceed 5% at the level of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group or at the level of 
the single entity. Volkswagen Bank GmbH must additionally comply with the EBA Guidelines on loan 
origination and monitoring, which define wide-ranging requirements for the assessment of lending op-
erations and thus have implications for credit decisions. The necessary IT was gradually implemented at 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH by June 30, 2024 in accordance with the EBA’s transitional provisions. 

There are regulatory effects arising from the stipulations concerning interest rate risk, which include 
the guidelines on interest rate risks for banking book (IRRBB) and credit spread risk arising from non-
trading book activities (CSRBB). These guidelines were to be implemented in two stages in 2023. Among 
the more prominent changes were the requirements pertaining to credit spread risk. The adopted dele-
gated act related to CRD V for the supervisory IRRBB outlier test specifies the six supervisory shock sce-
narios plus the criteria to be used to assess whether there is a strong decline in the net interest income 
or in the economic value of equity that could trigger supervisory measures. Completing the IRRBB pack-
age are extensive reporting requirements for interest rate risk that had to be implemented by September 
30, 2024. Accordingly, the first report had to be submitted by September 30, 2024. The LiMA project will 
ensure sustainable IT implementation. 

Other regulatory effects on risk management in Pillar 2 stem in particular from the EBA Guidelines 
on ICT and security risk management and the EBA Guidelines on outsourcing arrangements, which are 
also considered in the MaRisk published in August 2021.  

The Regulation on digital operational resilience for the financial sector (DORA) will also be of great 
relevance in this connection and largely determine the requirements for IT but also the relationship with 
ICT service providers. DORA is intended to establish a standardized framework for the effective and all-
inclusive management of cybersecurity risk and ICT risk for financial market participants and critical ICT 
service providers as defined in the Regulation. It aims to ensure that resilient operation can be main-
tained in the event of serious disruption that could potentially jeopardize the security of the network 
and information systems so that financial market participants can continue to work securely and relia-
bly even if information and communication technology (ICT) is affected by a major incident. 

DORA focuses on six main areas: ICT risk management, the reporting of ICT-related incidents and 
material cyberthreats, digital operational resilience testing (including threat-led penetration testing, 
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TLPT), third-party ICT risk management, a European oversight framework for critical third-party ICT ser-
vice providers, and information sharing and (cyber) emergency exercises.  

A large proportion of the requirements are already familiar from the aforementioned EBA Guidelines 
on ICT and security risk management and EBA Guidelines on outsourcing arrangements and from the 
supervisory requirements for IT in financial institutions (BAIT) and MaRisk. What the regulation does, in 
effect, is elevate many requirements that are already known onto a statutory footing. The DORA Regula-
tion has applied since January 17, 2025. BaFin has exempted financial undertakings that are directly sub-
ject to the DORA Regulation from the scope of BAIT in order to avoid double regulation. Consequently, 
BAIT no longer directly addresses Volkswagen Bank GmbH and its subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH.  

Furthermore, the DORA Regulation includes a series of mandates on which initial delegated regula-
tions were published in the Official Journal of the European Union in the course of 2024, which had to be 
implemented by the date of their initial application. Of particular importance for risk management at 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH is a delegated regulation for the further harmonization of ICT risk management 
instruments, methods, processes and strategies. Furthermore, the European supervisory authorities 
published a number of final draft regulatory technical standards (RTS) and implementing technical 
standards (ITS) in July 2024, and it is expected that these will shortly become law. 

One project implements the requirements of DORA and the associated delegated regulations. It aims 
to implement regulatory requirements set out in DORA and to strengthen the resilience of Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH and its subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH against cyber risks.  

In the context of DORA, BaFin published a supervisory statement on outsourcing to cloud service 
providers in February 2024, which it updated in July. Furthermore, on June 3, 2024, the ECB published its 
consultation paper “Outsourcing cloud services to cloud service providers.” The ECB guide scrutinizes 
the requirements of DORA in the context of outsourcing cloud services to cloud service providers, which 
in many cases are also likely to be critical ICT service providers within the meaning of DORA. It also for-
mulates the expectations for the implementation of DORA in this respect, which it transfers to the Group 
beyond DORA through the requirements of the CRD. 

In May 2024, the ECB published its guide on effective risk data aggregation and risk reporting,  in 
which it underlines the great importance it attaches to this issue. The Guide is primarily concerned with 
the consistent implementation of the principles for effective risk data aggregation and risk reporting 
issued by the Basel Committee (BCBS 239).  

The Guide focuses on seven key areas: a) the responsibilities of the management body, b) the scope of 
application of the data governance framework, c) key roles and responsibilities for data governance, d) 
the implementation of an integrated data architecture at group level, e) the effectiveness of data quality 
controls, f) the timeliness of internal risk reporting and g) implementation programs. Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH attaches great importance to this matter and is working with Volkswagen Financial Services AG 
to ensure that there is continuous improvement in data quality. It is also tackling the subject from the 
governance side, with a Head of Data Governance ensuring there is an appropriate governance frame-
work in place and that data quality will be adequate for regulatory reporting and internal management 
purposes.  

Factoring in climate and environmental risks, including transition risk, in risk management will con-
tinue to play a significant role in light of the stricter regulatory requirements anticipated. This requires 
a continuing intensive review of these risks that could be drivers of existing categories of risk and that 
are considered in the identification, assessment, monitoring and management of the categories of risk. 
While large amounts of data are already collected to identify and assess any climate and environmental 
risks, be it for internal risk management or for disclosure purposes, it will become more important to 
ensure the relevance and quality of this data so it can be managed in line with transition plans. 
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Of particular significance in this connection is the ECB’s Guide on climate-related and environmental 
risks. Its requirements are due to be implemented following the establishment of the financial holding 
group in accordance with a plan agreed with the ECB. This plan also includes the new Volkswagen Bank 
Group with Volkswagen Leasing GmbH as a subsidiary of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The requirements of 
this Guide, building on the methodology developed for the Volkswagen Bank Group in its composition 
up to June 30, 2024, will be implemented for the Volkswagen Bank Group as part of the financial holding 
group by the end of September 2025; the materiality of the risks is due to be assessed by June 30, 2025. 
For Volkswagen Bank GmbH (single entity) the requirements of this Guide were already implemented in 
2023. 

Moreover, the MaRisk requirements, including the 7th and 8th MaRisk amendments, were due to be 
implemented Group-wide by July 1. The main issues of these amendments related particularly to the 
integration of ESG risks in all relevant risk management processes and the quantification of ESG risks 
where possible, the implementation of the EBA Guidelines on loan origination and monitoring, the re-
quirements for the use of models in the context of risk parameterization and measurement, and the 
implementation of the EBA Guidelines on IRRBB and CSRBB.  

It is worth noting that ESG risks must not only be taken into account comprehensively in risk man-
agement; a comprehensive disclosure of ESG risks is now required, and this trend is set to increase.  In 
the December 31, 2024 disclosure report of the Volkswagen Bank Group, for example, extensive sustain-
ability-related information must be disclosed. This relates, in particular, to information on CO2 emis-
sions including emissions related to the financing of vehicles, so-called Scope 3 emissions, and the green 
asset ratio.  The green asset ratio expresses the proportion of loans and receivables that satisfy the tax-
onomy criteria in the Taxonomy Regulation and the current associated Delegated Regulation (EU) 
2021/2139. Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions were first disclosed as of June 30, 2024.  

It is to be expected that the green asset ratio will rise over the next few years as the proportion of 
battery-powered vehicles financed and leased rises. At the same time, emissions intensity is expected to 
decline, with an increase in the proportion of battery-powered vehicles financed, i.e., leased CO2 emis-
sions are likely to fall relative to the portfolio of loans and receivables over the next few years. Vehicles 
with combustion engines will still be financed in the future, so measures to offset these emissions are 
planned as part of the sustainability strategy. The Volkswagen Bank Group as part of the Volkswagen 
Financial Services Group is aiming for the direct emissions of financed and leased vehicles in the portfo-
lio to become net climate-neutral by 2030. The corresponding unavoidable carbon emissions will be 
compensated for by investment in climate protection projects. 

Finally, the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive entered into force during 2023 and is ex-
pected to be transposed into national law in the course of 2025. In future, being a large subsidiary active 
in the capital markets, Volkswagen Bank GmbH will have to disclose extensive sustainability-related in-
formation in its (sub)group management report. This includes the required disclosure in accordance 
with Article 8 of the Taxonomy Regulation and the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178. The sustaina-
bility and transformation strategy and the transition plans with defined target dates for reducing CO2 
emissions will also be covered by the disclosure requirements. The details are set out in a delegated act 
that is now in force. Initial publication is expected as of December 31, 2025.  

In order to ensure the consistent EU-wide implementation of the CRD VI requirements with regard to 
the management of ESG risks, the EBA published a consultation paper on the management of ESG risks 
in January 2024; the final version was published by the EBA on January 9, 2025, and its requirements 
must be implemented by January 11, 2026. Whereas a large part of the requirements for managing ESG 
risks is already known from the EBA Guidelines on climate-related and environmental risks and from 
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the MaRisk published at the end of June 2023, these guidelines are noteworthy for the fact that they de-
fine very binding standards in some cases that can be used in the future to measure and verify whether 
the relevant requirement for managing ESG risks has been met, even though the EBA has somewhat 
broadened the scope for appropriate, proportional implementation in some areas compared with the 
consultation paper. While today it is often enough for ESG risks to be taken into account in the various 
risk management processes for all categories of risk, the EBA Guide formulates requirements for various 
cases that are as specific as possible and must be met for the requirement in question to be considered 
as having been fulfilled and for it to have been adequately taken into account. The specifications result-
ing from the CRD VI requirements are also new. They relate, in particular, to the requirements for the 
transition plan that is to be prepared. Accordingly, the management body will, following implementa-
tion at the national level, be responsible for the development of specific plans with quantifiable objec-
tives to monitor and mitigate physical and transition risks resulting over the short, medium and long 
term from the business model and strategy of the institution or group not being consistent with the 
relevant political objectives of the European Union or more general trends to transition to a more sus-
tainable economy with regard to ecological, social and governance factors.  

The long-term time horizon should be at least 10 years. Furthermore, the plan must include an in-
terim target for 2030 to demonstrate to the supervisory authorities how the plan enables the institution 
and the group to identify and measure ESG risks associated with the EU’s target of reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions by 55% from 1990 levels. Furthermore, the transition plans must be consistent with the 
business strategy, risk appetite, ICAAP and the other risk management processes. 

Finally, at the end of July 2024 the ECB put a “Draft guide on governance and risk culture” out for 
consultation. By way of a background, in the context of the crisis on the financial markets, the problems 
faced by Credit Suisse and the insolvency of major banks in the USA in 2023, governance and risk culture 
issues are now among the top priorities of regulators around the world, according to the ECB. This con-
sultation paper has also been prompted by the entry into force of CRD VI in July 2024 as part of the so-
called banking package, which is due to be transposed into national law by January 2026 in order to en-
sure the national implementation of CRD VI is uniform across the major supervised institutions and 
groups in the eurozone.  

The significance of the ECB guide on governance and risk culture lies in the fact that the ECB is speci-
fying and clarifying its supervisory expectations regarding governance and risk culture on the basis of 
existing regulatory requirements. The ECB guide focuses on the following topics:  

 Requirements relating to the risk culture  
 Functioning and effectiveness of the governing bodies of the supervised companies (including com-

mittees of the supervisory board and of the independent members)  
 Functioning and effectiveness of the internal controlling functions consisting of the risk manage-

ment function, the compliance function and Internal Audit and   
 Design and implementation of the risk appetite framework.  

 

The guide outlines the good practices observed in the ECB’s view.  
With regard to the policies on the composition and functioning of the bodies, in future the ECB ex-

pects a suitability policy and diversity policy to be implemented, in particular.   
A large number of expectations and recommendations set out in the consultation paper were heavily 

criticized by the banks, as some of them go well beyond existing regulatory requirements and it is at 
times questionable whether they will really achieve the intended strengthening of governance, although 
this is welcome in principle. It therefore remains to be seen what the final ECB guide on governance and 
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risk culture will look like. Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH will scrutinize 
the final ECB guide and derive any need for action and any measures to be taken, where applicable.  

N EW PRODUCTS  AN D N EW MARKET PRO CESS  
Before launching new products or commencing activities in new markets, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group first runs through its new product and new market process. All the units involved (such as Risk 
Management, Controlling, Accounting, Reporting, Legal Affairs, Compliance, Antitrust Law, Treasury, 
Payments, IT) must be integrated into the process. The process for every new activity involves the prep-
aration of a written concept, which includes an analysis of the risks associated with the new product or 
market and a description of the possible implications for management posed by the risks. Responsibility 
for approval or rejection lies with the Board of Management of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and  
with the relevant members of the Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH or those with dele-
gated authority from the Management Board, and, in the case of new markets, also with the members of 
the Supervisory Board.  

The Bank maintains a product manual containing details of all products and markets intended to 
form part of the business activities. 

CHANGES TO OPERATI NG PROCESS ES OR STRUCTURES  
Any material changes proposed to the operational and organizational structure or IT systems have to be 
analyzed prior to implementation to determine their impact on control procedures and on the extent of 
such controls. 

This analysis is completed using a standardized questionnaire to ensure a consistent, rigorous ap-
proach. 

The organizational units that will be involved in the future workflows are included in the preliminary 
stages of any proposed changes. The Risk Management and Compliance units each give an opinion and 
details are passed to Internal Audit to keep it informed. 

 
OVERVIEW OF RISK CATEGORIES 

Financial risks Nonfinancial risks 
   

Counterparty default risk Operational risk 

Residual value risk  

Interest rate risk in the banking book 
(IRRBB)  

Credit spread risk  

Other market risk (currency and fund 
price risk)  

Refinancing risk 

 Business risk 
 

Unless explicitly mentioned, there were no material year-on-year changes to the individual risks and 
opportunities. 
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FI NANCIAL RISKS  
Counterparty default risk 
Counterparty default risk refers to a potential negative variance between actual and forecast counter-
party risk outcomes. The forecast outcome is exceeded if the loss incurred as a consequence of defaults 
or changes in credit rating is higher than the expected loss. 

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, counterparty default risk encompasses the following risk cat-
egories: credit risk, counterparty risk, issuer risk, country risk and shareholder risk. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is defined as the danger of incurring losses as a result of defaults in customer business (retail 
and corporate), specifically the default of the borrower or lessee. Loans to and receivables from 
Volkswagen Group companies are also included in the analysis. Default occurs when the borrower or 
lessee is unable or unwilling to make the payments due. This includes late or partial payment of interest 
and principal on the part of the contracting party. 

Credit risk, which also includes counterparty default risk in connection with leases, accounts by far 
for the greatest proportion of risk exposures in the counterparty default risk category. 

The aim of a systematic credit risk monitoring system is to identify potential borrower or lessee in-
solvencies at an early stage, initiate any corrective action in respect of a potential default in good time 
and anticipate possible losses by recognizing appropriate write-downs or provisions.  

If a loan default materializes, this represents the loss of a business asset, which has a negative impact 
on financial position and financial performance. If, for example, an economic downturn leads to a higher 
number of insolvencies or greater unwillingness of borrowers or lessees to make payments, the recogni-
tion of a higher write-down expense is required. This in turn has an adverse effect on the operating result. 

Risk identification and assessment 
Lending or credit decisions in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are made primarily on the basis of the 
borrower credit check. These credit checks use rating or scoring systems, which provide the relevant de-
partments with an objective basis for reaching a decision on a loan or a lease.  

A set of procedural instructions outlines the requirements for developing and maintaining the rating 
systems. The Bank also has a rating manual which specifies how the rating systems are to be applied as 
part of the loan approval process. Similarly, other written procedures specify the parameters for devel-
oping, using and validating the scoring systems in the retail business. 

To quantify credit risk, an expected loss (EL) and an unexpected loss (UL) are determined at portfolio 
level for each entity. The UL is the value at risk (VaR) less the EL. The calculations use an asymptotic single 
risk factor (ASRF) model in accordance with the capital requirements specified by the Basel Committee 
on Banking Supervision (Gordy formula), augmented with concentration and/or diversification factors, 
taking into account the credit quality assessments from the individual rating and scoring systems used. 

Rating systems for corporate customers 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses rating systems to assess the credit quality of corporate custom-
ers. This evaluation takes into account both quantitative factors (mainly data from annual financial 
statements) and qualitative factors (such as the prospects for future business growth, quality of manage-
ment and the customer’s payment record). When the credit assessment has been completed, the cus-
tomer is assigned to a rating class, which is linked to a probability of default. A centrally maintained, 
workflow-based rating application is used for the most part to support this analysis of creditworthiness. 
The rating determined for the customer serves as an important basis for decisions on whether to grant 
or renew a loan and for decisions on provisions. 



Combined Management Report Report on Opportunities and Risks

48 

Scoring systems in the retail business 
For the purposes of determining the credit quality of retail customers, scoring systems are incorporated 
into the processes for credit approval and for evaluating the existing portfolio. These scoring systems 
provide an objective basis for credit decisions. The systems use information about the borrower available 
internally and externally and estimate the probability of default for the requested loan, generally with 
the help of statistical methods based on historical data covering a number of years. An alternative ap-
proach adopted for smaller or low-risk portfolios also uses generic, robust scorecards and expert systems 
to assess the risk involved in credit applications. 

To classify the risk in the credit portfolio, both behavioral scorecards and simplified estimation pro-
cedures are used, depending on portfolio size and the risk inherent in the portfolio. 

Supervision and review of retail and corporate systems 
The models and systems supervised by Risk Management are regularly validated and monitored using 
standardized procedural models for validating and monitoring risk classification systems. The models 
and systems are adjusted and refined as required. These review procedures are applied to models and 
systems for assessing credit quality and estimating the probability of default (such as rating and scoring 
systems) and to models used for estimating loss given default and estimating credit conversion factors.  

In the case of the retail models and systems for credit assessment supervised by local risk manage-
ment units outside Germany, Risk Management reviews the quality of these models and systems on the 
basis of the locally implemented validation processes, determines action plans in collaboration with the 
local risk management units if a need for action is identified and monitors the implementation of those 
action plans. In the validation process, particular attention is paid to a review of the discriminant power 
of the models and an assessment of whether the model calibration is appropriate to the risk. The models 
and systems for corporate customers are handled in the same way, although a centralized approach is 
used for the supervision and validation thereof. 

Collateral 
The general rule is that credit transactions are secured by collateral to an extent that is commensurate 
with the risk. In addition, overarching rules specify the requirements that must be satisfied by collateral, 
the evaluation procedures and the evaluation bases. Further local regulations (collateral policies) set out 
specific values and special regional requirements that must be observed. 

The values in the collateral policies are based on historical data and experience accumulated by ex-
perts over many years. As the operating activities of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group focus on retail 
and dealership financing as well as vehicle leasing, the vehicles themselves are hugely important as col-
lateral assets. For this reason, trends in the market values of vehicles are closely monitored and analyzed. 
Procedures provide for adjustments to evaluation systems and vehicle remarketing processes if there 
are strong changes in the market values/remarketing proceeds of vehicles.  

Risk Management also carries out quality assurance tests on local collateral policies on a regular basis. 
This includes a review of collateral values and implementation of any necessary adjustments. 

Provisions 
The calculation of provisions is based on the expected loss model in accordance with IFRS 9. Provisions 
are determined as a function of the results of the rating and scoring processes applied.  
The provision for risk in accordance with IFRS 9 is determined on the basis of the credit risk parameters 
used in the internal risk calculations (see also “Risk Identification and Assessment” and the following 
sections). 
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Risk monitoring and control 
Risk Management sets framework constraints for the management of credit risk. These constraints form 
the mandatory outer framework of the central risk management system, within which the divi-
sions/markets can operate in terms of their business policy activities, planning, decisions, etc. in com-
pliance with their assigned authority. 

Appropriate processes are used to monitor all lending in relation to financial circumstances, collateral 
and compliance with limits, contractual obligations and internal and external conditions. As such, com-
mitments are managed according to the degree of risk involved (standard, intensified and problem loan 
management). Approval or reporting limits determined by (the) Volkswagen Bank GmbH (Group) are 
also used to manage credit risk. These limits are specified separately for each individual branch and sub-
sidiary. 

Trends 
In fiscal year 2024 material changes were made to the structure of Volkswagen Bank GmbH under com-
pany law, and Volkswagen Leasing GmbH became a subsidiary of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Furthermore, 
the Dutch subsidiary DFM N.V. of Volkswagen Bank GmbH became a subsidiary of Volkswagen Financial 
Services AG. 
The absorption of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH into the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group led to a significant 
increase in the loans and receivables volume in the lending portfolio at the consolidated level of the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group (€+52 billion as of December 2024 compared with December 2023). Ac-
cordingly, the volume of loans and receivables of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group almost doubled. 

All told, a stable trend of credit risks at a moderate level was established in 2024. The persistent rise in 
the default rate is attributable to the markets in Germany and France. This rise is due to the implementa-
tion of the regulatory requirements on the definition of default according to the CRR (Capital Require-
ments Regulation) in the companies of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and, secondly, the economic environ-
ment has led to a persistent slight deterioration of the risk position. 

Retail portfolio 
The absorption of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in fiscal year 2024 led to a significant increase in the loans 
and receivables volume in the retail portfolio of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. The volume of loans 
and receivables in the retail portfolio as of December 2024 was up by €37 billion year-on-year. By con-
trast, Volkswagen Bank Germany reported a continuing decline in the loans and receivables volume in 
2024 (€–697 million) since the existing business that matured could not be offset by the new business 
and the migration of the financing business to the leasing business continued. 
Credit risk in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s retail portfolio was stable and changed at a moderate 
level in the current economic circumstances. In fiscal year 2024, the default rate rose slightly from 2.8% 
in December 2023 to 2.9% in December 2024, and the percentage provision for credit risks declined 
slightly from 2.0% as of December 2023 to 1.7% as of December 2024. The increase in the default rate is 
due to the execution of the regulatory requirements on the definition of default according to the CRR in 
the companies of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and the accompanying implementation of the good con-
duct period. 
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Corporate portfolio 
There was a significant and sustained rise in the volume of loans and receivables in the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group’s corporate portfolio in fiscal year 2024 (year-on-year increase of €15 billion as of Decem-
ber 2024). This development is also attributable to the absorption of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH into 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

By contrast, the transfer of DFM N.V. to Volkswagen Financial Services AG (€–3.3 billion corporate port-
folio, of which €2.6 billion dealer finance portfolio) led to a decline in the dealer finance portfolio of the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group (€–661 million as of December 31, 2024 compared with December 2023). 

In fiscal year 2024, risk in the corporate portfolio was shaped by a rise in the default rate (from 2.7% 
as of December 2023 to 3.8% as of December 2024) and a decrease in the percentage provision for credit 
risks (from 1.8% as of December 2023 to 1.6% as of December 2024). The rise in the default rate is attribut-
able to the non-dealer portfolio and to the absorption of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. The increase in the 
default rate is due to the execution of the regulatory requirements on the definition of default according 
to the CRR in the companies of VW Leasing GmbH and the accompanying implementation of the good 
conduct period. 

BREAKDOWN OF LEN DI NG VOLUME BY REGION1  
€ million 

  

1 Figures before application of consolidation effects 

2 Europe excluding Germany 

 

B R E A K D O W N  O F  L E N D I N G  V O L U M E  B Y  P D  B A N D  A N D  P O R T F O L I O 1  

€ million 

PD band Retail Corporate Total
       

< = 1 % 
31,299 14,836 46,135

28.8% 13.7% 42.5%

> 1 % < 100 % 39,083 19,915 58,998

36.0% 18.3% 54.3%

100% 2,121 1,334 3,455

2.0% 1.2% 3.2%

Total 72,503 36,085 108,588

66.8% 33.2% 100.0%
    
1 Figures before application of consolidation effects 

Counterparty/Issuer risk 
Counterparty risk arises in connection with interbank investments, derivatives and pension funds. 
Counterparty risk is a subcategory of counterparty default risk and describes the risk that a counterparty 

31,648

24,994

35,335

73,253
Germany

Europe²

Data as of 31.12.2024
Data as of 31.12.2023
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may be unable to make payments of interest and/or repayments of principal as contractually required. 
Similarly, issuer risk is the risk that the issuer of a security could become insolvent during the maturity 
of the product and, as a consequence, some or all of the invested capital, including the expected interest 
payments, has to be written off. Issuer risk results from the purchase of securities to optimize liquidity 
management and to fulfill statutory and/or regulatory requirements.  

The objective in the management of counterparty and issuer risk is to identify potential defaults in a 
timely manner, so that corrective action can be initiated at an early stage as far as possible. Another im-
portant objective is to ensure that the Bank only takes on risks within the approved limits. 

If a counterparty or issuer risk were to materialize, this would represent the potential loss of a busi-
ness asset, which would have a negative impact on financial position and financial performance. 

Risk identification and assessment 
Both counterparty risk and issuer risk are recorded as components of counterparty default risk. Coun-
terparty and issuer risks are quantified by estimating the portfolio loss distribution using a Monte Carlo 
simulation and in terms of the value-at-risk or unexpected loss thus calculated. 
 
Risk monitoring and control 
To establish effective monitoring and control, volume limits are specified for each counterparty and is-
suer. The Treasury Backoffice, in its role as a subsidiary function of Risk Management, is responsible for 
monitoring compliance with these limits. The volume limits are set as a function of the capital available 
in line with the adopted strategy taking account of business requirements and the credit assessment. 
The Back Office department is responsible for the initial classification and then regular reviews. The rel-
evant credit applications are then submitted to the decision-makers for a decision. Risk Management 
analyzes counterparty and issuer risks quarterly as part of the calculation of risk-bearing capacity. Coun-
terparty and issuer risk is reported to the Management Board in the quarterly risk management report. 
 
Country risk 
Country risk refers to risks in international transactions that are not attributable to the counterparty 
itself but that arise because of the counterparty’s domicile in a country outside Germany. The 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has to take into account country risk particularly in connection with 
funding and equity investment activities involving foreign companies and in connection with the lend-
ing business. Given the focus of business activities in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, only limited 
country risks could arise as the Group is not usually involved in cross-border lending business, with the 
exception of intercompany loans. Cross-border activities account for less than 1% of lending business in 
retail financing. The conventional country risk analysis is not applicable to intercompany lending be-
cause, if the difficulties described above were to occur, the funding of the entities through lending could 
be extended if necessary, thereby ensuring that the entities could continue to operate in the strategic 
market concerned. For these reasons, there has been no need to establish limits related to the overall 
level of business for countries or regions, for example, to limit transfer risk. 

Shareholder risk 
Shareholder risk refers to the risk that after contributions of capital or loans regarded as equity are made 
to a company, losses with negative effects on the carrying amount of the shareholding might occur (e.g., 
silent contributions). In principle, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group only makes such equity invest-
ments to help achieve its corporate objectives. The investments must therefore support the Bank’s own 
operating activities and be as intended a long-term holding.  
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If shareholder risk were to materialize in the form of a loss of fair value or even the complete loss of an 
equity investment, this would have a direct impact on relevant financial data. The net assets and finan-
cial performance in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group would be adversely affected by write-downs rec-
ognized in profit or loss. 
 
Risk identification and assessment 
Shareholder risk is quantified on the basis of the carrying amounts of the equity investments and a prob-
ability of default and loss given default assigned to each equity investment using an ASRF model. Simu-
lations are also carried out involving stress scenarios with rating migrations (downgrades) or complete 
loss of equity investments. 
 
Risk monitoring and control 
Equity investments are integrated into the annual strategy and planning process of the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group. It exercises influence over the business and risk policies of the equity investments 
through its representation on the relevant ownership or supervisory bodies. However, responsibility for 
the operational use of the risk management tools lies with the entities themselves. 

Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB) 
Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB) consists of potential present-value and periodic losses aris-
ing as a result of changes in market interest rates. It occurs because of interest rate mismatches between 
asset and liability items. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to interest rate risk in its banking 
book. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group does not keep a trading book. 

The objective of interest rate risk management is to control the financial losses arising from this cat-
egory of risk. With this in mind, the Management Board of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group decided 
on risk limits whose utilization is reported monthly. If limits are exceeded, the situation is escalated on 
an ad hoc basis to the Management Board and the Asset Liability Management Committee (ALM Com-
mittee), which discusses and recommends action to reduce risk.  

Risk identification and assessment 
Operating and strategic interest rate risks for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are determined and 
reported as part of the monthly monitoring process using the value at risk (VaR) method The model is 
based on a historical simulation and calculates potential losses taking into account 3,650 historical mar-
ket fluctuations. Negative interest rates can also be processed in the historical simulation and are fac-
tored into the risk assessment. 

The VaR calculated for operational management purposes estimates potential losses under historical 
market conditions, but stress tests are also carried out for situations in which interest rate exposures are 
subject to exceptional changes in interest rates and worst-case scenarios. The results from the simula-
tions are analyzed to assess whether any of the situations could represent a serious potential risk. This 
process also includes the monthly quantification and monitoring of the changes in present value result-
ing from the interest rate shock scenarios of +200 basis points and –200 basis points as specified by the 
German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) and from the scenarios relating to interest rate 
risk in the banking book specified by the ECB and the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.  

The behavior of investors with indefinite deposits is analyzed using internal models and methods for 
managing and monitoring interest rate risk.  
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In addition to the present value perspective, the interest rate risk in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
is measured using the income-oriented and periodic perspective. The income-oriented perspective re-
lates to the periodic results and thus creates a direct link with the income statement. All told, the focus 
of interest rate risk management is on the present-value perspective. The periodic perspective supple-
ments the present-value perspective and is monitored using limits. 
 
Risk monitoring and control 
The strategic orientation and management of interest rate risk is decided by the ALM Committee and 
implemented by Treasury. Interest rate risk is managed on the basis of limits or target structures. Fund-
ing instruments and interest rate derivatives are used to ensure adherence to these limits and target 
structures. The hedging contracts entered into by the Group mainly comprise interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency interest rate swaps.  

Hedged banking book items are assigned to interest rate derivatives either individually for each in-
terest rate derivative (micro hedges) or, aggregated at portfolio level, in portfolio hedge accounting. In-
terest rate risk is accordingly hedged using fair value hedges, cash flow hedges at micro level and portfo-
lio hedges. Hedge ineffectiveness in micro-hedge accounting results from differences between the mark-
to-market (fair value) measurement of hedged items and that of hedging instruments. Hedge ineffective-
ness in portfolio hedge accounting also results from differences in transaction attributes between the 
portfolio hedged items and hedging instruments.  

Other factors (e.g., in relation to counterparty risk) are only of minor significance as regards hedge 
ineffectiveness. Individual yield curves are used when determining forward interest rates and prices and 
also when discounting future cash flows for hedged items and hedging instruments in order to obtain a 
measurement in line with the market. Risk Management is responsible for monitoring and reporting on 
interest rate risk. 

The Management Board of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group receives a separate report on the latest 
interest rate risk position in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group each month. 

Trends 
Interest rate risk in the banking book at the level of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group remained high 
in the reporting period due to high interest rate volatility. The set operating limits were complied with 
in the reporting period. 

Credit spread risk in the banking book (CSRBB) 
The credit spread risk in the banking book (CSRBB) as defined by the European Banking Authority (EBA) 
is the risk driven by changes of the market price for credit risk and liquidity risk. The Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group has developed and implemented methods for measuring CSRBB from a present-value and 
periodic perspective to comply with the EBA requirements (EBA/GL/2022/14). The Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group has been monitoring CSRBB for its securities portfolios regularly.  

Strategic CSRBB for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is determined and reported as part of the 
monthly monitoring process using the value at risk (VaR) method with a 365-day holding period and a 
confidence level of 99.9%. The strategic VaR for CSRBB is subject to limits agreed by the Management 
Board. If limits are exceeded, the situation is escalated to the Management Board and the Asset Liability 
Management Committee (ALM Committee). As soon as limit utilization increases, risk-relieving 
measures are agreed between Risk Management and Treasury.  
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Other market risk (currency and fund price risk) 
Currency risk arises from foreign exchange exposures and potential changes in the corresponding ex-
change rates. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to structural currency risks. These risks 
arise from the equity investments in the relevant local currency in the foreign branches.  
The risk in connection with fund investments arises from possible changes in market prices. Fund price 
risk describes the risk relating to changes in market prices which can cause the value of portfolios of 
securities to fall, thereby giving rise to a loss. 

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to fund price risk solely from its employee post-em-
ployment benefit arrangements that are funded by pension plan assets consisting of fund investments 
(pension fund price risk). The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has undertaken to meet these pension ob-
ligations to employees if the employees’ guaranteed entitlements can no longer be satisfied from the 
pension trust, and covers these obligations by recognizing pension provisions. 

The objective of currency and fund price risk management is to control the financial losses arising 
from these categories of risk. With this in mind, the Management Board has agreed limits for this cate-
gory of risk. As part of risk management activities, currency risk and fund price risk are included in the 
monthly risk report with a transparent analysis based on value at risk (VaR), a calculation offsetting the 
risk against the loss ceiling set for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.  

Other market risk is determined based on the strategic value-at-risk with a 365-day holding period 
and a confidence level of 99.9%. 

The model is based on a historical simulation and calculates potential losses taking into account 3,650 
historical market fluctuations (volatilities). 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk of a negative variance between actual and expected cash inflows and outflows.  

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of not being able to meet payment obligations in full or when due, 
or – in the event of a liquidity crisis – the risk of only being able to raise funding at higher market rates 
or only being able to sell assets at a discount to market prices. This results in a distinction between il-
liquidity risk (day-to-day cash flow risk including deposit withdrawal/commitment drawdown risk and 
the risk of delayed repayment of loans on maturity), funding risk (structural liquidity risk) and market 
liquidity risk. 

The primary objective of liquidity management in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is to safeguard 
the ability of the Group to meet its payment obligations at all times. To this end, the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group holds liquidity reserves in the form of securities deposited in its operational safe custody 
account with a number of banks, including Deutsche Bundesbank.  

If liquidity risk were to materialize, funding risk would result in higher costs and market liquidity risk 
would result in lower selling prices for assets, both of which would have a negative impact on financial 
performance. The consequence of illiquidity risk in the worst-case scenario is insolvency caused by il-
liquidity. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group manages liquidity risk to prevent this situation from aris-
ing.  

Risk identification and assessment 
In line with the requirements of the ECB’s Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP), the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has an internal liquidity adequacy assessment process (ILAAP). In addi-
tion, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has a comprehensive range of tools appropriate to its business 
model and business strategy to enable it to measure, monitor and control liquidity risk and the relevant 
risk subcategories. 
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In conjunction with various ILAAP metrics, the normative and economic perspectives of liquidity ade-
quacy are assessed over short-, medium- and long-term time horizons. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group ensures that it has appropriate liquidity adequacy at all times by measuring and limiting the 
ILAAP metrics. In the normative perspective, the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) is used to assess the short-
term liquidity risk; this approach is complemented by an analysis of the net stable funding ratio (NSFR), 
which is a longer-term structural liquidity ratio. The economic perspective also distinguishes between 
the analysis time horizons. For the purposes of safeguarding solvency at all times, utilization limits are 
specified for potential funding over the short- and medium-term time horizons.  

Unexpected funding risks are quantified in order to manage the medium- to long-term funding struc-
ture. Liquidity adequacy is evaluated using a baseline scenario and multiple adverse scenarios, and is 
complemented by reverse stress tests. Stress tests are applied to funding matrices using a scenario ap-
proach with scenario triggers from the Bank itself or the market, or a combination of the two. Two ap-
proaches are used to determine the parameters for these stress scenarios. The first approach uses ob-
served historical events and specifies different degrees of impact from hypothetical, but conceivable 
events. To quantify the funding risk, this approach takes into account the relevant aspects of illiquidity 
risk and changes in spreads driven by credit ratings or the market. A risk assessment is a key component 
in the system to ensure appropriate liquidity adequacy at all times. All ILAAP metrics are linked with 
other elements of the ILAAP (including liquidity contingency plan, recovery plan) to ensure that an ef-
fective overall process is in place. Funding risk is also included in the calculation of risk-bearing capacity 
for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. 

In addition to ensuring appropriate liquidity management, the Group prepares funding matrices, car-
ries out cash flow forecasts and uses this information to determine the relevant range of liquidity cover-
age. 

Risk monitoring and control 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s Treasury manages the liquidity of the Volkswagen Bank Group in operational 
terms. To this end, it prepares funding matrices, carries out cash flow forecasts and uses this information 
to determine the relevant range of liquidity coverage. The analysis results, the current liquidity situation 
and possible funding measures are presented to and discussed with the Operational Liquidity Commit-
tee (OLC) at meetings generally held every week.  

The OLC comprises representatives from the Risk Management (Volkswagen Bank GmbH), Controlling 
(Volkswagen Leasing GmbH), Direct Bank and Treasury (both Volkswagen Bank GmbH divisions). 

Risk Management communicates the main risk management information and relevant early warning 
indicators relating to illiquidity risk and funding risk. As far as illiquidity risk is concerned, these indica-
tors involve appropriate threshold values for determined degrees of utilization over various time hori-
zons, taking into account access to relevant sources of funding. The indicators relating to funding risk 
are based on potential funding costs, which are monitored using a system of limits.  

A further strict requirement imposed under banking regulations is the need to provide a highly liquid 
cash buffer and appropriate liquidity reserves to cover any liquidity requirements over seven-day and 30-
day time horizons. For this reason, a contingency plan with an appropriate list of measures for obtaining 
liquidity has already been drawn up so that it can be implemented in the event of a liquidity squeeze. 

Risk communication 
The ILAAP is a permanent component of the management framework. This means there is regular re-
porting on all key elements of the ILAAP to the Management Board. 
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The members of the Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH are informed on a daily basis of outstand-
ing funding and the value of the securities in the operational safe custody account held with Deutsche 
Bundesbank. 
 
Trends 
Liquidity risk at the level of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group remained stable. The prevailing global 
uncertainty did not result in any unanticipated liquidity outflows. Funding instruments remained avail-
able and stable at all times. The main ILAAP metrics remained within the specified limits in the reporting 
period. 

Residual value risk 
Residual value risk arises from the fact that the predicted market value for an asset leased or financed 
could turn out to be lower upon remarketing at the end of the contract than the residual value calculated 
when the contract was concluded, or that the sales revenue realized could be less than the carrying 
amount of the vehicle in the event of the contract ending early if legal contract termination options are 
exercised. On the other hand, there is a possibility that remarketing could generate proceeds greater than 
the calculated residual value or carrying amount. 

Referring to the bearer of residual value risk, a distinction is made between direct and indirect resid-
ual value risks. Direct residual value risk refers to residual value risk borne directly by the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group. An indirect residual value risk arises if the residual value risk has been transferred to 
a third party (such as a dealership) on the basis of a contractual agreement. In such cases, there is a coun-
terparty default risk in respect of the bearer of the residual value risk. If the bearer of the residual value 
risk defaults, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s indirect residual value risk becomes relevant in that 
the indirect residual value risk passes back to the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group and becomes a direct 
residual value risk. In other words, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group re-assumes responsibility for re-
marketing the vehicles. 

The objective of residual value risk management is to keep the risks within the agreed limits. The net 
assets and financial performance of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group would be adversely affected by 
losses on disposal or impairment losses if the residual value risk were to materialize. As stated in the 
accounting policies for leases described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the impair-
ment losses lead to a subsequent adjustment of future depreciation rates. 

Risk identification and assessment 
Direct residual value risks are quantified on the basis of expected loss (EL) and unexpected loss (UL). The 
EL equates to the difference between the contractual residual value specified at the inception of the lease 
for each vehicle and the latest forecast as of the measurement date of the remarketing proceeds. Other 
parameters such as remarketing costs are also taken into account in the calculation. The portfolio EL is 
determined by aggregating the individual expected losses for all vehicles. The expected losses arising 
from contracts subject to risk relate to the losses expected at the end of the term of the contracts con-
cerned. These losses are recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements for the cur-
rent period or prior periods. 

To determine the UL, the variation is measured between the realized selling price of the sold vehicles, 
adjusted for damage and mileage variances, and the contractual residual value. A markdown is derived 
from the history of these variations. 

The UL is calculated by multiplying the contractual residual value by the markdown for the leased 
and still unsold vehicles. It can be calculated for each individual lease for each vehicle in the portfolio. As 
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in the calculation of the EL, the UL portfolio is determined by aggregating the ULs of the individual vehi-
cles. This figure is determined quarterly. The results from the calculation of the EL and UL are fed in to 
the assessment of the risk situation, e.g., they are one of the factors used in assessing the adequacy of the 
provisions for risks and are included in the calculation of risk-bearing capacity. 

In the case of indirect residual value risk, the method used to quantify residual value risk is generally 
similar to that used for direct residual value risk. In addition, further risk parameters are taken into ac-
count (dealer default and other factors specific to this category of risk). 

The general requirements for developing, using and validating the risk parameters for direct and in-
direct residual value risk are laid down in a set of procedural instructions. 

Risk monitoring and control 
Risk Management monitors direct residual value risk within the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.  

As part of risk management procedures, the adequacy of the provision for risks and the potential re-
sidual value risk are regularly reviewed in respect of direct residual value risk; residual value opportuni-
ties are disregarded in the recognition of the provision for risks.  

The distribution of risks means that the risks incurred in the individual contract analysis are not al-
ways fully covered due to the different curve progressions of the residual value (digressive curve) and 
repayment (progressive) during the term of the lease. Consequently, in future, for the risks already iden-
tified the risk amounts allocated during the residual term must be earned and transferred to deprecia-
tion. 

The preparation of the risk management report includes a review of adequacy in which the level of 
existing direct residual value risk is compared against the level of the recognized provisions for risks. 

Based on the resulting potential residual value risk, various measures are initiated as part of a proac-
tive risk management approach to limit the residual value risk. With regard to new business, the residual 
value recommendation takes into account prevailing market conditions and factors that might have an 
influence in future. Various sensitivities for direct residual value risks are also in place to create a com-
prehensive picture of the risk sensitivity of residual values. These sensitivities are applied under expert 
leadership with the involvement of the central and local risk specialists. Indirect residual value risks 
faced by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are subject to plausibility checks and are assessed from the 
perspectives of risk amount and significance. 

As part of risk management activities, Risk Management regularly reviews the potential indirect re-
sidual value risk and the adequacy of the associated provision for risks. If necessary, it takes measures to 
limit the indirect residual value risk. 
 
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECT RESIDUAL VALUE RISK 

Direct residual value risk1 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Number of contracts 1,374,006 170,214

Guaranteed residual values (€ million) 28,200 3,220

Risk exposure in % 4.56 9.56

1 Including joint ventures (full inclusion) and subsidiaries recognized at cost 
 

For 2024, the portfolio of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group recorded an increase in the volume of re-
sidual value risk contracts despite the tense market situation on account of economic and political risks. 
Due to technological developments, the residual values of electric vehicles of the first generation have 
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come under pressure. By contrast, the residual values of combustion engines are approaching pre-Covid 
levels, leading to a slight decrease in the remarketing performance. The increase in list prices on account 
of inflation has additionally contributed to this development. These factors led to an increase in residual 
value risks in 2024. 

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group stipulates provisions for the management of residual values; first 
of all, its procedures for determining risk exposures include forward-looking residual value forecasts. 
Secondly, requirements applicable throughout the Group have been established that take into account 
the accounting standards for the provision for credit risks. On the basis of this mandatory outer frame-
work the divisions/markets manage and monitor their business policy activities, planning and decisions, 
in compliance with their assigned authority. For risk monitoring at portfolio level, residual value risks 
are monitored as part of regular reporting and in the annual planning process. 

Business risk 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group defines business risk as the risk of direct or indirect loss from ad-
verse changes in economic conditions, particularly in the financial services sector (equates to sector risk). 
Business risk includes the following risk subcategories: 
 
 Earnings risk 
 Reputational risk 
 Strategic risk 
 Business model risk 
 
All four risk subcategories relate to earnings drivers (e.g., business volume, margin, overheads, fees and 
commissions). 

The method followed to determine risk-bearing capacity uses the planned profit before tax as a de-
duction for business risk. In the economic perspective, business risk is included in risk management as 
a material category of risk. 

Earnings risk (specific profit or loss risk) 
Earnings risk refers to the risk that actual values will vary from the budgeted values for certain items on 
the income statement that are not already covered by the other categories of risks described elsewhere. 
Earnings risk includes the following risks:  
 
 Unexpectedly low fees and commissions (fee and commission risk) 
 Unexpectedly high costs (cost risk) 
 Excessively high income targets for new and existing business volume (sales risk) and 
 Unexpectedly low investment income 
 
The objective of quantification is to regularly analyze and monitor the potential risks associated with 
earnings risk to ensure that values at variance with budgeted values are identified at an early stage and 
any necessary corrective action is initiated. If the risk were to materialize, this would reduce income or 
increase costs and thereby also adversely impact the operating result. 
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Risk identification and assessment 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group quantifies earnings risk using a parametric earnings at risk (EaR) 
model with the confidence level specified in the calculation of risk-bearing capacity and a one-year fore-
cast period. 

The relevant income statement items provide the basis for these calculations. The estimates for earn-
ings risk are then based on two perspectives: firstly, the observed, relative variances between target and 
actual values; secondly, the volatility and interdependencies among the individual items. Both compo-
nents are incorporated into the EaR calculation. 

Risk monitoring and control 
During the course of the year, changes in the actual values for the earnings risk exposures are compared 
with the forecast values. This comparison is included in the standard reporting procedure carried out by 
Controlling. 

The results from the quarterly quantification of earnings risk are included in the calculation of busi-
ness risk. 

Reputational risk 
Reputational risk refers to the risk that an event or several successive events could cause reputational 
damage (in the eyes of the general public), which in turn could limit current and future business oppor-
tunities or activities (potential earnings), thereby leading to an indirect adverse financial impact (cus-
tomer base, sales, funding costs, etc.) and/or direct financial losses such as penalties, litigation costs, etc.  

The responsibilities of Corporate Communications include avoiding negative press reports or similar 
communications that might damage the Group's reputation or, if this is not possible, assessing such re-
ports and initiating appropriate communication measures specific to the target group with a view to en-
suring that the reputational damage is kept to a minimum. The strategic objective is thus to avoid or 
reduce negative variances of the reputation from the expected level. Reputational losses or damage to 
the Group’s image may have a direct impact on the company’s economic success. 

Reputational risk is recognized quantitatively in the context of the risk-taking potential by applying 
a flat-rate markdown as part of business risk. This global approach is reassessed each year from a quali-
tative perspective. 

Strategic risk 
Strategic risk is the risk of a direct or indirect loss arising from strategic decisions that are flawed or based 
on false assumptions. 

Strategic risk also includes all risks that result from the integration/reorganization of technical sys-
tems, personnel or corporate culture (integration/reorganization risk). These risks may be caused by fun-
damental decisions about the structure of the business made by Management in relation to the position-
ing of the Bank in the market.  

The objective of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is to manage its acceptance of strategic risk ena-
bling it to systematically leverage earnings potential in its core business. In the worst-case scenario, a 
materialization of strategic risk could jeopardize the continued existence of the Bank as a going concern.  

Strategic risk is included in the calculation of risk-bearing capacity as part of business risk, and also 
includes a qualitative markup for climate and sustainability risk drivers. 

Business model risk 
Business model risk arises as a result of the Bank’s economic dependency on Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG. The value for business model risk is derived using a scenario-based approach. The underlying 
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scenario assumes that Volkswagen Bank GmbH is unable to participate in the electric mobility transfor-
mation, a development it maps with additional increases in risk parameters. The additional capital that 
would be required to satisfy all creditor claims is calculated to determine the business model risk. An 
analysis of business model risk is carried out annually and the value of this risk is currently assessed at 
€0 (previous year: €0). 

NON FI NANCIAL RISKS 
Operational risk 
Operational risk (OpR) is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes 
(process risk), people (HR risk) or systems (technological risk), or resulting from external events (third-
party risk). This definition includes legal risk. Categories of risk, such as reputational or strategic risk, do 
not fall within the scope of operational risk. 

The objective of operational risk management is to present operational risks transparently and to 
initiate precautionary or corrective measures with the aim of preventing or, when this is not possible, 
mitigating the risks or losses. If an operational risk materializes, this represents an operational loss, 
which has a negative impact on financial position and financial performance.  

The operational risk (OPR) strategy specifies the focus for the management of operational risk; writ-
ten procedures such as the operational risk manual set out the associated implementation process and 
allocate responsibilities.  
The strategic risk objectives are implemented on the basis of the Three Lines of Defense model. The local 
operational risk units in Germany and abroad are responsible for the local operational risk management 
as the first line of defense. In this context, it is important to observe the central requirements of risk 
management with regard to methodology and procedures (central operational risk unit) and the opera-
tional risk units responsible for specific risk categories (governance functions with expert knowledge, 
risk owners for individual causes of risk), which act as the second line of defense. 
In addition, a rolling program of training and briefing sessions ensures that awareness of operational 
risk continues to grow.  

Risk identification and assessment 
Operational risks or losses are identified and assessed by the second line of defense working in pairs 
(assessor and approver) with the help of two tools: a risk self-assessment and a loss database. 

The risk self-assessment is used to determine a monetary assessment of future risks. A standardized 
risk questionnaire is provided for this purpose. The local experts use these questionnaires to determine 
and record the details for various risk scenarios. The details include the possible amount of the risk and 
the probability of occurrence, in each case with typical and maximum figures.  

The central loss database ensures that information about monetary operational losses is collected 
internally on an ongoing basis and the relevant data is stored. The local experts use this form to deter-
mine and record the relevant data, including the amount and cause of the loss. 

The risk value (value-at-risk) for operational risk is determined quarterly by the central operational 
risk unit on the basis of a loss distribution approach (LDA), factoring in the results from the risk self-
assessment and actual losses incurred.  

Risk monitoring and control 
Operational risk is managed by the operational risk units (first line of defense) on the basis of the provi-
sions in force and the requirements laid down by the special operational risk units responsible for spe-
cific risk categories (second line of defense). Local management decides whether future risks or losses are 
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to be ruled out (risk prevention), mitigated (risk mitigation), consciously accepted (risk acceptance) or 
transferred to third parties (risk transfer). 

The central operational risk unit assesses the validity of the information from the risk self-assess-
ments and the reported losses, monitors the proper functioning of the operational risk system and, if 
necessary, makes appropriate adjustments. This includes, in particular, the integration of all operational 
risk units and operational risk special units, compliance with the risk sub-strategies for operational risks 
and a review of the methods and procedures used for risk measurement. 

Risk communication 
Communications relating to operational risks are provided quarterly as part of the risk management 
reports. The quarterly details are supplemented by an annual operational risk report in which the main 
events in the year are presented and assessed again in one coherent report. Ad hoc reports are issued in 
addition to the regular reports, provided that the relevant specified criteria are satisfied. 
 
Trends 
Operational risk was within the set strategic limits. Risks classified as legal risks (within the process risk 
category) account for the greatest proportion of risk exposure in the operational risk category. This is 
followed by the category of external risk – external services and outsourced tasks. The topic of technol-
ogy risks – information technology (in particular due to the general rise in the number of cyber attacks 
and the increasing importance of artificial intelligence implications) still has a high risk potential. 

These three important causes of risk are described in detail below. 

Process risks - compliance risk 
To counter the risk of violations of rules, regulations and laws (compliance risk), a compliance and integ-
rity function has been established in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group whose task it is to specify and 
implement risk-mitigating measures in the role of a governance function. At the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group, compliance risk encompasses all risks that could arise from non-compliance with statu-
tory rules and regulations or other official or supervisory requirements, or that could be caused by a 
breach of internal company regulations. In addition, integrity risk encompasses all risks that arise from 
a failure of employees to conduct themselves in an ethically acceptable manner or to act in accordance 
with the Group’s principles or the values of Financial Services, thereby presenting an obstacle to the sus-
tained success of the business. This differs from conduct risk, which is defined as the risk arising from 
inadequate conduct by the institution toward the customer, unreasonable treatment of the customer or 
provision of advice using products that are not suitable for the customer.  

This differs from conduct risk, which is defined as the risk arising from inadequate conduct by the 
institution toward the customer, unreasonable treatment of the customer or provision of advice using 
products that are not suitable for the customer.  

The compliance function is committed to ensuring compliance with laws, other legal requirements, 
internal rules and the organization’s own stated values and to creating and fostering an appropriate com-
pliance culture. It is also the responsibility of the integrity function, on the basis of an integrity manage-
ment system, to raise awareness of the ethical principles, the code of conduct and the need for compli-
ance, and to help employees choose the right course of action, responsibly and steadfastly, driven by their 
own personal conviction. 

As a component of the compliance function, the role of the compliance officer is to work toward im-
plementing effective procedures to ensure compliance with material regulations for the institution and 
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toward establishing appropriate controls. This is achieved, in particular, by specifying mandatory com-
pliance requirements for legal stipulations classified as material. These requirements include document-
ing responsibilities and processes, establishing controls to the extent required and raising employee 
awareness of pertinent rules so that employees comply with the rules as a matter of course, reflecting a 
fully functioning compliance culture. 

Further regular activities also nurture a compliance and integrity culture. These activities include, in 
particular, constantly promoting the Volkswagen Group’s Code of Conduct, raising employee awareness 
on a risk-oriented basis (e.g. tone from the top, tone from the middle, face-to-face training, e-learning 
programs, other media-based activities), carrying out communication initiatives, including distributing 
guidelines and other information media, and participating in compliance and integrity programs. 

The compliance function has been set up on a decentralized basis. The departments are responsible 
for complying with the rules and regulations in their respective areas of activity. A compliance theme 
coordinator is appointed for all material rules and regulations. The coordinator is responsible for adher-
ence to and the implementation of the defined compliance requirements (such as documenting respon-
sibilities, setting up controls, raising awareness and training employees).  

Using the control plans and records as a basis, the compliance unit checks whether the implemented 
controls are appropriate. In addition, the findings from various audit activities are used to evaluate 
whether there are indications that the implemented compliance requirements may be ineffective, or 
whether the audits have identified material residual risks on the basis of which further action needs to 
be determined. 

The compliance officer manages the coordination of ongoing legal monitoring, the purpose of which 
is to ensure that new or amended legal regulations and requirements are identified promptly. All depart-
ments and the legal department are actively involved to ensure that new or amended regulations and 
requirements relevant to their areas of responsibility are identified at an early stage and reported to the 
compliance officer in accordance with the process description. 

The internal Compliance Committee conducts a regular materiality analysis on the basis of the out-
comes of this legal monitoring. After taking into account the evaluated compliance risks, the Compliance 
Committee makes a decision on the materiality of new legal requirements applicable to the Bank. Com-
pliance risk primarily includes the risk of a loss of reputation vis-à-vis the general public or supervisory 
authorities and the risk of material financial loss. 

Currently, the following specific legal fields have been determined as being fundamentally material 
from the perspective of the Group:  

 Prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing 
 Prevention of corruption and other criminal acts 
 Data protection 
 Consumer protection 
 Capital market law 
 Market abuse regulation 
 Banking supervisory law (selected topics) 
 Antitrust law and 
 IT security law 
 
The compliance requirements for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are specified centrally and must 
be implemented autonomously in the local branches and companies. Any deviation from the minimum 
requirements or guidelines is only possible if accompanied by a description of the reasons (such as local 
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statutory requirements) and only in consultation with, and with the consent of, the Compliance Officer 
at the institution concerned.  

As in the case of the compliance function, the central integrity function only specifies the framework 
for the Group. In particular, the internal compliance risk assessment (ICRA), which also covers human 
rights issues, and the plans for action derived from it on a risk-oriented basis play a particularly promi-
nent role in helping to ensure the Bank’s companies and branches take proper account of compliance 
and integrity matters. The responsibility for implementing the requirements, for example by raising 
awareness of the ethical principles among employees, remains with the local entity concerned.  

The Compliance and Integrity Officer receives regular reports and carries out on-site visits on a risk-
oriented basis to ensure that the local compliance and integrity units are meeting their responsibilities. 

In cooperation with the Central Clarification Office of Volkswagen AG, an independent, impartial and 
confidential whistleblower system is operated in order to obtain reports of potential regulatory viola-
tions or misconduct by employees. The system enables employees and third parties to report relevant 
matters – anonymously if desired. 

The compliance officer must submit to the Management Board both regular reports on the outcome 
of the meetings of the Compliance Committee and, in addition, ad hoc reports as necessary (for example, 
if control plans are not prepared by the required deadline). 

To meet the statutory reporting requirements of the compliance unit, the Management Board fur-
thermore receives an annual compliance report, which is updated on an ad hoc basis, including during 
the year, as necessary. The annual compliance report contains a presentation of the appropriateness and 
effectiveness of the compliance requirements implemented to ensure compliance with material legal 
regulations and requirements.  

The Management Board has also entered into a voluntary undertaking regarding compliance and in-
tegrity to ensure that compliance and integrity issues are always discussed and taken into account in 
connection with all decisions made by the Management Board. 

External risks – external services and outsourced tasks  
Outsourcing describes a situation in which another entity (the outsourcee) is engaged to carry out activ-
ities and processes in connection with the provision of banking activities, financial services or other typ-
ical banking-related services that would otherwise be carried out by the outsourcing entity itself. 

In the context of the completed restructuring of the subgroups of Volkswagen Financial Services AG 
and Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Volkswagen Bank GmbH has signed internal outsourcing agreements with 
Volkswagen Services AG in the following areas: IT, Accounting, Controlling, Legal, Compliance, Corporate 
Security, Human Resources, Internal Audit, Corporate Management, Marketing, Sales, Purchasing, Risk 
Management and Process Management. 

Arrangements for support services in relation to software that are utilized for the identification, as-
sessment, management, monitoring and communication of risks or that are of material significance for 
the performance of financial tasks also constitute outsourcing. 

A distinction needs to be made between outsourcing and one-time or occasional procurement from 
third parties of goods or services, or services that are typically obtained from a supervised entity and, 
because of the actual circumstances involved or legal requirements, cannot usually be supplied by the 
buying entity itself, either at the time of the purchase from the third party or in the future. 

The procurement of software without accompanying services or activities is also generally to be clas-
sified as other procurement from third parties. 

The objective of risk management for outsourcing is to identify and minimize the risks arising from 
all cases of outsourcing. If an elevated level of risk is identified in the course of outsourcing management 
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or from supervisory activities, measures may be initiated, where appropriate, to restore the risk situation 
associated with an outsourced activity to the original level. 

A significant increase in risk can necessitate a change of service provider or, if possible and strategi-
cally desirable, termination of the outsourcing arrangement. In this case, the activities may be performed 
by the Bank itself or may be eliminated entirely. The legal bases are derived mainly from the KWG, MaRisk 
and the EBA Guidelines on outsourcing arrangements (EBA/GL/2019/02). 

Risk identification and assessment 
Risks arising in connection with outsourced activities are identified by examining the circumstances 
with a focus on risk. In the first step, an examination of the circumstances is used to establish whether 
the planned activity constitutes outsourcing, other procurement from a third-party supplier, or other 
procurement of IT services from a third-party supplier. A further check is carried out to establish whether 
the activity to be outsourced is permitted outsourcing or prohibited for regulatory reasons. In the case 
of outsourcing, the related risk content is then determined using a risk assessment based on various 
criteria, the outcome of which is the classification of the arrangement as one of the following: “material 
outsourcing” or “non-material outsourcing”. Depending on the level of risk, the arrangement may be 
subject to more stringent levels of monitoring and control as well as special and stricter contractual pro-
visions. 
 
Risk monitoring and control 
To ensure effective management of outsourcing risk in accordance with the EBA guidelines, a framework 
policy specifying the constraints that outsourcing arrangements must observe has been issued. Before 
any activity is outsourced, the circumstances must be examined with a focus on risk to determine the 
risk in each case. This analysis procedure is one of the components of the constraints and is intended to 
help ensure that an adequate level of monitoring and control is applied. In this regard, the specialist out-
sourcing officer carries out checks mainly to establish whether the quality of performance is in line with 
the contractually agreed targets and, where appropriate, initiates corrective measures to ensure such 
quality of performance is delivered. The framework policy also specifies that all outsourced activities 
must be agreed with the central Outsourcing Coordination unit. This coordination unit is therefore in-
formed of all outsourcing activities and the associated risks, and through the Central Outsourcing Officer 
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH it communicates these risks to the Management Board on a regular basis.  

The Central Outsourcing Officer of Volkswagen Bank GmbH and/or their deputy is responsible for all 
of the institution’s outsourcings. The Officer is appointed by the Management Board, is directly con-
nected to the Management Board of the individual institution in organizational terms and has the duty 
to report to the Management Board on an annual and ad hoc basis. The function of the Central Outsourc-
ing Officer cannot be outsourced. The Central Outsourcing Officer is, however, supported in the perfor-
mance of their tasks by the Outsourcing Coordination unit that has been centrally outsourced to 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG. 

Technological risk – information technology 
In the risk category IT and infrastructure, the focus is on information security, stability and compliance. 
As regards cyber risks, a general rise in the number of cyber attacks on businesses and their customers 
was evident. The nature of these attacks is continually evolving and becoming increasingly profession-
alized (examples being DDoS attacks, ransomware attacks and supply chain attacks). Due to the associ-
ated potential damage resulting from disruptions or interruptions in business operations, preventative 
action and countermeasures are continuously implemented and developed in order to ensure the 
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s IT remains resilient. The focus here is on ensuring the confidentiality, 
integrity, authenticity and availability of information. The preventive measures are based on various 
instruments of the Three Lines of Defense model to ensure security, stability and compliance within the 
entire IT-based business operations. Identified potential vulnerabilities are systematically transferred to 
the IT risk process, assessed and appropriately managed in accordance with the risk appetite. 

SUMMARY 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group strives to handle risks in a responsible manner as part of its operat-
ing activities. This approach is based on systematically identifying, measuring, analyzing, monitoring 
and controlling risks, which is part of a comprehensive risk- and return-oriented management system.  

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group will continue to invest in optimizing its control system and risk 
management systems in order to meet the business and statutory requirements for the management 
and control of risks. 
As is clear from the above details in the Report of on Opportunities and Risks, there is currently no evi-
dence of any risks that could jeopardize the continued existence of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
as a going concern. 

As of December 31, 2024, the regulatory own funds requirements amounted to €9.1 billion. The actual 
available own funds amounted to €18.4 billion and therefore exceeded the regulatory requirements. 
As a result of the integration of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH the overall economic risk of the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group as of December 31, 2024 amounted to €12.2 billion (previous year: €3.5 billion). Due 
to the changes to the company, the direct residual value risks constitute the key driver for the year-on-
year increase in economic risks. 

Forecast of material risks 
Credit risk forecast 
The volume of loans and receivables subject to credit risk for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is ex-
pected to continue to increase in fiscal year 2025 (by 7% compared with December 2024 based on the 
2025 budget). All told, due to the geopolitical and macroeconomic conditions, we expect a challenging 
risk situation for selected markets of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, both in the retail and the cor-
porate portfolios. From the Management Board’s perspective, it is therefore urgently necessary to mon-
itor the development of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s credit risks intensively and to respond 
proactively when developments occur. The target for fiscal year 2025 is a stable risk situation in the credit 
portfolio. 

Interest rate risk in the banking book forecast and other market risk forecast 
As expected, the integration of new entities in Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s basis of consolidation as part 
of the restructuring in July 2024 led to an increase in interest rate risk. Moreover, from a present-value 
perspective of the interest rate risk the company is susceptible to rising interest rates. In view of the 
macroeconomic situation, the trend of falling interest rates is expected to continue in 2025. Unexpected 
interest rate rises cannot be ruled out, however. 

Liquidity risk forecast 
The restructuring and the integration of new entities into the subgroup will have no material effect on 
the methods and procedures used by Volkswagen Bank GmbH in relation to liquidity risk owing to its 
centralized approach to the identification and management of this category of risk. The Bank revises its 
risk models constantly to ensure they continuously improve and adapt. 
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH predicts that its funding instruments will still be permanently available in fiscal 
year 2025 and that the planned growth in the deposit business will be realized. Liquidity risk is expected 
to remain stable against the backdrop of the corporate reorganization. 

Residual value risk forecast 
In 2025, due to the persistence of economic risks and the global political tensions the risk situation will 
remain strained. The risk situation regarding the portfolios of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group will 
be driven by the further development of inflation and purchasing power on the relevant markets.  

The risk situation is monitored closely at all times in order to respond proactively to possible devel-
opments by taking targeted measures. 

The portfolio of contracts with residual value is generally expected to continue to grow in fiscal year 
2025. The main drivers here, too, will be the implemented growth programs, further expansion of the 
fleet business and the trend away from vehicle financing and toward leasing  

Operational risk forecast 
The year 2024 has demonstrated that we can effectively manage potential operational risk in such a way 
that this risk does not materialize to any significant extent.  

We predict that our management will be equally successful in 2025 and we do not therefore anticipate 
any significant rise in operational risk. In this context, we expect the effectiveness of fraud protection to 
remain stable and the high level of quality in processes, staff skills and qualifications, and IT systems to 
be maintained. 



 

Combined Management Report Report on Expected Developments

67 

Report on Expected Develop-
ments 

The global economy is expected to grow at somewhat weaker pace in 2025 than in 
the reporting period. Global demand for passenger cars will probably  

vary from region to region and increase slightly year-on-year.  

The expected development of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group and the general parameters of its busi-
ness activity are described below. Risks and opportunities that could represent a departure from the fore-
cast trends are presented in the Report on Risks and Opportunities. 

Our assumptions are based on current estimates by third-party institutions. These include economic 
research institutes, banks, multinational organizations and consulting firms. 

DEVELOPMENTS I N TH E G LOBAL ECONOMY 
Our planning is based on the assumption that global economic output will grow overall in 2025 at a 
slightly slower pace than in 2024. Declining inflation in major economic regions and the resulting easing 
of monetary policy are expected to boost consumer demand. We continue to believe that risks will arise 
from increasing fragmentation of the global economy and protectionist tendencies, turbulence in the 
financial markets and structural deficits in individual countries. In addition, continuing geopolitical ten-
sions and conflicts are weighing on growth prospects; risks are associated in particular with the Russia-
Ukraine conflict and the confrontations in the Middle East, and the increasing uncertainties regarding 
the political orientation of the USA. We assume that both the advanced economies and the emerging 
markets will record somewhat weaker momentum on average than that of the reporting year. 

We also expect the global economy to continue on a path of stable growth until 2029. 

Europe/Other Markets 
n Western Europe, we expect the economy to grow at a similar rate in 2025 to in the reporting year, with 
a further decline in the average inflation rate. The associated key interest rate cuts by the European Cen-
tral Bank (ECB) will likely support the eurozone economy. 

For Central Europe, we estimate a somewhat higher growth rate for 2025 than in the previous year, 
with persistently high though less dynamic price increases. Economic output in Eastern Europe should 
continue to recover following the heavy slump in 2022 as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. 

Germany 
We expect gross domestic product (GDP) to develop positively in Germany in 2025, albeit with less mo-
mentum. The German inflation rate is likely to decline somewhat on average for the year. The labor mar-
ket situation is likely to deteriorate somewhat. 

TREN DS I N TH E MARKETS FOR FI NANCIAL SERVICES  
We assume that automotive financial services will prove highly important to global vehicle sales in 2025, 
in combination with the development of the vehicle markets. We expect demand to rise in emerging 
markets where market penetration has so far been low. Regions with established automotive financial 
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services markets will probably see a continuation of the trend towards enabling mobility at the lowest 
possible total cost. The shift from financing in favor of lease contracts will also continue, as was initiated 
in European financial services business with individual customers. Integrated end-to-end solutions that 
include mobility-related service modules such as insurance and innovative packages of services are likely 
to become increasingly important. Additionally, we expect that demand will increase for new forms of 
mobility, such as rental and car subscription services, and for integrated mobility services, for example, 
refueling and charging. Dealers continue to be key strategic partners. The seamless integration of finan-
cial services into the online vehicle offering will become increasingly important. We estimate that this 
trend will also persist in the years 2026 to 2029. 

TREN DS I N TH E MARKETS FOR PASSENGER CARS AN D LIGHT COMMERCIAL VEH ICLES  
The trend in the automotive industry closely follows global economic developments. We assume that 
competition in the international automotive markets will intensify further. Crisis-related disruption to 
the global supply chain and the resulting impact on vehicle availability may weigh on the volume of new 
registrations. Moreover, a sudden outbreak of geopolitical tension and conflicts or the intensification of 
existing ones could lead to rising prices for materials and declining availability of energy.  

We predict that trends in the markets for passenger cars in the individual regions will be mixed but 
predominantly positive in 2025. Overall, the global volume of new car sales is expected to be slightly 
higher than in the previous year. We are forecasting growing demand for passenger cars worldwide in the 
period from 2026 to 2029. 

Trends in the markets for light commercial vehicles in the individual regions will be mixed; on the 
whole, we expect the sales volume for 2025 to be similar to the previous year’s figure. For the years 2026 to 
2029, we expect demand for light commercial vehicles to increase globally. 

Europe/Other Markets 
For 2025, we anticipate that the volume of new passenger car registrations in Western Europe will be 
noticeably higher than that recorded in the reporting year. For the major individual markets of France, 
the United Kingdom and Spain, we expect growth in 2025 to varying degrees between slightly and no-
ticeably above the prior-year level. We estimate that the Italian market will be on a par with the previous 
year. 

For light commercial vehicles, we expect the volume of new registrations in Western Europe in 2025 
to be on a level with the previous year. Mixed development is anticipated in the major individual markets 
of France, the United Kingdom, Italy and Spain. 

Sales of passenger cars in 2025 are expected to sharply exceed the prior-year figures overall in markets 
in Central and Eastern Europe – subject to the further development of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. We 
expect a mixed development in the major markets of this region. 

Depending on how the Russia-Ukraine conflict evolves, registrations of light commercial vehicles in 
the markets of Central and Eastern Europe in 2025 will probably noticeably exceed the prior-year figures. 

Germany 
In the German passenger car market, we expect the volume of new registrations in 2025 to be slightly up 
on the prior-year level. 

We anticipate that the number of registrations of light commercial vehicles in 2025 will also be 
slightly up on the previous year’s figure. 
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I NTEREST RATE TREN DS  
Interest rates declined slightly in Europe and across much of the rest of the world in fiscal year 2024 on 
account of falling inflation. A few central banks have already implemented interest rate cuts. The trend 
of rate cuts is expected to continue in 2025.  

SUMMARY OF EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group predicts that the volume of business in the current fiscal year will 
be noticeably above the level of 2024. Please refer to the details provided in the opportunities and risks 
report for information on changes in credit risk, liquidity risk, and residual value risk. 

Sales activities related to the Volkswagen Group brands will be further intensified, particularly 
through joint strategic projects. 

Furthermore, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group intends to continue enhancing the leveraging of 
potential along the automotive value chain. Our aim is to satisfy the wishes and needs of our customers 
in the most efficient manner in cooperation with the Group brands. Our end customers are looking, in 
particular, for mobility with predictable fixed costs. In addition, we intend to further expand the digital-
ization of our business. 

The product packages that the Bank believes it has successfully launched in the last few years will be 
refined in line with customer needs.  

In parallel with its market-based activities, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group aims to further 
strengthen its position in the European competitive environment through strategic investment in struc-
tural projects as well as through the Future program, which focuses on process optimization and produc-
tivity gains. 

OUTLO OK F OR TH E YEAR 2025 
The Management Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH expects economic growth in the eurozone to recover 
in 2025 and the economy to continue its growth, albeit still muted in Germany. Risks originate primarily 
from the further inflation trend, which has a material impact on interest rate movements. At present, 
the Management Board projects a slight decline in the inflation rate in Germany and the other markets 
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Geopolitical tensions and conflicts have an additional impact on the growth 
prospects.  

Taking into account the general parameters and market trends, the following overall picture emerges: 
the earnings expectation is based on the assumption that collaboration with the individual Group 
brands will intensify, investment in digitalization for the future will increase and that geopolitical up-
heavals will have a potential impact, as well as further uncertainties regarding the underlying macroeco-
nomic conditions in the real economy and the actual development of deliveries to customers of the 
Volkswagen Group brands. 

Current contracts and business volume in 2025 are expected to be perceptibly above the levels in fis-
cal year 2024. The volume of deposits is anticipated to be much higher than in the prior year due to sales 
measures initiated to help cover the increased funding requirements associated with the integration of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in a cost-optimized manner.  

The figures for new contracts and penetration are likely to increase very strongly compared to the 
prior year, in particular because the leasing business in Germany and Italy were not integrated until the 
second half of 2024. New contracts are expected to be significantly above the prior year and penetration 
at the level of 2024 in relation to indicative new contracts.  
The intra-year forecast of the key financial performance indicators for 2024 was adjusted to allow a state-
ment to be made about the full-year performance, in order to ensure comparability and adequate man-
agement. For this purpose, the Management Board was provided with indicative actual and target figures 
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for the expected full year under the new structure, based on simulated implementation effective January 
1, 2024. 

Against the backdrop of the aforementioned effects, an operating result very strongly above the prior 
year is projected for fiscal year 2025. A result that is also very strongly above the prior year is expected 
in relation to an indicative full-year result. 

The projected earnings trend shows a return on equity very strongly above the prior-year level in the 
following year despite the increase in capital requirements in 2025. A return on equity strongly above 
the prior year is expected in relation to an indicative full-year result. 

For the overhead ratio we project a figure very strongly above the prior year. The overhead ratio is 
expected to be at the prior-year level in relation to an indicative full-year result. 

F O R E C A S T  C H A N G E S  I N  K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A T O R S  F O R  F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  P R I O R - Y E A R  F I G U R E S   

 

 Actual 2023 Actual 2024 Forecast for 2025
       

Nonfinancial performance indicators 

Penetration (percent) 16.1 31.0
much stronger above the 

level achieved in 2024

Current contracts (thousands) 3,146 8,156
Noticeably above level 

achieved in 2024

New contracts (thousands)1 1,106 2,052
much stronger above the 

level achieved in 2024

 

Financial performance indicators 

Volume of business (€ million) 50,750 108,947
Noticeably above level 

achieved in 2024

Volume of deposits (€ million)2 38,178 56,044
strongly above the level 

achieved in 2024

Operating result (€ million)3 740 1,118
much stronger above the 

level achieved in 2024

Return on equity (percent) 7.2 5.3
much stronger above the 

level achieved in 2024

 46.3 42.7 on level achieved in 2024

Overhead ratio (percent) – 0.66
much stronger above the 

level achieved in 2024

 

 
 

 



 

Combined Management Report Report on Expected Developments

71 

 Actual (indicative) 2024 Forecast for 2025 
     

Nonfinancial performance indicators   

Penetration (percent) 45.3 
on level achieved in 

2024 

Current contracts (thousands) 8,156 
Noticeably above level 

achieved in 2024 

New contracts (thousands)1 2,935 
clearly above the level 

achieved in 2024 

   

Financial performance indicators   

Volume of business (€ million) 108,947 
Noticeably above level 

achieved in 2024 

Volume of deposits (€ million)2 56,044 
strongly above the level 

achieved in 2024 

Operating result (€ million)3 1,311 
very much above the 

level achieved in 2024 

Return on equity (percent) 6.1 
strongly above the level 

achieved in 2024 

Cost Income Ratio (percent) 50.2 
clearly below level 

achieved in 2024 

Overhead ratio (percent) 0.88 
on level achieved in 

2024 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements on the business development of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. These statements are based on assumptions 

relating to changes in the economic, political and legal environment in individual countries, economic regions and markets, in particular for financial services and the automotive 

industry; these assumptions have been made on the basis of the information available and Volkswagen Bank GmbH currently considers them to be realistic. The estimates given 

entail a degree of risk, and actual developments may differ from those forecast. If material parameters relating to the most important sales markets vary from the assumptions, 

or material changes arise from the exchange rates, the prices of commodities or supply of parts relevant to the Volkswagen Group, the performance of the business will be 

affected accordingly. In addition, expected business performance may vary if the key performance indicators, and also risks and opportunities presented in this annual report 

turn out to be different from current expectations, or additional risks and opportunities or other factors emerge that affect the development of the business. We do not update our 

forward-looking statements and do not assume an obligation beyond the statutory requirements to update the forward-looking statements made in this annual report. 
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Braunschweig, February 25, 2025 
The Management Board 
 

  
Dr. Volker Stadler Oliver Roes 

  
Christian Löbke  
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Income Statement 
of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 

€ million Note
Jan. 1 –

Dec. 31, 2024

Jan. 1 –
Dec. 31, 2023

restated1

Change 
in percent

         

Interest income from lending transactions and marketable securities 20 3,510 2,412 45.6

Income from leasing transactions 9,541 1,451 X

Depreciation, impairment losses and other expenses from leasing transactions –7,696 –1,034 X

Net income from leasing transactions 21, 68 1,845 418 X

Interest expense 22 –2,997 –1,243 X

Income from service contracts 1,083 95 X

Expenses from service contracts –1,037 –101 X

Net income from service contracts 23 46 –6 X

Provision for credit risks 9, 24 –310 –144 X

Fee and commission income 144 133 8.4

Fee and commission expenses –103 –69 49.7

Net fee and commission income 25 41 64 –35.6

Net gain or loss on hedges 9, 10, 26 –39 –13 X

Net gain/loss on financial instruments measured at fair value 27 –66 –10 X

General and administrative expenses 28 –1,045 –791 32.1

Net other operating income 467 113 X

Other operating expenses –336 –61 X

Net other operating income 29 132 52 X

Operating result 1,118 738 51.5

Share of profits and losses of equity-accounted joint ventures –1 30 X

Net gain or loss on miscellaneous financial assets 30 23 23 0.5

Other financial gains or losses 31 –10 –5 X

Profit before tax 1,130 786 43.9

Income tax expense 7, 32 –532 –147 X

Profit after tax 598 639 –6.3

Profit after tax attributable to Volkswagen AG 598 639 –6.3

1 Prior-year changes in the income statement items General and administrative expenses, Other financial gains or losses and Income tax expenses according to the disclosures on the 
corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
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Statement of Comprehensive  
Income 

of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 

Mio. € 

Notes to the 
Consolidated 

Financial 
Statements

Jan. 1 –
Dec. 31, 2024  

Jan. 1 –
Dec. 31, 2023

restated1

       

Profit after tax 598  639

Pension plan remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income 50  

Pension plan remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income, before tax 1  –7

Deferred taxes relating to pension plan remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income 7, 32 0  2

Pension plan remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income, net of tax 1  –5

Fair value valuation of equity instruments that will not be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax 9  1

Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax –  –

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 10  –4

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 5  

Gains/losses on currency translation recognized in other comprehensive income 15  13

Transferred to profit or loss 0  –

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, before tax 15  13

Deferred taxes relating to exchange differences on translating foreign operations –  –

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, net of tax 15  13

Hedging transactions  

Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI I) –51  –29

Transferred to profit or loss (OCI I) 73  37

Cash flow hedges (OCI I), before tax 22  7

Deferred taxes relating to cash flow hedges (OCI I) 7, 32 –7  –2

Cash flow hedges (OCI I), net of tax 16  5

Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI II) –  –

Transferred to profit or loss (OCI II) –  –

Cash flow hedges (OCI II), before tax –  –

Deferred taxes relating to cash flow hedges (OCI II) –  –

Cash flow hedges (OCI II), net of tax –  –

Fair value valuation of debt instruments that may be reclassified to profit or loss  

Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income 78  148

Transferred to profit or loss –8  –6

Fair value valuation of debt instruments that may be reclassified to profit or loss, before tax 9 70  142

Deferred taxes relating to fair value valuation of debt instruments that may be reclassified 
to profit and loss 7, 32 –21  –43

Fair value valuation of debt instruments that may be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax 49  99

Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments that may be 
reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax –  –

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 80  118

Other comprehensive income, before tax 118  157

Deferred taxes relating to other comprehensive income –28  –43

Other comprehensive income, after tax 90  114

Total comprehensive income 688  753
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Mio. € 

Notes to the 
Consolidated 

Financial 
Statements

Jan. 1 –
Dec. 31, 2024  

Jan. 1 –
Dec. 31, 2023

restated1

       

Total comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests –  –

Total comprehensive income attributable to the sole shareholder 688  753

1 Prior-year changes according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
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Balance Sheet 
of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 

€ million Note Dec. 31, 2024
Dec. 31, 2023 

restated1 
Change

in percent
Jan. 1, 2023 

restated2 
           

Assets   

Cash reserve 8, 34 12,444 11,974 3.9 3,543 

Loans to and receivables from banks 9, 35 594 272 X 233 

Loans to and receivables from customers attributable to   

Retail financing 29,021 28,285 2.6 28,864 

Dealer financing 16,598 15,268 8.7 12,523 

Leasing business 26,290 3,390 X 3,054 

Other loans and receivables 11,403 3,521 X 3,744 

Total loans to and receivables from customers 9, 36 83,311 50,464 65.1 48,186 

Value adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges 10, 37 83 30 X – 

Derivative financial instruments 9, 38 205 28 X 51 

Marketable securities 9, 39 3,743 4,029 –7.1 4,131 

Equity-accounted joint ventures 40 – 29 X 245 

Miscellaneous financial assets 11, 40 0 0 – 3 

Intangible assets 12, 41 3 4 –28.9 4 

Property and equipment 13, 42 17 18 –10.2 23 

Assets leased out 14, 68 36,548 3,424 X 2,677 

Investment property 15, 43 17 0 X 0 

Deferred tax assets 7, 44 726 901 –19.4 1,562 

Current tax assets 7 33 7 X 91 

Other assets 45 2,840 627 X 480 

Assets held for sale (IFRS 5) 3 25 273 –90.8 – 

Total 140,588 72,081 95.0 61,229 
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€ million Note Dec. 31, 2024
Dec. 31, 2023

restated1

Change
in percent

Jan. 1, 2023
restated2

           

Equity and liabilities 

Liabilities to banks 47 313 7,462 –95.8 11,185

Liabilities to customers 47 83,367 46,221 80.4 32,351

Notes, commercial paper issued 48 30,335 5,173 X 4,099

Derivative financial instruments 9, 49 427 52 X 15

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits3 16, 50 156 103 51.7 92

Other provisions3 17, 51 173 93 86.6 91

Deferred tax liabilities 7, 52 1,827 1,171 56.0 1,910

Current tax liabilities 7 589 378 55.9 200

Other liabilities 53 1,874 386 X 354

Subordinated capital 54, 63 180 10 X 31

Equity 56 21,347 11,033 93.5 10,901

Subscribed capital 318 318 – 318

Capital reserves 12,272 8,881 38.2 8,881

Retained earnings 8,865 2,032 X 2,019

Other reserves –108 –198 –45.3 –317

Total 140,588 72,081 95.0 61,229

1 Prior-year changes in the balance sheet items Deferred tax assets, Other provisions and Retained earnings according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions 
for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 

2 January 1, 2023 corresponds to December 31, 2022 following changes according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to 
Prior-Year Figures section 

3 The presentation was adjusted compared to the prior year according to the disclosures in note (16) “Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits”. 

   



Consolidated Financial Statements Statement of Changes in Equity  

79 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 

 O T H ER  R E S ER V E S 

 Hedging transactions 

€ million 
Subscribed

capital
Capital

reserves
Retained
earnings

Currency
translation

Cash flow
hedges

(OCI I)  

Deferred
hedging

costs
(OCI II)

Equity
and debt

instru-
ments

Equity-
accounted

invest-
ments

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
                     

Balance on Jan. 1, 2023 
before adjustment 318 8,881 2,027 –69 –7  – –241 – – 10,909

Changes due to the corrected  
accounting for provisions for  
Time Assets1 – – –8 – –  – – – – –8

Balance on Jan. 1, 2023 adjusted 318 8,881 2,019 –69 –7  – –241 – – 10,901

Profit after tax1 – – 639 – –  – – – – 639

Other comprehensive income,  
after tax – – –5 13 5  – 101 – – 114

Total comprehensive income – – 634 13 5  – 101 – – 753

Capital increases – – – – –  – – – – –

Profit transfer to Volkswagen AG2 – – –621 – –  – – – – –621

Other changes – – – – –  – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 20231 318 8,881 2,032 –56 –1  – –141 – – 11,033

  

Balance on Jan. 1, 2024 
before adjustment 318 8,881 2,042 –56 –1  – –141 – – 11,043

Changes due to the corrected  
accounting for provisions for  
Time Assets1 – – –10 – –  – – – – –10

Balance on Jan. 1, 2024 adjusted 318 8,881 2,032 –56 –1  – –141 – – 11,033

Profit after tax – – 598 – –  – – – – 598

Other comprehensive income,  
after tax – – 1 15 16  – 58 – – 90

Total comprehensive income – – 600 15 16  – 58 – – 688

Capital increases – – – – –  – – – – –

Change due to contribution in kind  
by the shareholder Volkswagen AG3 – 3,392 6,745 – 1  – 0 – – 10,137

Change due to contribution in kind  
by the shareholder Volkswagen  
Financial Services AG4 – – 94 – –  – – – – 94

Change due to distribution in kind  
to the shareholder Volkswagen  
Financial Services AG4 – – –7 – –  – – – – –7
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 O T H ER  R E S ER V E S 

 Hedging transactions 

€ million 
Subscribed

capital
Capital

reserves
Retained
earnings

Currency
translation

Cash flow
hedges

(OCI I)  

Deferred
hedging

costs
(OCI II)

Equity
and debt

instru-
ments

Equity-
accounted

invest-
ments

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
                     

Profit transfer to Volkswagen AG2 – – –582 – –  – – – – –582

Other changes – – –17 – –  – 0 – – –17

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 318 12,272 8,865 –41 15  – –82 – – 21,347

1 Prior-year adjustments according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
2 The figures show the share of HGB profit attributable to Volkswagen AG. 
3 Information on "Capital increases due to contribution in kind of the shareholder Volkswagen AG" can be found in note (2) Basis of consolidation. 
4 Information on "Capital increases due to contribution in kind of the shareholder Volkswagen Financial Services AG" and "Distributions in kind to the shareholder Volkswagen Financial 

Services AG" can be found in note (16) Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits. 
Further information on equity is presented in note (56). 
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Cash Flow Statement 
of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 

Mio. € 
Jan. 1 –

Dec. 31, 2024

Jan. 1 –
Dec. 31, 2023

restated1

     

Profit before tax 1,130 786

Depreciation, amortization, impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses 3,049 522

Change in provisions –11 12

Change in other noncash items –236 –75

Loss on disposal of financial assets and items of property and equipment 0 0

Net interest expense and dividend income –1,380 –1,304

Other adjustments 1 1

Change in loans to and receivables from banks 26 –27

Change in loans to and receivables from customers –8,154 –2,206

Change in lease assets –7,051 –1,230

Change in other assets related to operating activities –528 –177

Change in liabilities to banks –7,153 –3,726

Change in liabilities to customers 22,153 13,404

Change in notes, commercial paper issued –2,560 1,074

Change in other liabilities related to operating activities 110 31

Interest received 4,377 2,547

Dividends received 0 0

Interest paid –2,997 –1,243

Income taxes paid –296 –6

Cash flows from operating activities 480 8,383

Proceeds from disposal of investment property – –

Acquisition of investment property 0 –

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies 299 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies –26 –2

Proceeds from disposal of other assets 1 1

Acquisition of other assets –2 –2

Change in investments in marketable securities 522 257

Cash flows from investing activities 794 254

Proceeds from changes in capital 203 –

Acquisition of changes in capital –14 –

Dividend payment/profit transfer to Volkswagen AG –621 –182

Loss assumed by Volkswagen AG – –

Change in cash funds attributable to subordinated capital –26 –21

Repayments of lease liabilities –4 –5

Cash flows from financing activities –460 –208

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of prior period 12,218 3,776

Changes in basis of consolidation2 2 –

Cash flows from operating activities 480 8,383

Cash flows from investing activities 794 254

Cash flows from financing activities –460 –208
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Mio. € 
Jan. 1 –

Dec. 31, 2024

Jan. 1 –
Dec. 31, 2023

restated1

     

Effect of exchange rate changes 2 13

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 13,036 12,218

1 Prior-year changes according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section and due to the changed definition 
of Cash and cash equivalents according to the disclosures in note (70) Cash flow statement 

2 Changes to cash and cash equivalents resulting from the inclusion of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH (see section “Restructuring of the Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG and 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH subgroups”) 

Further information on the cash flow statement is presented in note (70). 
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Notes to the Consolidated  
Financial Statements 

of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group as of December 31, 2024 

General Information 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH (VW Bank GmbH) is a limited liability company (Gesellschaft mit beschränkter 
Haftung, GmbH) under German law. It has its registered office at Gifhorner Strasse, Braunschweig, Ger-
many, and is registered in the Braunschweig commercial register (HRB 1819). 

The object of the Company is to develop, sell and process its own and third-party financial and mobil-
ity services both in Germany and abroad, the purpose of such services being to support the business of 
Volkswagen AG and of Volkswagen AG’s affiliated companies. 

Until June 30, 2024, Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg, was the sole shareholder of the parent company, 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. On July 1, 2024, all the shares in Volkswagen Bank GmbH were transferred from 
Volkswagen AG to Volkswagen Financial Services Europe AG. Volkswagen Financial Services Europe AG 
was renamed Volkswagen Financial Services AG on July 1, 2024. Since July 1, 2024, Volkswagen Financial 
Services AG has been the sole shareholder of the parent company, Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Volkswagen 
AG, Wolfsburg, is the parent company of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and the ultimate parent com-
pany of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

The current control agreement between Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH has been sus-
pended since July 1, 2024, given that Volkswagen AG ceased to hold a direct equity investment in 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH as of that date. A new control agreement was signed between Volkswagen Finan-
cial Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH effective July 1, 2024.  

The previous profit-and-loss transfer agreement between Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH was in place until December 31, 2024 and was suspended effective the end of December 31, 2024. 
A new profit-and-loss transfer agreement was signed between Volkswagen Financial Services AG and 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH effective January 1, 2025. 

The annual financial statements of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group entities are included in the 
consolidated financial statements of Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg, and additionally, as of July 1, 2024, in 
the consolidated financial statements of Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Braunschweig, both of which 
are published in the Company Register. 

Restructuring of the Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
subgroups 

A comprehensive restructuring program (“restructuring”) was initiated in 2023 within the Volkswagen 
Group for the previous subgroups of Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG, which operated as 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG until June 30, 2024, and of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The restructuring 
program had the aim of consolidating the German and European companies of the subgroups, including 
the relevant subsidiaries and equity investments, under a financial holding company supervised by the 



Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

84 

European Central Bank (ECB). On July 1, 2024, the steps for the reorganization under company law were 
completed through notarization and entry in the commercial register. 

Among other things, as of July 1, 2024, the shares in Volkswagen Leasing GmbH were transferred by 
Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG as part of a spin-off for purposes of absorption and contrib-
uted by Volkswagen AG through a contribution in kind amounting to €10,137 million to Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH. Subsequently, as of July 1, 2024, the shares in Volkswagen Bank GmbH were transferred from 
Volkswagen AG to Volkswagen Financial Services Europe AG. The newly established European financial 
holding company, which operated as Volkswagen Financial Services Europe until June 30, 2024, was re-
named Volkswagen Financial Services AG on July 1, 2024.  

In the wake of the restructuring program, effective July 1, 2024, the shares in joint venture DFM N.V., 
Amersfoort, and associated company Credi2 GmbH, Vienna, were sold to Volkswagen Finance Europe B.V., 
Amsterdam, and shares in joint venture Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solutions GmbH, Braun-
schweig, to Volkswagen Financial Services AG. Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solutions GmbH was 
subsequently merged by absorption into Volkswagen Financial Services Europe AG effective July 1, 2024.  

Note (2) Basis of consolidation describes the scope of the assets and liabilities absorbed in connection 
with Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, the disposal of the shares in the joint ventures and associates and the 
accounting policies used.  

Moreover, various transfers of personnel took place due to the restructuring as of July 1, 2024 between 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Volkswagen Bank GmbH subsidiary 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. The impact of the personnel transfer is described in note (16) Provisions for 
pensions and other post-employment benefits. 

Basis of Presentation 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has prepared its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2024 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the Euro-
pean Union (EU), and the interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC), as well 
as in accordance with the additional disclosures required by German commercial law under section 
315e(1) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code). All IFRSs issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) up to December 31, 2024 for which mandatory application was re-
quired in fiscal year 2024 in the EU have been taken into account in these consolidated financial state-
ments. 

In addition to the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income and the balance sheet, 
the IFRS consolidated financial statements also include the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow 
statement and the notes. The separate report on the risks associated with future development (report on 
opportunities and risks in accordance with section 315(1) of the HGB) can be found in the combined 
management report on pages 29-66. This includes the qualitative disclosures on the nature and scope of 
risk from financial instruments required under IFRS 7. 

All the estimates and assumptions necessary as part of recognition and measurement in accordance 
with IFRS comply with the relevant standard, are continuously updated and are based on past experience 
and other factors, including expectations regarding future events that appear to be reasonable in the 
given circumstances. The assumptions made by the Bank are explained in detail in the disclosures on 
management’s material estimates and assumptions.  
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The Management Board completed the preparation of these consolidated financial statements on Febru-
ary 25, 2025 and released them for forwarding to the Supervisory Board for approval and subsequent 
publication. Approval by the Supervisory Board marks the end of the period in which adjusting events 
after the reporting period are recognized. 

Changes to Prior-Year Figures 

CORRECTED ACCOU NTI NG  FOR PROVISIONS FOR TIME ASSETS  
 
In the reporting year it was established that obligations to grant ancillary payments were not taken into 
account in full in the calculation of provisions for Time Assets. The error was corrected in accordance 
with IAS 8 by adjusting the relevant items in the consolidated financial statements for the previous years 
accordingly. The retrospective correction resulted in changes to equity as of January 1, 2024 and as of 
January 1, 2023. This is attributable to the increase in other provisions and the recording of deferred tax 
assets. The impact on the comparative pre-year periods of the income statement, the balance sheet and 
cash flow statement is shown below. 
 
The prior-year income statement was changed as follows due to the corrected accounting for provisions 
for Time Assets: 
 

€ million 

Jan. 1 -
Dec. 31, 2023

before 
restatement

Changes due to 
the corrected 

accounting for
provisions for 

Time Assets

Jan. 1 -
Dec. 31, 2023

restated
       

General and administrative expenses –789 –2 –791

Operating result 740 –2 738

Other financial gains or losses –4 –1 –5

Profit before tax 788 –2 786

Income tax expense –147 1 –147

Profit after tax 640 –2 639

Profit after tax attributable to Volkswagen AG 640 –2 639
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The balance sheet as of January 1, 2023 was changed as follows due to the corrected accounting for pro-
visions for Time Assets: 
 

€ million 

Jan. 1, 2023
before 

restatement

Changes due to 
the corrected 

accounting for
provisions for 

Time Assets
Jan. 1, 2023

restated
       

Assets 

Deferred tax assets 1,559 4 1,562

Equity and liabilities 

Other provisions 80 12 91

Equity 10,909 –8 10,901

Retained earnings 2,027 –8 2,019

Total 61,225 4 61,229
 

 
The balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 was changed as follows due to the corrected accounting for 
provisions for Time Assets: 

 

€ million 

Dec. 12, 2023
before 

restatement

Changes due to 
the corrected 

accounting for
provisions for 

Time Assets
Dec. 12, 2023

restated
       

Assets 

Deferred tax assets 897 4 901

Equity and liabilities 

Other provisions 79 14 93

Equity 11,043 –10 11,033

Retained earnings 2,042 –10 2,032

Total 72,077 4 72,081
 

 
The prior-year cash flow statement was changed as follows due to the corrected accounting for provi-
sions for Time Assets in deriving the cash flow from operating activities: 

€ million 

Jan. 1 -
Dec. 31, 2023

before 
restatement

Changes due to 
the corrected 

accounting for
provisions for 

Time Assets

Jan. 1 -
Dec. 31, 2023

restated
       

Profit before tax 788 –2 786

Change in provisions 10 2 12

Cash flows from operating activities 8,374 – 8,374
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Effects of New and Revised IFRSs 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has applied all financial reporting standards adopted by the EU and subject to 
mandatory application from fiscal year 2024. 

Amendments to IAS 1 clarifying the classification of debt as current or non-current have been effec-
tive since January 1, 2024. In particular, this affects liabilities linked to specific conditions (covenants). 
The classification is determined by whether the right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting date exists.  

In addition, amendments to IAS 7/IFRS 7 have to be applied from January 1, 2024, resulting in the need 
for entities to disclose in the notes information on their supply chain financing arrangements, in partic-
ular reverse factoring contracts. This is designed to make their impact on liabilities, cash flows and liquid-
ity risk more transparent.  

There have also been amendments made to IFRS 16 that had to be applied from January 1, 2024. Es-
sentially, these amendments seek to ensure that variable lease payments made in the context of a sale-
and-leaseback transaction and not based on an index or interest rate must be taken into account as lease 
liabilities. 

The amended provisions mentioned above do not materially affect the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group’s financial position and financial performance. 

New and Revised IFRSs Not Applied 

In its 2024 consolidated financial statements, Volkswagen Bank GmbH has not applied the following fi-
nancial reporting standards that were issued by the IASB as of December 31, 2024 but were not yet subject 
to mandatory application in that fiscal year. 
 

Standard/ Interpretation 
Published

by the IASB
Application 

requirement1 Adopted by EU Expected impact
         

IFRS 9 / IFRS 7 

Classification and 
measurement of 

financial instruments May 30, 2024 January 1, 2026 No No material impact

IFRS 9 / IFRS 7 

Contracts referencing 
nature-dependent 

electricity December 18, 2024 January 1, 2026 No No material impact

IFRS 18 

Presentation and 
information in the 

financial statements April 9, 2024 January 1, 2027 No

Case-by-case changes 
to the presentation of 
income and expenses 

in the income state-
ment; additional dis-
closures in the notes

IFRS 19 

Subsidiaries without 
Public Accountability: 

Disclosures May 9, 2024 January 1, 2027 No No impact

IAS 21 
Lack of 

Exchangeability August 15, 2023 January 1, 2025 Yes No material impact

 

Annual Improvements 
to International 

Financial Reporting 
Standards -
Volume 112 July 28, 2024 January 1, 2026 No No material impact

1 Requirement for initial application from Volkswagen Bank GmbH's perspective 
2 Minor amendments to a range of IFRSs (IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7) 
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Accounting Policies 

1. Basic principles 

All entities included in the basis of consolidation have prepared their annual financial statements as of 
the reporting date of December 31, 2024. 

Financial reporting in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group complies with IFRS 10 and is based on 
standard Group accounting policies.  

Unless otherwise stated, amounts are shown in millions of euros (€ million). All amounts shown are 
rounded, so minor discrepancies may arise when amounts are added together. Amounts smaller than 
€0.5 million are rounded to 0, whereas “–” is used if there is no applicable figure. Relative changes greater 
than 100% are marked with an “X”. 

Assets and liabilities are presented broadly in order of liquidity in accordance with IAS 1.60. 

2. Basis of consolidation 

In addition to Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the consolidated financial statements cover all significant Ger-
man and non-German subsidiaries, including all structured entities, that are controlled directly or indi-
rectly by Volkswagen Bank GmbH. This is the case if Volkswagen Bank GmbH has power over potential 
subsidiaries directly or indirectly from voting rights or similar rights, is exposed, or has rights to, positive 
or negative variable returns from its involvement with the potential subsidiaries, and has the ability to 
use its power to influence those returns. In the case of the structured entities consolidated in the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, Volkswagen Bank GmbH holds no equity investment but nevertheless 
determines the main relevant activities remaining after the structure is created and thereby influences 
its own variable returns. The purpose of the structured entities is to facilitate asset-backed-securities 
transactions to fund the financial services business.  

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidation from the date on which control comes into existence; 
they cease to be consolidated when control no longer exists. Subsidiaries in which activities are dormant 
or of low volume and that, individually and jointly, are of minor significance in the presentation of a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group are not consolidated. They are recognized at cost in the consolidated financial statements 
under miscellaneous financial assets, taking into account any necessary impairment losses or reversals 
of impairment losses. 

The equity method is used to account for material entities in which Volkswagen Bank GmbH has the 
opportunity, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over financial and operating policy 
decisions (associates) or in which Volkswagen Bank GmbH directly or indirectly shares control (joint ven-
tures). Joint ventures also include entities in which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group controls a major-
ity of the voting rights but whose partnership agreements or articles of association specify that key deci-
sions may only be made unanimously. Associated companies and joint ventures of minor significance 
are not accounted for using the equity method but are reported at cost under miscellaneous financial 
assets, taking into account any necessary impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses. 
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COMPOS ITION OF TH E VW BAN K GMBH GROUP 
The composition of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is shown in the following table: 
 

 2024 2023
     

Volkswagen Bank GmbH and consolidated subsidiaries 

Germany 2 1

International1 8 4

Subsidiaries recognized in financial assets 

Germany – –

International2 – 1

Equity-accounted associates and joint ventures 

Germany – 1

International – 2

Associates, joint ventures and equity investments recognized in financial assets 

Germany – –

International 3 2

Total 13 11

1 These are the structured entities.  
2 This relates to Volkswagen Bank RUS, Moscow, a company fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg. 

 

The list of all shareholdings in accordance with section 313 (2) of the HGB and in accordance with IFRS 
12.10 and IFRS 12.21 is included as an annex to the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group maintains nine (previous year: eight) branches abroad. The addi-
tional branch results from the inclusion of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH with its branch in Italy in the 
Group as part of the restructuring program. As of the balance sheet date, eight (previous year: four) struc-
tured entities were consolidated in the consolidated financial statements; together they included 15 (pre-
vious year: three) transactions. 

The following sections present the disclosures on the changes in the composition of the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group. 

CHANGES TO TH E BASIS  OF CONS OLI DATION EFFECTIVE J ULY 1,  2024, DUE TO TH E RESTRUCTURI NG  
 
Effective July 1, 2024, the shares in Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Braunschweig, were spun off by 
Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG, which operated as Volkswagen Financial Services AG until 
June 30, 2024, and absorbed by Volkswagen Bank GmbH as the new parent company. The object of the 
company Volkswagen Leasing GmbH is to develop, sell and process financial services with a focus on the 
leasing business for retail and business customers and the fleet management/services business in Ger-
many and Italy. 

As part of the spin-off of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH the following companies were absorbed into the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group: 
 
 Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Braunschweig, including its branches 
 VCL Master Residual Value S.A., Luxembourg 
 VCL Master S.A., Luxembourg 
 VCL Multi-Compartment S.A., Luxembourg 
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The absorption of the Volkswagen Leasing GmbH shares took place without consideration from 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and therefore constituted a contribution in kind to equity from the shareholder 
Volkswagen AG, which at the time was the sole shareholder of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The absorption 
of the subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH is to be viewed as a transaction under common control since 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH continues to be controlled by Volkswagen AG as the ultimate parent company. 
This means that the absorption of the subsidiary or its business operations is exempt from application 
of the provisions set out in IFRS 3. In the absence of an IFRS standard that specifically applies to a trans-
action, IAS 8.10 stipulates that the company preparing financial statements must apply an accounting 
policy that results in information that is relevant and reliable. The accounting method used for absorbing 
the subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH is the predecessor accounting method, and the absorbed as-
sets and liabilities were recognized at the consolidated carrying amounts of the group of the ultimate 
parent company, Volkswagen AG, on the date of initial recognition. 

Use of the predecessor accounting method does not result in an adjustment to the comparable prior 
year. Control over Volkswagen Leasing GmbH did not come into effect until July 1, 2024. Consideration 
of the financial information of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH prior to obtaining control is not compatible 
with the stipulations of IFRS 10.B88. 
 
The predecessor accounting method is based on the premise of continuation of the merging companies. 
Consequently, the composition of equity and the history associated with the transferred assets and lia-
bilities are updated following the transfer to the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group and taken into account 
for the continuation of accounting. For example, cumulative depreciation is taken into account within 
the consolidated carrying amounts of assets absorbed effective July 1, 2024 for possible future reversals 
of impairment losses; previous consolidated carrying amounts are continued under other reserves; and 
hedging instruments that meet the necessary requirements following transfer are continued. 
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The assets and liabilities of the absorbed companies, which were transferred at the consolidated carrying 
amounts, are presented in the following table: 

 

€ million 

IFRS-CONSOLIDATED 
CARRYING AMOUNTS

AT ACQUISITION DATE
JULY 1, 2024  

    

Loans to and receivables from banks 1,220  

Loans to and receivables from customers attributable to  

Dealer financing 12  

Leasing business 21,626  

Other loans and receivables 3,276  

Total loans to and receivables from customers 24,914  

Value adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges –  

Derivative financial instruments 243  

Marketable securities 104  

Property and equipment 3  

Assets leased out 28,872  

Investment property 17  

Deferred tax assets 95  

Current tax assets 51  

Other assets 1,670  

Total assets 57,184  

Liabilities to banks –  

Liabilities to customers 16,543  

Notes, commercial paper issued 27,716  

Derivative financial instruments 488  

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 1  

Other provisions 85  

Deferred tax liabilities 804  

Current tax liabilities 37  

Other liabilities 1,313  

Subordinated capital 196  

Total liabilities 47,184  

Net assets 10,000  
 

 
The following table shows the reconciliation of the transferred assets and liabilities to the amount of the 
contribution in kind of the former shareholder Volkswagen AG to equity as of July 1, 2024: 
 

€ million Equity
    

Value of net assets before consolidation 10,000

Other consolidation effects 137

Amount of noncash equity contribution 10,137
 
 
Further implementation of the restructuring program saw the disposal of interests in joint ventures and 
an associated company by Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The disposals were completed with legal effect as of 
July 1, 2024. Prior to this, the interests were, in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5, classified as 
held for sale and reported in the separate “Assets held for sale (IFRS 5)” balance sheet item. 
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The shares of the previously equity-accounted, consolidated joint venture Volkswagen Financial Services 
Digital Solutions GmbH, Braunschweig, were sold to Volkswagen Financial Services AG. Prior to the sale, 
an impairment loss of €14 million was recognized during the reporting year and reported in the net gain 
or loss on miscellaneous financial assets. The sale of the shares in Volkswagen Financial Services Digital 
Solutions resulted in a profit of €3 million in the net gain or loss on miscellaneous financial assets. 

The shares in the previously equity-accounted, consolidated joint venture DFM N.V., Amersfoort and 
the shares in the unconsolidated associated Credit2 GmbH, Vienna, were sold to Volkswagen Finance 
Europe B.V., Amsterdam. Prior to the sale, an impairment loss of €3 million for the shares in Credi2 
GmbH was recognized in the reporting year and reported in net gain or loss on miscellaneous financial 
assets. The sale of the shares in Credi2 GmbH did not result in any further net gain or loss. Furthermore, 
the sale of the shares in DFM N.V. produced a profit of €13 million, which was reported in the net gain or 
loss on miscellaneous financial assets. 

FURTH ER CHANGES TO TH E BASIS OF CONSOLI DATION AT SUBSI DIARI ES  AFTER J ULY 1,  2024 
 
As of October 1, 2024, the subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH acquired the shares in company 
Volkswagen Mobility Services S.p.A, Milan, from Volkswagen Finance Europe B.V, Amsterdam, at a pur-
chase price of €25.6 million. The purchase price was paid in cash. The acquired company operated a fi-
nancial services business on the Italian market, including through the sale and processing of service 
agreements, e.g., for maintenance and wear and tear. A portfolio of cash and cash equivalents amounting 
to €116 million was acquired.  

Since the transaction was carried out under common control by Volkswagen Financial Services AG 
and Volkswagen AG, the transferred assets and liabilities were recognized in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group at the consolidated carrying amounts on the date of initial recognition (predecessor accounting). 
The difference between the acquired assets and liabilities and the purchase price was €17 million and was 
recognized in equity under retained earnings. 

The carrying amounts of the transferred assets and liabilities on the date of initial recognition were as 
follows: 
 

€ million 

IFRS-CONSOLIDATED 
CARRYING AMOUNTS 

AT ACQUISITION DATE 
OCTOBER 1, 2024  

    

Cash reserve 116  

Loans to and receivables from customers attributable to  

Other loans and receivables 25  

Total loans to and receivables from customers 25  

Property and equipment 1  

Other assets 20  

Total assets 162  

Liabilities to banks 0  

Liabilities to customers 116  

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 1  

Other provisions 1  

Other liabilities 35  

Total liabilities 153  

Net assets 9  
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Following the acquisition, Volkswagen Mobility Services S.p.A., Milan was merged by absorption into the 
subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Italy branch, within the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group as of No-
vember 1, 2024. 

DISCLOSURES  REL ATI NG TO ASSOCIATES 
Fintech Credi2 GmbH, headquartered in Vienna, provides white-label financing solutions in the buy-
now, pay-later segment for banks, PSPs, issuers and their brokers. A highly scalable product-as-a-service 
approach allows clients to provide financing solutions for e-commerce and over-the-counter business 
in their own name quickly with no direct development or operating costs. The shares in the company 
were sold to Volkswagen Finance Europe B.V. as of July 1, 2024, as a result of the restructuring. 

JOI NT VENTURE DIS CLOSU RES PURSUANT TO I FRS 12 
In the previous year, the equity-accounted joint ventures were presented separately as material joint ven-
tures as of the reporting date due to their size and strategic importance for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group. In connection with the restructuring, the shares in joint ventures Volkswagen Financial Services 
Digital Solutions GmbH and DFM N.V. were sold as of July 1, 2024. Consequently, no summarized financial 
information for these joint ventures is provided.  

The shares in joint ventures Volkswagen Financné služby Slovensko s.r.o. were classified as held for 
sale in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 and exempt from applying the equity method from 
the date of the classification onward. Accordingly, only the prior-year figures are presented for this com-
panies. 

Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solutions GmbH, Braunschweig 
Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solutions GmbH, headquartered in Braunschweig, Germany, was a 
service provider specializing in information technology, particularly the development and operation of 
systems. The shares in the company were sold to Volkswagen Financial Services AG as of July 1, 2024, as 
a result of the restructuring. The company was subsequently merged by absorption into Volkswagen Fi-
nancial Services AG. 

DFM N.V., Amersfoort 
DFM N.V., whose registered office is situated in Amersfoort, Netherlands, is a financial institution that 
offers financing products for Volkswagen Group vehicles to business and private customers in the Neth-
erlands and thus helps to promote vehicle sales in the Volkswagen Group. The shares in the company 
were sold to Volkswagen Finance Europe B.V. as of July 1, 2024, as a result of the restructuring. 

Volkswagen Financné služby Slovensko s.r.o., Bratislava 
Volkswagen Financné služby Slovensko s.r.o. and its subsidiary Volkswagen Finančné služby Maklérska 
s.r.o., which are registered in Bratislava, Slovakia, are financial services providers that carry out sales and 
processing work in connection with the financial services products of other entities and therefore help 
to promote vehicle sales in the Volkswagen Group. Due to a project for strategic realignment, Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH has plans to sell the shares within the Volkswagen Group in the first quarter of 2025. The 
shares were therefore classified as held for sale in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 and exempt 
from applying the equity method from the date of the classification onward. 
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Summarized financial information for the joint ventures on a 100% basis: 
 

 

V O L K S W A GE N
F I N A N Č N É  S L UŽ B Y  
S L O V E N S KO  S .R . O.

( S L O V A K I A )

€ million 2023
    

Shareholding (percent) 58%

 

Loans to and receivables from banks 1

Loans to and receivables from customers 555

Assets leased out 65

Miscellaneous assets 10

Total 630

of which: noncurrent assets 406

of which: current assets 224

of which: cash 1

 

Liabilities to banks 533

Liabilities to customers 8

Notes, commercial paper issued –

Miscellaneous liabilities 6

Equity 84

Total 630

of which: noncurrent liabilities 170

of which: current liabilities 377

of which: noncurrent financial liabilities 166

of which: current financial liabilities 374

 

Revenue 76

of which: interest income 25

Expenses –76

of which: interest expense –16

of which: depreciation and amortization –11

Profit/loss from continuing operations, before tax –1

Income tax expense or income –1

Profit from continuing operations, net of tax –1

Profit/loss from discontinued operations, 
net of tax –

Other comprehensive income, after tax –

Total comprehensive income –1

Dividends received –
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Reconciliation from the financial information to the carrying amount of the equity-accounted invest-
ment: 

 

€ million 

V O L K S W A GE N
F I N A N Č N É  S L UŽ B Y
S L O V E N S KO  S .R . O.

( S L O V A K I A )
   

2023 

Equity of the joint venture as of Jan. 1, 2023 85

Profit/loss –1

Other comprehensive income –

Change in share capital –

Change due to spinoffs –

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations –

Dividend –

Equity of the joint venture as of Dec. 31, 2023 84

Share of equity 48

Other –19

Carrying amount of the share of equity as of Dec. 31,2023 29
     

There were no unrecognized losses relating to interests in joint ventures. There are no contingent liabil-
ities to joint ventures. 

3. Assets held for sale (IFRS 5) 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH intends to sell the shares of VOLKSWAGEN Finančné služby Slovensko s.r.o., Bra-
tislava, in the first quarter of 2025 to Porsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft and Porsche Versicherungs Ak-
tiengesellschaft in a further project for the strategic reorientation of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. In accord-
ance with the requirements of IFRS 5, the shares of the equity-accounted joint venture VOLKSWAGEN 
Finančné služby Slovensko s.r.o. were for the first time classified as held for sale in the amount of €25 
million as of June 30, 2024, and reported in the separate “Assets held for sale (IFRS 5)” balance sheet item. 
They were exempt from applying the equity method from the date of the classification onward. In the 
reporting year no changes in fair value resulting from the measurement in accordance with the provi-
sions of IFRS 5 for the shares in VOLKSWAGEN Finančné služby Slovensko s.r.o., Bratislava, were recorded. 

4. Consolidation methods 

The assets and liabilities of the German and international entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements are reported in accordance with the uniform accounting policies applicable throughout the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. In the case of the equity-accounted investments, the pro rata equity is 
determined on the basis of the same accounting policies. 

When subsidiaries are consolidated for the first time, the assets and liabilities, together with contin-
gent consideration, are recognized at fair value on the date of acquisition. Subsequent changes in the fair 
value of contingent consideration do not generally result in an adjustment of the acquisition-date meas-
urement. Goodwill is accounted for at the subsidiaries in the functional currency of those subsidiaries. 
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The net assets recognized at fair value as part of an acquisition transaction are depreciated or amortized 
over their relevant useful lives. If the useful life is indefinite, any requirement for the recognition of an 
impairment loss is determined at individual asset level using a procedure similar to that used for good-
will. Where hidden reserves and charges in the recognized assets and liabilities are uncovered during the 
course of purchase price allocation, these items are amortized over their remaining maturities. 

The acquisition method described above is not applied when subsidiaries are newly established; no 
goodwill or negative goodwill can arise when newly established subsidiaries are included in the consoli-
dation. The assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are recognized at their values on the date of initial 
consolidation. 

When subsidiaries are consolidated for the first time as a result from a company merger under com-
mon control by an ultimate parent company, e.g., Volkswagen AG, the acquisition method of IFRS 3 is not 
applied. Instead, the Group uses the predecessor accounting method in the recognition of assets and lia-
bilities. Including these subsidiaries can therefore not result in goodwill or badwill. 

Intragroup transactions are conducted on an arm’s-length basis. Any resulting intercompany profits 
or losses are eliminated. 

5. Currency translation 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated in the single-entity financial statements of Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH and its consolidated subsidiaries at the rates prevailing on the transaction date. Foreign cur-
rency monetary items are reported in the balance sheet using the middle rate at the closing date and the 
resulting gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

The foreign branches and subsidiaries which form part of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are in-
dependent subunits whose financial statements are translated using the functional currency principle. 
Assets and liabilities, but not equity, must therefore be translated at the closing rate. With the exception 
of income and expenses recognized directly in equity, equity is translated at historical rates. Until the 
disposal of the subsidiary concerned, the resulting exchange differences on translating foreign opera-
tions are recognized in other comprehensive income and are presented as a separate item in equity. 

The transaction data in the statement of changes in noncurrent assets is translated into euros using 
the monthly average rates for the relevant months of underlying transactions. A separate “Foreign ex-
change differences” line is reported to reconcile the carryforwards translated at the middle spot rate on 
the prior-year reporting date and the transaction data translated at average rates with the final balances 
translated at the middle spot rate on the reporting date. 

The income statement line items are translated into euros using the monthly average rates for the 
relevant months of underlying transactions. 

Rates supplied by an external market data provider are used for translation throughout the whole of 
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. 
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The following table shows the closing date middle spot rates used and, for information purposes, the 
unweighted average rates for the year derived from the monthly average rates used. 
 

 
B A L A N C E  S H E ET ,  

M I D D L E S PO T  R AT E  O N  D E C .  3 1  
I N C O ME  ST A T EM E NT ,  

A V E R A G E  R A T E 

 1 € = 2024 2023 2024 2023
           

United Kingdom GBP 0.83020 0.86910 0.84666 0.86991

Poland PLN 4.27185 4.34090 4.30599 4.54295
 

6. Recognition of revenue and expenses 

Revenue and expenses are recognized in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting and are re-
ported in profit or loss in the period in which the substance of the related transaction occurs. 

Interest income is recognized in the income statement using the effective interest method. Income 
from financing activities is included in the interest income from lending and securities transactions; 
leasing income is reported in the income statement under income from leasing transactions. The leasing 
revenue from operating lease contracts is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contin-
gent payments under finance leases and operating leases are recognized when the conditions for the 
contingent payments are satisfied. 

Expenses relating to the funding of financing and leasing transactions are reported in interest ex-
penses. 

Gains from the sale of used ex-lease vehicles are recognized when the buyer has acquired title to the 
vehicle concerned. The gains are reported under income from leasing transactions. The expenses that are 
incurred in connection with the disposal of used ex-lease vehicles are recognized under depreciation, 
impairment losses and other expenses from leasing transactions. 

In the case of service contracts, such as maintenance or inspection agreements, revenue is recognized 
on either a percentage-of-completion or straight-line basis, depending on the type of service performed. 
Percentage of completion is normally calculated by considering the services provided up to the reporting 
date as a proportion of the total anticipated services (output-based). If the customer pays for services in 
advance, the Group recognizes a corresponding contractual liability until the relevant service is per-
formed. 

A trade receivable is recognized for the period between revenue recognition and receipt of payment. 
Any financing component included in the transaction is not recognized because the period between the 
transfer of the goods and the payment of consideration is generally less than a year. In the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group, contract origination costs are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the contract only if the underlying contract has a term of at least one year and these costs 
would not have been incurred if the contract concerned had not materialized. 

Net fee and commission income includes income and expenses from insurance brokerage as well as 
fees and commissions from the financing and financial services businesses. Fee and commission income 
from brokering insurance policies is recognized in accordance with contractual arrangements with the 
insurers when the entitlement arises, i.e., when the related premium is charged to the policyholder. 
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Fee and commission expenses arising from financing-business sales commission that are not included 
through the effective interest rate for the underlying financial assets are expensed in full on the date of 
performance. 

Dividends are reported on the date on which the legal entitlement is established, i.e., generally the 
date on which a dividend distribution resolution is approved. 

GOVERNMENT GRANTS  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group recognizes income from government grants if there is reasonable 
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to the grants and that the grants will 
be received. The Group regards the ECB as a government agency or similar institution for the purposes 
of IAS 20. The ECB’s TLTRO III funding program is intended to stimulate borrowing in the eurozone by 
creating an incentive for participating banks to lend to the real economy. Volkswagen Bank GmbH be-
lieves that this support constitutes a government grant. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group recognizes 
the benefit in the accounting period in which the grant compensates the Group for the corresponding 
costs and reports the grant as a reduction in the related expense. The level of the benefit depends on the 
amount borrowed and on which of a number of lending thresholds are satisfied. Further information 
about the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s recognition of income in the context of the benefit from the 
TLTRO III funding program can be found in note (33) Further Income Statement disclosures.  

7. Income taxes 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply in respect of 
the refund from or payment to the tax authorities concerned. Current income taxes are generally re-
ported on an unnetted basis. Liabilities are recognized for potential tax risks using best estimates.  

Deferred tax assets are recognized if it is probable that in the future sufficient taxable profits will be 
generated in the same tax unit against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. No deferred tax as-
sets that are not expected to be recovered within a reasonable period are recognized in the year in which 
they arise. If it is no longer likely that it will be possible to recover deferred tax assets recognized in pre-
vious years within a reasonable period, valuation allowances are applied.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities with the same maturities and relating to the same tax authorities 
are netted.  

The introduction of a global minimum level of taxation (Pillar 2) will not result in any burdens for the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. Consequently, no current tax expense in connection with Pillar 2 income 
taxes is incurred. The Group has applied the exemption of the recognition and presentation of deferred 
taxes in connection with Pillar 2 income taxes. 

8. Cash reserve 

The cash reserve is carried at the nominal amount. 

9. Financial instruments 

In the case of regular-way purchases or sales, financial instruments are normally recognized on the set-
tlement date, i.e., the date on which the asset is delivered. An exception to this rule arises in connection 
with the accounting treatment of derivatives, which are always recognized on the trade date. 
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Financial assets are classified and measured on the basis of the business model operated by an entity and 
the structure of its cash flows. 

IFRS 9 breaks down financial assets into the following categories: 
 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments), 
 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity instruments), 
 Financial assets measured at amortized cost 
 
Financial liabilities are classified using the following categories: 
 Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, and 
 Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. 
 

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the categories shown above are allocated to the classes “Financial 
assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost” and “Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 
value”. 

The fair value option for financial assets and financial liabilities is not applied in the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported with their unnetted gross values. Off-
setting is only applied if, at the present time, the offsetting of the amounts is legally enforceable by the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group and there is an intention to settle on a net basis in practice. 

FI NANCIAL ASSETS  AN D LIABI LITI ES MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST 
Financial assets held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows (“hold 
to collect” business model) are allocated to the category of financial assets measured at amortized cost 
measurement. The contractual cash flows of these financial assets consist solely of payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, such that the cash flow criterion is satisfied. 

Financial liabilities other than derivatives are allocated to the measurement category of financial lia-
bilities measured at amortized cost. 

Gains and losses arising from the changes in amortized cost are recognized in profit or loss, including 
the effects from changes in exchange rates. 

FI NANCIAL ASSETS MEAS URED AT FAI R VALUE TH ROUGH OTH ER COMPREH ENSIVE I NCOME (DEBT  
I NSTRUMENTS)  
Financial assets held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell 
financial assets (“hold to collect and sell” business model) are classified in the category of financial assets 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income measurement (debt instruments). The con-
tractual cash flows of these financial assets consist solely of payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

Changes in fair value that extend beyond the changes in the amortized cost of these financial assets 
are recognized in other comprehensive income (taking into account deferred taxes) until the financial 
asset concerned is derecognized. Only then are the accumulated gains or losses reclassified to profit or 
loss. 

Changes due to specific factors affecting value, such as impairment losses, interest determined in ac-
cordance with the effective interest method and foreign currency gains or losses, are immediately recog-
nized in profit or loss. 
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FI NANCIAL ASSETS  MEASU RED AT FAI R VALUE TH ROUGH PROFIT  OR LOSS AN D FI NANCIAL LIABI LITI ES  
MEASURED AT FAI R VALU E TH ROUGH PROFIT  OR LOSS 
The measurement category of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss encompasses 
financial assets (debt instruments) for which the cash flow criterion is not satisfied, or that are managed 
within a business model that aims to sell these assets in order to realize cash flows (“sell” business model).  

In addition, derivatives are allocated to the measurement categories of financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

In the case of these financial assets and liabilities, any changes in fair value are recognized in profit or 
loss. 

FI NANCIAL ASSETS  MEAS URED AT FAI R VALU E TH ROUGH OTH ER COMPREH ENSIVE I NCOME 
(EQU ITY I NSTRUMENTS)  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group recognizes financial assets that represent an equity instrument and 
are not held for trading purposes in the measurement category of financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (equity instruments). Equity instruments are measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income in exercise of the fair-value-through-OCI option. The accu-
mulated gains or losses from remeasurement are transferred on derecognition to retained earnings and 
not to the income statement (i.e., they are not reclassified to profit or loss). 

LOANS AN D RECEIVABLES  
Loans to and receivables from banks, and loans to and receivables from customers, originated by the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are generally recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains or losses arising from the changes in amortized cost are recognized in profit or loss, in-
cluding the effects from changes in exchange rates.  

For reasons of materiality, non-interest-bearing current loans and receivables (due within one year) 
are not discounted and therefore no unwinding of discount is recognized. 

Loans and receivables are generally derecognized when they are repaid or settled. There are no indi-
cations of derecognition for loans/receivables from ABS transactions carried out by the Group. 

The accounting policies relating to receivables from customers attributable to the leasing business in 
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are described in note (14) Leases. 

MARKETABLE SECURITI ES  
The “Marketable securities” balance sheet item largely comprises investments of resources in the form 
of fixed-income securities from public- and private-sector issuers and asset-backed securities issued by 
unconsolidated special-purpose entities. 

Asset-backed securities are allocated to the measurement category of financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.  

Fixed-income securities are allocated to the measurement category of financial assets measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments). Valuation allowances for marketable 
securities are recognized in profit or loss under the “Provision for credit risks” line item. Interest deter-
mined in accordance with the effective interest method and effects from changes in exchange rates are 
also recognized in profit or loss. In addition, the differences between the amortized cost and fair value 
arising from the remeasurement of fixed-income securities are recognized in other comprehensive in-
come, taking into account deferred taxes.  

Financial investments in equity instruments from marketable securities are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income in exercise of the fair-value-through-OCI option. The net gain on 
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measurement of these instruments is reported in the statement of comprehensive income under fair 
value valuation of equity instruments that will not be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax. 

EQUITY I NVESTMENTS  
The equity investments included in the “Miscellaneous financial assets” balance sheet item are measured 
as equity instruments generally at fair value through other comprehensive income in exercise of the fair-
value-through-OCI option. The net gain on measurement of these equity investments is reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income under fair value valuation of equity instruments that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax. 

As the equity investments are strategic financial investments, this classification provides a more 
meaningful presentation of the investments. 

If, in the case of non-material equity investments, there is no active market and there is no evidence 
that the fair values are significantly different from cost, such equity investments are accounted for at cost 
and reported under financial assets measured at fair value. 

DERIVATIVE FI NANCIAL I NSTRUMENTS  AN D H EDGE ACCOU NTI NG 
Derivative financial instruments comprise derivatives designated as hedging instruments and deriva-
tives not designated as hedging instruments. All derivatives are measured at fair value and are presented 
separately in notes (38) and (49). 

The fair value is determined with the help of measurement software in IT systems using the dis-
counted cash flow method and taking into account credit value adjustments and debt value adjustments. 

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, entities enter into hedging transactions solely as part of their 
management of interest rate risk and/or currency risk. 

Derivatives are used as hedging instruments to hedge fair values or future cash flows (referred to as 
hedged items). Hedge accounting in accordance with IFRS 9 is only applied in the case of hedges that can 
be demonstrated to be effective, both on designation and continuously thereafter. The Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items. When fair 
value hedges are applied, changes in the fair value of the derivative designated as the instrument used to 
hedge the fair value of a recognized asset or liability (hedged item) are recognized in profit or loss under 
net gain or loss on hedges. Changes in the fair value of the hedged item in connection with which the risk 
is being minimized are also reported in profit or loss under the same item. Gains or losses arising from 
the ineffectiveness of fair value hedges are also recognized in gain or loss on hedges. 

Portfolio fair value hedge accounting reports transactions to hedge the risk of changes in the interest 
rates of hedged items (receivables from retail financing) on a portfolio basis. The hedged interest rate risk 
for the hedged items is based on the 3-month EURIBOR. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group exercises 
the option afforded in the provisions of IAS 39 regarding hedge accounting in its portfolio fair value 
hedge accounting treatment. As part of the accounting treatment of hedges in portfolio fair value hedge 
accounting, the hedged fair value changes for hedged items are recognized in a separate asset item in the 
balance sheet (“Change in fair value from portfolio fair value hedges”). 

In the case of derivatives that are designated as hedges of future cash flows in cash flow hedges and 
that satisfy the relevant criteria, the changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized in separate 
items of other comprehensive income. The designated effective portion is recognized within other com-
prehensive income in OCI I. Effects on profit or loss under net gain or loss on hedges arise from the inef-
fective portion of the change in fair value as well as from the reclassification (on recognition of the 
hedged item) of changes in fair value previously recognized in other comprehensive income. The meas-
urement of the hedged item remains unchanged. 



Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

102 

Changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not satisfy the IFRS 9 or IAS 39 criteria for hedge account-
ing and are therefore accounted for in the measurement category of financial assets and financial liabil-
ities measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss under net gain or loss 
on financial instruments measured at fair value. 

Interest income or interest expense related to derivatives designated as hedging instruments is re-
ported in the income statement item in which the interest income or interest expense related to the 
hedged item is presented. Interest income or interest expense related to derivatives used in economic 
hedging relationships that do not meet the requirements of designation as hedging instruments is also 
reported in the income statement item in which the interest income or interest expense related to the 
financial assets and liabilities or the hedged item is presented. 

PROVISION FOR CREDIT RISKS 
The provision for credit risks, which is recognized in accordance with the expected credit loss model spec-
ified by IFRS 9 and in accordance with uniform standards applied throughout the Group, encompasses 
all financial assets measured at amortized cost, financial assets in the form of debt instruments meas-
ured at fair value through other comprehensive income, finance lease receivables and receivables related 
to payments due under operating leases that fall within the scope of IFRS 16, and credit risks from off-
balance-sheet irrevocable credit commitments and financial guarantees. Revocable off-balance-sheet 
credit commitments are, by contrast, not included in the scope of the provision for credit risks. A credit 
commitment is considered revocable if a contractual or statutory basis for the revocation or termination 
exists and the Group also has the practical ability to revoke the credit commitment at any time. The cal-
culation of the provision for credit risks takes into account the exposure at default, the probability of 
default and the loss given default. 

Financial assets are subject to credit risks, which are taken into account by recognizing valuation al-
lowances in the amount of the expected loss; such valuation allowances are recognized for both financial 
assets with objective evidence of impairment and non-impaired financial assets. These allowances are 
posted to separate valuation allowance accounts. 

The general approach is used for financial assets measured at amortized cost (with the exception of 
trade receivables), financial assets (debt instruments) whose changes in fair value are recognized in other 
comprehensive income and for irrevocable credit commitments and financial guarantees unless there is 
already objective evidence of impairment on initial recognition. Financial assets are broken down into 
three stages in the general approach. Stage 1 consists of financial assets that are being recognized for the 
first time or that have not demonstrated any significant increase in default risk since initial recognition. 
Stage 2 consists of financial assets for which the risk of default has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. Financial assets demonstrating objective indications of impairment are allocated to Stage 3. 

In the case of financial assets already impaired on initial recognition (POCI) and classified as Stage 4 
for the purposes of the disclosures, the provision for credit risks is recognized in subsequent measure-
ment on the basis of the cumulative changes in the expected credit loss for the entire life of the asset 
concerned. 

The provision for credit risks is calculated on the basis of the individual financial asset. The parame-
ters required for this calculation are established by assessing portfolios in which individual financial as-
sets of a similar type are brought together. Such homogeneous portfolios are created, for example, on the 
basis of customer group (e.g. dealer), product (e.g. financing or leasing), or type of collateral (e.g. vehicle). 
In the case of significant financial assets (e.g., dealer financing loans/receivables and fleet customer busi-
ness loans/receivables) with objective evidence of impairment, the measurement parameters are deter-
mined on the basis of the individual contract. 
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In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the provision for credit risks relating to trade receivables and to 
operating and finance lease receivables accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 is uniformly deter-
mined using the simplified approach. The valuation allowance for trade receivables is calculated accord-
ing to the extent to which the receivable is past due using a valuation allowance table (provision matrix). 

Both historical information, such as average historical default probabilities for each portfolio, and for-
ward-looking information, such as macroeconomic factors and trends (e.g. the rate of change for gross 
domestic product, the rate of change for industrial production, the unemployment rate, inflation, and 
short-term and long-term interest rates ), linked to expected credit losses, is used to determine the meas-
urement parameters for calculating the provision for credit risks. To model the measurement parameters, 
calculations are carried out for various probability-weighted scenarios using region-specific macroeco-
nomic factors. The scenarios assume different economic trends and reflect their impact on credit risk 
and the provision for credit risks. In this regard, Volkswagen Bank GmbH analyzes macroeconomic fac-
tors that are also used in internal management. If statistical methods demonstrate that macroeconomic 
factors have an impact on credit risk, then the relevant forecast macroeconomic factors and their effects 
on credit risk are taken into account in the scenarios. 

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group normally analyzes three scenarios: a baseline scenario, a positive 
scenario and a negative scenario. The baseline scenario uses validated risk parameters as also used in the 
internal risk calculations. The positive scenario assumes a more positive trend in probabilities of default 
and loss for the next 12 months compared with the baseline scenario, whereas the negative scenario as-
sumes a rise in default probabilities and higher losses. Compared with the baseline scenario, the proba-
bility of default (PD) is reduced by 13.5% on average in the positive scenario, but is increased by an aver-
age of +27.4% in the negative scenario. The loss is reduced by 1.3% on average in the positive scenario, 
but is increased by an average of +2.7% in the negative scenario. 

The calculation to determine whether the credit risk has increased significantly at the reporting date 
generally takes into account the maturity of the agreement. The credit risk expected for the reporting 
date on the date of initial recognition is compared against the actual credit risk on the reporting date on 
the basis of the 12-month probability of default; the expected probability of default for the reporting date 
is derived for the comparison taking the maturity of the agreement into account. Depending on the in-
ternal risk management models applied, threshold values are specified for expected credit risk using sta-
tistical methods and expert assessments, taking into account transaction-specific variables (such as ma-
turity, payment record and credit process). A credit risk higher than the threshold value indicates a sig-
nificant increase in credit risk. Depending on specific regional circumstances, qualitative factors may also 
be used to determine a significant increase in credit risk. Credit risk is assumed to have increased signif-
icantly, at the latest, if payments are past due by more than 30 days unless the financial assets have al-
ready been allocated to Stage 3 because of other objective evidence of impairment or, as a consequence 
of a substantial contractual modification, they are added to Stage 1 again at the reporting date despite 
payments being past due. A financial asset for which the credit risk is determined to be very low at the 
reporting date can normally be allocated to Stage 1. In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, a very low 
credit risk can be assumed if the financial asset is assigned a one-year probability of default of less than 
0.3%. 

Objective evidence of impairment is identified in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group using the defi-
nition of default specified in Article 178 of the CRR. The existence of a variety of factors could be decisive 
in determining whether a default has occurred. Examples of such factors include payment more than 90 
days past due, the initiation of enforcement measures, the threat of insolvency or overindebtedness, ap-
plication for or the initiation of insolvency proceedings, or the failure of restructuring measures. The 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses the EBA’s amended guidelines on the application of the definition 
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of default under Article 178 of the CRR. If the reason for the recognition of a default (e.g., disruption to 
payments) has been eliminated, this must then be followed immediately by a cure period of several 
months before the financial instrument can no longer be considered to be in default. 

Reviews are regularly carried out to ensure the valuation allowances are appropriate. 
Uncollectible loans or receivables that are already subject to a remediation for which all collateral has 

been recovered and all further options for recovering the loan or receivable have been exhausted are writ-
ten off directly. Any valuation allowances previously recognized are utilized. Income subsequently col-
lected in connection with loans or receivables already written off is recognized in profit and loss. 

Loans and receivables are reported in the balance sheet at the net carrying amount. The provision for 
credit risks relating to off-balance sheet irrevocable credit commitments and financial guarantees is rec-
ognized within other liabilities. 

Disclosures relating to the provision for credit risks are presented separately in note (64). 

MODI FICATIONS 
Modifications falling within the scope of IFRS 9 are adjustments of an individual financial instrument or 
finance lease in which the provisions of IFRS 9 must be applied in accordance with IFRS 16.80(b) and in 
which the nature, amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows from the contract are modified. 
They can be caused by credit rating or market factors. If modified cash flows arise in connection with 
financial assets or financial liabilities, an assessment must be carried out to establish whether the modi-
fication is significant or not. The significance of a modification is assessed from both a qualitative per-
spective (e.g., change in cash flow currency, adjustment in subordination, switch from fixed to variable 
interest rate) and a quantitative perspective. As a quantitative guideline, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group deems any variation in the discounted cash flows for a financial asset or a financial liability of 
more than 10% to be significant. 

If a modification is significant, the financial asset or financial liability concerned must be derecog-
nized and the modified contract recognized as a new financial asset or financial liability at fair value, 
taking into account a new effective interest rate. In the case of financial assets that are credit-impaired 
when purchased or originated and thereby allocated to Stage 4, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
applied. Financial assets that are not posted as credit-impaired as part of a significant modification and 
are subject to the general approach are allocated to Stage 1; in subsequent measurement, they are allo-
cated to Stage 2 if a significant increase in credit risk is determined in connection with the modification. 

If a modification is not significant, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liabil-
ity must be adjusted such that the gross carrying amount after modification reflects the modified cash 
flows discounted with the original effective interest rate, including all the costs incurred as a result of the 
modification of the agreement. The old financial asset or financial liability is therefore not derecognized 
and there is no recognition of a new asset or liability. The difference between the gross carrying amount 
before and after modification is the modification gain or loss. If a significant increase in credit risk is 
determined as part of a non-significant modification of a financial asset subject to the general approach 
(see the section “Provision for credit risks”), the asset is allocated to Stage 2. 

LIABI LITI ES  
Liabilities to banks and customers, notes and commercial paper issued, and subordinated capital liabili-
ties are recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses arising from the 
changes in amortized cost are recognized in profit or loss, including the effects from changes in exchange 
rates. 



Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

105 

For reasons of materiality, discounting or unwinding of discounting is not applied to non-interest-bear-
ing current liabilities (due within one year). They are therefore recognized at their repayment or settle-
ment value. 

10. Value adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges 

This assets-side line item on the balance sheet recognizes changes in the hedged fair value in relation to 
the hedged interest rate risk for the hedged items covered by portfolio fair value hedge accounting. The 
effects arising from the amortization of changes in fair value recognized for hedged items (changes in 
hedged fair value) in portfolio fair value hedges are reported in the interest income from hedged financial 
assets. 

11. Miscellaneous financial assets 

Investments in subsidiaries that are not consolidated, other equity investments and investments in un-
consolidated associates in the previous year are reported as miscellaneous financial assets.  

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and unconsolidated associates are recognized at cost tak-
ing into account any necessary impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss if 
there are country-specific indications of significant or permanent impairment (e.g., imminent payment 
difficulties or economic crises). 

The accounting policies applicable to equity investments are set out in note (9) Financial Instruments. 

12. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recognized in accordance with the cost model.  
Purchased intangible assets are – provided they have a finite useful life – amortized on a straight-line 

basis over their useful lives. These assets mainly consist of software, which is generally amortized over 
three or five years. 

Subject to the conditions specified in IAS 38, internally developed software is capitalized. Amortiza-
tion is on a straight-line basis over the useful life of three to five years from the start of use and is reported 
under general and administrative expenses. 

At every reporting date, intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested to establish whether there 
are any indications of impairment. An appropriate impairment loss is recognized if a comparison shows 
that the recoverable amount for the asset is lower than its carrying amount. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized. An annual review is carried out to 
establish whether an asset has an indefinite useful life. In accordance with IAS 36, these assets are tested 
for impairment by comparing the carrying amount and recoverable amount at least once a year and ad-
ditionally if relevant events or changes in circumstances should occur. If required, an impairment loss is 
recognized to reduce the carrying amount to a lower recoverable amount. 

13. Property and equipment 

Property and equipment (land and buildings plus operating and office equipment) is recognized in ac-
cordance with the cost model. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
life. 
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Depreciation and amortization is based mainly on the following useful lives: 
 

Property and equipment Useful lives
   

Buildings and property facilities 10 to 50 years

Operating and office equipment 3 to 23 years
 
 

At every reporting date, property and equipment are tested to establish whether there are any indications 
of impairment, for example as a result of relevant events or changes in circumstances. The recoverable 
amount for the asset is compared against its carrying amount in such cases. If the recoverable amount 
of the asset concerned has fallen below its carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized in accordance 
with IAS 36. 

Depreciation expense and impairment losses are reported within general and administrative ex-
penses. Income from the reversal of impairment losses is recognized in net other operating income/ex-
penses. 

The property and equipment line item on the balance sheet also includes right-of-use assets recog-
nized on the balance sheet in connection with leases in which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is the 
lessee. The accounting policies for these right-of-use assets are set out in note (14) Leases within the sub-
section covering the Group as lessee. 

14. Leases 

GROUP AS LESSOR 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group operates both finance lease business and operating lease business. 
The leases are mainly vehicle leases, but to a lesser extent also involve land and buildings. 

Lease income and lease expenses that the Group generates or incurs as a lessor are recognized under 
income from leasing transactions and depreciation, impairment losses and other expenses from leasing 
transactions in the income statement and are explained in note (21) Net income from leasing transac-
tions. Net income from leasing transactions largely consists of the following components: revenue from 
operating leases, interest income from finance leases, gains and expenses from the disposal of used ex-
lease vehicles, net interest income/expense from finance lease hedging derivatives and depreciation and 
impairment losses in respect of lease assets. Interest income from finance leases includes the effects aris-
ing from the amortization of changes in fair value recognized for hedged items (changes in hedged fair 
value) that result from finance lease receivables covered by portfolio fair value hedges. 

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantial risks and rewards to the lessee. Where residual value 
guarantees are agreed, residual value risks are passed on to the residual value guarantor. In the consoli-
dated balance sheet, receivables from finance leases are reported within loans to and receivables from 
customers and the net investment in the lease generally equates to the cost of the lease asset. Interest 
income from these transactions is reported under leasing income in the income statement. The interest 
paid by the customer is allocated so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the lease receivable. Net interest income/expense from hedging derivatives for the interest 
rate exposure for parts of the receivables from finance leases is reported under income from leasing busi-
ness. Net interest income/expense from hedging derivatives is reported under income from leasing busi-
ness in order to present hedged interest income from finance leases generated by the Volkswagen Bank 
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GmbH Group including net interest income/expense from hedging derivatives for the interest rate expo-
sure. 

In the case of operating leases, the substantial risks and rewards related to the leased asset remain with 
the lessor. In this case, the assets involved are reported in a separate “Lease assets” item in the consoli-
dated balance sheet, measured at cost and reduced by straight-line depreciation over the lease term to 
the calculated residual carrying amount. Any impairment identified as a result of an impairment test in 
accordance with IAS 36 in which the recoverable amount (normally the value in use) is found to have 
fallen below the carrying amount is taken into account by recognizing an impairment loss. Generally, 
future depreciation rates are adjusted as a consequence of impairment. Depreciation and impairment 
losses are reported under depreciation, impairment losses and other expenses from leasing transactions. 
Reversals of impairment losses recognized in prior years for reasons that no longer apply are included in 
income from leasing transactions. Leasing revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term and is reported in income from leasing transactions. 

Where the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is a lessor, one of the ways in which it counters the risks 
arising in connection with the underlying leased assets (primarily vehicles) is to take into account resid-
ual value guarantees received for parts of the lease portfolio and to include residual value forecasts on 
the basis of internal and external information within residual value management. Residual value fore-
casts are regularly verified by a process of backtesting. 

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group takes full account of the credit risk arising in connection with 
lease receivables by recognizing loss allowances in accordance with the provisions specified in IFRS 9. 
The accounting policies covering loss allowances for the credit risk on lease receivables are included in 
note (9) Financial Instruments in the subsection addressing the provision for credit risks. 

GROUP AS LESSEE 
The right-of-use asset for leases in which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is the lessee is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The depreciation expense is reported under general 
and administrative expenses. The allocation of the depreciation amounts for right-of-use assets to the 
categories “Right of use on land, land rights and buildings incl. buildings on third party land” and “Right 
of use on other equipment, operational and office equipment” is shown in note (69) Leases. 

In the subsequent measurement of the lease liability, the carrying amount is updated using the effec-
tive interest method and taking into account the lease payments made. The interest expenses arising 
from the application of the effective interest method are reported under interest expenses in the income 
statement. 

The right-of-use assets recognized in the balance sheet for leases are reported under those line items 
in which the lease’s underlying assets would have been reported if these assets had been in the beneficial 
ownership of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. The right-of-use assets are therefore reported as of the 
reporting date under property and equipment. 

Lease liabilities are carried at the present value of the lease payments. Exemptions are provided for 
short-term leases and leases in which the underlying asset is of low value. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group has elected to apply these exemptions and therefore does not recognize any right-of-use asset or 
lease liability for such leases. The associated lease payments are recognized as an expense under general 
and administrative expenses in the income statement. A lease is treated as low in value if the underlying 
asset is worth no more than €5,000 when new. Furthermore, the accounting requirements specified in 
IFRS 16 are not applied to leases for intangible assets. 
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Leases of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group may include extension or termination options that are 
taken into account when determining the lease term. 

BUYBACK TRANSACTIONS  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group enters into vehicle purchase contracts in which there is a fixed buy-
back agreement with the vehicle sellers, who are entities in the Volkswagen Group. Ultimately, these con-
tracts entitle the Group solely to use the vehicles during an agreed timeframe, the contracts being ac-
counted for as leases. The Group is the lessee in the primary lease and uses the vehicles made available 
under the lease to conduct leasing business with customers. The leases with customers are treated as 
subleases linked to the right of use received for the period of use and are classified as finance leases or 
operating leases according to the classification criteria. The vast majority of buyback transactions are 
classified as finance leases and the values arising from the transfer of the right of use are consequently 
presented as receivables from finance leases in the balance sheet. To a lesser extent, some transactions 
are classified as operating leases and the values arising from the transfer of the right of use are thus in 
this case accounted for as lease assets. 

In connection with buyback transactions, buyback receivables are also recognized under loans to and 
receivables from customers within other loans and receivables in the amount of the buyback values 
agreed at the inception of the lease. In the case of noncurrent leases (maturity of more than one year), 
the agreed buyback value is discounted at the inception of the lease. The unwinding of the discount dur-
ing the term of the lease is recognized in interest income. 

15. Investment property 

Land and buildings held to earn rentals are reported under the Investment property line item in the bal-
ance sheet and recognized in accordance with the cost model. The fair values disclosed in the notes are 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using the relevant long-term market dis-
count rate. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over useful lives of nine to 33 years. Any im-
pairment identified as a result of an impairment test in accordance with IAS 36 is taken into account by 
recognizing an impairment loss. 

16. Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 

Provisions are recognized for commitments in the form of retirement, invalidity and surviving depend-
ants’ benefits payable under pension plans. The benefits provided by the Group vary according to the 
legal, tax and economic circumstances of the country concerned, and usually depend on the length of 
service and remuneration of the employees. 

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group provides occupational pensions in the form of both defined con-
tribution and defined benefit plans. In the case of defined contribution plans, the Bank makes contribu-
tions to state or private pension schemes based on statutory or contractual requirements, or on a volun-
tary basis. Once the contributions have been paid, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has no further 
obligations. In 2024, the total contributions made by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group came to €17 
million (previous year: €8 million). This amount included contributions to the compulsory state pension 
system in Germany in an amount of €16 million (previous year: €8 million). 
Pension schemes in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are predominantly defined benefit plans in 
which there is a distinction between pensions funded by provisions (without plan assets) and externally 
funded plans (with plan assets). The pension provisions for defined benefit commitments are measured 
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by independent actuaries using the internationally accepted projected unit credit method in accordance 
with IAS 19. This means that the future obligations are measured on the basis of the proportionate ben-
efit entitlements earned as of the reporting date. The measurement of pension provisions takes into ac-
count actuarial assumptions regarding discount rates, salary and pension trends, life expectancy and 
employee turnover rates, which are determined for each Group company depending on the economic 
environment. 

Various transfers of personnel took place due to the restructuring as of July 1, 2024 between 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH and the Volkswagen Bank GmbH subsidiary, 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. In the process, provisions for obligations to employees, e.g., from pension 
obligations, were transferred from the transferring companies to the absorbing companies. In order to 
compensate for the transferred provisions, the value of the provisions under German commercial law 
was used to determine compensation payments. Positive differences from transfers from Volkswagen 
Financial Services AG, where the compensation payments received are greater than the acquired provi-
sions pursuant to IFRS, are recorded as transactions by the owners through other comprehensive income 
and recognized as contributions in kind of the shareholder, Volkswagen Financial Services AG. Negative 
differences from transfers to Volkswagen Financial Services AG, where the compensation payments made 
are greater than the released provisions pursuant to IFRS, are also recorded as transactions by the owners 
through other comprehensive income and recognized as distributions in kind to the shareholder, 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG. 

 
The transfers below took place from Volkswagen Financial Services AG to the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group, including transfers to the consolidated subsidiary, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. The differences are 
shown as contribution in kind of the shareholder Volkswagen Financial Services AG under retained earn-
ings. 
 

€ million 

Present value of
transferred
obligations

Fair value of
transferred
plan assets

Provisions 
recognized

in the balance 
sheet

Compensation
payments Difference

           

Pensions 162 110 53 141 89

Anniversary payments 21 – 21 25 4

Semiretirement 24 – 24 25 1

Time Assets 60 49 11 11 1

Other 0 – 0 0 0

Total 268 159 109 203 94
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The transfers below took place from Volkswagen Bank GmbH to Volkswagen Financial Services AG. The 
differences are shown as distributions in kind from retained earnings to the shareholder, Volkswagen 
Financial Services AG. 

€ million 

Present value of
transferred
obligations

Fair value of
transferred
plan assets

Provisions 
recognized

in the balance 
sheet

Compensation
payments Difference

           

Pensions 11 9 2 8 6

Anniversary payments 1 – 1 2 0

Semiretirement 2 – 2 2 0

Time Assets 10 8 2 2 0

Other 0 – 0 0 0

Total 24 17 7 14 7
 

 
Due to the increased significance of provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits as a 
result of the personnel transfer, the presentation in the balance sheet has been adjusted. The previously 
combined “Provisions” (previous year: €196 million) balance sheet item was divided into two separate 
items, “Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits” and “Other provisions”. 

Detailed disclosures on provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits are set out in 
note (50). 

17. Other provisions 

Under IAS 37, provisions are recognized if a present legal or constructive obligation to a third party has 
arisen as a result of a past event, it is probable that settlement in the future will result in an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits, and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. If 
an outflow of resources is neither probable nor improbable, the amount concerned is deemed to be a 
contingent liability. In accordance with IAS 37, this contingent liability is not recognized but disclosed in 
note (71). 

Provisions for litigation and legal risks are recognized and measured using assumptions about the 
probability of an unfavorable outcome and the amount of possible utilization. 

Income from the reversal of other provisions is generally recognized in the income statement item or 
net income item in which the associated expense was recognized in previous fiscal years. 

Provisions that are not associated with an outflow of resources within one year are recognized at their 
settlement amount discounted to the reporting date using market discount rates. An average discount 
rate of 2.61% (previous year: 2.87%) has been used for the eurozone. The settlement amount also includes 
expected cost increases. 

18. Trust transactions 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH acts as a trustee in some of its lending business. As the pass-through criteria 
specified in IFRS 9.3.2.4(b) and IFRS 9.3.2.5 are satisfied, the asset, which only needs to be recognized for 
the briefest of periods, and the matching liability are derecognized in full. The upshot is that trust busi-
ness does not need to be reported on the balance sheet. The extent of this business is not material. 
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19. Estimates and assumptions by management 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses, and disclosures relating to contingent assets and liabilities for the reporting period.  

Assumptions and estimates are based on the latest available information. The circumstances prevail-
ing at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared and future trends in the global and 
sector environment considered to be realistic are taken into account in the projected future performance 
of the business. The estimates and assumptions used by management have been made, in particular, on 
the basis of assumptions relating to macroeconomic trends (including energy prices and inflation) and 
developments in the automotive markets, financial markets (specifically including interest rate trends) 
and underlying legal conditions. 

The planning assumption in respect of global economic development is that global economic output 
will grow overall in 2025 but at a slightly weaker pace when compared with 2024. The declining level of 
inflation in important economic regions and the resulting easing of monetary policy should have a pos-
itive effect on consumer spending. It is still expected that risks will arise from growing fragmentation of 
the global economy and protectionist tendencies, turbulence in the financial markets and structural def-
icits in individual countries. In addition, growth prospects will be impacted by ongoing geopolitical ten-
sions and conflicts, with the Russia-Ukraine conflict, fighting in the Middle East and uncertainties in con-
nection with the political orientation of the USA as particular sources of risk. It is assumed that both the 
advanced economies and the emerging markets will show a somewhat weaker momentum on average 
compared with the reporting year. The general expectation is that the global economy will continue on 
a path of stable growth through 2029. 

These assumptions suggest that automotive financial services – in combination with the develop-
ment of the vehicle markets – will prove highly important to global vehicle sales in 2025. Demand for 
solutions that provide access to mobility at the lowest possible total cost is expected to continue to grow 
in the markets of Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s markets. The shift from financing in favor of lease 
contracts will also continue, as was initiated in European financial services business with individual cus-
tomers. Integrated end-to-end solutions that include mobility-related service modules such as insurance 
and innovative packages of services are likely to become increasingly important. Additionally, demand is 
expected to increase for new forms of mobility, such as rental and car subscription (Auto-Abo) services, 
and for integrated mobility services including refueling and charging. Dealers remain important strate-
gic partners. The seamless integration of financial services into the online vehicle offering is becoming 
increasingly important. According to assumptions, we estimate that this trend will also persist in the 
years 2026 to 2029. 

The trend in the automotive industry closely follows global economic developments. It is assumed 
that competition in the international automotive markets will intensify further. Crisis-related disruption 
to the global supply chain and the resulting impact on vehicle availability may weigh on the volume of 
new registrations. Moreover, a sudden outbreak of geopolitical tension and conflicts or the intensifica-
tion of existing ones could lead to rising prices for materials and declining availability of energy. Trends 
in the markets for passenger cars in 2025 are expected to be positive overall, but with some variation 
from region to region. Overall, the global volume of new car sales is expected to be slightly higher than 
the level of the previous year. Growing demand for passenger cars is forecast worldwide in the period 
from 2026 to 2029. Trends in the markets for light commercial vehicles in the individual regions will be 
mixed. On the whole, we expect the sales volume for 2025 to be on the same level as in the previous year; 
for the years 2026 to 2029, we expect demand for light commercial vehicles to increase globally. 
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Interest rates declined slightly in Europe and across much of the rest of the world in fiscal year 2024 on 
account of falling inflation. A few central banks have already implemented interest rate cuts. The trend 
of rate cuts is expected to continue in 2025. 

These and other assumptions and judgements are explained in detail in the report on expected devel-
opments, which is part of the management report. 

As future business performance is subject to unknown factors that, in part, lie outside the control of 
the Group, assumptions and estimates continue to be subject to considerable uncertainty. If changes in 
parameters are different from the assumptions and beyond any influence that can be exercised by man-
agement, the amounts actually arising could differ from the estimated values originally forecast. If actual 
performance varies with the forecasts, the assumptions and, where necessary, the carrying amounts of 
the assets and liabilities concerned are adjusted accordingly. 

The assumptions and estimates largely relate to the items set out below. 

FI NANCIAL I NSTRUMENTS  
The procedure for determining the recoverability of financial assets requires estimates about the extent 
and probability of occurrence of future events. When possible, these estimates take into account the lat-
est market data as well as rating classes and scoring information derived from empirical values and com-
bined with forward-looking parameters. Further information on determining valuation allowances can 
be found in the disclosures on the provision for credit risks in notes (9) and (64). 

The “Provision for credit risks” in note (9) Financial instruments describes how three scenarios of risk 
parameters are taken into account to determine the provision for credit risks and that objective indica-
tions of impairment are determined using the definition of default in accordance with Article 178 CRR. 
These measurement methods were not yet applied when determining the consolidated carrying 
amounts of the financial assets of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH that were transferred as of July 1, 2024. As 
part of a change in accounting-related estimates, the measurement methods were applied throughout 
the Group in the reporting year for all relevant financial assets of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. The 
provision for credit risks throughout the Group is determined by taking into account three scenarios of 
risk parameters, resulting in the reversal of provision for credit risks of €19 million. 

With regard to default risks of financial assets in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, climate and en-
vironmental risks in the portfolio of nonfinancial companies and for collateral in the form of vehicles 
may become increasingly relevant in future reporting periods. In the portfolio of nonfinancial compa-
nies, possible transition risks, in particular, are classified as being of medium- to long-term relevance. 
Their nature varies within the individual sectors of the nonfinancial companies. The car trade, in partic-
ular, may be subject to medium- and long-term transition risks driven by additional transformation costs, 
long-term structural change and the need for capital expenditure on technology. The corresponding 
short-term transition risks are not classified as material. In terms of collateral in the form of vehicles, it 
can generally be assumed that the gradual transition from combustion engines to electric vehicles will 
continue. From today’s perspective, therefore, there are no heightened risks and the valuation ap-
proaches remain appropriate. Nevertheless, the impact of relevant risk drivers such as the CO2 transition, 
technological changes, laws and provisions and customer interest are kept under observation and reas-
sessed on a regular and ad hoc basis. Instruments to take ESG aspects into account in the credit processes 
were established within the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group in order to counter ESG risks. As part of the 
credit approval process the Group assesses ESG risks on the basis of the comprehensive expertise of the 
front and back office. 
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Management estimates are necessary to determine the fair value of financial instruments. This relates to 
both fair value as a measurement standard in the balance sheet and fair value in the context of disclo-
sures in the notes. Fair value measurements are categorized into a three-level hierarchy depending on 
the type of inputs used in the valuation technique and each level requires different management esti-
mates. Fair values in Level 1 are based on prices quoted in active markets. Management assessments in 
this case relate to determining the primary or most advantageous market. Level 2 fair values are meas-
ured on the basis of observable market data using market-based valuation techniques. Management de-
cisions for this level relate to selecting generally accepted, standard industry models and specifying the 
market in which the relevant input factors are observable. Level 3 fair values are determined using recog-
nized valuation techniques and relying on some inputs that cannot be observed in an active market. 
Management judgment is required in this case when selecting the valuation techniques and determining 
the inputs to be used. These inputs are developed using the best available information. If the Bank uses 
its own data, it applies appropriate adjustments to best reflect market conditions. This is done with re-
gard to fair value disclosures for loans to customers in the notes, as these are measured at amortized cost 
and not at fair value. 

RECOVERABLE AMOU NT OF NON FI NANCIAL ASSETS, JOI NT VENTURES  AN D EQUITY I NVESTMENTS  
The impairment tests applied to nonfinancial assets (particularly goodwill and brand names), equity-ac-
counted joint ventures and equity investments measured at cost require assumptions related to the fu-
ture cash flows in the planning period and, where applicable, beyond. The assumptions about the future 
cash flows factor in expectations regarding future global economic trends, trends in the overall markets 
for passenger cars and commercial vehicles and expectations derived from these trends about financial 
services, taking into account market penetration, risk costs, margins and regulatory requirements. The 
assumptions are based on current estimates by third-party institutions, which include economic re-
search institutes, banks, multinational organizations and consulting firms. The discount rates used in 
the discounted cash flow method applied when testing goodwill for impairment are based on specified 
cost of equity rates, taking into account historical experience and appropriate assumptions regarding 
macroeconomic trends. In particular the forecasts for short- and medium-term cash flows, and the dis-
count rates used, are subject to uncertainty outside the control of the group. 

RECOVERABLE AMOU NT OF LEASE ASSETS  
The recoverable amount of leased assets in the Group mainly depends on the residual value of the 

leased vehicles when the leases expire because this value represents a considerable proportion of the 
expected cash inflows. Continuously updated internal and external information on trends in residual 
values – based on particular local circumstances and empirical values from the marketing of used vehi-
cles – is factored into the forecasts of residual values for leased vehicles. These forecasts require the Group 
to make assumptions, primarily in relation to future supply and demand for vehicles and in relation to 
trends in vehicle prices. These assumptions are based on either professional estimates or information 
published by third-party experts. The professional estimates are based on external data (where available), 
taking into account any additional information available internally, such as values from past experience 
and current sales data. Forecasts and assumptions are regularly verified by a process of backtesting.  

The mix of drive types in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH portfolio is changing constantly as the transi-
tion to zero-emissions mobility progresses. The implications of this transition for residual values in the 
portfolio are monitored continuously using an appropriate method for the analysis and evaluation of 
ESG factors, including technological and regulatory changes and CO2 transition costs. The defined resid-
ual values of vehicles of different drive types are updated in line with the results of this monitoring at 
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regular intervals for the purposes of both new business and residual value forecasting. Customer behav-
ior and the structure of the market are also key determining factors in this context alongside the afore-
mentioned elements. No additional estimation uncertainty arising from ESG/sustainability considera-
tions that would materially affect existing estimates, for example the recoverable amount of leased assets, 
in the consolidated financial statements is apparent as of the current reporting date. Possible future ef-
fects of ESG/sustainability factors on existing estimates are considered continuously. 

LEASE TERM I N LESSEE ACCOU NTI NG  
Under IFRS 16, the term of a lease is determined on the basis of the fundamental noncancelable term of 
the lease plus an assessment of whether any option to extend the lease will be exercised or whether any 
option to terminate the lease will be exercised. The lease term determined in this way and the discount 
rates used affect the amounts recognized for the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities. 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS  AN D UNCERTAI N I NCOME TAX ITEMS  
When determining deferred tax assets, there is a need to make assumptions about future taxable income 
and the timing for any recovery of the deferred tax assets. The measurement of deferred tax assets for 
tax loss carryforwards is generally based on future taxable income within a planning horizon of five fiscal 
years. In the recognition of uncertain income tax items, the expected tax payment is used as the basis 
for the best estimate. 

Tax liabilities are recognized for potential retrospective tax payments in the future; other liabilities 
are recognized for any additional tax costs incurred in this regard. 

The entities in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group operate worldwide and are audited on an ongoing 
basis by the local tax authorities. Changes to tax legislation, decisions by the courts and their interpreta-
tion by the tax authorities in the countries concerned could give rise to tax payments that are different 
from the estimates made in the financial statements.  

The assessment of uncertain tax exposures is based on the most likely figure if the risk were to mate-
rialize. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group makes a decision on a case-by-case basis as to whether to 
account for several tax uncertainties individually or in groups, depending on which approach better 
serves to predict whether the tax risk will materialize. 

The pricing of individual services is particularly complex in contracts for cross-border intragroup ser-
vices because, in many cases, there are no observable market prices or the application of market prices 
for similar services is subject to some uncertainty because the services are not comparable. In such cases 
– and for tax purposes – the pricing is determined using uniform measurement methods applied in gen-
erally accepted business practice. 

Actual figures may differ from the original estimates if the circumstances differ from the assumptions 
made in the estimates. 

I NCOME FROM S ERVICE CONTRACTS  
The calculation of contractual service rates in service contracts is subject to assumptions about expenses 
during the term of contracts; these assumptions are based on past empirical data. The parameters used 
in the calculation of contractual service rates are regularly reviewed. During the term of contracts, in-
come from service contracts is recognized on the basis of expenses incurred, plus a margin derived from 
the contractual service rates. 
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PROVISIONS  
The recognition and measurement of provisions is also based on assumptions about the probability that 
future events will occur and the amounts involved, together with an estimation of the discount rate. 
Again, experience or reports from external experts are used whenever possible. 

The measurement of pension provisions is based on actuarial assumptions regarding discount rates, 
salary and pension trends, and employee turnover rates, which are determined for each group company 
depending on the economic environment. Further information about the assumptions applied in rela-
tion to provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits can be found in notes (16) and (50). 

Other provisions are measured on the basis of expected values, which often results in changes involv-
ing either additions to the provisions or the reversal of unused provisions. Changes in the estimates of 
the amounts for other provisions are always recognized in profit or loss. The recognition and measure-
ment of provisions for litigation and legal risks included within other provisions requires making pre-
dictions with regard to court decisions and the outcome of legal proceedings. Each case is individually 
assessed on its merits based on developments in the proceedings, the company’s past experience in com-
parable situations and evaluations made by experts and lawyers. Further information about the assump-
tions applied in relation to other provisions can be found in note (17). 
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Income Statement Disclosures 

Material changes to the items in the income statement detailed below result, among other things, from 
income and expenses, which must be taken into account within the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group with 
the inclusion of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the basis of consolidation as of July 1, 2024. 

20. Interest income from lending transactions and marketable securities 

Income from lending transactions and marketable securities includes interest income from customer 
financing and dealer financing, interest income from direct banking business, interest income and ex-
penses from hedging derivatives for financial assets outside the leasing business, and other interest in-
come, which includes interest income from fixed-income securities. 

The interest income from financial assets measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income included in interest income from lending transactions and marketable securities 
amounted to €3,471 million (previous year: €2,385 million). In the reporting year, financial assets meas-
ured at fair value through profit or loss accounted for a net income of €40 million arising from interest 
income and expenses (previous year: net income of €26 million from interest income and expenses). 

Interest income and interest expense related to derivatives not designated as hedging instruments for 
hedging financial assets outside the leasing business gave rise to net income of €13 million (previous 
year: €4 million). Derivatives designated as a hedging instrument for hedging financial assets outside the 
leasing business resulted in net expense from interest income and expenses of €189 million (previous 
year: €134 million). 

21. Net income from leasing transactions 

The strong changes to net income from leasing transactions result in particular from the inclusion of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the basis of consolidation as of July 1, 2024.  

The breakdown of net income from leasing transactions is as follows: 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Leasing income from operating leases 3,726 626

Interest income from finance leases 797 135

Gains from the disposal of used ex-lease vehicles 4,428 548

Net interest income/expense from finance lease hedging derivatives 70 –

Miscellaneous income from leasing transactions 521 142

Income from leasing transactions 9,541 1,451

Lease assets depreciation and impairment losses –2,905 –483

Expenses from the disposal of used ex-lease vehicles –4,448 –494

Miscellaneous expenses from leasing transactions –342 –57

Depreciation, impairment losses and other expenses from leasing transactions –7,696 –1,034

Total 1,845 418
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22. Interest expenses 

Interest expenses include funding expenses for lending and leasing business and relate in an amount of 
€2,993 million (previous year: €1,240 million) to financial instruments not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Interest income and interest expense related to derivatives not designated as hedging instruments for 
hedging financial liabilities came to €4 million (previous year: €4 million). Interest income and expenses 
on derivatives designated as hedging instruments for hedging financial liabilities amount to €125 mil-
lion (previous year: €46 million). 

The disclosures relating to the interest expenses for lease liabilities reported under the interest ex-
pense line item in the income statement can be found in note (69) Leases. 

23. Net income from service contracts 

Of the total income recognized for service contracts in the reporting year, an amount of €840 million 
(previous year: €95 million) related to service contracts requiring the recognition of income at a specific 
time, and €243 million (previous year: €0 million) related to service contracts requiring the recognition 
of income over a period of time. 

Of the income from service contracts recognized in the reporting year, income of €656 million had 
been included in the contractual liabilities for service contracts within liabilities to customers as of Jan-
uary 1, 2024. For this information, income from service contracts realized following the absorption of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH as of July 1, 2024 was taken into account and included in the contractual lia-
bilities for service contracts of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH as of January 1, 2024. Of the income recognized 
in the prior year, income of €21 million had been included in the contractual liabilities for service con-
tracts as of January 1, 2023. 

24. Provision for credit risks 

The provision for credit risks relates to the following balance sheet items: loans to and receivables from 
banks, loans to and receivables from customers, marketable securities and other assets; in the context of 
the provision for credit risks in respect of credit commitments and financial guarantees, it also relates to 
the “Other liabilities” balance sheet item.  
 
The breakdown of the amount recognized in the consolidated income statement is as follows: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Additions to provision for credit risks –496 –322

Reversals of provision for credit risks 231 230

Direct write-offs –87 –106

Income from loans and receivables previously written off 42 55

Net gain or loss from significant modifications 0 –

Total –310 –144
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25. Net fee and commission income 

Net fee and commission income largely comprises income and expenses from insurance brokerage, to-
gether with fees and commissions from the financing business and the financial services business. The 
breakdown is as follows: 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Fee and commission income 144 133

of which commissions from insurance broking 91 71

Fee and commission expenses –103 –69

of which sales commission from financing business –64 –43

of which commissions from insurance broking –11 –

Total 41 64
    

26. Net gain or loss on hedges 

The “Net gain or loss on hedges” item comprises gains and losses arising from the fair value measure-
ment of hedging instruments and hedged items.  
 
The details of the gains and losses are as follows: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Fair value hedges 

Gains/losses from micro fair value hedges 

Gains/losses on hedging instruments 106 43

Gains/losses on hedged items –142 –59

Gains/losses from micro fair value hedges –36 –16

Gains/losses from the ineffective portion of micro fair value hedges –36 –16

Gains/losses from portfolio fair value hedges 

Gains/losses on hedging instruments –78 –25

Gains/losses on hedged items 76 30

Gains/losses from the ineffective portion of portfolio fair value hedges –2 5

Gains/losses from the ineffective portion of portfolio fair value hedges –2 5

Cash flow hedges 

Gains/losses from the reclassification of reserves –73 –23

Gains/losses from translation of foreign currency loans/receivables and liabilities 73 23

Gains/losses from the ineffective portion of hedging instruments –1 –2

Total –39 –13

 

27. Net gain/loss on financial instruments measured at fair value  

The net gains or losses on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, net gains or losses on mar-
ketable securities and loans/receivables measured at fair value through profit or loss, and net gains or 
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losses on derecognition of marketable securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are reported under this item. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that do not satisfy the requirements of IFRS 9 for hedge accounting at the micro level are recognized un-
der gains and losses on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments. 
 
The details of the gains and losses are as follows: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Gains/losses on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments –98 –29

Gains/losses on marketable securities measured at fair value through profit/loss 24 13

Gains/losses on loans/receivables measured at fair value through profit/loss – –

Gains/losses on the derecognition of marketable securities measured at fair value through OCI 8 6

Total –66 –10
    

28. General and administrative expenses 

The breakdown of general and administrative expenses is shown in the following table: 
 

€ million 2024
2023 

adjusted1

     

Personnel expenses in general and administrative expenses –373 –180

Nonstaff operating expenses –665 –590

Advertising, public relations and sales promotion expenses –20 –8

Depreciation of and impairment losses on property and equipment, amortization of and impairment  
losses on intangible assets –7 –8

Other taxes –12 –9

Income from the reversal of provisions and accrued liabilities 32 6

Total –1,045 –791

1 Prior-year changes according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
 
 

The disclosures relating to the expenses from the depreciation of right-of-use assets included in general 
and administrative expenses and to the expenses from short-term leases and leases in which the under-
lying asset is of low value can be found in note (69) Leases. 
The strong increase in personnel expenses results from the personnel transfer as a consequence of the 
restructuring under company law as of July 1, 2024. 
The breakdown and explanation of personnel expenses is included in the separate note (74) Personnel 
expenses in conjunction with note (75) Average number of employees during the reporting period. 
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29. Net other operating income/expenses 

The breakdown of the net other operating income/expenses is as follows: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Gains on the measurement of nonhedge foreign currency loans/receivables and liabilities 8 22

Income from cost allocations to other entities in the Volkswagen Group 85 36

Income from the reversal of provisions and accrued liabilities 30 18

Income from claims for damages 15 –

Income from the disposal of vehicles under loan agreements and finance leases 282 6

Income from nonsignificant modifications 7 6

Miscellaneous operating income 41 24

Losses on the measurement of nonhedge foreign currency loans/receivables and liabilities –10 –12

Litigation and legal risk expenses –10 –17

Expenses from the disposal of vehicles under loan agreements and finance leases –270 –6

Expenses from nonsignificant modifications –4 –2

Miscellaneous operating expenses –47 –23

Total 132 52
 
   

30. Net gain or loss on miscellaneous financial assets 

Net gain or loss on miscellaneous financial assets includes net gains or losses arising from the recogni-
tion of impairment losses and net gains or losses arising from the derecognition of joint ventures and 
associates. 

31. Other financial gains or losses 

Other financial gains or losses mainly consist of interest expenses in connection with pensions, tax-re-
lated issues and other provisions. 

32. Income tax expense 

Income tax expense includes the taxes charged in respect of the Volkswagen AG tax group, the taxes of 
subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and taxes for which the international subsidiaries and branches 
are the taxpayers, as well as deferred taxes.   
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The components of the income tax expense are as follows: 
 

€ million 2024
2023 

adjusted1

     

Current tax income/expense, Germany –367 –180

Current tax income/expense, foreign –128 –87

Current income tax expense –496 –267

of which income (+)/expense (–) related to prior periods (–0) (1)

Deferred tax income (+)/expense (–), Germany 154 157

Deferred tax income (+)/expense (–), foreign –189 –37

Deferred tax income (+)/expense (–) –36 120

Income tax expense –532 –147

1 Prior-year changes according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
     

 
The reported tax expense in 2024 of €532 million (previous year: €147 million) is €193 million (previous 
year: €89 million) higher than the expected tax expense of €339 million (previous year: €236 million) 
calculated by applying the tax rate of 30.0% (previous year: 30.0%) to the consolidated profit before tax. 
 
The following reconciliation shows the relationship between the income tax expense and the profit be-
fore tax for the reporting year: 

 

€ million 2024
2023 

adjusted1

     

Profit before tax 1,130 786

multiplied by the domestic income tax rate of 30.0 % (previous year: 30.0 %) 

= Imputed income tax expense in the reporting period at the domestic income tax rate –339 –236

+ Effects from different foreign tax rates 16 19

+ Effects from tax-exempt income 41 7

+ Effects from non-deductible operating expenses –1 –38

+ Effects from loss carryforwards – –

+ Effects from permanent differences 4 19

+ Effects from tax credits 0 –

+ Taxes attributable to prior periods –16 30

+ Effects from changes in tax rates – –

+ Effects from non-deductible withholding taxes 0 –

+ Other variances –236 52

= Income tax expense –532 –147

Effective tax rate in % 47.0 18.7

1 Prior-year changes according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
     

 
The statutory corporation tax rate in Germany for the 2024 assessment period was 15.0%. Including trade 
tax and the solidarity surcharge, this resulted in an aggregate tax rate of 30.0%. 

In the German tax group, a tax rate of 30.0% (previous year: 30.0%) was used to measure deferred taxes. 
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The effects from different income tax rates outside Germany arise because of the different income tax 
rates in the individual countries in which the Group companies are domiciled compared with the rates 
in Germany. These rates outside Germany vary between 19.0% and 30.0% (previous year: 15.0% and 
30.0%). 
 
The following table shows a breakdown of the as yet unused tax loss carryforwards: 

 

  
U N U S E D  T A X  L O S S 
C A R R Y F OR W A R D S 

O F  W HI C H  U N U S A B LE  T A X   
L O S S  C A RR Y FO R W A R D S 

€ million  Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
         

Usable indefinitely  – 2 – –

Usable within the next 5 years  – – – –

Limit on utilization between 5 and 10 years  – – – –

Usable within more than 10 years  – – – –

Total  – 2 – –

thereon deferred tax assets recognized  – 0 – 0
     

 
The income taxes do not include amounts arising from the use of previously unrecognized tax losses, 
tax credits or temporary differences from previous periods. In addition, there were no effects from the 
recognition of impairment losses or reversal of impairment losses in respect of deferred tax assets. 
No deferred tax liabilities for temporary differences or undistributed profits were recognized in fiscal 
year 2024. 

Of the deferred taxes recognized in the balance sheet, an amount of €40 million (previous year: €69 
million) relates to transactions reported in other comprehensive income. A breakdown of the changes in 
deferred taxes is presented in the statement of comprehensive income. 

33. Further income statement disclosures 

The figures reported for fiscal years 2023 and 2024 do not include any commission expenses and income 
for fees and commissions resulting from assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss and not accounted for using the effective interest method. 
The way interest rates developed over the reporting year meant that government grants in the amount 
of €106 million were more than offset by the interest expenses associated with the targeted longer-term 
refinancing operations. 
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Balance Sheet Disclosures 

Material changes to the balance sheet items detailed below result, among other things, from assets and 
liabilities of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, which must be taken into account within the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group with the inclusion of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the basis of consolidation as of July 1, 
2024. 

34. Cash reserve 

The cash reserve primarily includes credit balances of €12,157 million (previous year: €11,671 million) 
held with Deutsche Bundesbank. 

35. Loans to and receivables from banks 

Loans to and receivables from banks include credit balances and time deposits with banks and receivables 
from banks attributable to loans of €594 million (previous year: €272 million). 

36. Loans to and receivables from customers 

The “Loans to and receivables from customers” item includes deductions arising from the provision for 
credit risks recognized to cover the expected credit risk. The provision for credit risks is presented in 
notes (24) and (64). 
Loans to and receivables from customers from retail financing largely comprise loans to private and com-
mercial customers for the financing of vehicles. The vehicle itself is normally pledged as collateral for the 
financing of vehicles. Dealer financing encompasses floor plan financing as well as loans to the dealer 
organization for operating equipment and investment. Assets are pledged as collateral, but guarantees 
and charges on real estate are also used as security. Receivables from leasing transactions include receiv-
ables from finance leases and receivables due in connection with lease assets. Other loans and receivables 
primarily relate to lines of credit and overdrafts drawn down by customers, loans to and receivables from 
Volkswagen Group entities and receivables from leasing transactions with a buyback agreement. Receiv-
ables from leasing transactions and other loans and receivables recorded a strong rise thanks to the in-
clusion of Volkswagen Leasing Group in the basis of consolidation. 

Receivables from leasing transactions include due receivables amounting to €670 million (previous 
year: €123 million). Of this amount, €362 million (previous year: €109 million) is attributable to finance 
leases and €308 million (previous year: €13 million) to operating leases. The due lease receivables are 
payable within one year. 

37. Value adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges 

This assets-side line item on the balance sheet recognizes changes in the hedged fair value in relation to 
the hedged interest rate risk for the hedged items covered by portfolio fair value hedge accounting. 
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The following table shows the amount reported in the balance sheet on the reporting date: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Value adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges 83 30
     

 

38. Derivative financial instruments 

This item comprises the positive fair values from derivatives designated as a hedging instrument and 
from derivatives not designated as a hedging instrument. In the presentation within the following table, 
the positive fair values of hedging cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments 
are broken down into currency and interest rate components provided that there is an appropriate un-
derlying hedging strategy.  

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Transactions to hedge against 

currency risk on assets using fair value hedges 2 19

currency risk on liabilities using fair value hedges – –

interest-rate risk using fair value hedges 80 2

of which hedges against interest-rate risk using portfolio fair value hedges 10 2

interest-rate risk using cash flow hedges 10 –

currency risk on future cash flows using cash flow hedges 0 0

Hedging transactions 92 21

Assets arising from derivatives not designated as hedges 114 7

Total 205 28
    

39. Marketable securities 

The marketable securities mainly consisted of fixed-income bonds from public-sector issuers amounting 
to €3,162 million (previous year: €3,505 million) and asset-backed securities from Volkswagen Financial 
Services (UK) Ltd., Milton Keynes, amounting to €560 million (previous year: €513 million). 
Marketable securities amounting to €814 million (previous year: €1,221 million) were pledged as collat-
eral for own liabilities. They are deposited at Deutsche Bundesbank and are furnished as collateral in con-
nection with open market operations. 

The “Marketable securities” balance sheet item also includes series A and C stocks in VISA Inc., USA, in the 
amount of €21 million (previous year: €11 million). The series A stocks are classified as equity instru-
ments and are measured through the OCI reserve; the series C stocks are classified as debt instruments 
and are measured through profit or loss. 
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40. Equity-accounted investments and miscellaneous financial assets 

Mio. € 

Equity-
accounted

investments
Miscellaneous

financial assets Total
       

Gross carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 49 3 51

Foreign exchange differences – – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – –3,392 –3,392

Additions – 3,392 3,392

Reclassifications – – –

Held for sale (IFRS 5) –48 – –48

Disposals – – –

Changes/remeasurements recognized in profit or loss –1 – –1

Dividends – – –

Other changes recognized in other comprehensive income – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 0 3 3

Impairment losses as of Jan. 1, 2024 19 3 22

Foreign exchange differences – – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – – –

Additions 3 – 3

Reclassifications – – –

Held for sale (IFRS 5) –23 – –23

Disposals – – –

Reversal of impairment losses – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 – 3 3

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2024 0 0 0

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 29 0 29
 
    
 



Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

126 

€ million 

Equity-
accounted

investments
Miscellaneous

financial assets Total
       

Gross carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2023 330 14 344

Foreign exchange differences – – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – – –

Additions – 2 2

Reclassifications – – –

Held for sale (IFRS 5) –311 –13 –325

Disposals – – –

Changes/remeasurements recognized in profit or loss 30 – 30

Dividends – – –

Other changes recognized in other comprehensive income – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 49 3 51

Impairment losses as of Jan. 1, 2023 85 11 96

Foreign exchange differences – – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – – –

Additions 4 2 6

Reclassifications – – –

Held for sale (IFRS 5) –41 –10 –51

Disposals – – –

Reversal of impairment losses –28 – –28

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 19 3 22

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2023 29 0 29

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2023 245 3 248
 
    

 
The reclassifications shown in the “Assets held for sale (IFRS 5)” lines are the result of the reclassification 
of assets on the balance sheet to Assets held for sale (IFRS 5). 

The presentation of equity-accounted investments refers in full to joint ventures. 
Impairment losses in an amount of €3 million (previous year: €4 million) were recognized for equity-

accounted joint ventures in the reporting year. 
The amount of the impairment losses equated to the amount by which the determined recoverable 

amount fell below the carrying amount before recognition of the impairment losses. 
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41. Intangible assets 

Mio. € 

Internally
generated

software
Brand name,

customer base Goodwill

Other
intangible

assets Total
           

Cost as of Jan 1, 2024 – 19 – 41 60

Foreign exchange differences – 0 – 0 1

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – 37 37

Additions – – – 2 2

Reclassifications – – – – –

Disposals – 17 – 5 22

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 – 3 – 75 78

Amortization and impairment losses as of Jan. 1, 2024 – 19 – 37 57

Foreign exchange differences – 0 – 0 1

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – 37 37

Additions to cumulative amortization – – – 2 2

Additions to cumulative impairment losses – – – – –

Reclassifications – – – – –

Disposals – 17 – 3 21

Reversal of impairment losses – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 – 3 – 73 75

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2024 – – – 3 3

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 – – – 4 4
    

€ million 

Internally
generated

software
Brand name,

customer base Goodwill

Other
intangible

assets Total
           

Cost as of Jan 1, 2023 – 18 – 38 56

Foreign exchange differences – 1 – 2 3

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – 0 0

Additions – – – 1 1

Reclassifications – – – – –

Disposals – – – 0 0

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 – 19 – 41 60

Amortization and impairment losses as of Jan. 1, 2023 – 18 – 33 52

Foreign exchange differences – 1 – 2 3

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – – –

Additions to cumulative amortization – – – 2 2

Additions to cumulative impairment losses – – – – –

Reclassifications – – – – –

Disposals – – – – –

Reversal of impairment losses – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 – 19 – 37 57

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2023 – – – 4 4

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2023 – – – 4 4
    

As of the reporting date, there were no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (previous year:  
€1 million).
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42. Property and equipment 

Mio. € 
Land and
buildings

Operating and
office equipment Total

       

Cost as of Jan 1, 2024 35 19 54

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 0

Changes in basis of consolidation 3 1 4

Additions 1 3 4

Reclassifications 0 – 0

Disposals – 2 2

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 39 21 60

Depreciation and impairment losses as of Jan. 1, 2024 19 16 35

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 0

Changes in basis of consolidation 3 1 4

Additions to cumulative depreciation 3 3 6

Additions to cumulative impairment losses – – –

Reclassifications – – –

Disposals – 2 2

Reversal of impairment losses – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 25 18 43

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2024 13 3 17

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 15 3 18
    

Mio. € 
Land and
buildings

Operating and
office equipment Total

       

Cost as of Jan 1, 2023 36 18 54

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 1

Changes in basis of consolidation – – –

Additions 0 3 3

Reclassifications – – –

Disposals 2 2 4

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 35 19 54

Depreciation and impairment losses as of Jan. 1, 2023 17 14 32

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 0

Changes in basis of consolidation – – –

Additions to cumulative depreciation 3 3 6

Additions to cumulative impairment losses – – –

Reclassifications – – –

Disposals 1 2 3

Reversal of impairment losses – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 19 16 35

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2023 15 3 18

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2023 19 3 23
 
 

Rights of use on land, land rights and buildings incl. buildings on third party land included assets under 
construction with a carrying amount of €0 million. 



Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

129 

43. Investment property 

The following table shows the changes in investment property assets: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Cost as of January 1 3 3

Foreign exchange differences – –

Changes in basis of consolidation 30 –

Additions 0 –

Reclassifications – –

Disposals – –

Balance as of December 31 33 3

Depreciation and impairment losses as of January 1 3 2

Foreign exchange differences – –

Changes in basis of consolidation 13 –

Additions to cumulative depreciation 0 0

Additions to cumulative impairment losses – –

Reclassifications – –

Disposals – –

Reversal of impairment losses – –

Balance as of December 31 16 3

Net carrying amount as of December 31 17 0

Net carrying amount as of January 1 0 0
 

 
The fair value of investment property amounts to €18 million (previous year: €0 million). The fair value 
is determined using an income approach based on internal calculations (Level 3 of the fair value hierar-
chy). The main inputs for the calculation are future rental income and the cost of capital. 

Operating expenses incurred for the maintenance of investment property came to €1 million in the 
reporting year, after an immaterial amount in the previous year. 

The “Income from leasing transactions” line item in the income statement included €1 million in 
rental income from investment property in the reporting year. In the previous year there was no material 
rental income from investment property. 
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44. Deferred tax assets 

The breakdown of the deferred tax assets is as follows: 
 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024
Dec. 31, 2023

adjusted1

     

Deferred tax assets 10,012 3,974

Tax loss carryforwards, net of valuation allowances 0 0

Amount before offset 10,012 3,974

of which noncurrent 4,927 701

Offset (with deferred tax liabilities) –9,286 –3,073

Total 726 901

1 Prior-year adjustments according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
    

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized in connection with the following balance sheet items: 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024
Dec. 31, 2023

adjusted1

     

Loans, receivables and other assets 240 645

Marketable securities and cash 2,143 2,655

Intangible assets/property and equipment 411 23

Assets leased out 6,858 635

Liabilities and provisions 405 17

Valuation allowances for deferred assets on temporary differences –44 –

Total 10,012 3,974

1 Prior-year adjustments according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
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45. Other assets 

The details of other assets are as follows: 
 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Vehicles returned for disposal 1,119 134

Restricted cash 613 167

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 121 16

Other tax assets 531 136

Assets from insurance contracts – –

Miscellaneous 456 175

Total 2,840 627
    

 
Restricted cash essentially consists of cash collateral of consolidated ABS special purpose entities fur-
nished in the context of ABS transactions. 

46. Noncurrent assets 

€ million  Dec. 31, 2024
of which

noncurrent Dec. 31, 2023
of which

noncurrent
         

Cash reserve  12,444 – 11,974 –

Loans to and receivables from banks  594 – 272 –

Loans to and receivables from customers  83,311 43,247 50,464 24,641

Value adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges  83 31 30 17

Derivative financial instruments  205 159 28 8

Marketable securities  3,743 – 4,029 –

Equity-accounted joint ventures  – – 29 29

Miscellaneous financial assets  0 0 0 0

Intangible assets  3 3 4 4

Property and equipment  17 17 18 18

Assets leased out  36,548 33,744 3,424 3,424

Investment property  17 17 0 0

Current tax assets  33 – 7 –

Other assets  2,840 373 627 1

Assets held for sale (IFRS 5)  25 – 273 273

Total  139,862 77,591 71,180 28,415
 

47. Liabilities to banks and customers 

In the previous year, the liabilities to banks had mainly comprised liabilities to Deutsche Bundesbank 
from targeted longer-term refinancing operations and arising from the tender transactions under the 
TLTRO III program, which have an initial term of three years. The liabilities were repaid in full in the fiscal 
year. The total amount drawn down as of the reporting date was €0.00 million (previous year: €7,000 
million). 
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The liabilities to customers include customer deposits of €56,545 million (previous year: €38,178 mil-
lion). They comprise call deposits and time deposits, as well as various savings bonds and savings plans. 
In terms of maturity, the “Direkt-Sparplan” and “Plus Sparbrief” savings products currently offer the 
longest investment horizon. The maximum maturity is ten years. 
 
The following table shows the changes in the contractual liabilities from service contracts that are in-
cluded in the liabilities to customers: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Contractual liabilities as of January 1 49 62

Additions and disposals 184 –13

Changes in consolidated Group 1,530 –

Foreign exchange differences – –

Contractual liabilities as of December 31 1,763 49
 

 
It is expected that income will be realized under contractual liabilities in the amount of €755 million 
(previous year: €16 million) in the next fiscal year and in the amount of €344 million (previous year: €33 
million) in the subsequent fiscal years. 

48. Notes, commercial paper issued 

This item comprises bonds and commercial paper. Notes and commercial paper issued have risen sharply 
due to the inclusion of Volkswagen Leasing Group in the basis of consolidation. 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Bonds issued 30,335 5,173

Commercial paper issued – –

Total 30,335 5,173
    
 

49. Derivative financial instruments 

This balance sheet item comprises the negative fair values from derivatives designated as a hedging in-
strument and from derivatives not designated as a hedging instrument. In the following table, the nega-
tive fair values of hedging cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments are bro-
ken down into currency and interest rate components provided that there is an appropriate underlying 
hedging strategy. 
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€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Transactions to hedge against 

currency risk on assets using fair value hedges 11 16

currency risk on liabilities using fair value hedges – –

interestrate risk using fair value hedges 315 6

of which hedges against interest-rate risk using portfolio fair value hedges 71 –

interestrate risk using cash flow hedges 3 –

currency risk on future cash flows using cash flow hedges 17 27

Hedging transactions 347 49

Liabilities arising from derivatives not designated as hedges 80 3

Total 427 52
 
    

50. Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 

 
The following amounts have been recognized in the balance sheet for benefit commitments: 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Present value of funded obligations 218 83

Fair value of plan assets 188 69

Funded status (net) 30 14

Present value of unfunded obligations 126 88

Amount not recognized as an asset because of the ceiling in IAS 19 – –

Net liability recognized in the balance sheet 156 103

of which provisions for pensions 156 103

of which other assets – –
    
 

Key pension arrangements in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
For the period after the active working life of employees, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group offers its 
employees benefits under occupational pension arrangements. Most of the arrangements in the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are pension plans for employees in Germany classified as defined benefit 
plans under IAS 19. The majority of these obligations are funded by provisions recognized in the balance 
sheet. These plans are now closed for new members. To reduce the risks associated with defined benefit 
plans, in particular longevity, salary increases and inflation, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has fur-
ther defined benefit plans in which the benefits are funded by appropriate external plan assets. The risks 
referred to above have been significantly reduced in these pension plans.  
The main pension commitments are described below. 

German pension plans funded solely by provisions 
The pension plans funded solely by recognized provisions comprise both defined contribution plans 
with guarantees and final salary plans. For defined contribution plans, an annual pension expense de-
pendent on income and status is converted into a lifelong pension entitlement using annuity factors 
(guaranteed modular pension entitlements). The annuity factors include a guaranteed rate of interest. 
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The modular pension entitlements earned annually are added together at retirement. For final salary 
plans, the underlying salary is multiplied at retirement by a percentage that depends on the years of ser-
vice up to the retirement date. The present value of the guaranteed obligation rises as interest rates fall 
and is therefore exposed to interest rate risk. The pension system provides for lifelong pension payments. 
The companies therefore bear the longevity risk. This is accounted for by calculating the annuity factors 
and the present value of the guaranteed obligation using the latest generational mortality tables – the 
“Heubeck 2018 G” mortality tables – which already reflect future increases in life expectancy. To reduce 
the inflation risk from adjusting the regular pension payments by the rate of inflation, a pension adjust-
ment that is not indexed to inflation was introduced for pension plans where this is permitted by law. 

German pension plans funded by external plan assets 
The pension plans funded by external plan assets are defined contribution plans with guarantees. In this 
case, an annual pension expense dependent on income and status is either converted into a lifelong pen-
sion entitlement using annuity factors (guaranteed modular pension entitlement) or paid out in a single 
lump sum or in installments. In some cases, employees also have the opportunity to provide for their 
own retirement through deferred compensation. The annuity factors include a guaranteed rate of inter-
est. The modular pension entitlements earned annually are added together at retirement. The pension 
expense is contributed on an ongoing basis to a separate pool of assets that is administered inde-
pendently of the Bank in trust and invested in the capital markets. If the plan assets exceed the present 
value of the obligations calculated using the guaranteed rate of interest, surpluses are allocated (modular 
pension bonuses). As the assets administered in the trust meet the IAS 19 criteria for classification as 
plan assets, they are offset against the obligations. 

The amount of the pension assets is exposed to general market risk. The investment strategy and its 
implementation are therefore continuously monitored by the trusts’ governing bodies, on which the 
companies are also represented. For example, investment policies are stipulated in investment guidelines 
with the aim of limiting market risk and its impact on plan assets. In addition, asset-liability manage-
ment analyses are conducted at regular intervals so as to ensure that investments are in line with the 
obligations that need to be covered. The pension assets are currently invested primarily in fixed-income 
or equity funds. Interest rates and equity prices therefore present the main risks. To mitigate market risk, 
the pension system also provides for funds to be set aside in an equalization reserve before any surplus 
is allocated. 

The present value of the obligation is reported as the maximum of the present value of the guaranteed 
obligation and of the plan assets. If the value of the plan assets falls below the present value of the guar-
anteed obligation, a provision must be recognized for the difference. The present value of the guaranteed 
obligation rises as interest rates fall and is therefore exposed to interest rate risk.  

In the case of lifelong pension payments, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group bears the longevity risk. 
This is accounted for by calculating the annuity factors and the present value of the guaranteed obliga-
tion using the latest generational mortality tables – the “Heubeck 2018 G” mortality tables – which al-
ready reflect future increases in life expectancy. In addition, independent actuaries carry out annual risk 
monitoring as part of the review of the assets administered by the trusts. 

To reduce the inflation risk from adjusting the regular pension payments by the rate of inflation, a 
pension adjustment that is not indexed to inflation was introduced for pension plans where this is per-
mitted by law. 
  



Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

135 

The calculation of the present value of the defined benefit obligations was based on the following actu-
arial assumptions: 

 

  G E RM A N Y   I N T E R N A T I O N A L 

Percent  Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
         

Discount rate  3.40 3.30 3,00-5,50 3,20-4,50

Pay trend  2.15 3.47 0,00-3,00 0,00-2,10

Pension trend  2.00 2.20 0,00-2,80 0,00-2,80

Staff turnover rate  1.21 1.10 0,00-4,00 0,00-3,60
    

 
These assumptions are averages that were weighted using the present value of the defined benefit obli-
gation. 

With regard to life expectancy, the latest mortality tables in every country are taken into account. For 
example, in Germany calculations are based on the “2018 G” mortality tables developed by Professor Dr. 
Klaus Heubeck. The discount rates are generally determined to reflect the yields on prime-rated corporate 
bonds with matching maturities and currencies. The iBoxx AA 10+ Corporates index was taken as the 
basis for the obligations of German Group companies. Similar indices were used for foreign pension ob-
ligations.  

The pay trends cover expected wage and salary trends, which also include increases attributable to 
career development. The pension trends either reflect the contractually guaranteed pension adjustments 
or are based on the rules on pension adjustments in force in each country. The employee turnover rates 
are based on past experience and future expectations. 

The following table shows changes in the net defined benefit liability recognized in the balance sheet: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Net liability recognized in the balance sheet as of January 1 103 92

Change due to personnel transfer as of July 1, 2024 51 –

Current service cost 11 6

Net interest expense 4 3

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) arising from changes in demographic assumptions 0 0

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) arising from changes in financial assumptions –13 11

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) arising from experience adjustments 15 –1

Income/expenses from plan assets not included in interest income 3 3

Change in amount not recognized as an asset because of the ceiling in IAS 19 – –

Employer contributions to plan assets 9 5

Employee contributions to plan assets – –

Pension payments from company assets 4 3

Past service cost (including plan curtailments) – 0

Gains (–) or losses (+) arising from plan settlements – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – –

Other changes –1 2

Foreign exchange differences from foreign plans 0 0

Net liability recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31 155 103
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Various transfers of personnel took place due to the restructuring as of July 1, 2024 between Volkswagen 
Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH and the Volkswagen Bank GmbH subsidiary, Volkswagen 
Leasing GmbH. In the process, provisions for defined benefit plans were transferred from the companies 
transferring personnel to the companies absorbing personnel. The transfers resulted, among other 
things, in the significant changes in the liability recognized in the balance sheet compared to the previ-
ous year, as well as significant changes in the information below on the defined benefit obligations. 
 
The change in the present value of the defined benefit obligations is attributable to the following factors: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Present value of obligations as of January 1 172 147

Change due to personnel transfer as of July 1, 2024 151 –

Current service cost 11 6

Interest cost (unwinding of discount on obligations) 8 5

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) arising from changes in demographic assumptions 0 0

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) arising from changes in financial assumptions –13 11

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) arising from experience adjustments 15 –1

Employee contributions to plan assets – –

Pension payments from company assets 4 3

Pension payments from plan assets 1 0

Past service cost (including plan curtailments) – 0

Gains (–) or losses (+) arising from plan settlements – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – –

Other changes 2 7

Foreign exchange differences from foreign plans 0 0

Present value of obligations as of December 31 343 172
    

 
Changes in the relevant actuarial assumptions would have had the following effects on the defined ben-
efit obligation: 

 

 D E C .  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4   D E C .  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3  

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation if € million

Change in
percent  € million

Change in
percent

           

Discount rate is 0.5 percentage points higher 311 –9.48  157 –8.42

 is 0.5 percentage points lower 381 11.01  188 9.64

Pension trend is 0.5 percentage points higher 355 3.21  178 3.66

 is 0.5 percentage points lower 334 –2.90  166 –3.35

Pay trend is 0.5 percentage points higher 345 0.25  172 0.41

 is 0.5 percentage points lower 343 –0.20  171 –0.38

Longevity increases by one year 352 2.45  176 2.79
    

 
The sensitivity analysis shown above considers the change in one assumption at a time, leaving the other 
assumptions unchanged versus the original calculation. In other words, any correlation effects between 
the individual assumptions are ignored. 
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To examine the sensitivity of the present value of the defined benefit obligation to a change in assumed 
longevity, the estimates of mortality were reduced as part of a comparative calculation by a measure that 
was roughly equivalent to an increase in life expectancy of one year. 
The average duration of the defined benefit obligation weighted by the present value of the defined ben-
efit obligation (Macaulay duration) is 21 years (previous year: 19 years). 

The following table shows a breakdown of the present value of the defined benefit obligation by category 
of plan member: 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Active members with pension entitlements 284 118

Members with vested entitlements who have left the Bank 8 9

Retirees 51 45

Total 344 172
    

 
The maturity profile of payments attributable to the defined benefit obligation is presented in the fol-
lowing table, which classifies the present value of the obligation by the maturity of the underlying pay-
ments: 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Payments due within the next fiscal year 4 4

Payments due between two and five years 24 18

Payments due in more than five years 315 150

Total 344 172
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Changes in plan assets are shown in the following table: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 69 55

Change due to personnel transfer as of July 1, 2024 101 –

Interest income on plan assets determined using the discount rate 4 2

Income/expenses from plan assets not included in interest income 3 3

Employer contributions to plan assets 9 5

Employee contributions to plan assets – –

Pension payments from plan assets 1 0

Gains (+) or losses (–) arising from plan settlements – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – –

Other changes 3 5

Foreign exchange differences from foreign plans 0 0

Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 188 69
    

 
The investment of the plan assets to cover future pension obligations led to a result of €7 million (previ-
ous year: €5 million). 

Employer contributions to plan assets are expected to amount to €12 million (previous year: €5 mil-
lion) in the next fiscal year. 

Plan assets are invested in the following asset classes: 
 

 D E C .  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  D E C .  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3  

€ million 

Quoted
prices in

active markets

No quoted
prices in

active markets Total

Quoted
prices in

active markets

No quoted
prices in

active markets Total
             

Cash and cash equivalents 5 – 5 2 – 2

Equity instruments – – – – – –

Debt instruments 2 – 2 – – –

Direct investments in real estate – – – – – –

Derivatives –1 –1 –2 0 0 0

Equity funds 77 – 77 26 – 26

Bond funds 84 – 84 33 – 33

Real estate funds 5 – 5 1 – 1

Other funds 15 – 15 5 – 5

Asset-backed securities – – – – – –

Structured debt – – – – – –

Other 2 0 2 2 0 2
    

 
Of the total plan assets, 48% (previous year: 49%) are invested in German assets, 13% (previous year: 13%) 
in other European assets and 40% (previous year: 38%) in assets in other regions. 
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The following amounts have been recognized in the income statement: 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Current service cost 11 6

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 4 3

Past service cost (including plan curtailments) 0 0

Gains (–) or losses (+) arising from plan settlements – –

Net income (–) and expenses (+) recognized in profit or loss 15 9
    
 

51. Other provisions 

In the reporting period, other provisions were broken down into provisions for employee expenses, pro-
visions for litigation and legal risks, and miscellaneous provisions. 
 
The following table shows the changes in other provisions, including maturities: 

 

Mio. €  

Employee
expenses
adjusted1

Litigation
and legal risks

Miscellaneous
provisions

Total
adjusted1

         

Balance as of Jan. 1,2023 before adjustment  39 32 8 80

Changes due to the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets1  12 – – 12

Balance as of Jan. 1,2023 adjusted  51 32 8 91

Foreign exchange differences  0 – 0 0

Changes in basis of consolidation  0 – 0 0

Utilization1  24 2 7 33

Additions/new provisions1  27 14 10 51

Unwinding of discount/effect of change in discount rate1  2 0 – 2

Reversals  0 16 1 17

Balance as of Dec. 31, 20231  55 28 10 93

of which current1  23 20 9 52

of which noncurrent1  32 8 1 40

Balance as of Jan. 1,2024  55 28 10 93

Foreign exchange differences  0 – 0 0

Changes in basis of consolidation  9 49 34 91

Change due to personnel transfer as of July 1, 2024  44 0 0 44

Utilization  28 13 8 49

Additions/new provisions  27 2 19 47

Unwinding of discount/effect of change in discount rate  2 0 – 2

Reversals  28 21 6 55

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024  80 45 48 173

of which current  38 8 40 86

of which noncurrent  42 37 8 88

1 Prior-year adjustments according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
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Other provisions for employee expenses are recognized primarily for annually recurring bonuses such 
as long-term-service awards and other employee expenses.  

The provisions for litigation and legal risks reflect the risks identified as of the reporting date in rela-
tion to utilization and legal expenses arising from the latest decisions by the courts and from ongoing 
civil proceedings involving dealers and other customers. They relate primarily to proceedings in relation 
to design aspects of loan agreements with customers that may obstruct the processing of statutory can-
celation periods. For these provisions and for provisions for customer financing brokerage claims, 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH invokes the safeguard clause within the meaning of IAS 37.92 and opts not to 
disclose in detail any amounts, descriptions, or probability assumptions. As of the reporting date, provi-
sions for litigation and legal risks amounted to €45 million (previous year: €28 million). 

The timing of the cash outflows in connection with other provisions is expected to be as follows: 49% in 
the next year, 46% in the years 2026 to 2029 and 5% thereafter. 

52. Deferred tax liabilities 

The breakdown of the deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 
 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Deferred tax liabilities 11,113 4,245

of which non-current assets and liabilities 6,222 1,472

Offset (with deferred tax assets) –9,286 –3,073

Total 1,827 1,171
    

 
Deferred tax liabilities have been recognized in connection with the following balance sheet items: 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Loans, receivables and other assets 6,672 1,306

Marketable securities and cash –5 31

Intangible assets/property and equipment 1 1

Assets leased out 785 34

Liabilities and provisions 3,660 2,873

Total 11,113 4,245
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53. Other liabilities 

The details of other liabilities are as follows: 
 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,387 118

Other tax liabilities 218 93

Social security and payroll liabilities 120 60

Miscellaneous 150 116

Total 1,874 386
    
 

54. Subordinated capital 

The breakdown of subordinated capital is as follows: 
 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Subordinated liabilities 180 10

of which: to other Volkswagen Group companies – –

Total 180 10
    

 
The Bank has not entered into any agreement to convert these liabilities into equity or another form of 
debt, nor is it planning any such conversion. 

55. Noncurrent liabilities 

€ million  Dec. 31, 2024
of which

noncurrent Dec. 31, 2023
of which 

noncurrent
         

Liabilities to banks  313 180 7,462 89

Liabilities to customers  83,367 15,309 46,221 3,172

Notes, commercial paper issued  30,335 23,832 5,173 3,385

Derivative financial instruments  427 271 52 14

Current tax liabilities  589 – 378 –

Other liabilities  1,874 843 386 54

Subordinated capital  180 102 10 –

Total  117,085 40,537 59,682 6,714
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56. Equity 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s subscribed capital amounted to €318 million and was fully paid up. Until June 
30, 2024, the sole shareholder was Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg. Due to the fact that the shares in 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH were transferred to Volkswagen Financial Services AG as part of the restructur-
ing, Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Braunschweig, became the sole shareholder as of July 1, 2024. 
There are no preferential rights or restrictions in connection with the subscribed capital. 

The capital contributions made by the sole shareholder are reported under the capital reserves of 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. In fiscal year 2024, capital reserves stood unchanged at €12,272 million. 

Retained earnings comprise undistributed profits from prior years, including those of Volkswagen 
Leasing GmbH, which was absorbed into the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group as part of the restructuring. 
They relate primarily to other revenue reserves.  

Regardless of the transfer to the current sole shareholder Volkswagen Financial Services AG, the profit-
and-loss transfer agreement with the previous sole shareholder Volkswagen AG continues to apply.  

The HGB profit of €582 million (previous year: €621 million) will be transferred in accordance with 
the existing profit-and-loss transfer agreement to Volkswagen AG. 

The accumulated deferred taxes in equity amounted to €40 million (previous year: €69 million). 
In the reporting period significant changes to equity occurred from a contribution in kind made by the 
previous shareholder, Volkswagen AG. The contribution in kind resulted from the spin-off of Volkswagen 
Leasing GmbH by Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG under the predecessor accounting method. 
At Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the contribution in kind reported in accordance with the HGB is recognized 
in the capital reserves. Equity in accordance with IFRSs of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH that was addition-
ally transferred under the predecessor accounting method at consolidated carrying amounts was recog-
nized in retained earnings and miscellaneous other reserves. The total of contributions in kind in the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group as of July 1, 2024 is €10,137 million.  

Furthermore, a contribution in kind of €94 million was made to retained earnings by the shareholder 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG from positive differences and a distribution in kind of €7 million made 
from retained earnings to the shareholder Volkswagen Financial Services AG from negative differences 
in the context of the transfer of claims by employees (see note (16) Provisions for pensions and other 
post-employment benefits). 

57. Capital management 

Volkswagen Leasing GmbH become part of the own funds reporting of Volkswagen Bank GmbH with the 
restructuring under company law as of July 1, 2024. In this context, capital is defined as equity in accord-
ance with the IFRSs. The aim of capital management in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is to support 
the Bank’s credit rating by ensuring that the Group has adequate capital backing, to obtain capital for the 
growth planned for the next few years and to satisfy regulatory capital requirements. 

Regulatory capital is different from equity as defined by the IFRSs (for the components thereof, see 
the Statement of Changes in Equity). Regulatory capital consists of capital components referred to as 
Common Equity Tier (CET) 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital net of certain deductions 
and adjustments and must meet specific requirements defined by law. 

Corporate actions implemented by the previous and current parent company of Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH generally have an impact on both IFRS equity and regulatory capital. Corporate actions aimed at 
increasing equity were carried out in the reporting year. Regulatory capital increased by €8,749 million 
and equity in accordance with the IFRSs by €10,231 million, due in particular to the inclusion of 
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Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the regulatory basis of consolidation and in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group. 

Under the regulatory provisions – the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), Kreditwesengesetz 
(KWG – German Banking Act) and Solvabilitätsverordnung (SolvV – German Solvency Regulation) – the 
banking supervisor generally assumes that capital adequacy requirements are satisfied if the entity sub-
ject to supervision has a CET1 capital ratio of at least 4.5%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 6.0% and a total 
capital ratio of at least 8.0%. Furthermore, the capital buffer requirements and the capital requirements 
from the SREP decision must be fulfilled. In calculating these capital ratios, regulatory capital is measured 
against the own funds requirements determined in accordance with statutory provisions for counter-
party risk, operational risk, market risk and credit value adjustments (CVAs). To ensure compliance with 
these requirements at all times, the Group has established a planning procedure that is integrated into 
the internal reporting system. In this procedure, the capital requirement is continuously determined 
based on actual and forecast business trends. This ensured that the minimum regulatory capital require-
ments continued to be satisfied at all times in the reporting period. 

The following IFRS-based amounts and ratios were determined for Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group under 
the regulatory requirements: 
 

 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Total risk exposure amount (€ million)1,3 114,216 54,707

of which risk-weighted exposure amounts for credit risk3 107,439 50,545

of which own funds requirements for market risk * 12,5 352 560

of which own funds requirements for operational risk * 12.5 5,258 3,554

of which own funds requirements for credit valuation adjustments * 12.5 1,167 48

Own funds (€ million) 18,350 9,601

of which Common Equity Tier 1 capital 18,350 9,600

of which Additional Tier 1 capital – –

of which Tier 2 capital – 1

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio (percent)2 16.1 17.5

Tier 1 capital ratio (percent)2 16.1 17.5

Total capital ratio (percent)2,3 16.1 17.6

1 According to Article 92(3) of the CRR 
2 According to Article 92(1) of the CRR 
3 Minor correction report in calendar year 2024 of approx. €15 million in total risk exposure. The key figures as of the reporting date of December 31, 2023 are not comparable on 

account of the reorganization under company law as of July 1, 2024. 
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Financial Instrument Disclosures 

58. Carrying amounts, gains or losses and income or expenses in respect of financial instruments, 
by measurement category 

The carrying amounts of financial instruments (excluding derivatives designated as a hedging instru-
ment) broken down by IFRS 9 measurement category are shown in the following table: 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 70,947 59,694

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 678 524

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments) 3,162 3,505

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity instruments) 16 7

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 113,119 59,289

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 80 3
     

 
Receivables from leasing transactions amounting to €26,290 million (previous year: €3,390 million) and 
the associated value adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges of receivables from finance leases amount-
ing to €67 million and lease liabilities (as a lessee) amounting to €19 million (previous year: €14 million) 
are not allocated to any measurement class as specified in IFRS 9. 
 
The net gains or losses and income or expenses in respect of financial instruments (excluding derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments) broken down by measurement category, as specified in IFRS 9, are 
shown in the following table: 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 3,335 2,275

Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 42 6

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost –2,877 –1,101

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments) 27 11

Total 527 1,192
     

 
The net gain/loss from financial investments in equity instruments is reported in the statement of com-
prehensive income under fair value valuation of equity instruments that will not be reclassified to profit 
or loss, net of tax. 
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The net gains/losses and income/expenses are determined as follows: 
 

Measurement category Measurement method 
   

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

Interest income using the effective interest method and expenses/income 
from the recognition of valuation allowances in accordance with IFRS 9 
and expenses/income from currency translation 

Financial instruments measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 

Fair value in accordance with IFRS 9 in conjunction with IFRS 13, including 
interest and expenses/income from currency translation 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 
Interest expense using the effective interest method in accordance with 
IFRS 9, and expenses/income from currency translation 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (debt instruments) 

Fair value valuation in accordance with IFRS 9 in conjunction with IFRS 13, 
interest income using the effective interest method and expenses/income 
from the recognition of valuation allowances in accordance with IFRS 9 
and expenses/income from currency translation 

     

 
The interest income from financial assets measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other com-
prehensive income included in interest income from lending transactions and marketable securities is 
calculated using the effective interest method and amounted to €3,535 million (previous year: €2,465 
million). 

The interest expenses in an amount of €2,926 million (previous year: €1,240 million) related to finan-
cial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Expenses that arise from the direct write-off of uncollectible financial assets previously measured at 
amortized cost are reported and explained as a component of the “Provision for credit risks” line item in 
the income statement. Income recovered in respect of financial assets already written off is also reported 
and explained as a component of the “Provision for credit risks” line item in the income statement. After 
recognizing the income and expenses referred to above, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group did not for 
the most part generate or incur any gains, losses, income or expenses from the derecognition of financial 
assets measured at amortized cost that resulted from the elimination of a contractual right to cash flows 
or from a transfer subject to the fulfillment of the derecognition conditions. 

Furthermore, the Group did not generate or incur any material gains, losses, income or expenses from 
the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost as a consequence of substantial con-
tractual modifications (see disclosures on the provision for the credit risks line item in the income state-
ment). 

59. Classes of financial instruments 

Financial instruments are divided into the following classes in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group: 
 
 Measured at fair value 
 Measured at amortized cost 
 Derivative financial instruments designated as hedges 
 Not allocated to any measurement category 
 Credit commitments and financial guarantees (off-balance-sheet) 
 
The table below shows a reconciliation between the balance sheet items in which financial instruments 
are reported and the classes of financial instruments listed above. This includes financial instruments 
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that are assigned to the IFRS 9 measurement categories and financial instruments that are not assigned 
to any IFRS 9 measurement category at all (such as finance lease receivables) and are therefore reported 
under the “Not allocated to any measurement category” class. The assets and liabilities not constituting 
financial instruments that are contained in the balance sheet items are included in the “Not allocated to 
any class of financial instruments” column so that the reconciliation is complete.  

Loans to and receivables from customers in the “Total loans to and receivables from customers” bal-
ance sheet item are reconciled to the “Measured at amortized cost” and “Not allocated to any measure-
ment category” classes. The “Not allocated to any measurement category” class consists of the receivables 
from customers attributable to the leasing business.  

Loans/receivables and liabilities designated as hedges with derivative financial instruments are in-
cluded in the class “Measured at amortized cost”.  

Within Miscellaneous financial assets, subsidiaries and joint ventures that are not consolidated for 
reasons of materiality are not deemed financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9 and therefore do 
not fall within the scope of IFRS 7. For the purposes of reconciling the balance sheet item, they are shown 
in the “Not allocated to any class of financial instruments” category. Equity investments forming part of 
miscellaneous financial assets are reported as financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9 in the class 
“Measured at fair value”. 

The “Current tax assets” and “Current tax liabilities” balance sheet line items contain assets and lia-
bilities arising from taxes under civil law due to or from entities in the Volkswagen Group. These receiv-
ables from and liabilities to Volkswagen Group companies are classified as financial instruments in the 
class “Measured at amortized cost”. “Current tax assets” and “Current tax liabilities” relating to the tax 
authorities do not constitute financial instruments, as a result of which they are shown in the “Not allo-
cated to any class of financial instruments” category. 

Liabilities to customers are reported in the “Measured at amortized cost” class, but the amount of 
lease liabilities (as a lessee) within the overall figure is shown in the “Not allocated to any measurement 
category” class. The “Not allocated to any class of financial instruments” column consists of advance pay-
ments received from service contracts. 
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The following table shows a reconciliation of the relevant balance sheet items to the classes of financial 
instruments: 
 
  CLASSES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

  
BALANCE SHEET 

ITEM  
MEASURED AT 

AMORTIZED COST  
MEASURED 

AT FAIR VALUE  

DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENTS 
DESIGNATED 
AS HEDGES  

NOT ALLOCATED 
TO ANY 

MEASUREMENT 
CATEGORY  

NOT ALLOCATED 
TO ANY CLASS  
OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMNETS 

€ million  
Dec. 31,

2024
Dec. 31,

2023
Dec. 31,

2024  
Dec. 31,

2023
Dec. 31,

2024
Dec. 31,

2023
Dec. 31,

2024
Dec. 31,

2023
Dec. 31,

2024
Dec. 31,

2023
Dec. 31,

2024
Dec. 31,

2023
                         

Assets   

Cash reserve  12,444 11,974 12,444  11,974 – – – – – – – –

Loans to and receiva-
bles from banks  594 272 594  272 – – – – – – – –

Loans to and receiva-
bles from customers  83,311 50,464 57,022  47,074 – – – – 26,290 3,390 – 0

Value adjustment on 
portfolio fair value 
hedges  83 30 15  30 – – – – 67 – – –

Derivative financial 
instruments  205 28 –  – 114 7 92 21 – – – –

Marketable securities  3,743 4,029 –  – 3,743 4,029 – – – – – –

Equity accounted 
joint ventures  – 29 –  – – – – – – – – 29

Miscellaneous 
financial assets  0 0 –  – 0 0 – – – – 0 0

Current tax assets  33 7 1  4 – – – – – – 32 3

Other assets  2,840 627 871  340 – – – – – – 1,969 287

Held for sale (IFRS 5)  25 273 –  – – – – – – – 25 273

Total  103,278 67,734 70,947  59,694 3,856 4,036 92 21 26,357 3,390 2,026 593

   

Equity and liabilities   

Liabilities to banks  313 7,462 313  7,462 – – – – – – – –

Liabilities to customers  83,367 46,221 81,585  46,158 – – – – 19 14 1,763 49

Notes, commercial 
paper issued  30,335 5,173 30,335  5,173 – – – – – – – –

Derivative financial 
instruments  427 52 –  – 80 3 347 49 – – – –

Current tax liabilities  589 378 547  365 – – – – – – 43 13

Other liabilities  1,874 386 160  120 – – – – – – 1,715 265

Subordinated capital  180 10 180  10 – – – – – – – –

Relevant balance sheet 
items from liabilities  
related to the assets 
held for sale (IFRS 5)  – – –  – – – – – – – – –

Total  117,085 59,682 113,119  59,289 80 3 347 49 19 14 3,520 327
    

 
The “Credit commitments and financial guarantees (off-balance-sheet)” class contains obligations under 
irrevocable credit commitments and financial guarantees amounting to €10,336 million (previous year: 
€10,215 million). 
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60. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

The following table shows the fair values of financial instruments in the classes “measured at amortized 
cost”, “measured at fair value”, “derivative financial instruments designated as hedges” and the fair values 
of receivables from customers relating to the leasing business classified as “not allocated to any meas-
urement category”. The fair value is the amount at which financial assets or liabilities could be sold on 
fair terms as of the reporting date. Where available, Volkswagen Bank GmbH used market prices without 
modification for measuring fair value (e.g., for marketable securities). If no market prices were available, 
the fair values for loans/receivables and liabilities were calculated by discounting using a maturity-
matched discount rate appropriate to the risk. The discount rate was determined by adjusting risk-free 
yield curves, where appropriate, by relevant risk factors and taking into account capital and administra-
tive costs. For reasons of materiality, the fair values of loans/receivables and liabilities due within one 
year were deemed to be the same as the carrying amount.  

The equity investments included in the “Miscellaneous financial assets” balance sheet item are meas-
ured as equity instruments generally at fair value through other comprehensive income in exercise of 
the fair-value-through-OCI option. 
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 F A I R  V A LU E  C A R R Y I NG  A MO U N T   D I F F ER E N C E 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
             

Assets 

Measured at fair value 

Loans to and receivables from banks – – – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers – – – – – –

Derivative financial instruments 114 7 114 7 – –

Marketable securities 3,743 4,029 3,743 4,029 – –

Miscellaneous financial assets 0 0 0 0 – –

Measured at amortized cost 

Cash reserve 12,444 11,974 12,444 11,974 – –

Loans to and receivables from banks 594 272 594 272 – –

Loans to and receivables from customers 57,753 46,751 57,022 47,074 731 –323

Value adjustment on portfolio fair value 
hedges – – 15 30 –15 –30

Current tax assets 1 4 1 4 – –

Other assets 871 340 871 340 – –

Derivative financial instruments  
designated as hedges 92 21 92 21 – –

Assets held for sale (IFRS 5) – – – – – –

Not allocated to any measurement category 

Lease receivables 26,478 3,399 26,290 3,390 189 9

Value adjustment on portfolio fair value 
hedges – – 67 – –67 –

 

Equity and liabilities 

Measured at fair value 

Derivative financial instruments 80 3 80 3 – –

Measured at amortized cost 

Liabilities to banks 332 7,481 313 7,462 19 19

Liabilities to customers 81,712 46,093 81,585 46,158 126 –65

Notes, commercial paper issued 30,716 5,175 30,335 5,173 381 2

Current tax liabilities 547 365 547 365 – –

Other liabilities 160 120 160 120 0 0

Subordinated capital 182 10 180 10 3 –

Derivative financial instruments  
designated as hedges 347 49 347 49 – –
    

 
The fair value of irrevocable credit commitments is affected by changes in the credit quality of the bor-
rower and in the market conditions for the relevant credit product between the commitment date and 
the measurement date. Because of the short period between commitment and drawdown and the varia-
ble interest rate tied to the market interest rate, market conditions only have a very minor impact. The 
fair value of irrevocable credit commitments was therefore largely influenced by the change in the credit 
quality of the borrower, which was determined as part of the process for calculating expected credit losses 
from irrevocable credit commitments and reported as a liability in the amount of €49 million (previous 
year: €72 million) under other liabilities. The fair value of financial guarantees also largely reflects the 
amount of expected credit losses and was reported as a liability in the amount of €3 million (previous 
year: €2 million) under other liabilities. Both expected credit losses are disclosed as a consolidated figure 
in note (64) Default Risk in the “Credit commitments and financial guarantees” class. 
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The fair values of financial instruments were determined on the basis of the following risk-free yield 
curves that are derived from indicators including overnight index swaps, zero-coupon rates and interest 
rate swaps in the relevant currency areas, e.g. overnight index swaps on €STER for EUR: 

 

Percent EUR GBP PLN SEK CZK
           

Interest rate for six months 2.384 4.561 5.928 2.577 3.792

Interest rate for one year 2.123 4.457 5.641 2.423 3.603

Interest rate for five years 2.062 4.049 4.997 2.505 3.663

Interest rate for ten years 2.227 4.071 5.155 2.715 3.808
    
 

61. Measurement levels of financial assets and liabilities 

For the purposes of fair value measurement and the associated disclosures, fair values are classified using 
a three-level measurement hierarchy. The following table shows the hierarchy breakdown for financial 
instruments in the classes “Measured at amortized cost”, “Measured at fair value” and “Derivative finan-
cial instruments designated as hedges”. The individual level of classification is dictated by the extent to 
which the main inputs used in determining the fair value are or are not observable in the market. 

Level 1 is used to report the fair value of financial instruments such as marketable securities or notes 
and commercial paper issued for which a quoted price is directly observable in an active market. 

Level 2 fair values are measured on the basis of inputs observable in the markets, such as exchange 
rates or yield curves, using market-based valuation techniques. Fair values measured in this way include 
those for derivatives and liabilities to customers.  

Level 3 fair values are measured using valuation techniques incorporating at least one input that is 
not directly observable in an active market. The fair values of loans to and receivables from customers 
measured at amortized cost are largely allocated to Level 3 because these fair values are measured using 
inputs that are not observable in active markets (see note 60). Securities from ABS transactions of uncon-
solidated structured entities are also allocated to Level 3. Equity investments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income and using inputs that are not observable in the market are also 
reported under Level 3. The main inputs used to measure this equity investment are strategic planning 
and cost of equity rates. 

As in the previous year, there was no need to reclassify instruments to different hierarchy levels in the 
reporting period. 
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The following table shows the allocation of financial instruments to the three-level fair value hierarchy 
by class: 

 

 L E V E L 1   L E V E L 2   L E V E L 3  

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
             

Assets 

Measured at fair value 

Loans to and receivables from banks – – – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers – – – – – –

Derivative financial instruments – – 114 7 – –

Marketable securities 3,183 3,516 – – 560 513

Miscellaneous financial assets – – – – 0 0

Measured at amortized cost 

Cash reserve 12,444 11,974 – – – –

Loans to and receivables from banks 274 244 320 27 – –

Loans to and receivables from customers 398 – 867 244 56,488 46,507

Current tax assets – – 1 4 – –

Other assets 613 – 259 340 0 0

Derivative financial instruments  
designated as hedges – – 92 21 – –

Total 16,911 15,734 1,652 643 57,047 47,020

 

Equity and liabilities 

Measured at fair value 

Derivative financial instruments – – 80 3 – –

Measured at amortized cost 

Liabilities to banks – – 332 7,481 – –

Liabilities to customers – – 81,713 46,093 – –

Notes, commercial paper issued 25,729 – 4,987 5,175 – –

Current tax liabilities – – 547 365 – –

Other liabilities – – 157 118 3 2

Subordinated capital – – 182 10 – –

Derivative financial instruments  
designated as hedges – – 347 49 – –

Total 25,729 – 88,345 59,295 3 2
    

 
The following table shows the changes in marketable securities and miscellaneous financial assets meas-
ured at fair value and allocated to Level 3. 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Balance as of January 1 513 491

Foreign exchange differences 24 10

Portfolio changes – –

Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0

Measured at fair value through profit or loss 23 12

Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income – –

Balance as of December 31 560 513
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The remeasurements recognized in profit or loss amounting to €23 million (previous year: €12 million) 
have been reported under net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value. As in the pre-
vious year, in the year under review, the net remeasurement loss was attributable entirely to securities 
from ABS transactions of unconsolidated structured entities held as of the reporting date. 

The risk variables relevant to the fair value of marketable securities are risk-adjusted interest rates. A 
sensitivity analysis is used to quantify the impact from changes in risk-adjusted interest rates on profit 
or loss after tax. 

If, as of the December 31, 2024 reporting date, risk-adjusted interest rates had been 100 basis points 
higher, profit after tax would have been €10 million (previous year: €10 million) lower. If risk-adjusted 
interest rates as of December 31, 2024 had been 100 basis points lower, profit after tax would have been 
€10 million (previous year: €10 million) higher. 

62. Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

The table below contains information about the effects of offsetting in the consolidated balance sheet 
and the financial effects of offsetting in the case of instruments that are subject to a legally enforceable 
master netting agreement or a similar arrangement. 

The “Financial instruments” column shows the amounts that are subject to a master netting agree-
ment but have not been netted because the relevant criteria have not been satisfied. Most of the amounts 
involved are positive and negative fair values of derivatives entered into with the same counterparty. 

The “Collateral received/pledged” column shows the cash collateral amounts and collateral in the 
form of financial instruments received or pledged in connection with the total sum of assets and liabili-
ties. It includes such collateral relating to assets and liabilities that have not been offset against each other. 
The collateral amounts primarily consist of pledged cash collateral in connection with ABS transactions 
and marketable securities pledged as collateral. 
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A M O U N T S N OT  OF F S ET   
I N  T HE  B A L A N C E S H E ET  

 

Gross amount 
of recognized financial 

assets/liabilities  

Gross amount of 
recognized financial 

assets/liabilities offset  
in the balance sheet  

Net amount of financial 
assets/liabilities reported 

in the balance sheet  
Financial  

Instruments  
Collateral 

received/pledged  Net amount 

€ million 
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
                         

Assets 

Cash reserve 12,444 11,974 – – 12,444 11,974 – – – – 12,444 11,974

Loans to and receivables 
from banks 594 291 – –20 594 272 – – – – 594 272

Loans to and receivables 
from customers 83,311 50,464 – – 83,311 50,464 – – – – 83,311 50,464

Value adjustment on 
portfolio fair value hedges 83 30 – – 83 30 – – – – 83 30

Derivative financial 
instruments 278 84 –73 –56 205 28 –176 –28 –14 – 15 –

Marketable securities 3,743 4,029 – – 3,743 4,029 – – –549 –513 3,194 3,516

Miscellaneous financial 
assets 0 0 – – 0 0 – – – – 0 0

Current tax assets 1 4 – – 1 4 – – – – 1 4

Other assets 871 340 – – 871 340 – – – – 871 340

Assets held for sale (IFRS 5) – – – – – – – – – – – –

Total 101,325 67,217 –73 –76 101,252 67,141 –176 –28 –563 –513 100,513 66,600

 

Equity and liabilities 

Liabilities to banks 327 7,462 –15 – 313 7,462 – – –814 –1,264 –501 6,198

Liabilities to customers 81,604 46,172 – – 81,604 46,172 – – – – 81,604 46,172

Notes, commercial paper 
issued 30,335 5,173 – – 30,335 5,173 – – –565 –120 29,770 5,053

Derivative financial 
instruments 485 128 –58 –76 427 52 –176 –28 –20 –24 231 0

Income tax liabilities 547 365 – – 547 365 – – – – 547 365

Other liabilities 160 120 – – 160 120 – – – – 160 120

Subordinated capital 180 10 – – 180 10 – – – – 180 10

Total 113,638 59,430 –73 –76 113,565 59,355 –176 –28 –1,399 –1,408 111,990 57,919
    
 

63. ABS transactions 

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses ABS transactions for funding purposes. The related liabilities 
are recognized in the following items: 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Bonds issued 16,606 150

Subordinated liabilities 180 –

Total 16,786 150
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Of the total amount of liabilities arising in connection with ABS transactions, an amount of €7,560 mil-
lion (previous year: €150 million) is accounted for by ABS transactions with financial assets. The corre-
sponding carrying amount of the securitized loans and receivables from retail financing and the leasing 
business amounts to €22,158 million (previous year: €152 million). As of December 31, 2024, the fair 
value of the liabilities amounted to €17,058 million (previous year: €152 million). The fair value of the 
assigned loans/receivables that continued to be recognized amounted to €9,656 million as of December 
31, 2024 (previous year: €146 million).  

Collateral totaling €22,609 million (previous year: €164 million) has been pledged in connection with 
ABS transactions, of which €10,039 million (previous year: €164 million) is accounted for by collateral in 
the form of financial assets. In these arrangements, the expected payments are assigned to special pur-
pose entities and the ownership of the collateral in the financed vehicles is transferred. The assigned 
loans/receivables cannot be assigned again to anyone else or used in any other way as collateral. The 
rights of the bond holders are limited to the assigned loans/receivables, and the payment receipts arising 
from these loans/receivables are used to repay the corresponding liability. 

These asset-backed securities transactions did not lead to a derecognition of the loans or receivables 
from the financing business because the credit risk and timing risk were retained in the Group. The dif-
ference between the amount of the assigned loans/receivables and the associated liabilities results from 
the different terms and conditions and from the proportion of the ABSs held by the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group itself or granted subordinated loans, which reduce the liabilities in the consolidation pro-
cess.  

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is under a contractual obligation to transfer funds in certain cir-
cumstances to the structured entities included in its consolidated financial statements. As the loans/re-
ceivables are transferred to the special purpose entity by way of undisclosed assignment, it is possible 
that the loan/receivable has already been reduced in a legally binding manner at the originator, for ex-
ample if the debtor effectively offsets it against amounts it is owed by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. 
In this case, collateral must be furnished for the resulting compensation claims against the special pur-
pose entity, for example if the rating of the Group company concerned declines to a contractually agreed 
reference value.  

The ABS transactions in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group can be called early if the remaining exposures 
fall below a specified level (so-called clean-up call). 

64. Default risk 

The default risk arising from financial assets is essentially the risk that a counterparty will default. The 
maximum amount of the risk is therefore the amount of the claims against the counterparty concerned 
arising from recognized carrying amounts and irrevocable credit commitments.  

The maximum default risk is reduced by collateral and other credit enhancements. The collateral held 
relates to loans to and receivables from banks and loans and receivables from customers in the classes 
“Measured at amortized cost”, “Measured at fair value” and “Not allocated to any measurement category”, 
and to “Credit commitments and financial guarantees (off-balance-sheet)”. The types of collateral held 
include vehicles, vehicles pledged as collateral, financial guarantees, marketable securities, cash collateral 
and charges on real estate.  

In the case of financial assets with an objective indication of impairment as of the reporting date, the 
collateral reduced the risk by €1,041 million (previous year: €772 million). For financial assets in the 
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“Measured at fair value” class to which the IFRS 9 impairment requirements are not applied, the maxi-
mum credit and default risk was reduced by collateral with a value of €604 million (previous year: €519 
million). 

For financial assets on which impairment losses were recognized during the fiscal year and that are 
subject to enforcement measures, the contractually outstanding amounts total €40 million (previous 
year: €7 million). 

As a consequence of the international distribution of business activities and the resulting diversifica-
tion, there are no material concentrations of default risk in individual counterparties or individual mar-
kets. Sector concentrations in the dealership business are a natural part of the business for a captive fi-
nancial services provider in the automotive industry and these concentrations are individually analyzed 
in the existing risk management processes. The loans and receivables from dealership business subject 
to the inherent sector concentrations described above are included in the loans to and receivables from 
customers arising from dealer financing. 

As derivatives are only entered into with counterparties demonstrating strong credit ratings, and lim-
its are set for each counterparty as part of the risk management system, the actual default risk arising 
from derivative transactions is deemed to be low.  

For qualitative information, please refer to the risk report (Credit Risk section), which forms part of 
the management report. 

PROVISION FOR CREDIT RISKS 
Please refer to the provision for credit risks section in note (24) for disclosures on the accounting policies 
relating to the provision for credit risks. 
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The following tables show a reconciliation of the provision for credit risks relating to financial assets 
measured at amortized cost: 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 Total

             

Balance as of Jan. 1,.2024 132 250 323 28 –12 721

Exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations 0 0 0 0 0 1

Changes in basis of consolidation 4 2 – 12 – 18

Newly extended/purchased financial assets 
(additions) 98 – – 12 9 119

Other changes within a stage 12 –18 7 4 4 9

Transfers to 

Stage 1 6 –46 –9 – – –50

Stage 2 –27 125 –14 – – 84

Stage 3 –6 –46 203 – – 151

Financial instruments derecognized during  
the period (derecognitions –43 –47 –55 –8 –2 –155

Utilizations – – –43 – –3 –46

Model or risk parameter changes – – – 0 – 0

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 176 220 412 48 –4 852
    

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 Total

             

Balance as of Jan. 1,2023 204 227 240 28 –4 695

Exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations 0 0 1 0 0 1

Changes in basis of 
consolidation – – – – – –

Newly extended/purchased financial assets 
(additions) 93 – – 2 –4 91

Other changes within a stage –81 2 51 7 5 –17

Transfers to 

Stage 1 6 –41 –9 – – –44

Stage 2 –25 136 –21 – – 90

Stage 3 –5 –24 158 – – 129

Financial instruments derecognized during  
the period (derecognitions –60 –50 –52 –8 –2 –172

Utilizations – – –44 – –8 –52

Model or risk parameter changes – – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 132 250 323 28 –12 721
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The following tables show a reconciliation of the gross carrying amounts of financial assets measured at 
amortized cost: 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 Total

             

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 48,166 7,155 902 3,942 249 60,415

Exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations 117 33 0 10 0 161

Changes in basis of consolidation 3,252 24 – 474 – 3,750

Changes 7,724 –473 –217 451 –13 7,471

Modifications 1 0 0 – – 1

Transfers to 

Stage 1 1,942 –1,863 –79 – – 0

Stage 2 –4,618 4,662 –44 – – 0

Stage 3 –228 –278 507 – – –

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2024 56,357 9,258 1,069 4,878 236 71,799
 
    

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 Total

             

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2023 38,787 6,821 838 3,248 293 49,986

Exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations 129 12 1 3 0 145

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – – – –

Changes 10,279 –355 –291 691 –44 10,280

Modifications 3 1 0 – – 3

Transfers to 

Stage 1 2,239 –2,203 –36 – – 0

Stage 2 –2,997 3,064 –68 – – 0

Stage 3 –274 –185 459 – – –

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2023 48,166 7,155 902 3,942 249 60,415
    

 
The “Changes” line relates to changes in gross carrying amounts that are not allocated to the other lines 
in the reconciliation of the gross carrying amounts from the beginning to the end of the reporting period 
concerned. These changes include the addition and derecognition of financial assets during the report-
ing period. 
 
The undiscounted expected credit losses on the initial recognition of purchased or originated credit-im-
paired financial assets amounted to €2 million (previous year: €2 million). 
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The following tables show a reconciliation for the provision for credit risks relating to financial assets 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 Total

             

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2024 9 3 – – – 12

Exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations – – – – – –

Changes in basis of consolidation 0 – – – – 0

Newly extended/purchased financial assets 
(additions) 0 – – – – 0

Other changes within a stage 0 0 – – – 0

Transfers to 

Stage 1 2 –2 – – – 0

Stage 2 0 0 – – – 0

Stage 3 – – – – – –

Financial instruments derecognized during  
the period (derecognitions) –2 – – – – –2

Utilizations – – – – – –

Model or risk parameter changes – – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 9 2 – – – 10
     

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 Total

             

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2023 3 4 – – – 8

Exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations – – – – – –

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – – – –

Newly extended/purchased financial assets 
(additions) 3 – – – – 3

Other changes within a stage 3 1 – – – 4

Transfers to 

Stage 1 2 –2 – – – 0

Stage 2 – – – – – 0

Stage 3 – – – – – –

Financial instruments derecognized during  
the period (derecognitions) –2 –1 – – – –2

Utilizations – – – – – –

Model or risk parameter changes – – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 9 3 – – – 12
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The following tables show a reconciliation of the gross carrying amounts of financial assets measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income: 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4

No provision for 
credit risks Total

               

Carrying amount as of 
Jan. 1, 2024 1,783 1,741 – – – 524 4,048

Exchange differences  
on translating foreign  
operations – – – – – 24 24

Changes in basis of 
consolidation 104 – – – – 94 197

Changes 477 –917 – – – 37 –403

Modifications – – – – – – –

Transfers to 

Stage 1 459 –459 – – – – –

Stage 2 –79 79 – – – – –

Stage 3 – – – – – – –

Carrying amount as of 
Dec. 31, 2024 2,744 444 – – – 678 3,867
 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4

No provision for 
credit risks Total

               

Carrying amount as of 
Jan. 1, 2023 876 2,768 – – – 503 4,147

Exchange differences  
on translating foreign  
operations – – – – – 10 10

Changes in basis of 
consolidation – – – – – – –

Changes 907 –1,027 – – – 11 –109

Modifications – – – – – – –

Transfers to 

Stage 1 – – – – – – –

Stage 2 – – – – – – –

Stage 3 – – – – – – –

Carrying amount as of 
Dec. 31, 2023 1,783 1,741 – – – 524 4,048
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The following tables show a reconciliation of the provision for credit risks relating to irrevocable credit 
commitments and financial guarantees: 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 Total
           

Balance as of Jan. 1,2024 16 10 41 8 75

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 0 0 0 0 0

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – – –

Newly extended/purchased financial assets (additions) 7 – – 1 8

Other changes within a stage 1 3 –20 –1 –16

Transfers to 

Stage 1 7 –2 –6 – 0

Stage 2 –4 4 –1 – 0

Stage 3 –3 –2 4 – 0

Financial instruments derecognized during the period  
(derecognitions) –7 –4 –2 0 –14

Utilizations – – – – –

Model or risk parameter changes – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 18 10 17 8 52
 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 Total
           

Balance as of Jan. 1,2023 22 18 22 29 92

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 0 0 0 0 0

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – – –

Newly extended/purchased financial assets (additions) 6 – – 0 7

Other changes within a stage –4 –8 18 –21 –15

Transfers to 

Stage 1 1 –1 – – 0

Stage 2 –1 1 – – 0

Stage 3 0 0 1 – 1

Financial instruments derecognized during the period  
(derecognitions) –8 –1 0 0 –9

Utilizations – – 0 – 0

Model or risk parameter changes – – – – –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 16 10 41 8 75
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The following tables present a reconciliation of default risk exposures arising from irrevocable credit 
commitments and financial guarantees: 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 Total
           

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 7,284 2,676 166 89 10,215

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 62 47 0 0 108

Changes in basis of consolidation –197 – – – –197

Changes 7 7 –12 15 17

Modifications – – 0 0 –

Transfers to –

Stage 1 267 –235 –32 – 0

Stage 2 –1,014 1,015 –2 – 0

Stage 3 –9 –9 19 – 0

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2024 6,400 3,501 139 103 10,143
 

 

€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 Total
           

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1,2023 8,097 3,527 312 214 12,149

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 40 20 0 0 60

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – – –

Changes –794 –928 –148 –126 –1,995

Modifications – – 0 0 –

Transfers to 

Stage 1 35 –35 0 – 0

Stage 2 –94 95 –1 – 0

Stage 3 0 –3 3 – 0

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2023 7,284 2,676 166 89 10,215
 

 
The following table shows a reconciliation for the provision for credit risks relating to lease receivables 
in the class “Not allocated to any measurement category”: 

 

 S I MP LI F I E D  A PP RO A C H  

€ million 2024 2023
     

Balance as of Jan. 1 147 120

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations – –

Changes in basis of consolidation 386 –

Newly extended/purchased financial assets (additions) 177 33

Other changes within a stage – 20

Financial instruments derecognized during the period (derecognitions) –32 –25

Utilizations –8 0

Model or risk parameter changes –14 –

Balance as of Dec. 31 655 147
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The following table shows a reconciliation of the gross carrying amounts of lease receivables in the class 
“Not allocated to any measurement category”: 

 

 S I MP LI F I E D  A PP RO A C H  

€ million 2024 2023
     

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1 3,538 3,174

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations – –

Changes in basis of consolidation 22,005 –

Changes 1,469 364

Modifications 1 –

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31 27,013 3,538
 
    

MODI FICATIONS 
During the reporting period and the prior-year period, there were contractual modifications of financial 
assets that did not lead to a derecognition of the asset concerned. These modifications were caused by 
either changes in credit ratings or adjustments agreed retrospectively that did not stem from customer 
credit quality (market-induced adjustments).  

In the case of financial assets for which the provision for credit risks was determined in the amount 
of the lifetime expected credit losses, the amortized cost before contractual modifications amounted to 
€246 million (previous year: €207 million). In the reporting period, the contractual modifications of 
these financial assets gave rise to an overall net expense of €2 million (previous year: €1 million). In the 
case of trade receivables and lease receivables, which are all included in the simplified approach, the only 
modifications that are taken into account are those in which the underlying receivables are more than 
30 days past due. 

At the reporting date, the gross carrying amount of financial assets that had been modified since ini-
tial recognition and that, in the reporting period, had also been transferred from Stage 2 or Stage 3 to 
Stage 1 amounted to €6 million (previous year: €23 million). As a consequence, the measurement of the 
provision for credit risks for these financial assets was switched from the lifetime expected credit loss to 
a twelve-month expected credit loss. 

MAXIMUM CREDIT RISK 
The following table shows the maximum credit risk, broken down by class, to which the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group was exposed as of the reporting date and to which the impairment model was applied. 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 70,947 59,694

Financial assets measured at fair value 3,178 3,505

Financial guarantees and credit commitments 10,077 10,140

Not allocated to any measurement category 26,357 3,390

Total 110,559 76,729
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The assets disclosed as belonging to the class “Financial assets measured at fair value” are allocated to 
the measurement category “Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive in-
come (debt instruments)”.  
The maximum credit risk associated with the financial guarantees in accordance with IFRS 7.B10 
amounts to €99 million (previous year: €176 million). 
 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group intends to recover the following collateral accepted in the reporting 
year for financial assets: 

 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Vehicles 72 134

Real estate – –

Other movable assets – –

Total 72 134
 

 
The vehicles are remarketed to Volkswagen Group dealers through direct sales and auctions. 

DEFAULT RISK RATI NG CLASSES 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses internal risk management and control systems to evaluate the 
credit quality of the borrower before entering into any lending contract or lease. In the retail business, 
this evaluation is carried out by using scoring systems, whereas rating systems are used for fleet custom-
ers and dealer financing transactions. The results of the evaluation are allocated to a master scale based 
on the probability of default as the relevant criterion. The 16 risk classes in the master scale represent the 
default risk rating classes and are each defined according to the probabilities of default shown below. 

In addition, the gross carrying amounts of the financial assets are broken down into three default risk 
categories so that default risk exposures can be presented on a uniform basis throughout the Group. 
Loans and receivables for which the credit quality is classified as “good” are allocated to default risk cat-
egory 1. Loans to and receivables from customers whose credit quality has not been classified as “good” 
but who have not yet defaulted are included under default risk category 2. Accordingly, all loans and re-
ceivables in default are allocated to default risk category 3.  
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The following tables show the gross carrying amounts of financial assets by default risk category and by 
default risk rating class: 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

€ million 
Default risk

rating classes
Probability of 

default (>=) 
Probability of

default (<) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 

                 

Default risk category 1 
(loans/receivables not at risk 
of default – normal loans) 

1 0.00% 0.06% 12,406 316 – 1,236 46 

 2 0.06% 0.09% 544 6 – 314 – 

 3 0.09% 0.15% 2,776 50 – 559 – 

 4 0.15% 0.23% 4,369 69 – 834 0 

 5 0.23% 0.36% 6,054 270 – 693 10 

 6 0.36% 0.56% 12,509 1,772 – 2,381 11 

 7 0.56% 0.88% 4,590 1,423 – 4,635 7 

 8 0.88% 1.37% 6,856 1,238 – 5,117 6 

 9 1.37% 2.14% 2,750 882 – 5,370 4 

 10 2.14% 3.35% 3,093 715 – 3,754 32 

 11 3.35% 5.23% 2,273 740 – 2,932 2 

 12 5.23% 8.18% 608 675 – 1,050 6 

Default risk category 2 
(loans/receivables at risk of 
default – loans with intensi-
fied loan management) 

 13 8.18% 12.79% 193 488 – 1,168 1 

 14 12.79% 20.00% 56 470 – 420 4 

 15 20.00% 100.00% 24 588 – 439 3 

Default risk category 3 
(loans/receivables in default – 
nonperforming loans)  D 100.00% 100.00% – – 1,069 989 103 

Total   59,101 9,702 1,069 31,891 236 
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F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

€ million 
Default risk

rating classes
Probability of 

default (>=) 
Probability of

default (<) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Stage 4 

                 

Default risk category 1 
(loans/receivables not at risk 
of default – normal loans) 

1 0.00% 0.06% 13,705 2 – 181 – 

 2 0.06% 0.09% 397 3 – 158 0 

 3 0.09% 0.15% 1,952 8 – 450 0 

 4 0.15% 0.23% 3,063 13 – 391 0 

 5 0.23% 0.36% 1,755 112 – 396 1 

 6 0.36% 0.56% 4,625 731 – 1,021 20 

 7 0.56% 0.88% 8,061 689 – 1,618 4 

 8 0.88% 1.37% 7,706 1,681 – 757 8 

 9 1.37% 2.14% 4,445 1,072 – 600 23 

 10 2.14% 3.35% 2,274 880 – 266 2 

 11 3.35% 5.23% 991 784 – 872 3 

 12 5.23% 8.18% 611 1,066 – 143 10 

Default risk category 2 
(loans/receivables at risk of 
default – loans with intensi-
fied loan management) 

 13 8.18% 12.79% 228 505 – 167 10 

 14 12.79% 20.00% 103 321 – 50 14 

 15 20.00% 100.00% 36 1,029 – 131 17 

Default risk category 3 
(loans/receivables in default – 
nonperforming loans)  D 100.00% 100.00% – – 902 280 138 

Total   49,949 8,896 902 7,480 249 
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The following tables show the default risk exposures for irrevocable credit commitments and financial 
guarantees by default risk rating class: 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

€ million 
Default risk

rating classes
Probability of

default (>=)
Probability of

default (<) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4
               

Default risk category 1 
(loans/receivables not at risk 
of default – normal loans) 

1 0.00% 0.06% 657 22 – 0

2 0.06% 0.09% 543 2 – –

3 0.09% 0.15% 294 9 – –

4 0.15% 0.23% 949 14 – 0

5 0.23% 0.36% 491 71 – 9

6 0.36% 0.56% 837 361 – 13

7 0.56% 0.88% 605 600 – 11

8 0.88% 1.37% 901 775 – 17

9 1.37% 2.14% 467 285 – 3

10 2.14% 3.35% 320 557 – 9

11 3.35% 5.23% 186 219 – 0

12 5.23% 8.18% 99 187 – 3

Default risk category 2 
(loans/receivables at risk of 
default – loans with intensi-
fied loan management) 

13 8.18% 12.79% 42 139 – 0

14 12.79% 20.00% 9 198 – 1

15 20.00% 100.00% 1 61 – 0

Default risk category 3 
(loans/receivables in default 
– nonperforming loans) D 100.00% 100.00% – – 139 37

Total 6,400 3,501 139 103
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F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

€ million 
Default risk

rating classes
Probability of

default (>=)
Probability of

default (<) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4
               

Default risk category 1 
(loans/receivables not at risk 
of default – normal loans) 

1 0.00% 0.06% 221 4 – –

2 0.06% 0.09% 430 2 – –

3 0.09% 0.15% 773 3 – –

4 0.15% 0.23% 543 7 – –

5 0.23% 0.36% 933 39 – 1

6 0.36% 0.56% 926 279 – 0

7 0.56% 0.88% 1,106 432 – 3

8 0.88% 1.37% 844 530 – 3

9 1.37% 2.14% 463 275 – 1

10 2.14% 3.35% 326 214 – 2

11 3.35% 5.23% 398 335 – 1

12 5.23% 8.18% 124 455 – 2

Default risk category 2 
(loans/receivables at risk of 
default – loans with intensi-
fied loan management) 

13 8.18% 12.79% 88 20 – 1

14 12.79% 20.00% 64 15 – 0

15 20.00% 100.00% 45 64 – 2

Default risk category 3 
(loans/receivables in default 
– nonperforming loans) D 100.00% 100.00% – – 166 72

Total 7,284 2,676 166 89
    

65. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined primarily as the risk of not being able to meet payment obligations in full or 
when due. The companies of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are funded primarily through capital 
market and ABS (asset-backed securities) programs as well as through deposits received in the direct 
banking business. In addition, a rolling liquidity planning system and a liquidity reserve in the form of 
cash and confirmed lines of credit that can be accessed at any time at short notice ensure that the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group remains solvent and has an adequate supply of liquidity.  

Further details on the funding and hedging strategy can be found in the Report on Economic Position 
in the “Liquidity Analysis” (page 24) and “Funding” (pages 24 – 25) sections, and in the risk report within 
the disclosures on the “Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB)” (pages 52 – 53) and on the “Li-
quidity Risk” (pages 54 – 56) in the management report.  
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The maturity profile of assets held to manage liquidity risk is as follows: 
 

 A S S E T S  
R E P A Y A BL E  O N 

D E M A N D   
U P  T O   

3  MO N T H S  
3  MO N T H S 
T O  1  YE A R  1  T O  5  YE A R S  

M O RE  T H A N   
5  Y E AR S 

€ million 
Dec. 31, 

2024  
Dec. 31, 

2023  
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023  
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023  
Dec. 31, 

2024  
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024  
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024  
Dec. 31, 

2023
                         

Cash reserve 12,444  11,974  12,444 11,974  – –  –  – –  – –  –

Loans to and 
receivables 
from banks 594  272  274 244  320 0  0  27 –  – –  –

Marketable 
securities 3,743  3,505  – –  3,743 3,505  –  – –  – –  –

Total 16,781  15,750  12,718 12,218  4,063 3,505  0  27 –  – –  –
    

 
The following table shows the maturity profile of undiscounted cash outflows from financial liabilities: 
 

 R E M AI N I N G C O NT R A C T U A L  M A T UR I T I E S  

 Cash outflows up to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 to 5 years more than 5 years

€ million 
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
Dec. 31, 

2024
Dec. 31, 

2023
                     

Liabilities to banks 322 7,998 94 551 41 7,352 127 38 60 57

Liabilities to customers 83,175 46,924 48,502 29,658 19,548 13,876 14,520 2,576 605 814

Notes, commercial paper issued 32,373 5,672 2,141 941 5,049 893 23,032 3,269 2,151 569

Derivative financial instruments 6,070 4,086 3,304 – 2,195 3,873 571 212 – –

Other liabilities 160 120 75 22 80 96 4 1 1 1

Subordinated capital 190 10 26 – 59 10 105 – 0 –

Credit commitments 10,237 10,039 5,986 4,736 4,250 5,303 – – – –

Total 132,526 74,849 60,128 35,909 31,223 31,403 38,359 6,095 2,816 1,442
    

 
The derivatives include both cash outflows relating to derivatives with negative fair values and cash out-
flows relating to derivatives with positive fair values in connection with which gross settlement has been 
agreed. 
 
Financial guarantees with a maximum possible drawdown of €99 million (previous year: €176 million) 
are always assumed to be payable on demand.  

A notable important source of funding for the reporting year is funding via customer deposits. 

66. Market risk 

For qualitative information, please refer to the risk report within the disclosures on “Interest Rate Risk in 
the Banking Book (IRRBB)” (pages 52 – 53) and “Other Market Risk (Currency and Fund Price Risk)” 
(page 54) in the management report. 

For quantitative risk measurement, interest rate and foreign currency risk are measured using a value-
at-risk (VaR) model on the basis of a historical simulation. The value-at-risk calculation indicates the size 
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of the maximum potential loss on the portfolio as a whole within a time horizon of 60 days, measured at 
a confidence level of 99%. To provide the basis for this calculation, all cash flows from non-derivative and 
derivative financial instruments are aggregated into an interest rate gap analysis. The historical market 
data used in determining value at risk covers a period of ten years. 

This approach has produced the following values: 
 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023
     

Interest rate risk 474 329

Currency translation risk 0 1

Total market risk1 473 328

1 As a result of correlation effects, the total market risk is not identical to the sum of the individual risks. 

67. Hedging policy disclosures 

H EDGI NG POLICY AN D FI NANCIAL DERIVATIVES  
Given its international financial activities, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to fluctuations 
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates on the international money and capital markets. The general 
rules governing the Group-wide currency and interest rate hedging policy are specified in internal Group 
guidelines and satisfy the Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk – Mindestanforder-
ungen an das Risikomanagement) issued by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). 
The partners used by the Group when entering into appropriate financial transactions are national and 
international banks with strong credit ratings whose credit quality is continuously monitored by leading 
rating agencies. The Group enters into suitable hedging transactions to limit currency and interest rate 
risks. Regular derivative financial instruments are used for this purpose. 

MARKET RISK 
Market risk arises when changes in prices on financial markets (interest rates and exchange rates) have a 
positive or negative effect on the value of traded products. The fair values listed in the tables in the notes 
were determined using the market information available on the reporting date and represent the fair 
values of the financial derivatives. They were determined on the basis of standardized techniques using 
generally applicable market risk variables, such as yield curves and exchange rates. 

Interest rate risk 
Changes in the level of interest rates in the money and capital markets represent an interest rate risk if 
the funding is not maturity-matched. Interest rate risk is managed at the level of the individual company 
based on an overall interest rate risk limit set for the entire Group and broken down into specific limits 
for each company. Interest rate risk is quantified using interest rate gap analyses to which various scenar-
ios involving changes in interest rates are applied. The calculations take into account uniform risk ceil-
ings applicable throughout the Group.  

The hedging contracts entered into by the Group mainly comprise interest rate swaps and  
cross-currency interest rate swaps. Interest rate risk is hedged using fair value hedges and cash flow 
hedges at micro level and fair value hedges at portfolio level (portfolio fair value hedges). Fixed-income 
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assets and liabilities included in micro fair value hedges are recognized with the addition of a hedge ad-
justment based on the hedged fair value of the hedged item value rather than at amortized cost, the 
method used in their original subsequent measurement. The resulting effects in the income statement 
are generally offset by the opposite effects from the corresponding gains and losses on the interest rate 
hedging instruments (swaps). 

Currency risk 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group avoids currency risk by entering into currency hedging contracts, 
which may be currency forwards, cross-currency swaps or cross-currency interest rate swaps. Generally 
speaking, all cash flows in foreign currency are hedged. 

DESCRI PTION OF H EDGES AN D METHODOLOGI ES FOR MON ITORI NG  H EDGE EFFECTIVEN ESS  
If possible, the hedge strategy aims to recognize hedges for suitable underlying transactions (hedged 
items) on an individual or portfolio basis. Assets or liabilities on the balance sheet serve as hedge items. 
Future transactions are currently not used as hedged items.  

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, hedges to which micro-hedge accounting is applied are nor-
mally held to maturity. Individual risk components are not separated out and designated for the pur-
poses of hedge accounting.  

Hedge effectiveness in Volkswagen Bank GmbH is usually measured prospectively using the critical 
terms match method. Hedge effectiveness is analyzed retrospectively by testing for ineffectiveness using 
the dollar offset method. The dollar offset method compares the changes in the value of the hedged item 
expressed in monetary units with the changes in the value of the hedging instrument expressed in mon-
etary units. The volume represented by the hedging instruments is generally the same as the volume 
represented by the designated hedged items. 

Hedge ineffectiveness in micro-hedge accounting results from differences between the mark-to-mar-
ket (fair value) measurement of hedged items and that of hedging instruments. Individual yield curves 
are used when determining forward interest rates and prices and also when discounting future cash flows 
for hedged items and hedging instruments in order to obtain a measurement in line with the market. 
Other factors (e.g. in relation to counterparty risk) are only of minor significance as regards hedge inef-
fectiveness. 

In portfolio hedge accounting, derivatives for interest rate hedging are designated in a quarterly cycle. 
Effectiveness is checked by maturity band as part of this process. The designation proportions for the 
derivatives are determined on the basis of the volumes of the hedged item portfolios in the maturity 
bands. Derivatives are only considered for a hedging period in portfolio hedge accounting if a high pro-
spective and retrospective effectiveness level is determined using regression tests. Ineffectiveness in 
portfolio hedge accounting is usually the result of changes in the fair values of hedging instruments and 
the hedged fair values of hedged items that do not fully offset each other. 

DISCLOSURES  ON GAI NS AN D LOSSES  FROM FAI R VALUE H EDGES 
In fair value hedges, the transactions hedge the risk of changes in the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities. Changes in fair value that arise from the recognition of hedging instruments at fair 
value and those from the recognition of the associated hedged items at the hedged fair value generally 
have an offsetting effect and are reported under the net gain or loss on hedges. 
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The following table shows the degree of hedge ineffectiveness from fair value hedges broken down by 
type of risk, equating to the differences between the gains or losses on hedging instruments and those 
on hedged items: 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Interest rate risk hedging –4 17

Currency risk hedging –34 –28

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging – –
    

DISCLOSURES  ON GAI NS AN D LOSSES  FROM CASH FLOW H EDGES  
Cash flow hedges are recognized with the aim of hedging risks arising from changes in future cash flows. 
These cash flows can arise from a recognized asset or a recognized liability.  
 
The following table covering gains and losses from cash flow hedges shows the gains and losses on 
hedges recognized in other comprehensive income, the hedge ineffectiveness recognized under net gain 
or loss on hedges, and the gains or losses arising from the reclassification of cash flow hedge reserves 
recognized under net gain or loss on hedges: 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Interest rate risk hedging 

Gain or loss from changes in fair value of hedged items within hedge accounting 

Recognized in other comprehensive income 0 –

Recognized in profit or loss 0 0

Reclassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss 

As a result of the early termination of hedges – –

As a result of the recovery of the hedged item 0 0

Currency risk hedging 

Gain or loss from changes in fair value of hedged items within hedge accounting 

Recognized in other comprehensive income –36 –21

Recognized in profit or loss –1 0

Reclassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss 

As a result of the early termination of hedges – –

As a result of the recovery of the hedged item 53 0

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging 

Gain or loss from changes in fair value of hedged items within hedge accounting 

Recognized in other comprehensive income 1 –

Recognized in profit or loss – –

Reclassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss 

As a result of the early termination of hedges – –

As a result of the recovery of the hedged item –2 –
     

 
In the table, effects recognized directly in equity are presented net of deferred taxes. 
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The gain or loss from changes in the fair value of hedges within hedge accounting equates to the basis 
for determining hedge ineffectiveness. Those gains or losses on changes in the fair value of hedging in-
struments that exceed the changes in the fair value of the hedged items constitute the ineffective portion 
of cash flow hedges. This ineffectiveness within a hedge arises as a result of differences in the parameters 
applicable to the hedging instrument and the hedged item. These gains or losses are recognized imme-
diately under the gain or loss on hedges. 

NOTIONAL AMOUNTS OF DERIVATIVE FI NANCIAL I NSTRUMENTS  
The following tables present a maturity analysis of the notional amounts of hedging instruments re-
ported under the hedge accounting rules and those of derivatives to which hedge accounting is not ap-
plied: 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

  R E S I D U AL  M AT U RI T Y  

T OT A L
N O T I O N A L

A M O U N T

€ million  Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years more than 5 years DEC. 31, 2024
         

Notional amounts of hedging instruments in hedge accounting  

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  3,426 14,056 1,200 18,681

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps GBP  3,381 – – 3,381

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps PLN  899 7 – 906

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps CZK  556 – – 556

Currency forwards, other currencies  97 – – 97

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swaps NOK  265 73 – 338

Cross-currency interest rate swaps PLN  – 269 – 269

Cross-currency interest rate swaps, other foreign currencies  – – – –

  

Notional amounts of other derivatives  

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  13,669 30,656 0 44,325

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps  – – – –

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swap  – – – –
    

 
In the reporting year, the average exchange rates used in the measurement of currency hedges were as 
follows for currencies with significant notional amounts: PLN 4.5781 (cash flow hedge) and 4.2965 (fair 
value hedge), GBP 0.8385 (cash flow hedge) and 0.8356 (fair value hedge).  

The average exchange rates used in the measurement of interest rate/currency hedges in the previous 
year were as follows for the following currencies with significant nominal amounts: PLN 4.2736 (cash 
flow hedge) and NOK 11.6844 (cash flow hedge). 
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F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

  R E S I D U AL  M AT U RI T Y  

T OT A L
N O T I O N A L

A M O U N T

€ million  Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years more than 5 years Dec. 31, 2023
         

Notional amounts of hedging instruments in hedge accounting  

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  1,650 2,350 500 4,500

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps GBP  2,774 – – 2,774

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps CZK  – – – –

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps PLN  869 120 – 989

Currency forwards, other currencies  – – – –

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swaps NOK  – – – –

Cross-currency interest rate swaps, other foreign currencies  – – – –

  

Notional amounts of other derivatives  

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  100 1,516 0 1,616

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps  0 – – 0

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swaps  – – – –
    

 
In the previous year, the average exchange rates used in the measurement of currency hedges were as 
follows for currencies with significant notional amounts: PLN 4.6388 (cash flow hedge) and 4.4668 (fair 
value hedge), GBP 0.8752 (cash flow hedge) and 0.8637 (fair value hedge).  
The timings of the future payments for the hedged items in the cash flow hedges match the maturities 
of the hedging instruments. 

As of the reporting date and the prior-year reporting date, none of the cash flow hedges recognized 
involved a hedged item whose underlying transaction was no longer expected to occur in the future. 

DISCLOSURES  ON H EDGI NG I NSTRUMENTS USED I N H EDGE ACCOU NTI NG  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group regularly uses hedging instruments to hedge changes in the fair 
value of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
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The following overviews show the notional amounts, fair values and changes in fair value used to deter-
mine ineffectiveness in hedging instruments that are employed in the context of fair value hedges to 
hedge the risk arising from changes in fair value: 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

€ million  Notional amount Other assets Other liabilities

Fair value change
to determine

ineffectiveness
         

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  17,648 80 315 –177

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards and option contracts, cross-currency swaps  2,668 2 11 –10

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swaps  – – – –
    

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

€ million  Notional amount Other assets Other liabilities

Fair value change
to determine

ineffectiveness
         

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  5,859 2 6 –53

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards and option contracts, cross-currency swaps  2,831 19 16 4

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swaps  – – – –
    

 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group also uses hedging instruments to hedge the risk arising from 
changes in future cash flows. 
 
The following tables set out the notional amounts, fair values and changes in fair value to determine 
ineffectiveness in hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges: 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

€ million  Notional amount Other assets Other liabilities

Fair value change
to determine

ineffectiveness
         

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  1,033 1 2 –412

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps  2,272 3 17 –29

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swaps  607 6 2 2
 
   



Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

175 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

    

€ million  Notional amount Other assets Other liabilities

Fair value change
to determine

ineffectiveness
         

Interest rate risk hedging  

Interest rate swaps  – – – –

Currency risk hedging  

Currency forwards/cross-currency swaps  – – – –

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Cross-currency interest rate swaps  – – – –
 

 
The change in fair value used to determine ineffectiveness equates to the change in the fair value of the 
designated components of the hedging instruments. 

DISCLOSURES  ON H EDGED ITEMS TO WH ICH H EDGE ACCOU NTI NG IS APPLI ED 
Disclosures on hedged items, broken down by risk category and type of designation, are required in ad-
dition to the disclosures on hedging instruments. 
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The tables below show the hedged items hedged in fair value hedges: 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

€ million  Carrying amount
Cumulative hedge

adjustments

Hedge
adjustments

current period/
fiscal year

Cumulative hedge
adjustments from

terminated 
hedges

         

Interest rate risk hedging  

Loans to and receivables from banks  – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers including value 
adjustment on portfolio fair value hedges  10,789 62 –42 –

Liabilities to banks  – – – –

Liabilities to customers  – – – –

Notes, commercial paper issued  9,265 –185 259 –

Subordinated capital  – – – –

  

Currency risk hedging  

Loans to and receivables from banks  – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers  648 4 4 –

Liabilities to banks  – – – –

Liabilities to customers  – – – –

Notes, commercial paper issued  – – – –

Subordinated capital  – – – –

  

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Loans to and receivables from banks  – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers  – – – –

Liabilities to banks  – – – –

Liabilities to customers  – – – –

Notes, commercial paper issued  – – – –

Subordinated capital  – – – –
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F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

€ million  Carrying amount

Cumulative 
hedge

adjustments

Hedge
adjustments

current period/
fiscal year

Cumulative hedge
adjustments from

terminated 
hedges

         

Interest rate risk hedging  

Loans to and receivables from banks  – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers  1,389 30 30 –

Liabilities to banks  – – – –

Liabilities to customers  – – – –

Notes, commercial paper issued  4,446 –54 170 –

Subordinated capital  – – – –

  

Currency risk hedging  

Loans to and receivables from banks  – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers  – – – –

Liabilities to banks  – – – –

Liabilities to customers  – – – –

Notes, commercial paper issued  – – – –

Subordinated capital  – – – –

  

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging  

Loans to and receivables from banks  – – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers  – – – –

Liabilities to banks  – – – –

Liabilities to customers  – – – –

Notes, commercial paper issued  – – – –

Subordinated capital  – – – –
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The following tables present the hedged items hedged in cash flow hedges: 

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

 R E S ER V E  FO R 

€ million 

Fair value change
to determine

ineffectiveness
Existing cash 
flow hedges

Terminated cash
flow hedges

       

Interest rate risk hedging 

Designated components –1 –1 –

Deferred taxes – 0 –

Total interest rate risk –1 0 –

Currency risk hedging 

Designated components 0 23 –

Nondesignated components – – –

Deferred taxes – –7 –

Total hedging currency risk 0 16 –

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging 

Designated components 4 –1 –

Deferred taxes – 0 –

Total combined interest rate and currency risk 4 –1 –
    

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

 R E S ER V E  FO R 

€ million 

Fair value change
to determine

ineffectiveness
Existing cash 
flow hedges

Terminated cash
flow hedges

       

Interest rate risk hedging 

Designated components – – –

Deferred taxes – – –

Total interest rate risk – – –

Currency risk hedging 

Designated components –31 –2 –

Nondesignated components – – –

Deferred taxes – 1 –

Total hedging currency risk –31 –1 –

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging 

Designated components – – –

Deferred taxes – 0 –

Total combined interest rate and currency risk – – –
    

CHANGES I N TH E CASH FLOW H EDGE RESERVE 
In the accounting treatment of cash flow hedges, the designated effective portion of a hedge is reported 
in other comprehensive income (in OCI I). All changes in the fair value of hedging instruments in excess 
of the effective portion are reported in profit or loss as hedge ineffectiveness. 
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The following tables show a reconciliation for the cash flow hedge reserve (OCI I): 
 

€ million Interest rate risk Currency risk

Combined
interest rate and

currency risk Total
         

Balance as of Jan. 1,2024 – –1 – –1

Gains or losses from effective hedges 0 –36 1 –35

Reclassifications resulting from the recovery of the hedged item – 53 –2 51

Balance as of Dec. 31,2024 0 16 –1 15
    

 

€ million Interest rate risk Currency risk

Combined
interest rate and

currency risk Total
         

Balance as of Jan. 1,2023 – –7 – –7

Gains or losses from effective hedges – –21 – –21

Reclassifications resulting from the recovery of the hedged item – 26 – 26

Balance as of Dec. 31,2023 – –1 – –1
    

 
In the above tables, the effects on equity from the cash flow hedge reserve (OCI I) are presented net of 
deferred taxes. In the cash flow hedge reserve (OCI I), the deferred taxes on gains or losses from effective 
hedges amounted to losses of €15 million and the deferred taxes on reclassifications resulting from the 
recovery of the hedged item came to €22 million. 

LIQUI DITY RISK/FUN DI NG  RISK 
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group takes precautions to minimize the risk from any potential liquidity 
squeeze by holding credit lines with Volkswagen AG and by using a debt issuance program allowing funds 
to be raised in multiple currencies. It also holds marketable securities from public-sector issuers that are 
readily marketable and can be deposited with central banks, and can thus be used to help safeguard li-
quidity. 
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Segment Reporting 

68. Breakdown by geographic market 

The presentation of the reportable segments within the meaning of IFRS 8 is based on the internal control 
and reporting structure of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group and is broken down according to the geo-
graphical markets in which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group operates. 

Accordingly, the reportable segments are as follows: Germany, Italy, France and Other; the branches 
in Spain, the Netherlands, Greece, the United Kingdom, Portugal and Poland are reported on in the “Other” 
segment. The inclusion of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the basis of consolidation has an impact in the 
Germany and Italy segments. As the primary key performance indicator, the operating result is reported 
to the chief operating decision-makers. The information made available to management for manage-
ment purposes is based on the same accounting policies as those used for external financial reporting. 

All business transactions between the segments – where such transactions take place – are conducted 
on an arm’s-length basis.  

In accordance with IFRS 8, noncurrent assets are reported exclusive of financial instruments, deferred 
tax assets and post-employment benefits. 
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F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

 J A N .  1  –  D E C .  3 1 ,2 0 2 4  

€ million Germany Italy France  Other  
Consoli-

dation Total 
             

Interest income from lending transactions and marketable  
securities in respect of third parties 2,183 437 192  699  – 3,510 

Intersegment interest income from lending transactions and  
marketable securities 909 4 3  0  –916 – 

Income from leasing transactions with third parties 7,113 565 1,844  18  – 9,541 

of which impairment losses in accordance with IAS 36 85 3 17  –  – 105 

Intersegment income from leasing transactions – – –  –  – – 

Depreciation, impairment losses and other expenses from  
leasing transactions –5,811 –558 –1,324  –2  –2 –7,696 

of which impairment losses in accordance with IAS 36 –202 –66 –  –  – –268 

Net income from leasing transactions 1,303 7 520  17  –2 1,845 

Interest expense –2,918 –246 –341  –407  916 –2,997 

Income from service contracts with third parties 686 282 115  –  – 1,083 

of which period-related income 66 178 –  –  – 243 

of which income related to a point in time 621 104 115  –  – 840 

Intersegment income from service contracts – –4 –  –  4 – 

Expenses from service contracts –634 –274 –125  –  –4 –1,037 

Net income from service contracts 52 4 –10  –  0 46 

Provision for credit risks –196 –10 –106  –1  4 –310 

Fee and commission income from third parties 33 3 38  70  – 144 

Fee and commission expenses –26 –30 –19  –27  – –103 

Net fee and commission income 7 –27 19  43  – 41 

Net gain or loss on hedges –39 – –  –  – –39 

Net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value 56 8 –  22  –153 –66 

General and administrative expenses –715 –62 –131  –138  1 –1,045 

Net other operating income 552 17 5  44  –150 467 

Other operating expenses –315 7 –3  –24  0 –336 

Net other operating income/expenses 236 24 2  20  –151 132 

Operating result 878 139 147  254  –300 1,118 
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F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

 J A N .  1  –  D E C .  3 1 ,2 0 2 3  

€ million 
Germany 
adjusted1 Italy France  Other  

Consoli-
dation

Total 
adjusted1 

             

Interest income from lending transactions and marketable  
securities in respect of third parties 1,380 322 146  564  – 2,412 

Intersegment interest income from lending transactions and  
marketable securities 582 4 1  0  –586 – 

Income from leasing transactions with third parties – – 1,439  13  – 1,451 

of which impairment losses in accordance with IAS 36 – – –  –  – – 

Intersegment income from leasing transactions – – –  –  – – 

Depreciation, impairment losses and other expenses from  
leasing transactions – – –1,033  –1  – –1,034 

of which impairment losses in accordance with IAS 36 – – –8  –  – –8 

Net income from leasing transactions – – 406  12  – 418 

Interest expense –1,223 –111 –197  –298  586 –1,243 

Income from service contracts with third parties – – 95  –  – 95 

of which period-related income – – –  –  – – 

of which income related to a point in time – – 95  –  – 95 

Expenses from service contracts – – –101  –  – –101 

Net income from service contracts – – –6  –  – –6 

Provision for credit risks –81 –9 –51  –1  –2 –144 

Fee and commission income from third parties 31 5 33  64  – 133 

Fee and commission expenses –17 –11 –14  –27  – –69 

Net fee and commission income 15 –6 19  37  – 64 

Net gain or loss on hedges –14 – –  –  0 –13 

Net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value 110 – –  12  –133 –10 

General and administrative expenses –481 –43 –143  –126  2 –791 

Net other operating income 59 8 13  24  8 113 

Other operating expenses –30 –15 –5  –11  – –61 

Net other operating income/expenses 30 –7 7  14  8 52 

Operating result 318 150 181  213  –124 738 

1 Prior-year changes in the income statement item General and administrative expenses according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets 
values in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 

 
    

The reported impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses in accordance with IAS 36 related to 
lease assets. 
 
The breakdown of “Income from service contracts with third parties” into “of which period-related in-
come” and “of which income related to a point in time ” described in note (23) “Net income from service 
contracts” has been carried over to the tables above. 
 
Information on the main products can be taken directly from the income statement. 
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The breakdown of noncurrent assets in accordance with IFRS 8 and of the additions to noncurrent lease 
assets by geographic market is shown in the following tables: 
 

 D E C .  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  

€ million Germany Italy France Other Consolidation Total
             

Noncurrent assets 26,061 3,290 4,793 10 – 34,153

Additions to noncurrent lease assets 6,196 902 2,832 – – 9,930
    

 

 D E C .  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3  

€ million Germany Italy France Other Consolidation Total
             

Noncurrent assets 32 4 3,431 9 – 3,476

Additions to noncurrent lease assets – – 1,818 – – 1,818
    

 
Investments recognized under other assets were of minor significance. 
 
The following table shows the reconciliation to consolidated revenue, consolidated operating result and 
consolidated profit before tax. 

 

€ million 2024
2023

adjusted1

     

Segment revenue 15,190 4,677

Other companies – –

Consolidation –912 –586

Group revenue 14,279 4,091

 

Segment profit or loss (operating result) 1,418 862

Other companies – –

Consolidation –300 –124

Operating result 1,118 738

Share of profits and losses of equity-accounted joint ventures –1 30

Net gain or loss on miscellaneous financial assets 23 23

Other financial gains or losses –10 –5

Profit before tax 1,130 786

1 Prior-year adjustments according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
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Other Disclosures 

69. Leases 

LESSOR ACCOUNTI NG FOR FI NANCE LEASES  
In the reporting year, interest income from the net investment in the lease amounting to €797 million 
(previous year: €135 million) was generated from finance leases. There was no income from variable lease 
payments that was not taken into account in the measurement of the net investment in the lease where 
finance leases were concerned. 
 
The following table shows a reconciliation of the undiscounted lease payments under finance leases to 
the net investment in the leases. 

 

€ million Dec. 31,2024 Dec. 31,2023
     

Non-discounted lease payments 27,886 3,834

Non-guaranteed residual value 60 0

Unearned interest income –1,965 –335

Loss allowance on lease receivables 554 –122

Other – –

Net investment 26,534 3,377
    

 
In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the net investment equates to the net receivables from finance 
leases. 
 
As of the reporting date, the following payments are anticipated over subsequent years from expected, 
outstanding, non-discounted lease payments under finance leases. 

 

€ million 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 From 2030 Total
               

Lease payments 10,269 8,457 6,316 2,726 498 174 28,440
    

 
In the previous year, the following payments were anticipated over the subsequent years from expected, 
outstanding, non-discounted lease payments under finance leases. 
 

€ million 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 From 2029 Total
               

Lease payments 1,297 977 738 474 246 102 3,834
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LESSOR ACCOUNTI NG FOR OPERATI NG LEASES  
Income generated from operating leases is included in the income from leasing transactions and other 
operating income line items in the income statement. The following table shows a breakdown between 
income from leases without variable lease payments and income from leases with variable lease pay-
ments. 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Lease income 3,727 628

Income from variable lease payments – –

Total 3,727 628
    

 
The impairment losses recognized as a result of the impairment test on lease assets amount to €268 mil-
lion (previous year: €8 million) and are included in the depreciation, impairment losses and other ex-
penses from leasing transactions. Impairment losses are based on continuously updated internal and 
external information, which is then fed into the forecasts of residual values for vehicles. 
Income from reversals of impairment losses on lease assets applied in prior years amounted to €105 mil-
lion (previous year: none) and is included in income from leasing business. 

The following table shows the changes in the reporting year for assets leased out under operating leases: 
 

€ million 
Movable

lease assets
   

Cost as of Jan. 1,2024 4,319

Foreign exchange differences –

Changes in basis of consolidation 37,410

Additions 12,075

Reclassifications –

Disposals 7,308

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 46,496

Amortization and impairment losses 
as of Jan. 1, 2024 895

Foreign exchange differences –

Changes in basis of consolidation 8,538

Additions to cumulative depreciation 2,636

Additions to cumulative impairment losses 268

Reclassifications –

Disposals 2,284

Reversal of impairment losses 105

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 9,948

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2024 36,548

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 3,424
    

 
In the case of subleases that are classified as operating leases, right-of-use assets recognized in connec-
tion with buyback transactions are reported, from the perspective of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group 
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as lessor, under lease assets in the balance sheet and in the reconciliation showing the changes in mova-
ble lease assets. 
 
As of the reporting date, the outstanding, undiscounted lease payments from operating leases expected 
for subsequent years were as follows: 

 

€ million 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 From 2030 Total
               

Lease payments 4,777 2,604 1,140 347 155 7 9,031
    

 
The following table shows the changes in the prior year for lease assets under operating leases: 

 

€ million 
Movable

lease assets
   

Cost as of Jan. 1,2023 3,495

Foreign exchange differences –

Changes in basis of consolidation –

Additions 1,818

Reclassifications –

Disposals 995

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 4,319

Amortization and impairment losses 
as of Jan. 1, 2023 818

Foreign exchange differences –

Changes in basis of consolidation –

Additions to cumulative depreciation 475

Additions to cumulative impairment losses 8

Reclassifications –

Disposals 407

Reversal of impairment losses –

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 895

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2023 3,424

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2023 2,677
    

 
In the previous year, the outstanding, undiscounted lease payments from operating leases expected for 
subsequent years were as follows: 

 

€ million 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 From 2029 Total
               

Lease payments 488 104 108 117 121 14 952
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LESSEE ACCOUNTI NG OUTSI DE OF BUYBACK TRANSACTIONS  
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is a party to leases as a lessee in various aspects of the business. These 
leases mainly involve the leasing of land and buildings and operating and office equipment. Furthermore, 
accounting for buyback transactions as leases also means that the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is the 
lessee in the primary lease in relation to the sellers of the vehicles – entities of the Volkswagen Group. 
 
In the reporting year, interest expenses of €24 million (previous year: €16 million) were recognized un-
der the interest expenses line item in the income statement in respect of lease liabilities amounting to 
€0 million (previous year: €0 million) reported under liabilities to customers on the balance sheet. 

No right-of-use assets are recognized for short-term leases or leases in which the underlying asset is 
of low value. 

In the reporting year, expenses for leases in which the underlying assets are of low value amounted 
to €3 million (previous year: €0 million). In the reporting year, expenses for short-term leases amounted 
to €1 million (previous year: €1 million). There were no variable lease expenses in the reporting year or 
in the previous year that were not taken into account in the measurement of the lease liabilities. 

Right-of-use assets derived from leases are reported in the balance sheet of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group within property and equipment under the following items: 
 

€ million 

Right of use on land,
land rights and

buildings incl.
buildings on third

party land

Right of use on 
other equipment,

operational and
office equipment Total 

       

Gross carrying amount (or cost) 
as of Jan. 1, 2024 22 6 28 

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 0 

Changes in basis of consolidation 1 –3 –2 

Additions 0 3 4 

Reclassifications – – – 

Disposals – 2 2 

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 23 5 27 

Depreciation and impairment losses 
as of Jan. 1, 2024 11 4 15 

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 0 

Changes in basis of consolidation 2 –1 0 

Additions to cumulative amortization 2 2 5 

Additions to cumulative impairment losses – – – 

Reclassifications – – – 

Disposals – 2 2 

Reversal of impairment losses – – – 

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2024 15 3 17 

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2024 8 2 10 

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2024 11 2 13 
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€ million 

Right of use on land,
land rights and

buildings incl.
buildings on third

party land

Right of use on 
other equipment,

operational and
office equipment Total 

       

Gross carrying amount (or cost) 
as of Jan. 1, 2023 22 5 27 

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 0 

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – 

Additions – 2 2 

Reclassifications – – – 

Disposals 0 1 1 

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 22 6 28 

Depreciation and impairment losses 
as of Jan. 1, 2023 8 3 11 

Foreign exchange differences 0 0 0 

Changes in basis of consolidation – – – 

Additions to cumulative amortization 2 3 5 

Additions to cumulative impairment losses – – – 

Reclassifications – – – 

Disposals – 1 1 

Reversal of impairment losses – – – 

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2023 11 4 15 

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2023 11 2 13 

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2023 13 3 16 
    

 
When assessing the lease term underlying a lease liability, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group makes a 
best estimate as to whether an extension option or a termination option will be exercised. In the event 
of a material change in the general parameters used for this estimate or a modification of the lease, this 
estimate is updated. 
 
In the balance sheet, lease liabilities are reported under liabilities to customers. The following table shows 
a breakdown of the contractual maturities of undiscounted lease liabilities: 

 

  R E M AI N I N G C O NT R A C T U A L  M A T UR I T I E S  

€ million  Up to 1 year 1 – 5 years more than 5 years Total
         

Lease liabilities as of Dec. 31, 2024  6 13 6 24

Lease liabilities as of Dec. 31, 2023  4 7 4 16
    

 
Overall, leases in which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is a lessee gave rise to total cash outflows of 
€4 million (previous year: €4 million) in the reporting year. 
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The following table shows an overview of the potential future cash outflows that have not been included 
in the measurement of the lease liabilities. 

 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Future cash outflows to which the lessee is potentially exposed 

Variable lease payments – –

Residual value guarantees – –

Extension options 4 4

Termination options – –

Obligations under leases not yet commenced (contractual obligations) – –

Total 4 4
 
    

LESSEE TRANSACTIONS I N TH E CONTEXT OF BUYBACK TRANSACTIONS  
Depending on the classification of the subleases, the right-of-use assets recognized from primary leases 
as part of buyback transactions are reported either as finance leases and therefore as receivables from 
finance leases or as operating leases and therefore as lease assets, and are recorded in the relevant infor-
mation on this balance sheet item. 
 
In the reporting year, subleases in connection with buyback transactions gave rise to income of  
€31 million (previous year: none); this income was derived from both finance leases and operating leases. 

In the case of assets leased as part of buyback transactions, the total cash outflows were reported in 
an amount equal to the value of the right of use recognized in the reporting year. Overall, this gave rise 
to total cash outflows of €27 million (previous year: none) in the reporting year. 

70. Cash Flow Statement 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s cash flow statement documents changes in cash and cash equivalents 
attributable to cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities. Cash flows from investing 
activities comprise purchase payments and disposal proceeds relating to investment property, subsidi-
aries, joint ventures and other assets. Cash flows from financing activities reflect all cash flows arising 
from transactions involving equity, subordinated capital and other financing activities. All other cash 
flows are classified as cash flows from operating activities in accordance with standard international 
practice for financial services companies.   

The definition of cash and cash equivalents of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group changed in the re-
porting year. By including the subsidiary Volkswagen Leasing GmbH in the basis of consolidation and by 
the first-time inclusion of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group as a 
result of the restructuring, the previous narrow definition of cash and cash equivalents to include only 
the cash reserve was abandoned and aligned to the definition of cash and cash equivalents of the super-
ordinated Group. Cash and cash equivalents now comprise the entire “Cash reserve” balance sheet item, 
which essentially includes central bank balances, and cash and cash equivalents in the “Loans to and re-
ceivables from banks” balance sheet item. This provides a more meaningful presentation of cash and 
cash equivalents for the cash flow statement of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, one which corre-
sponds to the actual management. 
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The “Cash reserve” and “Loans to and receivables from banks” balance sheet items are reconciled to “Cash 
and cash equivalents” by adjusting “Loans to and receivables from banks” for the items which are not 
cash or cash equivalents: 

€ million Dec. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 1, 2023
       

Cash reserve 12,444 11,974 3,543

Loans to and receivables from banks 594 272 233

Total of cash reserve and loans to and receivables from banks 13,038 12,246 3,776

Receivables from loans and debt instruments in receivables from banks – – –

Receivables from time deposits in receivables from banks – –27 –

Trade receivables in receivables from banks – 0 –

Other loans and receivables in receivables from banks –1 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 13,036 12,218 3,776
 

 
The changes in the balance sheet items used to determine the changes in the cash flow statement cannot 
be derived directly from the balance sheet because effects from the changes in the basis of consolidation 
have no impact on cash and are eliminated. 

The following tables show the breakdown of the changes in subordinated capital (as part of financing 
activities) into cash and noncash transactions for the reporting year and the prior year. 

 

  N O N C A S H  T R A N S A C T I O N S 

€ million 
Balance as of

Jan. 1,2024 Cash changes 
Exchange 

rate changes

Changes 
in basis of

consolidation
Measurement 

changes 
Balance as of
Dec. 31,2024

             

Subordinated capital 10 –26 – 196 – 180
    

 
 

  N O N C A S H  T R A N S A C T I O N S 

€ million 
Balance as of

Jan. 1,2023 Cash changes 
Exchange 

rate changes

Changes 
in basis of

consolidation
Measurement 

changes 
Balance as of
Dec. 31,2023

             

Subordinated capital 31 –21 – – – 10
    

 

71. Off-balance-sheet liabilities 

CONTI NGENT LIABI LITI ES  
As a legal entity involved in the spin-off of the business shares of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, pursuant 
to section 133(1) sentence 1 of the Umwandlungsgesetz (UmwG – German Transformation Act) 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH was liable as joint and several debtor for the liabilities established by the legal 
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entity transferring assets, Volkswagen Financial Overseas AG (at this time operating as Volkswagen  
Financial Services AG), until July 1, 2024, when the spin-off came into effect. Pursuant to section 133(3) 
sentence 2 of the UmwG, the joint and several liability of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is limited to the fair 
value of the net assets allocated to Volkswagen Bank GmbH with the spin-off of the business shares in 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH as the upper liability limit. This results in contingent liabilities for the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group of €8,986.3 million. In the unlikely event of claims arising from joint and 
several liability, potential claims for reimbursement might be made against Volkswagen Financial  
Services Overseas AG and Volkswagen Financial Services AG. 
 

O T H E R  F I N A N C I A L  O B L I G A T I O N S  

  D U E   D U E   D U E   T OT A L 

€ million  2025 2026-2029 From 2030 Dec. 31, 2024
         

Purchase commitments in respect of  

Property and equipment  – – – –

Intangible assets  – – – –

Investment property  – – – –

  

Obligations from  

credit commitments to customers  10,237 – – 10,237

long-term leasing and rental contracts  3 1 – 5

  

Miscellaneous financial obligations  86 53 – 140
    

 
In the case of irrevocable credit commitments, the Bank expects the customers to draw down the funds 
concerned. 
 
 

  D U E   D U E   D U E   T OT A L 

€ million  2024 2025-2028 From 2029 Dec. 31, 2023
         

Purchase commitments in respect of  

Property and equipment  – – – –

Intangible assets  – – – –

Investment property  – – – –

  

Obligations from  

credit commitments to customers  10,039 – – 10,039

long-term leasing and rental contracts  1 0 – 1

  

Miscellaneous financial obligations  10 24 – 34
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72. Share-based payment awards 

The remuneration system for the members of the Management Board consists of fixed and variable com-
ponents. The variable remuneration consists of a performance-related annual bonus with a three-year 
assessment period and a long-term incentive (LTI). The LTI is a backward-looking long-term bonus with a 
three-year assessment basis and a maximum payout amount of 250%. The payout amount for the long-
term bonus is determined by multiplying the target amount with the degree of target achievement for 
the annual result for each Volkswagen preferred stock and the ratio between the closing reference price 
at the end of the term plus a dividend equivalent and the initial reference price. 

The variable remuneration of all other members of management and of selected beneficiaries below 
management level is composed of a performance-related annual bonus with a one-year assessment 
period and a backward-looking long-term bonus with a three-year assessment period. This long-term 
bonus functions in the same way as that granted to members of the Management Board. 

MANAGEMENT MEMBERS AN D SELECTED BEN EFICIARI ES BELOW MANAGEMENT LEVEL 
In the reporting year, all other beneficiaries were granted a target amount, based on target attainment of 
100%, of €8 million (previous year: €6 million). As of December 31, 2024, the total carrying amount of 
the obligation, which equated to the intrinsic value of the liabilities, amounted to €15 million (previous 
year restated: €12 million). A total expense of €14 million (previous year: €10 million) was recognized in 
the reporting period for this commitment. 

73. Total fees charged by the auditor of the consolidated financial statements 

In accordance with the requirements specified in section 314(1) no. 9 of the HGB, the table below shows 
the total fees charged in the reporting year by the auditor of the consolidated financial statements  
EY GmbH & Co. KG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft. 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Financial statement audit services 4 2

Other attestation services 0 0

Tax consulting services – –

Other services 0 –

Total 5 3
 

 
The fee paid to the auditor for audit services in the year under review was mostly attributable to the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH and of the annual financial state-
ments of German Group companies, as well as to reviews of the reporting packages of German Group 
companies. Other attestation services related to the issue of a letter of comfort, the analysis of a contrac-
tual compliance issue and the audit of sustainability and the Sustainability Report. The auditor also pro-
vided miscellaneous services. 
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74. Personnel expenses 

The personnel expenses of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are reported under general and adminis-
trative expenses and explained below. 
 

€ million 2024
2023

adjusted1

     

Wages and salaries 306 150

Social security benefits 54 22

Post-employment and other employee benefit costs 17 7

Total 377 180

1 Prior-year adjustments according to the disclosures on the corrected accounting for provisions for Time Assets in the Changes to Prior-Year Figures section 
 

75. Average number of employees during the reporting period 

Various transfers of personnel took place due to the restructuring as of July 1, 2024 among the companies 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH and the Volkswagen Bank GmbH subsidiary 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH. 
 

 2024 2023
     

Salaried employees 3,366 1,484

of which senior managers 61 32

of which part time 819 407

Vocational trainees 31 4
 
    

76. Related party disclosures 

Related parties as defined by IAS 24 are natural persons and entities that Volkswagen Bank GmbH has 
control over or over which it has significant influence, or natural persons and entities that have control 
over or can exercise significant influence over Volkswagen Bank GmbH, or who or which are under the 
influence of another related party of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

Until June 30, 2024, Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg, was the sole shareholder of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 
Following completion of the restructuring effective July 1, 2024, Volkswagen Financial Services AG, 
Braunschweig, is the sole shareholder of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Volkswagen AG is the parent company 
of Volkswagen Financial Services AG. Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart, held the majority of the 
voting rights in Volkswagen AG as of the reporting date. The Extraordinary General Meeting of 
Volkswagen AG held on December 3, 2009 approved the creation of rights of appointment for the State 
of Lower Saxony. As a result, Porsche SE cannot elect all of the shareholder representatives to the Super-
visory Board of Volkswagen AG via the annual general meeting as long as the State of Lower Saxony holds 
at least 15% of Volkswagen AG’s ordinary shares. However, Porsche SE has the power to participate in the 
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operating policy decisions of the Volkswagen Group and is therefore deemed to be a related party as de-
fined by IAS 24. According to a notification dated January 2, 2025, the State of Lower Saxony and Hanno-
versche Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, held 20% of the voting rights in Volkswagen AG on De-
cember 31, 2024. They therefore indirectly have significant influence over the Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
Group. As mentioned above, the General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on December 3, 2009 also resolved 
that the State of Lower Saxony may appoint two members of the Supervisory Board (right of appoint-
ment). 

Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH have entered into a profit-and-loss transfer agreement. 
Due to the transfer of the shares in the share capital and the voting rights in Volkswagen Bank GmbH to 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG, the control agreement between the current shareholder Volkswagen 
AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH was suspended. Since then, a new control agreement has come into ef-
fect between the current shareholder Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

Volkswagen AG and other related parties in Volkswagen AG’s group of consolidated entities provide 
the entities in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group with funding on an arm’s-length basis. Volkswagen AG 
and its subsidiaries have also furnished collateral in the Bank’s favor as part of the operating business. 

The production companies and importers in the Volkswagen Group provide the entities in the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group with financial subsidies to support sales promotion campaigns. 

Business transactions with unconsolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and other related 
parties in Volkswagen AG’s group of consolidated entities are processed at arm’s length. 

The two tables below show the transactions with related parties. In these tables, the exchange rates used 
for asset and liability items are the closing rates, and the weighted average rates for the year are used for 
income statement items. 
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F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 4  

€ million 
Supervisory

Board
Management

Board
Volks-

wagen AG

Volkswagen
Financial

Services AG Porsche SE

Other related 
parties in the 
consolidated 

entities 

Unconsoli-
dated

subsidiaries
Joint

ventures Associates
                   

Loans and Receivables 0 0 404 10 0 12,144 – 522 –

Valuation allowances on 
impaired loans and receivables – – – – – 0 – – –

of which additions in  
current year – – – – – – – – –

Obligations 2 3 5,214 11,602 – 8,314 – 10 –

Interest income 0 0 31 – – 274 – 54 –

Interest expense 0 0 –128 –194 – –206 – –2 –

Goods and services provided – – 522 6 0 4,303 – 1 –

Goods and services received – – 8,877 237 – 3,240 – 101 0

      

F I S C A L  Y E A R  2 0 2 3  

€ million 
Supervisory

Board  
Management

Board
Volks-

wagen AG Porsche SE

Other related
parties in the
consolidated

entities  

Unconsoli-
dated

subsidiaries  
Joint

ventures  Associates
                 

Loans and Receivables 0  0 3 – 2,186  0  2,185  –

Valuation allowances on 
impaired loans and receivables –  – – – –  –  –  –

of which additions in  
current year –  – – – –  –  –  –

Obligations 3  7 3,584 – 4,980  38  523  –

Interest income 0  0 21 – 61  –  70  –

Interest expense 0  0 –79 – –129  –  –1  –

Goods and services provided –  – 34 – 246  –  1  –

Goods and services received –  – 4 – 229  –  189  –
 

 
The “Other related parties in the group of consolidated entities” column includes, in addition to sister 
entities, joint ventures and associates that are related parties in Volkswagen AG’s group of consolidated 
entities but do not directly belong to Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The relationships with the Supervisory 
Board and the Management Board/Board of Management comprise relationships with the relevant 
groups of people at Volkswagen Bank GmbH and the parent company Volkswagen Financial Services AG. 
For the period-related key figures, the Management Board and Supervisory Board of the previous parent 
company, Volkswagen AG, were taken into account within the Management Board and within the Super-
visory Board in the year under review. Relationships with pension plans and the State of Lower Saxony 
were of lesser significance in the reporting year.  

“Goods and services received” mainly resulted from IT services and other services in connection with 
financing transactions. “Goods and services provided” largely arose in connection with income from fi-
nance cost subsidies received and from the provision of services. “Goods and services provided” essen-
tially were the result of income from leasing transactions. 
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH received a contribution in kind from the transfer of assets and liabilities of 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH amounting to €10,137 million from the previous shareholder Volkswagen AG 
(see note (2)) and a contribution in kind from the positive difference between received compensation 
payments and acquired personnel provisions from the current shareholder Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG (see note (16)). In addition, Volkswagen Bank GmbH recognized a distribution in kind from the 
negative difference between compensation payments made and transferred personnel provisions to the 
shareholder Volkswagen Financial Services AG (see note (16)). In the previous year, the Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH Group had made capital contributions to related parties amounting to €2 million. 
 
Members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board / Audit Committee of Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH are members of supervisory boards of other entities in the Volkswagen Group with which 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH sometimes conducts transactions in the normal course of business. All trans-
actions with these related parties are conducted on an arm’s-length basis. 

MA NAG E ME N T  B O ARD  RE MU NE RA TIO N I N  A CCO RD AN CE  W IT H  I AS  2 4  

The following table shows the remuneration of the members of the Management Board. 
 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Short-term benefits 2 1

Long-term benefits – 1

Benefits on the basis of share-based payment awards 0 –

Termination benefits – –

Post-employment benefits 0 0
    
 

MA NAG E ME N T  B O ARD  RE MU NE RA TIO N  

In the current fiscal year, the total payments made to members of the Management Board according to 
section 314(1) no. 6 of the HGB amounted to €1 million (previous year: €2 million). 
As in the previous year, the total payments made to former members of the Management Board and their 
surviving dependants amounted to less than €0.5 million in the reporting year. The provisions recog-
nized for this group of people to cover current pensions and pension entitlements amounted to €7 mil-
lion (previous year: €3 million). 

SUPERVIS ORY BOARD REMUN ERATION 
In accordance with a resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting, the members of the Supervisory 
Board who are not employees of the Volkswagen Group are entitled to annual remuneration. This remu-
neration is independent of the performance of the Bank. The members of the Supervisory Board who are 
employees of the Volkswagen Group receive a flat-rate remuneration from Volkswagen Bank GmbH. If 
they are also members of other supervisory boards of Group companies of Volkswagen AG, remuneration 
received for these functions is deducted from their entitlement. As a result, a total amount of less than 
€0.2 million (previous year: €0.2 million) was paid out to the members of the Supervisory Board in the 
reporting period. 

The employee representatives on the Supervisory Board employed by Volkswagen Bank GmbH also 
receive their regular salaries under the terms of their employment contracts. This salary is based on the 
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provisions in the Betriebsverfassungsgesetz (BetrVG – German Works Constitution Act) and corresponds 
to the remuneration for equivalent employees with career development typical for the organization. Ap-
propriate remuneration for the representative of the senior executives on the Supervisory Board corre-
sponds to the remuneration for a corresponding function or role within the company. 

77. Disclosures relating to unconsolidated structured entities 

A structured entity is normally designed so that voting rights or similar rights are not the deciding factor 
in determining control over the entity. 
 
Typical features of a structured entity are as follows: 
 Limited scope of activities 
 Narrowly defined business purpose 
 Inadequate equity to finance the business activities 
 Financing through a number of instruments that contractually bind investors and that give rise to a 

concentration of credit risk and other risks. 
 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH maintained business relationships with structured entities in the year under 
review. These are ABS special purpose entities within Volkswagen AG’s group of consolidated entities. The 
entities carry out a process of securitization by taking assets from lending agreements and leases for 
vehicles and transforming them into securities (asset-backed securities) on a maturity-matched basis. 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH has acquired these securities with an average term of 4 years. In the Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH Group, the securities have been allocated to the category of assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. The securities give rise to the following items reported in the consolidated income 
statement: interest income, which is recognized under interest income from lending transactions and 
marketable securities, and remeasurement effects, which are recognized under net gain or loss on finan-
cial instruments measured at fair value. 
 
Under the principles specified in IFRS 10, these entities are not controlled by Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
and are therefore not included in the consolidated financial statements. 

The financial services business of the associated entity in Volkswagen AG’s group of consolidated en-
tities is being funded as a result of the purchase of the securities issued by ABS special purpose entities 
within Volkswagen AG’s group of consolidated entities.  

The acquisition of the securities gives rise to counterparty default risk (from the assets contained in 
the issuer’s securitized portfolio) and interest rate risk. The maximum risk of Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
from shares in unconsolidated structured entities is limited to the fair value of the purchased debt in-
struments reported in the balance sheet, among other things because the purchased securities have sen-
ior ranking in their exposure to losses incurred by the unconsolidated structured entities. 
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The following table contains disclosures on Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s assets reported in the balance 
sheet that are related to unconsolidated structured entities and the maximum risk exposure of the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group (disregarding collateral). The nominal amount of the securitized assets 
is also disclosed. 

 

 
A B S  S P E CI A L  P U RP O SE 

E N T I T I E S 

€ million 2024 2023
     

Reported in the balance sheet as of December 31 

Marketable securities 549 513

Loans to and receivables from customers – –

Maximum loss risk 549 513

Nominal volume of securitized assets 693 719
    

 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group companies did not provide unconsolidated structured entities with any 
noncontractual support during the reporting year. 
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78. Governing bodies of Volkswagen Bank GmbH 

The members of the Management Board are as follows: 

DR. VOLKER STADLER 
Chair of the Management Board  
Corporate Management & Operations, Volkswagen Bank GmbH  

OLIVER ROES  
Finance, Volkswagen Bank GmbH 

CH RISTIAN LÖBKE 
Risk Management, Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
 
 
 
The members of the Supervisory Board as of the reporting date December 31, 2024 were as follows: 

FRANK FIEDLER  
Chair (as of July 1, 2024) 
Member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen Financial Services AG 
Risk, Tax and Legal  

BJÖRN BÄTGE 
Deputy Chair (as of July 1, 2024) 
Chair (until June 30, 2024) 
Group Treasury – Head of Global Markets of Volkswagen AG  

SI LVIA STELZN ER 
Deputy Chair 
Executive Director of the Joint Works Council of Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Financial 
Services Overseas AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Vehicle Trading Interna-
tional GmbH, Volkswagen Insurance Brokers GmbH and Volkswagen Versicherung AG 

MARKUS BI EB ER 
Managing Director of the General Works Council of Volkswagen AG 

PROF.  DR. SUSAN N E HOMÖLLE 
Chair of Banking and Finance, University of Rostock 

MARKUS KON RADT 
Member of the Management Board of the Management Association 
of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen Financial Services Overseas AG 

DR. ALENA KRETZB ERG (AS OF MARCH 1,  2024)   
Member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen Financial Services AG 
IT and Digitalization 

KATRI N ROHMAN N  
Public auditor 
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BJÖRN S CHÖN E   
Member of the Joint Works Council of Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Financial Services 
Overseas AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Vehicle Trading International GmbH, 
Volkswagen Insurance Brokers GmbH and Volkswagen Versicherung AG  

ALI NA ROß (AS OF J ULY 1,  2024)  
IG Metall Regional Management Lower Saxony and Saxony-Anhalt 
Tariff Secretary and In-house counsel  
 
 
The following were also members of the Supervisory Board in 2024: 

MARION LEFFLER (UNTI L J UN E 30,  2024)  
Member of the Joint Works Council of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH 

CON NY SCHÖN HARDT (UNTI L J UN E 30,  2024)  
Trade union secretary for the IG Metall Board of Management in the unit for vehicle construction  
coordination  

DR. CH RISTIAN DAH LH EIM (UNTI L FEBRUARY 29,  2024)  
Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen Financial Services AG  
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The composition of the committees of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH was as follows 
as of the reporting date, December 31, 2024: 
 
MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
Katrin Rohmann (Chair)  
Prof. Dr. Susanne Homölle (Deputy Chair) 
Dr. Alena Kretzberg (as of July 1, 2024) 
Silvia Stelzner 
 
The Audit Committee had the following additional member in 2024: 
Frank Fiedler (until June 30, 2024) 
 
MEMBERS OF THE RISK COMMITTEE 
Prof. Dr. Susanne Homölle (Chair) 
Björn Bätge (Deputy Chair)  

Frank Fiedler 
Björn Schöne 
 
MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE 
Frank Fiedler (Chair) (as of July 1, 2024) 
Silvia Stelzner (Deputy Chair) 
Katrin Rohmann (as of March 1, 2024)  
 
The following were also members of the Nomination Committee in 2024: 
Dr. Christian Dahlheim (until February 29, 2024) 
Björn Bätge (Chair) (until June 30, 2024) 
 
MEMBERS OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
Frank Fiedler (Chair) (as of July 1, 2024) 
Silvia Stelzner (Deputy Chair) 
Björn Bätge (Chair) (until June 30, 2024)  
Prof. Dr. Susanne Homölle (as of March 1, 2024)  
 
The following were also members of the Remuneration Committee in 2024: 
Dr. Christian Dahlheim (until February 29, 2024) 
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79. Letter of comfort in favor of the creditors of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has issued the following hard letter of comfort: 
 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH, with its registered office in Braunschweig, is the sole shareholder of the com-
pany under the name Volkswagen Leasing GmbH with its registered office in Braunschweig. 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH undertakes vis-à-vis all current and future creditors of Volkswagen Leasing 
GmbH to ensure that Volkswagen Leasing GmbH is financially equipped in such a way that it is able at all 
times to properly fulfil all its current and future obligations. 

The assignment of rights and obligations arising from this letter of comfort is excluded. 

80. Events After the Reporting Date 

Following the conclusion of Volkswagen AG's collective bargaining, Volkswagen Financial Services AG, 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Volkswagen Insurance Brokers GmbH, Volkswagen 
Versicherung AG and Vehicle Trading GmbH embarked on their own collective bargaining with IG Metall, 
which concluded on January 31, 2025. The collective agreement of Volkswagen AG also applies to these 
companies through the follow-on collective agreement. The above-mentioned companies amended or 
supplemented the collective agreement of Volkswagen AG in a number of instances. This is expected to 
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2025. 

With reference to the explanations in the note “Assets held for sale (IFRS 5)” in the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements, the shares in joint venture VOLKSWAGEN Finančné služby Slovensko s.r.o., 
Bratislava, were sold to Porsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft and Porsche Versicherungs Aktiengesellschaft 
as of February 3, 2025. 

Up to February 25, 2025, there were no other significant events that would have required a signifi-
cantly different presentation of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss. 

Shareholdings 

Shareholdings of Volkswagen Bank GmbH and the Volkswagen Bank Group in accordance with sections 
285 and 313 of the HGB and presentation of the companies included in the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Volkswagen Bank Group in accordance with IFRS 12 as of December 31, 2024. 
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E X C H A N G E  
R A T E 

( 1  E UR O  = )   

V W  B A N K  G M B H ’ S 
I N T E R E ST  I N  C A PI T A L 

I N  %  

E Q UI T Y 
I N 

T H O U-
S A N D S   

P R OF I T / 
L O S S  I N 
T H O U S-  

A N D S  

Name and registered office of the 
company Currency Dec. 31, 2024 Direct Indirect Total 

local 
currency

local
currency

Foot-
note Year

                   

I. PARENT COMPANY  

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, 
Braunschweig  

  

II. SUBSIDIARIES  

A. Consolidated companies  

1. Germany  

Volkswagen Leasing GmbH EUR 100.00 – 100.00 3,269,912 – 1) 2024

  

2. International  

Driver Master S.A., Luxemburg EUR – – – 31 – 2) 2023

Private Driver España 2020 -1, 
Fondo de Titulización, Madrid EUR – – – – – 2) 2023

Private Driver Italia 2020-1 S.r.l., 
Milan EUR – – – 10 – 2) 2023

Private Driver Italia 2024-1 S.r.l., 
Milan EUR – – – – – 2), 3)

Tucknology S.A., Luxemburg EUR – – – 31 – 2) 2023

VCL Master Residual Value S.A., Lux-
emburg EUR – – – 31 – 2) 2023

VCL Master S.A., Luxemburg EUR – – – 31 – 2) 2023

VCL Multi-Compartment S.A., Luxem-
burg EUR – – – 31 – 2) 2023

  

B. Unconsolidated companies  

1. Germany  

  

2. International  
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E X C H A N G E  
R A T E 

( 1  E UR O  = )   

V W  B A N K  G M B H ’ S 
I N T E R E ST  I N  C A PI T A L 

I N  %  

E Q UI T Y 
I N 

T H O U-
S A N D S   

P R OF I T / 
L O S S  I N 
T H O U S-  

A N D S  

Name and registered office of the 
company Currency Dec. 31, 2024 Direct Indirect Total local currency

local
currency Footnote Year

                   

III. JOINT VENTURES 

A. Equity-accounted companies 

1. Germany 

 

2. International 

 

B. Companies accounted for at cost 

1. Germany 

 

2. International 

 EUR – 58.00 – 58.00 83,733 –1,364 4) 2023

 

IV. ASSOCIATES 

A. Equity-accounted companies 

1. Germany 

 

2. International 

 

B. Associates accounted for at cost 

1. Germany 

 

2. International 

 

V. EQUITY INVESTMENTS 

1. Germany 

 

2. International 

 RUB 112.4384 1.00 – 1.00 21,763,274 1,681,435.00 4) 2023

Society for Worldwide Interbank 
Financial Telecommunications 
SCRL, La Hulpe EUR – 0.01 – 0.01 719,274 55,313 4), 5) 2023

1 ) Profit and loss transfer agreement 
2 ) Structured entity in accordance with IFRS 10 and 12 

3 ) New formation/ spin-off 

4 ) Figures in accordance with IFRS 

5 ) Consolidated financial statements 
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Braunschweig, February 25, 2025 
 
 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
The Management Board 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
Dr. Volker Stadler   Oliver Roes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Christian Löbke     
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Responsibility Statement 
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consoli-
dated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit 
or loss of the Group, and the management report of the Group includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the mate-
rial opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the Group. 
 
Braunschweig, February 25, 2025 
 
 

 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
The Management Board 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
Dr. Volker Stadler   Oliver Roes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Christian Löbke     
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Country-by-Country Reporting  
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH 

The requirements of country-by-country reporting laid down in Article 89 of EU Directive 2013/36/EU 
(Capital Requirements Directive, CRD IV) have been transposed into German law in section 26a(1) sen-
tence 2 of the KWG. 
 
In this country-by-country report, required in accordance with section 26a(1) sentence 2 nos. 1 to 6 of 
the KWG, the Volkswagen Bank Group makes the disclosures listed below as of December 31, 2024: 
 
 Name, nature of activities and geographical location of branch 
 Sales revenue 
 Number of employees on a full-time equivalent basis 
 Profit or loss before tax 
 Tax on profit or loss 
 Public subsidies received 
 
The report encompasses the disclosures required for all consolidated entities included in the IFRS con-
solidated financial statements.  
 
Branches are understood to be the individual subsidiaries and, if appropriate, branches maintained by 
subsidiaries in individual countries. All figures included in this report were determined on an unconsol-
idated basis. Revenue has been adjusted for intragroup transactions within the same country. 
 
Revenue is defined as the sum of the following components of the IFRS income statement: 
 
 Interest income from lending transactions less interest expenses 
 Income from leasing transactions and service contracts 
 Net fee and commission income 
 Net gain or loss on hedges 
 Net gain/loss on financial instruments measured at fair value 
 Other operating income 
 
The number of employees is reported as an average on a full-time equivalent basis. 
 
Tax on profit or loss is reported as effective income tax expense. Information on how the figure is deter-
mined can be found under income tax expense in the note 32 to the consolidated financial statements 
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH as of December 31, 2024. 
 
In the country-by-country reporting, only direct EU subsidies are deemed public subsidies received. 
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Country 
Sales revenue

(€ million) Employees

Profit/loss
before tax
(€ million)

Income tax
(€ million)

Public subsidies
received

(€ million)
           

EU countries 

Germany 7,549 2,163 –167 489 –

France 2,175 429 485 0 –

Greece 27 52 18 1 –

United Kingdom 237 52 226 16 –

Italy 1,240 186 337 65 –

Luxembourg – – – – –

Netherlands 0 0 0 0 –

Poland 129 75 91 10 –

Portugal 50 52 31 2 –

Spain 341 352 256 35 –
    

 
 

Company name Company type Domicile Country
       

EU countries 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Bank Braunschweig Germany

Volkswagen Leasing GmbH 
Financial Services 

Institution Braunschweig Germany

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, France branch Bank Roissy en France France

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Greece branch Bank Glyfada Athens Greece

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, United Kingdom branch Bank Milton Keynes
United

Kingdom

Private Driver Italia 2020-1 S.r.l., SPV Milan Italy

Private Driver Italia 2024-1 S.r.l., SPV Milan Italy

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Italy branch Bank Milan Italy

Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Italy branch 
Financial Services 

Institution Milan Italy

Driver Master S.A. SPV Luxembourg Luxembourg

Trucknology S.A. SPV Luxembourg Luxembourg

VCL Master Residual Value S.A. SPV Luxembourg Luxembourg

VCL Master S.A. SPV Luxembourg Luxembourg

VCL Multi-Compartment S.A. SPV Luxembourg Luxembourg

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Netherlands branch Bank Amersfoort Netherlands

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Poland branch Bank Warsaw Poland

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Portugal branch Bank Amadora Portugal

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Spain branch Bank Alcobendas-Madrid Spain

Private Driver España 2020-1, Fondo de Titulización SPV Madrid Spain
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Independent auditor’s report 
To Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Braunschweig 

REPORT ON TH E AUDIT OF TH E CONSOLI DATED FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS AN D OF TH E GROUP 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
OPI N IONS  
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Braunschweig, and 
its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024, and 
the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the fiscal year from 1 January 
2024 to 31 December 2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information, as well as the segment reporting in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. In addition, we have audited the group management report of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, 
which is combined with the Company’s management report, for the fiscal year from 1 January 2024 to 31 
December 2024. In accordance with the German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of 
the corporate governance declaration pursuant to Sec. 289f (4) in conjunction with Sec. 289f (2) No. 4 HGB 
[“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] included in the “Corporate Governance Declaration” 
section of the management report (disclosures on the quota for women on executive boards). 
 
In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit, 
 
 the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the  

IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)  
(IFRS Accounting Standards) and adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 
of its financial performance for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2024, and 

 the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s 
position. In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development. We do not express an opinion on the content of the 
group corporate governance declaration referred to above. 
 

Pursuant to Sec. 322 (3) Sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations relating 
to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report. 

Basis for the opinions 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report 
in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No 537/2014, referred to subsequently as 
“EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial 
Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 
Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in 
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the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group 
management report” section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in 
accordance with the requirements of European law and German commercial and professional law, and 
we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
In addition, in accordance with Art. 10 (2) f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not 
provided non-audit services prohibited under Art. 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the group management report. 

Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 
2024. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
Below, we describe what we consider to be the key audit matters: 
 
Identification of impaired loans and determination of the provision for Stage 3 credit risks in dealer 
financing 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 
The identification of impaired loans and the determination of provisions for Stage 3 credit risks in dealer 
financing are significant areas in which the executive directors exercise judgment. The identification of 
impaired loans and the determination of an appropriate provision for Stage 3 credit risks entail 
uncertainties, which include various assumptions and estimation inputs, particularly regarding the 
dealers’ financial performance, expected future cash flows and the valuation of collateral. As a result of 
the continued geopolitical tensions and challenging economic environment affecting the European 
economy, general automotive sales in particular are developing cautiously. Combined with a continued 
rise in prices driven by inflation in prior years and persistently high interest rates, as well as the resulting 
increase in refinancing costs for car dealers, these uncertainties are significantly elevated in the fiscal 
year. 
 
Even minimal changes in the assumptions and estimation inputs can lead to significant variation in 
values. 
 
In view of Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s business model and the significance of dealer financing for its assets 
and financial performance as well as the judgment involved, we determined the identification of 
impaired loans and the determination of provisions for Stage 3 credit risks in dealer financing to be a key 
audit matter. 

Auditor’s response 
During our audit, we analyzed the accounting-related processes for the identification of impaired loans 
and the determination of the provision for Stage 3 credit risks to check for the consideration of relevant 
risk factors. We tested the operating effectiveness of the controls implemented in these processes for 
identifying impaired loans and determining the provision for Stage 3 credit risks. Our audit procedures 
focused on the processes for evaluating the borrowers’ economic situation, monitoring early warning 
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indicators, applying impairment triggers and thus for correctly applying internal risk classification 
procedures and for valuing collateral. 
 
In addition, we performed substantive audit procedures on a sample basis and assessed the existence of 
any acute default risks and the determination of the provision for Stage 3 credit risks. We selected our 
sample applying a risk-based approach, using in particular criteria such as the inclusion of loans on watch 
lists for increased default risks, rating class, the level of exposure and the provision for credit risks already 
recognized. 
 
As part of our risk-based sampling, we assessed whether the significant assumptions and estimates 
relating to dealers’ expected cash flows including the carrying amounts of collateral held are consistent 
with the borrower’s economic situation and market expectations. Furthermore, we checked the 
arithmetical accuracy of the provision determined for Stage 3 credit risks. 
 
Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations relating to the identification of impaired loans and 
the determination of the provision for Stage 3 credit risks in dealer financing. 

Reference to related disclosures 
The Company’s disclosures on the valuation of the loan portfolios (including the dealer financing 
portfolio) are contained in the section “Accounting Policies” (note 9 “Financial instruments”) of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements as well as in the section “Report on Opportunities and Risks,” 
subsection “Credit risk,” passages “Collateral” and “Provisions” of the group management report, which 
is combined with the Company’s management report. 
 
Macroeconomic scenarios and the specific credit risk parameters derived therefrom in connection 
with the model-based determination of the provisions for Stage 1 and 2 non defaulted loans to and 
receivables from customers 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 
The valuation of loans to and receivables from customers and the related determination of the provisions 
for Stage 1 and 2 credit risks are significant areas in which the executive directors exercise judgment. As 
of the reporting date, the model-based determination of provisions uses three macroeconomic scenarios 
to meet the requirements for an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate. The three scenarios (base, 
positive, negative) differ in terms of the assumptions and estimates of future macroeconomic 
developments and are reflected in the different specific credit risk parameters underlying the calculation 
of the provisions (loss given default, probability of default and credit conversion factor). The continued 
geopolitical tensions and challenging economic environment have an effect on the European economy 
and thus on credit risk parameters. Combined with a continued rise in prices driven by inflation in prior 
years and persistently high interest rates, these uncertainties are significantly elevated in the fiscal year. 
 
Minimal changes in the assumptions can lead to significant variation in values. 
 
In light of the significant volume of Stage 1 and 2 non-defaulted loans to and receivables from customers 
underlying the model-based determination of the provisions as well as the increased uncertainty and 
judgment involved in the macroeconomic scenarios, we consider the macroeconomic scenarios and the 
specific credit risk parameters derived therefrom in connection with the determination of the provisions 
for Stage 1 and 2 non-defaulted loans to and receivables from customers to be a key audit matter. 
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Auditor’s response 
As part of our audit, we analyzed the derivation of the scenarios to determine whether they are consistent 
with the macroeconomic forecasts of leading economic research institutes. We also consulted internal 
specialists to assess the appropriateness of the derived scenarios on the basis of our expectations of 
industry performance. 
 
We analyzed the processes implemented by the executive directors of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in 
connection with the specific credit risk parameters derived from the scenarios and assessed the adequate 
design and operating effectiveness of the controls implemented in the process. 
 
We examined the method used so as to check that the specific credit risk parameters are consistent with 
the relevant scenario. To test the adequate design of the credit risk parameters for each scenario, we first 
assessed the operating effectiveness of the controls implemented in the risk classification process with 
regard to the default risk. We also examined the appropriate valuation of the collateral using the recovery 
rates realized in the past. 
 
We reperformed the calculations of the model-based provisions determined on the basis of the different 
scenarios and the different specific credit risk parameters and checked whether the Bank correctly 
included the scenarios in its calculation. In this context, we checked that the specific credit risk 
parameters relate to the entire term for the relevant derived scenario if there has been a significant 
increase in the credit risk of the loans to and receivables from customers since initial recognition (Stage 
2 of the impairment model). 
 
Our audit procedures did not give rise to any reservations with regard to the macroeconomic scenarios 
and the specific credit risk parameters derived therefrom in connection with the model-based 
determination of the provisions for Stage 1 and 2 non-defaulted loans to and receivables from customers 
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 

Reference to related disclosures  
Disclosures on the model-based determination of the provisions for loans to and receivables from 
customers including the presentation of the different macroeconomic scenarios are included in the 
“Accounting Policies” section (note 9 “Financial instruments”) of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements and in the group management report, which is combined with the Company’s management 
report, in the Report on Opportunities and Risks under the heading “Credit risk” in the passages 
addressing “Collateral” and “Provisions.” 
 
Determination of the expected residual values of assets leased under operating leases during impair-
ment testing 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 
The lease assets balance sheet item comprises vehicles under operating leases. The recoverability of the 
lease assets depends in particular on the expected residual value of the leased vehicles after expiration 
of the contractual term. The expected residual values are reviewed by the Company on a quarterly basis. 
The forecast residual values are adjusted to include constantly updated internal and external information 
on residual values, depending on specific local factors and the experiences gained in the marketing of 
used cars. This requires management to make, in particular, assumptions about vehicle supply and 
demand in the future, as well as about vehicle price trends. 
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The residual values of vehicles are particularly influenced by the development of purchasing power in 
the respective markets and thus by demand driven by economic conditions and, in the case of electric 
vehicles, by a high pace of innovation. Due to the ongoing geopolitical tensions, conflicts and 
protectionist tendencies as well as the resulting risk of negative effects on the European economy, the 
estimation uncertainty in relation to the determination of the expected residual values remained 
heightened in the fiscal year. In this light, the determination of the expected residual values of assets 
leased under operating leases during impairment testing was a key audit matter. 

Auditor’s response 
During our audit, we analyzed the process implemented by the executive directors of the Company for 
determining and monitoring the residual values to identify any risks of material misstatement and 
obtained an understanding of the process steps and controls. On this basis, we tested the operating 
effectiveness of the implemented controls over the determination and monitoring of the expected 
residual values. To assess the forecasting models used to determine the residual values, we analyzed the 
validation plans on the basis of the respective model designs to determine whether the validation 
procedures described in the plans allow an assessment of the models’ forecast quality. We investigated 
whether the validation procedures and the backtesting performed led to any indications of model 
weaknesses or any need to adjust the models. Furthermore, we assessed whether the assumptions 
underlying the forecasting model and the inputs used for determining the expected residual values were 
clearly documented. To this end, we obtained evidence for the main inputs and assumptions used for 
mileage, age and lifecycle phase of the vehicles to determine the residual values and examined them for 
currentness and transparency. We assessed whether the marketing assumptions used reflect industry-
specific and general market expectations as well as, in particular, current marketing results. 
 
Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations relating to the determination of the expected 
residual values of the assets leased under operating leases during impairment testing. 

Reference to related disclosures 
The disclosures on the accounting policies applied for lease assets are contained in the “Accounting 
Policies” section (note 14 “Lease assets”) and the disclosures on the determination of the expected 
residual values of lease assets in the “Accounting Policies” section (note 19 “Estimates and assumptions 
by management”) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

OTH ER I N FORMATION 
The Supervisory Board is responsible for the Report of the Supervisory Board. In all other respects, the 
executive directors are responsible for the other information. 
 
The other information comprises the corporate governance declaration referred to above (disclosures on 
the quota for women on executive boards). The other information also comprises additional parts of the 
annual report of which we obtained a copy prior to issuing this auditor’s report, such as the Human 
Resources Report, the Report of the Supervisory Board and the Responsibility Statement, but not the 
consolidated financial statements, not the management report disclosures whose content is audited and 
not our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do not 
cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to 
consider whether the other information 
 
 is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group management 

report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
 otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

RESPONSI BI LITI ES OF TH E EXECUTIVE DI RECTORS  AN D TH E SU PERVISORY BOARD FOR TH E CONSOLI-
DATED FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS AN D TH E GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT 
The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
comply, in all material respects, with the IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB, and that the 
consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group. In addition, the 
executive directors are responsible for such internal control as they have determined necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting 
based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the group management 
report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, 
consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and 
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive 
directors are responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered 
necessary to enable the preparation of a group management report that is in accordance with the 
applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the 
assertions in the group management report. 
 
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report. 

AUDITOR’S  RES PONSI BI LITI ES FOR TH E AUDIT OF TH E CONS OLI DATED FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS  AN D 
OF TH E GROU P MANAGEMENT REPORT 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group 
management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material 
respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the 
audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and 
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risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the group management report.  
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this 
group management report. 
 
We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and 

of the group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the group management report 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and of such 
arrangements and measures. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the 
reasonableness of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the group 
management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in compliance 
with the IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB. 

 Plan and perform the audit of the consolidated financial statements to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group 
to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the work performed for the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions. 
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 Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated financial statements, 
its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides. 

 Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the 
group management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in 
particular, the significant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the prospective 
information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these 
assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the 
assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ 
materially from the prospective information. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant 
independence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, the related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter. 

OTH ER LEGAL AN D REGUL ATORY REQUI REMENTS  

Report on the assurance on the electronic rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report prepared for publication purposes in accordance with Sec. 317 (3a) HGB 

Opinion 
We have performed assurance work in accordance with Sec. 317 (3a) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report 
(hereinafter the “ESEF documents”) contained in the file “Volkswagen Bank_GmbH_KA+KLB_ESEF-2024-
12-31.zip” and prepared for publication purposes complies in all material respects with the requirements 
of Sec. 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format (“ESEF format”). In accordance with German legal 
requirements, this assurance work extends only to the conversion of the information contained in the 
consolidated financial statements and the group management report into the ESEF format and therefore 
relates neither to the information contained within these renderings nor to any other information 
contained in the file identified above. 
 
In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report contained in the file identified above and prepared for publication purposes complies in all 
material respects with the requirements of Sec. 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format. Beyond 
this assurance opinion and our audit opinions on the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
and the accompanying group management report for the fiscal year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 
2024 contained in the “Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group 
management report” above, we do not express any assurance opinion on the information contained 
within these renderings or on the other information contained in the file identified above. 
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Basis for the opinion 
We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report contained in the file identified above in accordance with Sec. 317 (3a) HGB 
and the IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of Financial Statements and 
Management Reports Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accordance with Sec. 317 (3a) HGB (IDW AsS 
410 (06.2022)). Our responsibility in accordance therewith is further described in the “Group auditor’s 
responsibilities for the assurance work on the ESEF documents” section. Our audit firm applies the IDW 
Standard on Quality Management 1: Requirements for Quality Management in the Audit Firm (IDW QMS 
1 (09.2022)). 

Responsibilities of the executive directors and the Supervisory Board for the ESEF documents 
The executive directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents 
including the electronic rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report in accordance with Sec. 328 (1) Sentence 4 No. 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with Sec. 328 (1) Sentence 4 No. 2 HGB. 
 
In addition, the executive directors of the Company are responsible for such internal control as they have 
determined necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material 
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Sec. 328 (1) HGB for the electronic 
reporting format. 
 
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process for preparing the ESEF documents as 
part of the financial reporting process. 

Group auditor’s responsibilities for the assurance work on the ESEF documents 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from material 
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Sec. 328 (1) HGB. We exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the assurance work. We also: 
 Identify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the 

requirements of Sec. 328 (1) HGB, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance 
opinion. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance on the ESEF documents in 
order to design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls. 

 Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e., whether the file containing the ESEF 
documents meets the requirements of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the 
version in force at the date of the financial statements, on the technical specification for this file. 

 Evaluate whether the ESEF documents enable an XHTML rendering with content equivalent to the 
audited consolidated financial statements and to the audited group management report. 

 Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in 
accordance with the requirements of Arts. 4 and 6 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 
2019/815, in the version in force at the date of the financial statements, enables an appropriate and 
complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML rendering. 
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FURTH ER I N FORM ATION PURSUANT TO ART.  10 OF TH E EU AUDIT REGULATION 
We were elected as group auditor by the Annual General Meeting on 1 March 2024. We were engaged by 
the Supervisory Board on 10 July 2024, with an amendment on 2 December 2024. We have been the group 
auditor of Volkswagen Bank GmbH without interruption since fiscal year 2020. 
 
We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional report 
to the Audit Committee pursuant to Art. 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report). 
 
In addition to the financial statement audit, we have provided the following services that are not 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements or in the group management report: 
 Limited assurance engagement on the group sustainability reporting within the meaning of Directive 

(EU) 2022/2464 (“CSRD”) for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024. 

Other matter – use of the auditor’s report 
Our auditor’s report must always be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
and the audited group management report as well as the assured ESEF documents. The consolidated 
financial statements and the group management report converted to the ESEF format – including the 
versions to be published in the Unternehmensregister [German Company Register] – are merely 
electronic renderings of the audited consolidated financial statements and the audited group 
management report and do not take their place. In particular, the ESEF report and our assurance opinion 
contained therein are to be used solely together with the assured ESEF documents made available in 
electronic form. 
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GERMAN PUBLIC AUDITOR RESPONSI B LE FOR TH E ENGAGEMENT 
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Laura Gundelach. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Hanover, 25 February 2025 
 
EY GmbH & Co. KG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
 
 
Gundelach      Ottner 
Wirtschaftsprüferin     Wirtschaftsprüfer   
[German Public Auditor]    [German Public Auditor]
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Human Resources Report 
Realignment of HR: 

business driven – people focused. 

EMPLOYEES 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH employed 1,369 people in Germany as of December 31, 2024 (December 31, 
2023: 1,102). 

A total of 1,258 people (previous year: 432) were employed at the international branches of 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH.  

Following the extensive restructurings of the Volkswagen Financial Services Group, the following 
companies have been part of the Volkswagen Bank Group since July 1, 2024: Volkswagen Leasing GmbH 
in Germany had 1,926 employees as of December 31, 2024. The Italian Volkswagen Leasing GmbH 
branches reported 87 employees as of December 31, 2024.   

H UMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY 
The MOBILITY2030 corporate strategy reinforces the objective of leveraging a mobility platform to play 
a central role in the Volkswagen Group as a provider of a wide range of mobility services. MOBILITY2030 
sets out to realize this vision by focusing on the strategic dimensions of customer loyalty, vehicles, per-
formance, data and technology, and sustainability.  

The future success of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is founded on all employees who together make up a 
global team. This critical role of people working together is underpinned by the “Our team, our values” 
dimension, which captures the importance of employees for every single strategic dimension. The values 
referred to – courage, trust and customer focus – are intended to guide employees of Volkswagen Bank 
GmbH in their everyday activities and help motivate them to do their best. 

The HR unit intends to do its utmost, through a range of different strategic initiatives, to help the 
Bank implement MOBILITY2030 and thereby contribute, with its own targeted actions, to the establish-
ment of an effective high-performance organization. Closely aligned with the principle “business driven 
– people focused”, the HR strategy focuses on precisely this objective. Human resources operations were 
significantly affected over the course of the reporting year by a wide range of factors including the ongo-
ing advance of digitalization, sustained competition for the best people in the labor market and changing 
expectations of companies among younger generations. 

The HR strategy aims to master these challenges by focusing in particular on targeted actions to pro-
vide support through the transformation and help to achieve the corporate objectives. Human Resources 
considers itself a strategic partner of the business divisions in this context and regards the new HR strat-
egy and its focus on key HR activities such as talent acquisition, personnel development, future working 
culture and modes of working, HR planning and analysis, and HR digitalization as part of its contribution 
to implementing the higher-level MOBILITY2030 strategy. The 17 specific initiatives set out in the strat-
egy are to be pursued in combination with the overarching priorities of diversity, integrity, compliance 
and international mindset. 

Skilled, committed employees are the cornerstone of success and Volkswagen Bank GmbH accord-
ingly enables its employees to develop their skills continuously. Knowledge and experience are becom-
ing more critical all the time, especially in the field of digitalization. 

DKX0HAF
Hervorheben
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One of the initiatives within the HR strategy covers the design and implementation of a strategic HR 
planning system that responds to changes in requirements for employees and enables the Bank to com-
plete detailed analyses based on job profiles, skills and qualifications – looking at both present and future 
needs – to predict newly emerging roles and skills requirements in addition to the usual quantitative HR 
planning activities. 

Line managers have a particular responsibility in this regard to enable and encourage the employees 
under them to contribute their ideas and expertise in a modern, diverse and flexible working environ-
ment. The targeted activities that Volkswagen Bank GmbH provides in the area of leadership ensure high 
quality standards of management conduct and know-how, as well as a shared understanding of the lead-
ership culture. The leadership policy, which embodies the organization’s corporate values and serves as 
a compass of values and North star for day-to-day leadership and management, was revised during the 
reporting year. 

REGULATORY REQUI REMENTS RELATI NG TO REMUN ERATION SYSTEMS  
In the reporting year, Volkswagen Bank GmbH was subject to direct supervision by the ECB and imple-
mented, throughout the Group, the Institutsvergütungsverordnung (IVV – German Regulation Governing 
Remuneration at Institutions) of September 20, 2021, last amended by Article 2 of the Regulation of No-
vember 10, 2022. The special regulatory requirements relating to remuneration systems applied in addi-
tion to the general requirements. Strategies and instruments already introduced, such as the Works 
Council agreement on variable remuneration, the variable remuneration ceiling, national and interna-
tional risk-taker identification and the reporting system using a remuneration report, continued to be 
applied, adapted in line with the new version of the IVV where necessary and enhanced in fiscal year 2024. 
Furthermore, special governance functions (Remuneration Committee and Remuneration Officer) were 
used to ensure that the adequacy of the remuneration systems was continuously monitored. The remu-
neration strategy – and hence the remuneration systems – of Volkswagen Bank GmbH are informed by 
and help to implement the institution’s business and risk strategy and are geared toward ensuring sus-
tainability and constancy. This fosters a responsible and risk-conscious approach among staff and con-
tributes materially to the lasting success of its business. 

DIVERSITY 
In addition to the advancement of women, the concept of diversity has been an integral component of 
the corporate culture at Volkswagen Financial Services AG since 2002. The Bank sent a clear signal with 
its Diversity Charter corporate initiative, which was signed in 2007. Under this initiative, Volkswagen 
Bank GmbH has pledged to respect and value diversity, and to promote employees according to their 
skills and ability. In 2018, Volkswagen Bank GmbH adopted a Diversity Policy to reinforce this approach 
and enshrined the policy in its organizational manual. The Diversity Policy ensures that diversity is rec-
ognized as the norm rather than an exception. Diversity becomes a strength through the conscious ap-
preciation of the workforce. The Bank operates at an international level and thus workforce diversity is 
a substantial factor in the successful performance of the business.  

The various actions the Bank takes in connection with its participation in the annual Diversity Day 
organized by German diversity non-profit Charta der Vielfalt also help to raise the profile of diversity 
matters.  



 Report of the Supervisory Board

222 

Report of the Supervisory Board 
and Volkswagen Bank GmbH 

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Board has regularly concerned itself closely with the situa-
tion and development of the Bank. The Management Board regularly provided the Supervisory Board 
with timely and comprehensive information, both written and oral, on the key aspects of planning, on 
the situation of the Bank, including the risk position and risk management, and on business develop-
ment. There are regular exchanges between the Chair of the Supervisory Board and the Management 
Board even outside of meetings. On the basis of the reports by the Management Board, the Supervisory 
Board continually monitored the conduct of the Bank’s business and was thus able to perform the func-
tions entrusted to it by law and under the articles of association without any restrictions. All decisions 
of fundamental importance to the Bank and other transactions requiring the approval of the Supervisory 
Board in accordance with the rules of procedure were reviewed and discussed with the Management 
Board before a resolution was adopted. 

The Supervisory Board had eleven members through June 30, 2024 and ten members from July 1, 2024 
onward. The Supervisory Board held five meetings in the reporting year. The Remuneration Committee 
met five times, the Audit Committee, the Risk and the Nomination Committee each met four times. The 
Credit Committee and the newly established Special Credit Committee adopted their resolutions outside 
of the meetings by circulation of written resolutions or using electronic credit applications. The average 
attendance rate was approximately 92%. Four meetings were held in person and one via video conference. 
Only one member participated via video conference.in the meeting on September 13, 2024 There were 
also four resolutions adopted by circulation of written resolutions and no decision was made by the Chair 
of the Supervisory Board via the expedited procedure. 

The main issues discussed at the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees are presented 
below.  
 
MATTERS DISCUSSED BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 
At its meeting on February 29, 2024, following a detailed examination of its own and acting on the rec-
ommendation of the Audit Committee, the Supervisory Board recommended to the Annual General 
Meeting to adopt the annual financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH prepared by the Manage-
ment Board for 2023. It also submitted a recommendation regarding the election of the auditor and com-
mented on the consolidated financial statements. The Supervisory Board discussed the audit findings 
with the auditor in this connection. The Supervisory Board additionally discussed the financial perfor-
mance and approved the planning round 72 of the Volkswagen Bank Group. It also received a report on 
the status of the reporting system, data governance and data quality, the NeCst volume ramp-up and 
implementation of Release II, the IT strategy and the IT status of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the status of 
a legal dispute with an IT service provider and the status of the “Koralle” project. It also adopted resolu-
tions regarding various remuneration matters, the granting of a special license for investments in secu-
rities and on the authority in the lending decision process as of July 1, 2024.  

At its meeting on April 17, 2024, the Supervisory Board adopted resolutions on the fixed and variable 
remuneration of the Management Board.  
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At its meeting on June 14, 2024, it decided on changes to the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board 
and the Credit Committee to implement the lending decision process for the largest borrower of execu-
tive body loans, the composition of the Supervisory Board and its committees as of July 1, 2024, the ad-
justment of the remuneration of one member of the Management Board and the restructuring of the 
funding framework; it also confirmed the suitability of the Management Board members in the wake of 
performing additional secondary activities. It also discussed the financial performance of the 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, cyber attacks and fraud cases, the status of customer service in Germany, 
the status of reporting and the status of the “Koralle” program. It received and discussed an update on 
ESG, the results of the ECB’s on-site inspection “Interest rate risk in the banking sector (IRRB)” and the 
status of a borrower of executive body loans. In addition, it decided the transfer of shares in Volkswagen 
Finančné služby Slovensko, s.r.o., Bratislava, Slovakia, to joint venture partner Porsche Bank AG.  

At its meeting on September 13, 2024, the Supervisory Board approved the granting of a power of 
attorney for the head of the Taxes Department and decided to establish a Special Credit Committee for 
the approval of loans of the largest borrower of executive body loans and a quota for women on the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board. It also adopted resolutions on remuneration issues and re-
ceived information on the financial performance of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group and the results 
of the cyber resilience stress test 2024. Furthermore, it discussed a review of Koralle Day 1 and the topic 
of culture and change. 

At its meeting on November 8, 2024, the Supervisory Board reviewed the handling of the key issues 
in 2024 and looked ahead to the key issues for 2025. It discussed the analysis of the annual assessment 
of the Management Board and Supervisory Board and confirmed the suitability of both. Moreover, it 
adopted resolutions on the structure of the new remuneration system for the Management Board. It ad-
ditionally looked at process optimizations in customer service and the expansion of the deposit busi-
ness; it also held an in-depth discussion on the topic of data quality, the status of the safeguarding and 
process optimization of supervisory reporting. It also deliberated the status of selected supervisory top-
ics, the financial performance of the Volkswagen Bank Group and a large exposure matter; furthermore, 
it approved the cross-border merger of Volkswagen Financial Services S.p.A., Milan/Italy, with 
Volkswagen Bank GmbH.  

The chairs of the respective committees reported in detail on the content of their committee meet-
ings in the Supervisory Board meetings.  
 
COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES 
The Supervisory Board has formed six committees from among its members to enable it to fulfill its 
responsibilities. Four of these committees are committees as described in section 25d of the KWG. The 
duties and responsibilities of the various committees are regulated in the respective committee rules of 
procedure. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee held four regular meetings in the reporting period. A decision was made by circu-
lation of written resolutions for approval on the adjustment of service agreements with a controlled 
company. The Committee has four members, who participated in all meetings during the reporting pe-
riod. 

At the meeting held on February 29, 2024, the Committee concerned itself with the annual financial 
statements and the management report, the consolidated financial statements and the group manage-
ment report of Volkswagen Bank GmbH for the year ended December 31, 2023. As part of this review, the 
Audit Committee discussed with the auditor the reports on the audit of the annual financial statements, 
the management report, the consolidated financial statements and the group management report of 
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH as well as material transactions and issues related to financial reporting. Follow-
ing a detailed consultation, the Audit Committee requested the Supervisory Board submit a recommen-
dation to the sole shareholder regarding the adoption of the annual financial statements and the election 
of the auditor and to draw up the resolution covering the issue of the audit engagement in preparation 
for the Annual General Meeting. The Head of Internal Audit also provided further information relating 
to the unit’s 2023 Annual Report for the Volkswagen Bank Group for the benefit of the Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee received a presentation on the compliance report and discussed its content on 
June 14, 2024. The Committee additionally considered pending supervisory audits and the adjustment 
of a transaction with a controlled company. 

At its meeting on September 13, 2024, the Committee addressed the subject of audit planning and key 
audit matters together with representatives of the auditor. It also received a report on the 2024 half-yearly 
financial statements and the quality of the audit of the financial statements. Moreover, it addressed the 
change of compliance officer and the processing of audit findings in the Compliance unit. 

On November 8, 2024, the Committee deliberated the services provided by auditors, the report on 
audit planning and processing and the CSRD reporting. The Committee also addressed the report of the 
Internal Audit unit and discussed the result of this year's deposit protection audit.  

Risk Committee 
The Risk Committee held four meetings in the reporting year. During the reporting period, there were 
no urgent transactions that would have required a decision by circulation of written resolutions for ap-
proval. The Committee has four members, who all participated in the four meetings. 

At its meeting on February 29, 2024, the Risk Committee addressed the findings of the auditor with 
regard to risk management from the 2023 audit of the annual financial statements. The Committee then 
addressed the retrospective analysis of the 2023 risk strategy and the risk strategy and risk limits for 2024 
and the lessons learned report on the early risk detection system in the retail business. Following an 
appropriate review, the Risk Committee confirmed that the incentives set by the Bank’s remuneration 
system do factor in its risk, capital and liquidity structure and the probability and timing of income.  
At its meeting on June 14, 2024, the Risk Committee discussed the registration of the documentation for 
the SREP on March 31, 2024. Furthermore, it considered the risk management report as of March 31, 2024, 
especially the special explanations on the ESG pages and the risk management organization as of July 1, 
2024.  

At its meeting on September 13, 2024, the Risk Committee deliberated the current capital ratios fol-
lowing implementation of the “Koralle” program and the results of the ad hoc risk inventory and dis-
cussed the business and risk strategy. Under a further agenda item, the Committee received an explana-
tion of and discussed the current status of the large exposure and the management of residual values 
and residual value risks.  

On November 8, 2024, the Risk Committee addressed the first risk management report in the new 
structure and its material changes. Moreover, the Committee discussed the status of the interest rate risk 
in the banking book and preparations for the EBA/ECB stress test 2025. 

 
Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee held five meetings in the reporting year. The committee had three mem-
bers through June 30, 2024 and four members from July 1, 2024 onward. The attendance rate was 94%. 
There was one resolution adopted by circulation of a written resolution on one instance of a loan to 
managers in the reporting period. 
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At its meeting on February 28, 2024, the Remuneration Committee decided on recommendations for the 
determination of fulfillment regarding the constraints for granting variable remuneration, the determi-
nation of the bonus pool available for the members of the Management Board, changes in the sustaina-
bility component relevant to remuneration, and the evaluation of the impact of the remuneration sys-
tems on the risk, capital and liquidity situations. No facts were identified that are relevant to malus pro-
visions within the meaning of section 18 of the Institutsvergütungsverordnung (IVV – German Regulation 
Governing Remuneration at Institutions) were identified. The Committee also discussed the recommen-
dation to adjust the remuneration system starting on January 1, 2024, regarding the bonus KPIs 
2023/2024 and an adjustment of the Management Board's fixed remuneration. 

At its meeting on April 10, 2024, it issued recommendations on determining the variable remunera-
tion of the members of the Management Board.  

At its meeting on June 14, 2024, the Committee discussed the recommendation to adjust the fixed 
remuneration of one Management Board member. 

At its meeting on September 13, 2024, the Remuneration Committee considered the remuneration 
report of Volkswagen Bank GmbH for fiscal year 2024, the review of the remuneration for the monitoring 
units and the gender pay gap. It decided on recommendations to adjust the rules on fuel cards for the 
Management Board and on the bonus KPIs 2024. 

On November 8, 2024, the Remuneration Officer presented the remuneration control report 
2023/2024 and a report on the appropriateness of employee remuneration. The Committee deliberated 
the appropriateness of Management Board remuneration and recommended that the Supervisory Board 
confirm the appropriateness of Management Board remuneration with regard to the regulatory require-
ments. Moreover, the Committee addressed the risk-taker analysis 2024 and 2025 and decided on recom-
mendations for the Supervisory Board to adjust the criteria for the annual bonus and regarding the 
framework for termination payments for the Management Board. 

Nomination Committee 
The Nomination Committee held four meetings in the reporting year, each of which was attended by all 
three members of the Committee. Two decisions were made by circulation of written resolutions for ap-
proval in the reporting period.  

The Committee addressed the future composition of the Supervisory Board and its committees due 
to the announced resignation of members in the decisions it made by circulation of written resolutions 
for approval. 

At its meeting on May 22, 2024, the Nomination Committee deliberated the confirmation of resolu-
tions reached in the prior year regarding changes to the composition of the Supervisory Board and its 
committees in connection with the “Koralle” project, the composition of the Credit Committee and the 
suitability of individual members of the Management Board following the acceptance of additional sec-
ondary activities and of the Supervisory Board following the acceptance of the mandate with other com-
panies.  

At its meeting on September 13, 2024, the Committee addressed the establishment of a Special Credit 
Committee, the suitability of individual members of the Supervisory Board and the determination of a 
quota for women for the Management Board and the Supervisory Board.  

On October 2, 2024, the Committee addressed a personnel matter.  
At its meeting on November 8, 2024, the Committee discussed the process for achieving the statutory 

quota for women when appointing members of the Management Board and the analysis of the annual 
assessment of the Management Board and Supervisory Board and confirmed the suitability of the Man-
agement Board and the Supervisory Board. The members of the Supervisory Board had for this purpose 
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completed questionnaires ahead of the meeting ready for analysis and discussion. The Committee also 
addressed the matter of the suitability of one member of the Supervisory Board. 

Credit Committee 
The Credit Committee is responsible for approving issues that the Supervisory Board has to deal with by 
law and under the rules of procedure relating to loan commitments, the assumption of sureties, guaran-
tees and similar liabilities, bank borrowings, the purchasing of receivables and for master agreements 
governing the assumption of receivables. The Credit Committee is composed of three members of the 
Supervisory Board and makes its decisions by circulation of written resolutions or on the basis of elec-
tronic credit applications. 

Special Credit Committee 
Effective September 13, 2024, a Special Credit Committee was established consisting of three members 
that are not subject to any conflicts of interest pursuant to section 15 of the KWG. The Special Credit 
Committee decides on lending to Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s largest borrower of executive body loans on 
the basis of an electronic credit application. 
 
The members of the committees also consulted each other on several occasions and were in constant 
contact with the Management Board. 
 
EDUCATION AND TRAINING 
On September 12, 2024, the members of the Supervisory Board received training on the topic of “Risks of 
information and communication technologies (ICT)” and a company presentation by the new subsidiary 
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, in particular with regard to the business model and the financial perfor-
mance. The members of the Supervisory Board also independently completed the education and training 
necessary to perform their tasks. 
 
AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
EY GmbH & Co. KG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hanover, was appointed to audit both the consoli-
dated financial statements of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group in accordance with the IFRSs and the 
annual financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in accordance with the HGB for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, including the bookkeeping system and management reports. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group in accordance with the 
IFRSs and the annual financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in accordance with the HGB for 
the year ended December 31, 2024, together with the management reports, were submitted to the Audit 
Committee and the Supervisory Board. The auditor, EY GmbH & Co. KG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Hanover, audited these financial statements, including the bookkeeping system and the management 
reports, and issued an unqualified auditor’s opinion in each case.  

The reviews of the consolidated financial statements and the annual financial statements, including 
the management reports, by the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board did not result in any res-
ervations. The auditors were present when this agenda item was addressed at the meeting of the Audit 
Committee and the Supervisory Board, reported on the main findings of their audit and made them-
selves available to take questions. 

At their meetings on February 26, 2025, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board commented 
on the consolidated financial statements and annual financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH 
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prepared by the Management Board, and the Supervisory Board, following a detailed examination, rec-
ommended to the Annual General Meeting to adopt the annual financial statements for 2024 and to 
approve the consolidated financial statements.  

In accordance with the control and profit-and-loss transfer agreement that existed up to and includ-
ing December 31, 2024, the profits of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in fiscal year 2024 determined in accord-
ance with the HGB have been transferred to Volkswagen AG. 

The Supervisory Board would like to take this opportunity to express its gratitude and appreciation for 
the work of the members of the Management Board, the members of the Works Council, the managerial 
staff and all employees of Volkswagen Bank GmbH and its affiliated companies. The high level of com-
mitment from all of them has helped to sustain the ongoing growth of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. 
 
Braunschweig, February 26, 2025 
 

   

Frank Fiedler 
Chair of the Supervisory Board  
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